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UBI Banca Group:  
principal figures and performance 
indicators1  

30.9.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010

STRUCTURAL INDICATORS
Net loans to customers/total assets 76,9% 78,0% 76,8% 

Direct funding from customers/total liabilities 77,7% 81,8% 78,8% 

Net loans to customers/direct funding from customers 98,9% 95,4% 97,4% 

Equity (including profit for the period) /total liabilities 8,4% 8,4% 8,4% 

Assets under management/indirect funding from private customers 53,0% 54,6% 54,8% 
Leverage ratio 
(total assets-goodwill-other intangible assets)/(equity+non controlling interests-intangible assets) 18,9 19,9 19,8

PROFIT INDICATORS
ROE (Profit for the period/equity excluding profit for the period) annualised 2,2% 1,6% 2,4% 

ROTE [profit for the period/tangible equity (equity excluding profit, net of intangible assets)] annualised 4,2% 3,2% 4,9% 

ROA (Profit for the period/total assets) annualised 0,18% 0,13% 0,20% 

The cost/income ratio (operating expenses/operating income) 70,9% 70,6% 71,9% 

Personnel expense/operating income 42,3% 41,5% 42,8% 

Net impairment losses on loans/net loans to customers (loan loss rate)  annualised 0,52% 0,69% 0,60% 

Net interest income/operating income 62,2% 61,3% 61,6% 

Net commission income/operating income 34,7% 33,9% 33,7% 

Net result on financial activities/operating income -0,7% 1,0% 0,5% 

RISK INDICATORS
Net non-performing loans/net loans to customers 2,28% 1,91% 1,75% 
Net impairment losses on non-performing loans/gross non-performing loans 
(coverage for non-performing loans) 44,61% 48,69% 48,63% 

Net non-performing + net impaired loans/net loans to customers 4,83% 3,91% 3,64% 
Net impairment losses on non-performing and impaired loans/gross non-performing 
loans+impaired loans (coverage) 30,60% 34,89% 34,97% 

Net non-performing loans/equity excluding profit for the period 21,09% 17,95% 16,25% 

CAPITAL RATIOS   Basel 2 standard

Tier 1 ratio (tier 1 capital/total risk weighted assets) 8,97% 7,47% 

Core tier 1 ratio after specific deductions to tier 1 capital 
(tier 1 capital net of preference shares and savings shares or privileged shares of non controlling interests/total 
risk weighted assets) 8,44% 6,95% 

Total capital ratio [(supervisory capital+tier 3/total risk weighted assets]] 13,37% 11,17% 

Supervisory capital  (in thousands of euro) 12.531.074 10.536.200

of which: Tier one capital after the application of prudential filters and specific deductions 8.401.497 7.047.888

Risk weighted assets 93.702.749 94.360.909
INCOME STATEMENT, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION FIGURES  (in thousands of euro), 
STRUCTURAL DATA  (numbers)

Profit 182.669 172.121 197.734

Normalised profit 96.383 105.116 113.575

Operating income 2.534.013 3.496.061 2.585.609 

Operating expenses  (1.796.479)  (2.468.564)  (1.858.764) 

Net loans to customers 102.765.316 101.814.829 101.195.034

of which: net non-performing loans 2.342.530 1.939.916 1.768.797

net impaired loans 2.618.620 2.032.914 1.910.549

Direct funding from customers 103.895.421 106.760.045 103.876.113

Indirect funding from customers 73.088.860 78.078.869 79.036.272

of which: assets under management 38.701.761 42.629.553 43.348.208

Total funding from customers 176.984.281 184.838.914 182.912.385

Equity (excluding profit for the period) 11.105.404 10.806.898 10.886.557

Total assets 133.628.369 130.558.569 131.744.211

Branches in Italy 1.877 1.892 1.888

Total personnel at the end of period (actual employees in service + workers on agency leasing contracts) 19.515 19.699 19.867

Average total personnel (actual employees in service + workers on agency leasing contracts)  (*) 18.867 19.384 19.500
Financial advisors 724 786 837

 
1 The indicators have been calculated using the reclassified figures contained in the section “Reclassified consolidated financial statements, reclassified 

income statement net of the most significant non-recurring items and reconciliation schedules” in the Interim Consolidated Management Report as at and 

for the period ended 30th September 2011.  

Information on the share is given in the pages that follow.  

(*) Part time employees have been calculated within total average personnel numbers according to convention on a 50% basis.  
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The UBI Banca share  

The UBI Banca share is traded on the Mercato Telematico Azionario (electronic stock exchange) 

of Borsa Italiana in the blue chip segment and forms part of the 40 shares in the FTSE/Mib 
Index.  
 
The international economic and financial scenario, which was also particularly weak in the 
first half, worsened over the summer due to the growing sovereign debt difficulties of some 
European countries (Greece, Ireland, Portugal, Spain and Italy), as underlined, moreover, by 
the continuous downgrades performed by the main rating agencies, and also due to fears over 
the future of the single currency.  
 
Since the end of July the links between the sovereign debt crisis and the banking sector, given 
the difficulties in restoring  healthy fiscal balances and the weak prospects for economic 
growth, have generated great caution among traders, which translated into high levels of 
volatility on equity markets and significant falls in stock market trading prices, especially for 
the banking sector.  
By 30th September 2011, the FTSE Italia All-Share index had fallen by 25,6% since the end of 
last year and the banking sector had fallen by 39,8%, penalised by a downwards shift in 
expectations of growth in overall profitability and by a higher cost of funding due to wider 
spreads.  
In this context the UBI Banca share fell even further, descending below 3 euro.  
 
Performance comparisons for the Unione di Banche Italiane share

Amounts in euro

30.9.2011
A

30.6.2011
B

31.3.2011
C

30.12.2010
D

% 
change              

A/D

30.9.2010
E

% 
change 

A/E

 2.4.2007
F

% 
change 

A/F

Unione di Banche Italiane shares

- official price 2,813 3,848 6,062 6,591 -57,3% 7,065 -60,2% 21,486         -86,9% 

- reference price 2,802 3,882 6,030 6,550 -57,2% 7,110 -60,6% 21,427         -86,9% 

Convertible bonds  2009/2013 (1) 98,100 102,360 106,760 104,850 -6,4% 106,000 -7,5% - -

FTSE Italia All-Share index 15.570        20.913         22.454         20.936         -25,6% 21.098         -26,2% 42.731 -63,6% 

FTSE Italia Banks index 10.356        15.575         18.116         17.190         -39,8% 20.061         -48,4% 54.495 -81,0% 

 Source Datastream  

(1) Traded on the MTA (electronic stock exchange) since 20th July 2009 (quote on 20th July 2009: 107,190 euro)  
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Volumes of trading in UBI Banca shares on the electronic stock exchange in the first nine 
months of 2011 amounted to 1,5 million shares traded (including 676 million in the third 
quarter alone) for 6,6 billion euro. A total of  579 million shares were traded in same period of  
2010 for 4,9 billion euro (746 million shares for 6,1 billion euro in the full year of 2010).  
 
As a result of the trends just reported, the stock market capitalisation (calculated on the 
official price) as at 30th September  had fallen to 2,5 billion euro (3,4 billion euro in June 2011; 
4,2 billion euro in December 2010), which positioned UBI Banca in fifth place among Italian 
banking groups and in first place among “popular” banks.  
At European level, the UBI Group lies among the top forty in the classification drawn up by 
the Italian Banking Association in its European Banking Report, which considers the 
countries of the European Monetary Union plus Switzerland.  
 
The main information concerning the UBI Banca share is summarised below along with the principal stock 
market indicators which have been calculated using consolidated figures.  

 
The UBI Banca share and the main stock market indicators

January - 
September 2011

First half 2011 FY 2010

Number of shares outstanding at the end of period/year 901.746.759       881.477.714 639.145.902

Average price of the UBI share (average of the official prices quoted daily by Borsa Italiana Spa)  - in euro 5,074 6,171 8,224

Minimum price (recorded during trading) - in euro 2,192 3,628 6,275

Maximum price (recorded during trading) - in euro 7,970 7,970 10,530

Dividend per share - in euro 0,15 0,15 0,15

Dividend yield (dividend per share/average price) 2,96% 2,43% 1,82% 

Total dividends - in euro (*) 95.871.925,50 95.871.925,50 95.871.925,50

Book Value - in euro (Consolidated equity, excluding profit for the period/No. shares)  - in euro 12,32 13,41 16,91

Book value calculated by deducting goodw ill attributable to the shareholders of  the Parent f rom consolidated equity - in euro 7,66 8,65 10,14

Book value calculated by deducting intangible assets attributable to the shareholders of  the Parent from consolidated equity - in euro 6,69 7,64 8,67

Stock market capitalisation at the end of period (official prices) - in millions of euro 2.537 3.392 4.213

Price/book value [Stock market capitalisation at the end of the year/(consolidated equity of the Group excluding profit for the year)] 0,23 0,29 0,39

Price/book value calculated by deducting goodw ill attributable to the shareholders of the Parent from consolidated equity 0,37 0,44 0,65

Price / book value calculated by deducting intangible assets attributable to the shareholders of the Parent f rom consolidated equity 0,42 0,50 0,76

EPS - Earning per share (consolidated profit per share in accordance with IAS 33)  - in euro (annualised) 0,3312 0,6722 0,2633

 

(*)    The total dividend payout for 2010 was calculated on the 639.146.170 shares with dividend entitlement from 1st January 2010 existing at the date of the 
approval of the proposal to declare a dividend by the Management Board.  
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The rating  

The tables below summarise the ratings assigned to the Group by the international agencies, 
Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch Ratings.  
 
As the sovereign debt crisis worsened since the summer, all the agencies started to review 
their ratings for Italy and this led to a generalised downgrade of ratings. The downgrade of the 
Republic of Italy’s debt gave rise to similar generalised downgradings of the ratings assigned to 
major Italian banks, including UBI Banca.  
 
On 4th October 2011, Moody’s concluded its review started on 23rd June and reduced its 
rating on Italian government debt by three notches from Aa2 to A2, with a negative outlook. 
This action was followed on 5th October by widespread medium and long-term downgradings of 
Italian banks, ranging from between one and three notches. This was also in relation to a 
revision of the assumptions of systemic support incorporated within those ratings following 
Italy’s sovereign debt downgrade.  
In this context, the rating on UBI Banca’s long term deposits fell from A2 to A3 (-1 notch), with 
a stable outlook, while the short-term rating was lowered from P-1 to P-2.  
On the other hand, the Bank Financial Strength Rating remained unchanged. It had been 
lowered from C to C- on 1st September 2011 with a stable outlook1, to reflect the impact of the 
difficult operating context in Italy for company profits and more specifically the chance of a 
significant improvement in the short-term.  
 
On 7th October 2011, Fitch Ratings reduced its long-term rating for the Republic of Italy by 
one notch from AA- to A+ with a negative outlook, underlining the weakening of the sovereign 
debt risk position following the worsening of the euro zone crisis. As a result of that 
downgrade, on 11th October the agency performed a series of downgrades on the five largest 
Italian banks in the light of the growing pressures on the banking sector throughout Europe.  
As part of those downgrades, the long-term and the viability ratings for UBI Banca were 
reduced to A-/a- from A/a with a negative outlook.  
 
In consideration of the deterioration in the domestic market for Italian banks, on 18th October 
Standard & Poor’s announced the downgrade of Italy’s BICRA (Bank Industry Country Risk). 
This rating, which summarises S&P’s vision of the strengths and weaknesses of each banking 
sector, was reduced from two to three (on a scale of one, the best, to ten, the worst) in view of 
the weaker economic outlook for Italy and the increased cost of funding caused by the increase 
in the sovereign debt spread.  
As already reported, on 19th September, when the review commenced on 20th May came to an 
end, that same agency reduced its sovereign rating for Italy by one notch from A+ to A with a 
negative outlook.  
The downgrade of the BICRA rating resulted in a series of changes to ratings which involved a 
large number of Italian banks. For UBI Banca in particular, its long term rating was 
downgraded from A to A-, while its short-term rating fell from A-1 to A-2. The outlook assigned 
was stable.  
 
 

  

                                                           
1  The reduction in the Bank Financial Strength Rating was accompanied by a downgrade of ratings on long-term deposits from A1 to 

A2, with a negative outlook. The negative outlook had been assigned on 23rd June 2011 to reflect the potential impact of a possible 
redefinition of the assumptions on which systemic support was based, when Italian sovereign debt was placed under review for a 

possible downgrade.  
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(i) The issuer credit rating reflects the agency’s opinion of the 
intrinsic creditworthiness of the bank combined with an 

assessment of the potential for future support that the bank 
might receive in the event of default (from government or from 

the group to which it belongs).  

Short term: ability to repay short term debt with a maturity of 
less than one year (A-1: best rating – C: worst rating)  

Long term: ability to pay interest and principal on debt with a 
maturity of longer than one year (AAA: best rating – D: worst 

rating)  

(ii) The SACP is a rating of the intrinsic creditworthiness of the bank 

in the absence of external support (from government or from the 
group to which it belongs).  

 
 
 

(I) The ability to repay long-term debt (maturing after one year) in 

local currency. By using the JDA method (Joint Default 
Analysis), this rating associates the financial strength rating 

(BFSR – Bank Financial Strength Rating) with the probability of 
intervention if needed by external support (shareholders, the 

group to which it belongs or official institutions).  (Aaa: prime 
quality – Baa3: medium quality)  

(II) The ability to repay debt in local currency maturing in the short 
term (due in less than one year).  
(Prime -1: highest quality – not prime: speculative grade)  

(III) This rating does not relate to the ability to repay debt but 
considers the bank’s intrinsic financial strength (by analysing 
factors such as its geographical market presence, the 

diversification of its activities, the financial basics) in the 
absence of external support.  (A: best rating – E: worst rating)  

(IV) The Baseline Credit Assessment represents the equivalent of the 
Bank Financial Strength Rating on the traditional scale of the 
long term rating.  

 
 

 

(1) The ability to repay debt in the short term (maturity less than 13 

months). (F1: best rating – C: worst rating)   

(2) The ability to meet financial commitments in the long term, 
independently of the maturity of individual obligations. This 
rating is an indicator of the probability that an issuer will 

default.  (AAA: best rating – D: worst rating)  

(3) An assessment of a bank’s intrinsic strength in the event that it 

cannot rely on forms of external support (A: best rating- E: worst 
rating). This rating has been incorporated in the new Viability 

Rating from 20th July 2011, structured on the traditional long 
term rating scale, which will replace the Bank Individual Rating. 
A rating of the possibility of concrete and timely external support 

(from the state or large institutional investors) if the bank finds 
itself in difficulty (1: best rating – 5: worst rating).  

(4) This rating gives additional information, closely linked to the 
Support Rating, in that for each level of the Support Rating it 

identifies the minimum level which the Issuer Default Rating 
could reach if negative events were to occur.  

 
  

  
  

  STANDARD & POOR’S     

 Short-term Counterparty Credit Rating (i) A-2   

  Long-term Counterparty Credit Rating (i)  A-   

 Stand Alone Credit Profile (SACP) (ii) a-  

  Outlook Stable   

  RATINGS ON ISSUES    

  Senior unsecured debt A-   

  Subordinated debt (Lower Tier 2) BBB+   

  Preference shares BBB-   

 French Certificats de Dépôt Programme A-2  

 

 
  

 

 
    

 
MOODY'S     

  Long-term debt and deposit rating (I) A3   

  Short-term debt and deposit rating (II) Prime-2   

  Bank Financial Strength Rating (BFSR) (III) C-   

 Baseline Credit Assessment (BCA) (IV) Baa1  

  Outlook (deposit ratings) Stable   

 Outlook (Bank Financial Strength Rating) Stable  

  RATINGS ON ISSUES    

  Senior unsecured LT A3   

  Lower Tier 2 subordinated  Baa1   

 

Preference shares  
(former BPB-CV and Banca Lombarda) Ba1(hyb)  

  Euro Commercial Paper Programme Prime-2   

 

Covered Bond 
Aaa  

on review 
for 

downgrade  

    

 
 

    

  FITCH RATINGS     

 Short-term Issuer Default Rating (1) F2   

  Long-term Issuer Default Rating (2) A-   

 Viability Rating (3) a-  

  Bank Individual Rating (3) B/C   

  Support Rating (4) 2   

 Support Rating Floor (5) BBB  

  Outlook (Long-term Issuer Default Rating) Negative   

  RATINGS ON ISSUES   
  

  Senior unsecured debt A-   

 Lower Tier 2 subordinated BBB+  

  Preference shares  BBB   

 Euro Commercial Paper Programme F2  

  

Covered Bond 
AAA 
Rating 
Watch 

Negative   
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The macroeconomic scenario  

The global economic outlook worsened rapidly on the international scenario over the summer and 
this, which interacted with sovereign debt and banking sector difficulties, gave rise to great 
instability on financial markets. It resulted in increased volatility and “flight to quality” phenomena, 
which fuelled demand for United States and German government securities and for refuge 
commodities and currencies such as gold and the Swiss franc causing sharp falls in equity and 
corporate bond prices, which were greater for the banking sector because of its exposure to 
sovereign debt risk due to the government securities held by banks, and an outflow of capital from 
emerging countries. At the same time tensions on interbank markets in the euro area heightened, a 
sign of renewed short-term funding difficulties for banks with an increase in resort to financing and 
liquidity deposits with the ECB.  
 
At the beginning of August, the spreads of various euro area countries – Greece, Portugal, Ireland, 
Spain, Italy, Belgium, and also France – reached record high levels since the introduction of the 
single currency, affected both by fears of a slowdown in the world economy and by doubts over the 
adequacy of existing instruments, and the European Financial Stability Facility (EFSF) 1  in 
particular, to prevent the spread of contagion. The largest rises in spreads were for those of Italy and 
Spain, which  reached around four percentage points. The action taken by the ECB, which on 7th 
August resumed purchases of Government securities under its Securities Markets Programme2, 
reduced pressures temporarily, but the Italian spread started to rise again at the beginning of 
September and it reached over 500 basis points in November, as a result of uncertainties firstly over 
the approval of the new budget legislation and then over the presentation of a new programme to 
revive the economy. Furthermore, all three of the main rating agencies (Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s 
and Fitch Ratings) reduced their ratings for Italy and set negative outlooks between the middle of 
September and the first half of October, and they also downgraded the ratings on a number of 
banks.  
 
At the same time, Greece’s finances deteriorated even more, forced on the one hand to make painful 
public sector cuts in order to acquire new international loans and hit on the other hand by a severe 
recession which is making it difficult for it to meet commitments agreed with the European 
authorities in terms of its GDP to deficit ratio.  

In order to restore stability and trust on markets, in a meeting held on 26th October, the 17 countries in the euro area reached an 
agreement for a new rescue plan for the area. It involves the following:  

• Greek debt held by private sector investors (banks and insurance companies) was cut by 50%, performed as part of a 
voluntary swap for new Greek securities with longer maturities. The operation. which should allow the country to reduce its 
debt to 120% of GDP by 2020, also includes a contribution amounting to 30 billion euro from euro area member countries to 
those banks participating in the swap;  

• an increase in the size of the rescue fund (EFSF) from 440 billion euro (including 190 billion euro already used to bail-out 
Greece, Ireland and Portugal) to 1.000 billion euro;  

• the recapitalisation of European banks subject to stress tests to bring their core tier one capital ratio up to 9% by 30th June 
2012. This increase should be carried out by using the capital raised by the banks themselves or, if necessary, with 
assistance from governments and only as a last resort by using EFSF funds.  

 

The deterioration in the economic environment and the consequent expectations that inflation will 
be contained in coming months could influence monetary policies which are currently expansive in 
developed countries3 and tight in emerging countries4.  

                                                           
1  On 21st July a new programme of financial support for Greece was approved and measures were adopted to increase the capacity of the EFSF 

to intervene, but the process of ratification by member countries was not completed until 13th October.  

2  The value of the securities purchased, which remained at around 75 billion euro between the beginning of 2011 and the end of July, had 
reached 163 billion euro at the end of the first week of October.  

3  In a meeting in November the ECB lowered the rate on principal refinancing operations by 25 basis points to 1,25% after two increases, again 
of 25 basis points, performed in April and July. In addition to unconventional intervention already in place, it decided in its October meeting 
to resume the use of instruments to support banking liquidity and activities. Two new long-term refinancing operations were also announced, 

in October and in December, with maturities of 12 and 13 months respectively, at a fixed rate (average of the weekly reference auctions) and 
with full allotment of bids. It was  also decided to resume the programme to purchase covered bonds issued by banks from November, up to a 

total amount of 40 billion euro. The practice of holding fixed rate auctions with full allotment of bids was extended until July 2012 and six 
operations with three month maturities were programmed for the end of each month from January until June of 2012.  

 In order to alleviate difficulties in obtaining funding in foreign currency by banks in the area, in the middle of September the governing 
council had also announced that, in co-ordination with other major central banks, it would perform three refinancing operations in dollars 

between October and the end of the year, at a fixed rate and with full allotment of all bids.  
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With regard to commodities prices, the 

table shows that the downwards trend 
commenced in the spring became 
firmer between June and September 
with Brent oil prices just a little over 
100 dollars per barrel at the end of 
the quarter. Nevertheless, this trend 
seems to have reversed in the weeks 
that followed. The rise in raw 
materials costs that occurred in the 
first few months of the year helped 
fuel inflation in both industrialised 

and emerging countries, even if the 
deterioration in growth prospects for the world economy should hold it down in the short-term.  
 
On foreign exchange markets the euro rapidly depreciated against all major international currencies 

in the third quarter as the sovereign debt crisis worsened, and this brought the rate against the 
dollar down to the same levels as at the end of 2010. On the other hand, the appreciation of the yen, 
which had started in the second quarter, continued as did the slow rise of the yuan against the 
dollar.  
Pressures on the euro reduced slightly in October, while the yen reached new record lows falling 
below 76 yen per dollar.  
 
Actual and forecast data: industrialised countries

Percentages
2010 2011(1) 2012(1) 2010(2) Sep-11(3) 2011(1) (2) 2010(2) Sep-11(3) 2011(1) (2) 2010 2011(1) 2012(1) Dec-10 Nov-11

United States 3,0 1,5 1,8 1,6 3,9 3,2 9,6 9,1 9,1 10,7 9,8 9,4 0-0,25 0-0,25
Japan 4,0 -0,9 2,2 -0,7 0,2 -0,4 5,0 4,3 4,5 8,1 11,1 10,0 0-0,10 0-0,10
Euro Area 1,8 1,5 0,2 1,6 3,0 2,7 10,1 10,2 10,0 6,2 4,3 2,9 1,00 1,25
Italy 1,5 0,6 -0,3 1,6 3,6 2,7 8,4 8,3 8,1 4,6 3,9 1,6 -           -           
Germany 3,7 2,9 0,7 1,2 2,9 2,4 7,1 5,9 6,1 4,3 1,7 0,7 -           -           

France 1,5 1,5 0,2 1,7 2,4 2,4 9,8 9,9 9,7 7,1 6,0 4,5 -           -           

Portugal 1,4 -2,0 -1,5 1,4 3,5 3,1 12,0 12,5 12,5 9,8 7,4 5,9 -           -           
Ireland -1,0 1,7 0,4 -1,6 1,3 1,2 13,7 14,2 14,4 31,3 9,5 7,9 -           -           

Greece -4,5 -5,6 -2,7 4,7 2,9 2,8 12,6 17,6 15,9 10,6 8,3 6,2 -           -           

Spain -0,1 0,7 -0,1 2,1 2,7 3,0 20,1 22,6 20,9 9,3 6,3 4,7 -           -           

United Kingdom 1,8 0,7 0,4 3,3 5,2 4,4 7,8 8,1 7,7 10,3 8,1 6,4 0,50 0,50
, ,

(1) Forecasts Source: Prometeia and off icial statistics

(2) Average annual rate

(3) The latest available information has been used, w here data had not been published as at 30th September 2011.

Gross domestic product Consumer prices Unemployment Public Sector Deficit (% of GDP)
Reference interest 

rates

 
 
After decelerating in the spring, affected, amongst other things, by temporary factors such as the 
rise in energy prices and the consequences of the earthquake in Japan, the world economy slowed 
further in the third quarter suffering from continuing weak employment figures, less expansionary 
budgetary policies and widespread uncertainty over remedies for financial deficits.  
The latest IMF forecasts estimate growth in world GDP for 2011 of +4%, the aggregate result of still 
high growth in emerging countries, and in Asia in particular, and rather weak growth in 
industrialised economies, which includes a negative contribution from Japan, although it is 
recovering after the violent earthquake in March.  
 
The United States economy showed signs of recovery between June and September, with GDP up by 
2,5% on an annualised basis (+1,3% and +0,4% in the second and first quarters respectively). The 
change reflects a marked improvement in consumption, with net exports basically stable. However, 

                                                           
 In September the Federal Reserve left its target range interest rate of 0-0,25% on federal funds unrevised, stating that with a high degree of 

unused capacity and stable expectations for inflation, the official rates would remain unchanged until at least the middle of 2013. In order to 
bring long term rates down, the Federal Reserve also announced its intention to increase the average residual maturity of the securities it 
holds by purchasing 400 billion dollars of public sector bonds with  a residual maturity of longer than six years by the end of June 2012 and 

at the same time selling the same amount of similar securities with a residual maturity of less than three years.  
 In a context of weak pressures on prices the Bank of Japan also left its target range interest rate unchanged at 0-0,1%.  

4  After an uninterrupted series of rate changes between January and July, in August, following, amongst other things, a deterioration in the 
economic environment, the central banks of the major emerging economies halted action to raise their reference interest rates and Brazil 

decided to cut its rate (-50 basis points both in August and in October down to 11,50%). The only exception was India where the central 
bank, faced with expectations of worsening inflation, raised its interest rates by 25 basis points both in September and in October, up to 

8,50%.  

Sep-11 
A

Jun-11               
B

Mar-11             
C

Dec-10       
D

% change              
A/D

Sep-10           
E

Euro/Dollar 1,3384 1,4504 1,4165 1,3377 0,1% 1,3630
Euro/Yen 103,11 116,79 117,77 108,60 -5,1% 113,75
Euro/Yuan 8,5363 9,3747 9,2757 8,8148 -3,2% 9,1192
Euro/Franc CH 1,2151 1,2185 1,3009 1,2486 -2,7% 1,3387
Euro/Sterling 0,8587 0,9037 0,8833 0,8572 0,2% 0,8675
Dollar/Yen 77,04 80,52 83,15 81,15 -5,1% 83,45
Dollar/Yuan 6,3780 6,4635 6,5483 6,5900 -3,2% 6,6905
Futures - Brent  (in $) 102,76 112,48 117,36 94,75 8,5% 82,31
CRB Index (commodities) 298,15 338,05 359,43 332,80 -10,4% 286,86

Source: Thomson Financial Reuters

The main exchange rates and oil (Brent) and commodities prices at 

the end of the period
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the positive trend for fixed investments – in equipment and software in particular – was more than 
offset by the reduction in inventories.  
Unfavourable conditions on the labour market continued with an unemployment rate (9,1% in 
September for the third consecutive month) almost constantly above 9% since May 20095.  
Inflation rose further to 3,9% in September, although not as fast as in the first half (1,5% in 
December), and the core index (net of the energy and foodstuffs components) also reached 2% (0,8% 
at the end of 2010).  
The negative balance of trade increased in the first eight months of the year to 376,2 billion dollars 
(+11,5%), attributable mainly to trade with OPEC countries – partly due to a weaker dollar – and 
with China.  
 
The Chinese economy showed no signs of slowing, with GDP up by 9,1% on an annualised basis in 
the third quarter (+9,4% in the first nine months of the year), driven yet again by high domestic 
demand. Performance over nine months was as follows: +24,9% for fixed investments with 
particularly high peaks in the manufacturing sector (+50% for electrical machinery and equipment); 
+17% for retail sales of consumer goods; +14,2% for industrial production with peaks of close to 
+19% in some manufacturing sectors.  
However, some signs in the opposite direction seemed to arrive from the monthly balance of trade 
surplus which, after reaching 31,5 billion dollars in July, fell to 14,5 billion dollars in September 
affected by imports which were stronger than exports.  
After peaking in July (6,5%), inflation fell to 6,1% in September, while nevertheless continuing to 
record particularly large increases in foodstuff prices (13,4%).  

 
Japan recorded negative quarterly growth in 
GDP between April and June (-0,5%) – the 
third consecutive fall after -0,9% in the first 
quarter and -0,6% in the last quarter of 2010 – 
determined primarily by the strong contraction 
in exports, while imports remained stable, and 
also by continuing weak private sector 
consumption and investment.  
Furthermore the latest monthly indicators 
showed signs of a possible recovery in the 
economy, with a gradual loosening of the 

constraints on demand caused by the earthquake, notwithstanding the negative impacts of the 
appreciation of the yen. Industrial production in particular, which  increased slightly month-on-
month in July (+0,4%) and August (+0,6%), came close to pre-disaster levels and in September the 
business confidence climate summarised by the Tankan report also recorded a generalised 
improvement.  
The unemployment rate fell in August to 4,3% from 4,7% in July, well below the record high reached 
in the autumn of 2010 (5,1%). Inflation again stood at 0,2% in both July and August after six 
consecutive months of falling prices.  
 
The slow and difficult path taken by European institutions to establish effective rules and 
instruments to manage the crisis, together with the stall in the Greek debt repayment process have 
helped increase uncertainty over growth prospects for the entire euro area. The trend for GDP, 
which was already slowing considerably in the spring (+0,2% on a quarterly basis, down from the 
previous +0,8% due to falls in consumption and investments compared to a rise, although slight, for 
net exports) seems to have weakened further in subsequent months. In October the €-coin indicator, 
developed by the Bank of Italy to provide an estimate in real time of month-on-month growth in the 
euro area, fell for the fifth consecutive month to record negative growth for the first time since 
September 2009, a reflection of a worsening climate of confidence for businesses and consumers.  
After falling in June, industrial production on the other hand returned to growth month-on-month, 
influenced by the individual performances of some of the major economies in the area: +1,1% in July 
(+3,9% for Germany) and +1,2% in August (+4,3% for Italy).  
On labour markets, the unemployment rate stood at 10,2% in September the aggregate result of 
different domestic trends, with German unemployment down to 5,9% (6,5% in December) compared 

                                                           
5  The weakness of the labour  market persuaded President Obama to introduce expansionary measures for 2012 at the beginning of September 

for a total of 447 billion dollars (3% of GDP), designed to increase employment and support households most in need.  

Actual and forecast data: the principal emerging countries

Percentages
2010 2011(1) 2012(1) 2010(2) Sep-11(3) Dec-10 Nov-11

China 10,4 9,3 8,3 3,3 6,1 5,81 6,56

India 10,0 7,7 7,2 12,0 9,0 6,25 8,50

Brazil 7,6 3,8 3,6 5,0 7,3 10,75 11,50

Russia 4,0 4,3 4,1 6,9 7,3 7,75 8,25
, ,

(1) Forecasts Source: Prometeia, IMF and off icial statistics

(2) Average annual rate

Gross domestic product
Reference interest 

rates
Consumer prices

(3) The latest available information has been used, w here data had not been published as at 30th
      September 2011.
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to a progressive deterioration of the situation in Greece (up to 17,6% from 14,2%) and Spain (up to 
22,6% from 20,4%).  
Inflation, as measured by the harmonised consumer price index, rose sharply in September to reach 
a new peak of 3% (2,5% in August), partially attributable to the rapid acceleration that occurred in 
Italy (up to 3,6% from 2,3% in August). Similarly, net of fresh foodstuffs and energy products, the 
index rose rapidly to 2% from 1,5% in August.  
In the public finance field,  with the exception of Germany, pressures on sovereign debts accelerated 
the adoption of further programmes to reduce deficits, and/or policies designed to reassure markets, 
by the main countries in the area.  
 
As opposed to Europe, GDP 
in Italy accelerated in 
quarterly terms in the 
second quarter to +0,3% 
(+0,1% between January and 
March) due to net foreign 
demand which  was only 
partially offset by a 
reduction in inventories, 
while again consumption 
made only a slight contribution and investment none. However, in the months that followed the 
Italian economy was also affected by a worsening of the general economic context: in August the 
industrial production index (seasonally adjusted) rose by 4,7% year-on-year (-1,1% in July), but this 
increase was the result, at least partly, of a difference in the timing of summer vacations compared 
to previous years. The main performance indicators measured by ISTAT (the Italian office for 
statistics) also recorded a progressive fall in confidence over the summer both for consumers and 
businesses.  
After some months of basic stability at around 8%, the unemployment rate climbed back to 8,3% in 
September, still lower than the European average (10,2%) due to the effect of state income benefits: a 
total of 732,1 million hours of state lay-off and redundancy benefits were authorised in the first nine 
months of 2011, a decrease of 20,9% compared to same period in 2010, consisting mainly of the 
ordinary component (-39,5%).  
After the return in July and August to levels below the European average, Italian inflation 
accelerated sharply in September (with the harmonised consumer price index up to 3,6% compared 
to 3% in the euro area), due to both the absence of seasonal sales6 and the increase in VAT of one 
percentage point by the mini-budget in August. The trend also seems to have continued into October 
(3,8%).  
The Italian balance of trade deficit reached 23,8 billion euro between January and August, much 
higher than in 2010 (+37,6%), due mainly to the increased deficit in the energy sector. Net of energy 
trade the balance was in surplus (+18,6 billion euro) and up on the first eight months of 2010 (+17,1 
billion euro).  
At the end of the quarter the government updated its estimates for public finances7, forecasting a 
reduction in the deficit to GDP ratio to 3,9% in 2011 (4,6% in 2010) and an increase in its public 
debt to GDP ratio to 120,6% (119% in 2010). The government passed two mini-budgets to improve 
public finances over the summer. The first, designed to immediately implement commitments made 
under the stability programme to balance the government budget by 2014, was contained in Decree 
Law No. 98, passed at the beginning of July, and in a bill for tax and welfare reform. However, the 
worsening of the sovereign debt confidence crisis made it necessary to bring forward the deadline for 
balancing the budget to 2013 with the approval of a second mini-budget in August (Decree Law No. 
n. 138)8.  

* * * 
 
Generalised falls were recorded on all the principal equity markets over the summer which hit the 
banking sector more heavily and European banks more exposed to sovereign debt risk in particular. 

                                                           
6  The index was affected by methodological changes introduced at the beginning of year to the measurement of prices for seasonal products, 

the effects of which are more pronounced in months in which promotional sales are concentrated and in those which immediately follow 

them. Comparisons with the previous year are distorted as a consequence.  
7  “Note to update the 2011 Economy and Finance Document” of 22nd September 2011.  

8  Together, according to official estimates, the two mini-budgets reduce net debt by yearly amounts of approximately 2,8 billion euro in 2011, 
28,3 billion euro in 2012, 54,3 billion euro in 2013 and 59,8 billion euro in 2014. Almost two thirds of the reduction for 2014 is based on 

increased revenues (over half of which through the implementation of the tax and welfare reform) and one third from spending cuts.  

The principal share indices in local currency

Sep-11        
A

Jun-11             
B

Mar-11                
C

Dec-10             
D

% change              
A/D

Sep-10            
E

Ftse Mib (Milan) 14.836 20.187 21.727 20.173 -26,5% 20.505
Ftse Italia All Share (Milan) 15.570 20.913 22.454 20.936 -25,6% 21.098
Xetra Dax (Frankfurt) 5.502 7.376 7.041 6.914 -20,4% 6.229
Cac 40 (Paris) 2.982 3.982 3.989 3.805 -21,6% 3.715
Ftse 100 (London) 5.128 5.946 5.909 5.900 -13,1% 5.549
S&P 500 (New York) 1.131 1.321 1.326 1.258 -10,1% 1.141
DJ Industrial (New York) 10.913 12.414 12.320 11.578 -5,7% 10.788
Nasdaq Composite (New York) 2.415 2.774 2.781 2.653 -9,0% 2.369
Nikkei 225 (Tokyo) 8.700 9.816 9.755 10.229 -14,9% 9.369
Topix (Tokyo) 761 849 869 899 -15,4% 830
MSCI emerging markets 880 1.146 1.171 1.151 -23,6% 1.076
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After the ECB made an announcement, in co-ordination with the Federal Reserve, the Bank of 
England, the bank of Japan and the national Swiss bank, that it would offer three month liquidity in 
United States dollars until the end of the year, equities in the finance sector recovered sharply, 
although temporarily.  
As shown in the table financial conditions also deteriorated in emerging countries with particularly 
large and generalised outflows of capital which  brought share prices down to the lowest levels seen 
in the last two years.  
 
With regard to assets under management, the weakness present in the mutual funds sector was 
confirmed over the summer and in September net inflows since the beginning of year were negative 
by 13,8 billion euro, the aggregate result of opposing trends for foreign registered funds (+7 billion 
euro), which now account for more than 61% of the total, and Italian registered funds (-20,8 billion 
euro).  
The outflow was generalised and mainly affected monetary funds (-7,1 billion euro), bond funds (-2,6 
billion euro), equity funds (-2 billion euro) and hedge funds (-1,7 billion euro), while outflows from 
balanced funds (-0,3 billion euro) and flexible funds (-0,2 billion euro)9 were more modest.  
At the end of the September assets under management10 had therefore fallen to 424,1 billion euro 

from 460,4 billion euro in December, with a change in composition into bond funds (up from 41,6% 
to 43,9%), compared to a fall in the percentage of equity funds (from 22,9% to 20,2%) and monetary 
funds (from 13,7% to 12,4%).  
 

* * * 
 

In 2011 the Italian banking sector experienced a generalised slowdown in growth in lending and 
funding which was accompanied by a progressive further deterioration in credit quality.  
 
On the basis of Bank of Italy figures11, at the end of September the annual rate of change in direct 
funding (deposits of residents and bonds) was +2,8%, even lower than the rate of +3,3% recorded in 

December, but recovering compared to the low reached in June (+1,2%). The figure comprises on the 
one hand a recovery in the bond component (+5,1%) compared to the negative levels at the beginning 
of the year (-1,6%) and on the other a modest increase in other types of funding (+1,5% compared to 
+6,6% at the end of 2010), after the low reached in June (-0,8%), the result, amongst other things, of 
lively performance by repurchase agreements (+19,9%).  
 
After peaking in February (+6,7%), the growth rate for lending to the private sector slowed to +4,1% in 

September. In terms of borrowers, Bank of Italy data shows a basic realignment of lending to 
businesses (+5,3%; +1,4% in December) with that to households (+5,5%; +7,7% in December). The 
latter recorded a deceleration which affected both residential mortgages (+5% compared to +8,3% in 
December) and the various forms of consumer credit (+1,2% compared to +1,9%).  
As concerns loans to businesses on the other hand, short term loans (up to one year) increased year-
on-year by 8,9%.  
 
From the viewpoint of risk, in September non-performing loans to the private sector gross of 
impairment losses12 had reached 101,7 billion euro (+12% compared to 90,8 billion euro in January 
2011), including 34,4 billion euro relating to households and 66,7 billion euro to businesses. The 
ratio of gross non-performing private sector loans to private sector loans was 5,89% (4,61% in 
December), while the ratio of gross non-performing private sector loans to capital and reserves was 

26,54% (22,20% at the end of 2010).  
On the other hand, net non-performing loans totalled 53,8 billion euro, an increase of 4,9 billion euro 

compared to 48,9 billion euro in January (+10,1%), but slightly down compared to 54,5 billion euro 
in August, with a ratio of net non-performing loans to total loans of 2,78% (2,43% in December) and a 
ratio of net non-performing loans to capital and reserves of 14,04% (13,31% in December).  
 

                                                           
9  Net inflows over nine months also included +0,1 billion euro into “non classified funds”.  

10  The definition of assets is the same as that contained in the new “New map of assets under management” published by Assogestioni 
(national association of asset management companies), which in September started to provide a monthly update of assets under 

management for mutual investment funds. 
11  Bank of Italy, supplement to the statistics bulletin Moneta e Banche, November 2011.  
12  From January 2011, the figures relating to gross and net non-performing loans are not statistically comparable with past figures following 

corporate ownership operations by some banking groups. As a consequence, the annual rates of change for both items are no longer 

significant.  



 
 
 
 
 

 19 

Again in September, securities issued by residents in Italy held in the portfolios of Italian banks had 

increased year-on-year by 4,4% driven by growth in the total in progress since April. The increase 
was mainly in long-term government securities (CCTs and BTPs, +11,2%) and only to  a residual 
extent in short-term government securities (BOTs and CTZs, +4,1%) and in “other certificates” 
(+1,1%). Within the latter bank bonds increased by 8,5%, to account for 61,4% of the total. The ratio 
of securities to private sector loans was therefore 34,3% (33% at the end of 2010).  

 
On that same date, the average interest rate on bank funding from customers calculated by the Italian 

Banking Association13 (which includes the yield on deposits, bonds and repurchase agreements in 
euro for households and non financial companies) had risen to 1,86% (1,50% in December). The 
average weighted interest rate on lending to households and non financial companies on the other 

hand, rose to 4,10% (3,62% at the end of December).  

                                                           
13  Italian Banking Association, Monthly Outlook, Economia e mercati Finanziari-Creditizi, October 2011.  
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UBI Banca Group: significant events in the 
third quarter of 2011  

Transactions concerning consolidated companies and changes 
in the scope of consolidation  

No changes were made to the consolidation scope compared to 30th June 2011 except for those 
reported below:  

• Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa: UBI Banca made further purchases during the third 
quarter from non controlling shareholders for a total of 2.202 shares, which brought its 
controlling interest up from 92,9167% at the end of June to 92,9257% as at 30th September 
2011;  

• Banca Carime Spa: in the first three months of the year the Parent acquired 680 shares 
from non controlling shareholders bringing its control of the subsidiary up to 92,8332% 
(92,8331% in June).  

• Banco di San Giorgio Spa: subsequent to 30th June UBI Banca acquired 106.094 shares 
from private individual shareholders, which increased its stake from 37,7331% to 
37,9012%. If the stake held by BRE (57,3332% of the share capital) is also considered, the 
total control of this Ligurian bank is 95,2344% (95,0663% as at 30th June).  

On 12th October 2011, 4.981.435 new shares of Banco di San Giorgio were issued in 
relation to the capital increase decided by the Board of Directors in the first half of 2011, 
under a specific authorisation received from an Extraordinary General Meeting of 8th 
January 2010. In the period between 1st August 2011 and 16th September 2011, option 
rights and pre-emption rights were exercised on the increase in the share capital from 
94.647.277,50 euro to 102.119.430,00 euro, which involved the issue of a maximum of 
4.981.435 ordinary shares, with normal dividend entitlement and a par value of 1,50 euro 
per share, to be offered as an option right to shareholders at a ratio of three new ordinary 
shares for every 38 ordinary shares owned at a price of 4,00 euro per share (of which 2,50 
euro as a share premium).  
A total of 4.783.365 new shares were subscribed by rights holders (96,02% of the total 
shares offered in the share issue), as follows: 2.856.015 shares subscribed by BRE, 
1.885.383 by UBI Banca and 41.967 by non controlling shareholders. The portion on which 
rights were not exercised (198.070 shares) were allotted as follows: 9.493 shares were 
applied for under pre-emption rights by non controlling shareholders, while the remaining 
188.577 shares went to the majority shareholders (74.986 to the Parent and 113.591 to 
Banca Regionale Europea).  
On completion of the operation, Banco di San Giorgio therefore had share capital of 
102.119.430 euro, composed of 68.079.620 shares and it was 95,5076% controlled by the 
UBI Banca Group (57,5001% by BRE and 38,0075% by the Parent);  

• Aviva Vita Spa: on 26th July 2011, the Board of Directors decided to ask the shareholders to 
pay a second ten million euro tranche of the share capital increase for a total of 20 million 
euro, decided by a shareholders’ resolution of 23rd February 2011. On 29th July, UBI Banca 
(which holds 50% of the company) paid its share of the increase amounting to five million 
euro (the preceding five million euro had been paid on 23rd February). Consequently the 
share capital of Aviva Vita as at 30th September had risen to 135.000.000 euro from 
125.000.000 euro at the end of first half;  

• FinanzAttiva Servizi Srl: on 26th July 2011, the Management Board of UBI Banca decided 
(in accordance with Art. 2501 ter of the Italian Civil Code) a project for the merger of 

FinanzAttiva Servizi (approved by the Board of Directors of the latter on 29th July), by 
means of the simplified procedure pursuant to Art. 2505 of the Italian Civil Code, since the 
company is wholly owned by the Parent. The operation, which forms part of a process to 
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simplify Group structure, was authorised by the Bank of Italy with a provision of 19th 
October 2011;  

• Investnet Italy Srl: on 1st August the merger of the company, according to the simplified 
procedure, into its parent, IW Bank, which wholly owned it, became effective, with effect for 
accounting and tax purposes from 1st January 2011. The operation forms part of a broader 
process to simplify and streamline the organisational structure of Group;  

• InvestNet International Spa: on 19th September 2011, following its transformation into an 
Italian registered company and the transfer at the same time of its headquarters to Italy, 
the company’s name was entered in the company register. The company will be merged into 
its Parent, IW Bank, which wholly owns it, as part of the process to simplify Group 
structure;  

• Ge.Se.Ri. – Gestione Servizi di Riscossione Spa in liquidation: on 20th September 2011, the 
Bank of Italy issued the authorisation for its merger according to the simplified procedure 
into Banca Regionale Europea, which wholly owns it.  

 

*** 
 

On 27th September 2011, the Management Board of the Parent,  UBI Banca, as the controlling 
and sole shareholder, decided to make a “payment into an account for a future increase in the 
share capital to be decided by 27th April 2012” amounting to 60.179 thousand euro to the 
benefit of IW Bank. The section “shareholders’ equity and capital adequacy” may be consulted 
for further details of that payment. It was made with value date of 29th September 2011 and 
designed to restore an adequate capital structure to the subsidiary with a view to the future 
replenishment of the losses incurred from the fair value measurement of its owned securities 
portfolio.  
 
 
 

Action taken on the branch network and market positioning  

The branch network of the UBI Group as at 30th September 2011 consisted of 1.886 branches 
(1.901 at the end of 2010), unchanged at the date of publishing this report.  
The total number of branches did not change during the third quarter: the closure in July of a 
BPB mini-branch in Bergamo in Viale Vittorio Emanuele II located in the national insurance 
offices was followed by the opening in August of a new mini-branch belonging to the same 
Bank in Cagliari.  
It should also be recalled, as already reported in detail in previous periodic financial reports, 
that action was taken in the first half to reorganise the branch network (branches and mini-
branches which overlapped with other branches were closed and small branches were 
transformed into mini-branches), while geographical presence was strengthened (by opening 
new branches and transforming former treasury branches into mini-branches) as summarised 
in the table below.  

 
 

Action taken on the branch network of the Group in Italy in the first nine months  of 2011

branches mini-branches branches mini-branches

Banca Popolare di Bergamo Spa 1 1                  -                          3 5 2 1

Banco di Brescia Spa -                    2                  -                             -                    -                    -                             -                             

Banca Regionale Europea Spa 3 2                  -                             2 3 1 -                             

Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa 1 1                  4                         6 8 9 -                             

Banca Carime Spa 1 -                   -                          -                    1 -                             -                             

Banca di Valle Camonica Spa -                    -                   2                            -                    -                    -                             -                             

Banco di San Giorgio Spa 1 -                   -                             -                    1 1 -                             

UBI Banca Private Investment Spa -                    -                   -                             5 -                    -                             -                             

TOTAL 7 6                  6                         16 18 13 1

Transformation of 
mini-branches into 

branches

Closures of:
Transformation of 
branches into mini-

branches

Opening of: Transformation 
of treasury 

branches into 
mini-branches
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The Italian distribution network is completed by units 
dedicated specifically to private banking customers 
(private banking units – PBUs – and the associated 
“corners”) and to corporate customers (corporate 
banking units – CBUs – and the associated “corners”). 
At the end of September 109 private banking facilities 
(60 PBUs and 49 corners) and 99 corporate banking 
facilities (65 CBUs and 34 corners) were operational 
which had become 108 (58 PBUs and 50 corners) and 
101 (64 CBUs and 37 corners) respectively at the date 
of publishing this report1.  
 
The distribution network was also supported by a 
network of 724 financial advisors reporting to UBI 
Banca Private Investment, consisting of 390 operating 
in the central and northern division and 334 in the 
central and southern division.  
 

*** 
 

The table summarises the positioning of the UBI 
Banca Group in terms of branches in provinces with 
a more significant presence, on the basis of the latest 
available Bank of Italy data.  
 
No significant changes had occurred at the end of 
June compared to the previous position.  
The Group continues to be able to count on a market 
share of more than 10% in 19 Italian provinces and 
also on an important presence in Milan (over 9%) and 
Rome (approximately 4%).  
 
  

                                                           
1  These changes that occurred during the third quarter and until the date of publishing this report as the new “hour glass shape” 

distribution model was rolled out are as follows:  

− with regard to private banking facilities, Banca Carime closed a corner at Lagonegro (Potenza) in August and transformed two 

corners at Reggio Calabria and Lecce into PBUs, while Banca di Valle Camonica opened a new PBU in Brescia. Again in August 

Banca Popolare di Bergamo transformed two PBUs at Grumello del Monte and Ponte San Pietro (Bergamo) into corners and 
opened two new PBUs in Bergamo and at Varese and a new corner in Milan. Banca Popolare di Ancona transformed two corners 

at Ascoli Piceno and Caserta into PBUs. Finally in October Banco di Brescia closed its Verona PBU and the relative corner at 
Mantua and transformed its Lodi PBU into a corner, while opening a new corner in Treviso;  

− with regard to corporate centres, in August Banca Carime closed its CBU at Andria and its corporate corner at Lamezia Terme 
(Catanzaro), while a new corner started operating at Foggia. In the same month Banca Popolare di Ancona opened three corners 

at Civitanova Marche (Macerata), Campobasso and Osimo (Ancona) and transformed its corner at Aversa (Caserta) into a CBU, 
while Banca di Valle Camonica and Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria opened two new corners at Brescia and at Assago 

(Milan) respectively. In October Banco di Brescia closed its CBU at Vicenza and transformed its CBU at Montichiari (Brescia) into 
a corner, while opening a new corner at Verona. Again in October Banca Popolare di Bergamo opened a new CBU at Palazzolo 

sull’Oglio (Brescia) and a corner at Tradate (Varese).  

Branches 30.6.2011 31.12.2010

North Italy 6,4%  6,4%  

Lombardy 12,9%  12,9%  
Prov. of Bergamo 21,1%  21,0%  
Prov. of Brescia 22,7%  22,6%  
Prov. of Como 5,9%  6,2%  
Prov. of Lecco 5,8%  5,4%  
Prov. of Sondrio 8,1%  8,1%  
Prov. of Mantua 5,7%  5,7%  
Prov. of Milan 9,2%  9,1%  
Prov. of Monza Brianza 8,3%  8,5%  
Prov. of Pavia 15,5%  15,6%  
Prov. of Varese 23,2%  23,7%  

Piedmont 8,4%  8,4%  
Prov. of Alessandria 11,8%  11,1%  
Prov. of Cuneo 24,5%  24,5%  
Prov. of Novara 4,7%  5,1%  

Liguria 6,0%  6,0%  
Prov. of Genoa 4,8%  5,0%  
Prov. of Imperia 5,8%  5,8%  
Prov. of Savona 6,4%  5,9%  
Prov. of La Spezia 10,2%  10,3%  

Central Italy 3,5%  3,6%  

Marches 8,1%  8,8%  
Prov. of Ancona 10,0%  10,6%  
Prov. of Macerata 8,8%  9,5%  
Prov. of Fermo 10,8%  10,6%  
Prov. of Pesaro-Urbino 6,9%  8,1%  

Latium 4,2%  4,3%  
Prov. of Viterbo 14,8%  14,8%  
Prov. of Rome 3,9%  4,0%  

South Italy 8,3%  8,3%  

Campania 6,0%  6,1%  
Prov. of Caserta 9,0%  8,6%  
Prov. of Salerno 8,0%  8,1%  
Prov. of Naples 5,0%  5,5%  

Calabria 22,1%  22,2%  
Prov. of Catanzaro 14,2%  14,3%  
Prov. of Cosenza 26,1%  25,7%  
Prov. of Crotone 18,9%  18,9%  
Prov. of Reggio Calabria 22,2%  22,1%  
Prov. of Vibo Valentia 26,3%  28,2%  

Basilicata 14,3%  14,4%  
Prov. of Matera 15,7%  15,7%  
Prov. of Potenza 13,6%  13,8%  

Apulia 8,2%  8,2%  
Prov. of Brindisi 12,1%  11,5%  
Prov. of Bari 10,1%  10,1%  
Prov. of Barletta-Andria-Trani 6,3%  6,4%  
Prov. of Taranto 8,4%  8,5%  

Total Italy 5,6%  5,6%  

UBI Banca Group: market shares
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Changes in Group personnel  

Group personnel 

30.9.2011 31.12.2010 Changes 30.9.2010 30.9.2011 31.12.2010 Changes
Number A B A-B C D E D-E

Banca Popolare di Bergamo Spa 3.748 3.761 -13 3.744 3.818 3.808 10
Banco di Brescia Spa 2.594 2.632 -38 2.656 2.600 2.625 -25 
Banca Carime Spa 2.198 2.221 -23 2.225 2.335 2.363 -28 
Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria Spa 1.719 1.756 -37 1.822 1.908 1.952 -44 
Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa 1.711 1.715 -4 1.713 1.797 1.795 2
Banca Regionale Europea Spa 1.509 1.552 -43 1.540 1.576 1.585 -9 
UBI Banca Scpa 1.248 1.367 -119 1.323 2.166 2.171 -5 
Banco di San Giorgio Spa 418 417 1 418 419 418 1
Banca di Valle Camonica Spa 350 346 4 349 347 346 1
Centrobanca Spa 319 325 -6 333 316 316 -                  
IW Bank Spa* 281 291 -10 293 296 312 -16 
B@nca 24-7 Spa 210 227 -17 230 169 172 -3 
UBI Banca Private Investment Spa 165 167 -2 173 155 163 -8 
UBI Banca International Sa 97 98 -1 96 92 92 -                  
Banque de Dépôts et de Gestion Sa** 94 116 -22 118 91 112 -21 

TOTAL FOR BANKS 16.661 16.991 -330 17.033 18.085 18.230 -145 

UBI Sistemi e Servizi SCpA 2.021 1.860 161 1.848 673 665 8
UBI Leasing Spa 251 242 9 242 246 250 -4 
UBI Factor Spa 156 153 3 152 147 145 2
UBI Pramerica SGR Spa 144 142 2 144 120 122 -2 
Prestitalia Spa 103 105 -2 108 97 102 -5 
UBI Insurance Broker Srl 39 40 -1 38 35 36 -1 
UBI Fiduciaria Spa 24 23 1 22 17 17 -                  
Silf Spa 13 14 -1 18 25 25 -                  
BPB Immobiliare Srl 11 9 2 11 6 4 2
UBI Gestioni Fiduciarie Sim Spa 7 7 -                  7 4 4 -                  
InvestNet International Sa 6 7                   -1 8 8                    8 -                  
Gestioni Lombarda (Suisse) Sa** -                     -                    -                  7 -                     -                    -                  
Centrobanca Sviluppo Impresa SGR Spa 6 6 -                  6 2 2 -                  
Coralis Rent Srl 6 6 -                  6 -                     -                    -                  
UBI Trustee Sa 4 4 -                  4 4                    4                   -                  
UBI Management Company Sa 3 2 1 2 3 2 1
S.B.I.M. Spa 1 1 -                  1 -                     -                    -                  

Twice Sim Spa* -                     -                    -                  31 -                     -                    -                  

TOTAL 19.456 19.612 -156 19.688 19.472 19.616 -144 

Workers on personnel leasing contracts 59 87 -28 179 59 87 -28 

TOTAL PERSONNEL 19.515 19.699 -184 19.867

On secondment outside the Group
   - out 24 17 7 15
   - in 8 13 -5 

TOTAL WORKFORCE 19.539 19.716 -177 19.882 19.539 19.716 -177 

Employees actually in service Employees on the payroll

 
 

∗ Twice Sim was merged into IW Bank on 1st November 2010.  
**       Gestioni Lombarda (Switzerland) was merged into Banque de Dépôts et de Gestion, on 7th December 2010.  

 

The table gives details for each company of the actual distribution of ordinary employees (workers on permanent and temporary contracts 
and on apprenticeship contracts) within the Group as at 30th September 2011, adjusted to take account of secondments to and from other 

entities within or external to the Group (column A), compared with the position at the end of 2010 (column B) and with that in September 
2010 (column C), both restated on a consistent basis. Column D, on the other hand, gives details of the number of employees on the 

payroll as at 30th September 2011 compared to the position at the end of 2010 (column E).  

 
The total personnel of the UBI Banca Group as at 30th September 2011 numbered 19.515, 
compared to 19.699 in December 2010, a decrease during the period of 184. The changes are 
attributable mainly to the effects of personnel turnover with recruitment and persons leaving 
as well as to a few remaining persons leaving on redundancy schemes for ordinary employees, 
and only partly to less use of flexible contracts.  
In the third quarter, the total personnel numbers fell by 31 as a result of a reduction in 

employee personnel by 46 (mainly in relation to seasonal workers employed by BPB 
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Immobiliare leaving) and a modest increase in workers on personnel leasing contracts (+15) to 
support branch operations over the summer.  
 
With regard to the redundancy scheme still in progress – implemented on the basis of the trade union 
agreement of 14th August 2007 – in the first nine months  of 2011, 53 personnel left the Group (of which 16 
in the third quarter) which, added to the 900 that had already left since 31st December 2010, brought the 
total number of personnel leaving to 953. This scheme will end in the fourth quarter of the current year with 
the last seven employees leaving (postponed in relation to measures introduced by Decree Law No. 
78/2010 converted into Law No. 122/2010).  

 
The synergies created over the nine month period mainly related to the network banks (-179, 
of which 153 ordinary employees and 26 on leasing contracts).  
Personnel numbers in the remaining part of the Group (other banks and companies) remained 
basically unchanged (-5), although this was the result of different trends in individual 
companies in relation to their specific organisational and market contexts.  
In this respect the significant increase in personnel numbers at UBI Sistemi e Servizi (+161 
over nine months) is attributable to the centralisation of contact centre activities at the 
company (performed by UBI Banca until 31st December 2010) and the expansion of units to 
support mortgage disbursement, in relation, amongst other things to the commercial 
agreement with BY YOU, which involved the transfer of new mortgage loans originating from 

the BY YOU network of agencies to the 
network banks.  
 
The table gives details of changes in the 
type of employee contract, showing a 
total decrease of 144 workers 2 , the 
aggregate result of 446 leaving – of which 
53 due to use of the “solidarity fund”, 
seven due to retirement (of which one on 
an incentive scheme) and 153 due to end 
of contract – and 302 new appointments 

(106 permanent and 196 on temporary contracts).  
The trends reported above incorporate the effects of temporary increases in personnel 
numbers over the summer in relation to both the seasonal activities of BPB Immobiliare and 
the need to ensure normal operating activities in branches during holiday periods.  
 
The percentage of part time employees as at 30th September 2011 was again 7,7% (7,3% in 
December 2010). Female personnel accounted for 36,8% of the total, compared to 36,7% at 
the end of the year.  
 

•*** 
 

The parties involved in the trade union negotiations relating to the 2011-2015 Group Business 
Plan launched in June decided to extend the time limits on the negotiations until 16th 

December 2011 in consideration of gradual nature of its implementation and the start of the 
various projects. The negotiations involved the roll out of the new “hour glass” distribution 
model for the network banks started on 1st  August and the start in October of preparatory 
and preliminary activities necessary for the implementation of the “mass market team” and 
“developers” projects in January 2012.  
 
Discussions began in October with trade union organisations to decide company bonuses for 
2010 with agreements signed at Banca Popolare di Bergamo, Banco di Brescia, Banca 
Popolare di Ancona, Banca Carime, UBI Banca Lombarda Private Investment, Banca Popolare 
Commercio e Industria, UBI Banca, UBI Sistemi e Servizi, Banca Regionale Europea, Banco di 
San Giorgio, Banca di Valle Camonica. Bargaining will continue in November at the remaining 
product companies.  
 
 

                                                           
2  In terms of actual personnel in service, the reduction in employees was greater over nine months (-156) due to the combined effect of 

increased secondments outside the Group (+7), mainly to UBI Assicurazioni, and less use of personnel from outside the Group (-5).  

Employees on the payroll

Number 30.9.2011 31.12.2010 Change

Total employees 19.472             19.616             -144 
of which: permanent 19.299             19.420             -121 

on temporary contracts 156 171 -15 

apprentices (*) 17                     25                     -8 

(*) Contract regulated by Legislative Decree No. 276/2003 (Biagi Law) for young people 
between the ages of 18 and 29, by which they acquire a qualification through training 
at work which provides them with specific occupational skills. The duration varies 
from a minimum of 18 months to a maximum of 48 months.
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Reclassified consolidated financial 
statements, reclassified income statement 
net of the most significant non-recurring 
items and reconciliation schedules  

Reclassified consolidated statement of financial position

ASSETS

10. Cash and cash equivalents 568.540 609.040 -40.500 -6,6% 586.075 -17.535 -3,0% 

20. Financial assets held for trading 2.250.881 2.732.751 -481.870 -17,6% 2.836.561 -585.680 -20,6% 

30. Financial assets at fair value 130.494 147.286 -16.792 -11,4% 153.951 -23.457 -15,2% 

40. Available-for-sale financial assets 8.365.381 10.252.619 -1.887.238 -18,4% 10.954.989 -2.589.608 -23,6% 

60. Loans to banks 5.314.336 3.120.352 2.193.984 70,3% 3.427.795 1.886.541 55,0% 

70. Loans to customers 102.765.316 101.814.829 950.487 0,9% 101.195.034 1.570.282 1,6% 

80. Hedging derivatives 995.341 591.127 404.214 68,4% 816.673 178.668 21,9% 

90. Fair value change in hedged financial assets (+/-) 675.977 429.073 246.904 57,5% 796.414 -120.437 -15,1% 

100. Equity investments 351.463 368.894 -17.431 -4,7% 375.800 -24.337 -6,5% 

120. Property, equipment and investment property 2.058.170 2.112.664 -54.494 -2,6% 2.071.976 -13.806 -0,7% 

130. Intangible assets 5.268.352 5.475.385 -207.033 -3,8% 5.478.993 -210.641 -3,8% 

of which: goodwill 4.286.210 4.416.660 -130.450 -3,0% 4.413.791 -127.581 -2,9% 

140. Tax assets 2.604.967 1.723.231 881.736 51,2% 1.379.250 1.225.717 88,9% 

150.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for 
sale 6.874 8.429 -1.555 -18,4% 48.256 -41.382 -85,8% 

160. Other assets 2.272.277 1.172.889 1.099.388 93,7% 1.622.444 649.833 40,1% 

Total assets 133.628.369 130.558.569 3.069.800 2,4% 131.744.211 1.884.158 1,4% 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

10. Due to banks 8.611.714 5.383.977 3.227.737 60,0% 7.126.257 1.485.457 20,8% 

20. Due to customers 56.392.736 58.666.157 -2.273.421 -3,9% 57.412.547 -1.019.811 -1,8% 

30. Securities issued 47.502.685 48.093.888 -591.203 -1,2% 46.463.566 1.039.119 2,2% 

40. Financial liabilities held for trading 654.949 954.423 -299.474 -31,4% 978.064 -323.115 -33,0% 

60. Hedging derivatives 1.569.117 1.228.056 341.061 27,8% 1.827.144 -258.027 -14,1% 

80. Tax liabilities 1.389.753 993.389 396.364 39,9% 908.091 481.662 53,0% 

90. Liabilities associated with activities under disposal 827                   -                         827              -                    -                         827 n.s.

100. Other liabilities 4.554.208        2.600.165        1.954.043 75,2% 4.288.484        265.724 6,2% 

110. Post-employment benefits 389.096 393.163 -4.067 -1,0% 402.921 -13.825 -3,4% 

120. Provisions for risks and charges: 326.203 303.572 22.631 7,5% 295.747 30.456 10,3% 

a) pension and similar obligations 65.806 68.082 -2.276 -3,3% 69.560 -3.754 -5,4% 

b) other provisions 260.397 235.490 24.907 10,6% 226.187 34.210 15,1% 
140.+170.
+180.+190.

+ 200.

Share capital, share premiums, reserves, fair value 
reserves and treasury shares 11.105.404 10.806.898 298.506 2,8% 10.886.557 218.847 2,0% 

210. Non-controlling interests 949.008 962.760 -13.752 -1,4% 957.099 -8.091 -0,8% 

220. Profit for the period 182.669 172.121 n.s. n.s. 197.734 -15.065 -7,6% 

Total liabilities and equity 133.628.369 130.558.569 3.069.800 2,4% 131.744.211 1.884.158 1,4% 

Figures in thousands of euro

30.9.2011
A

31.12.2010
B

Changes                          
A-B

% changes                                     
A/B

30.9.2010
C

Changes                           
A-C

% changes                 
A/C
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Reclassified consolidated quarterly statements of financial position

ASSETS

10. Cash and cash equivalents 568.540 595.685 569.052 609.040 586.075 632.183 637.113

20. Financial assets held for trading 2.250.881 1.093.974 1.613.809 2.732.751 2.836.561 2.640.330 1.990.806

30. Financial assets at fair value 130.494 468.038 474.114 147.286 153.951 155.143 159.658

40. Available-for-sale financial assets 8.365.381 10.223.610 10.252.511 10.252.619 10.954.989 12.501.312 7.123.883

60. Loans to banks 5.314.336 4.384.636 4.510.008 3.120.352 3.427.795 3.290.637 2.996.834

70. Loans to customers 102.765.316 102.774.467 102.702.444 101.814.829 101.195.034 100.157.746 97.805.640

80. Hedging derivatives 995.341 413.389 351.398 591.127 816.673 916.055 743.946

90. Fair value change in hedged financial assets (+/-) 675.977 254.474 194.086 429.073 796.414 621.964 450.741

100. Equity investments 351.463 381.376 378.196 368.894 375.800 406.789 419.289

120. Property, equipment and investment property 2.058.170 2.077.758 2.086.769 2.112.664 2.071.976 2.097.820 2.087.323

130. Intangible assets 5.268.352 5.287.195 5.452.328 5.475.385 5.478.993 5.475.662 5.497.679

of which: goodwill 4.286.210 4.286.210 4.416.659 4.416.660 4.413.791 4.397.766 4.401.911

140. Tax assets 2.604.967 2.312.956 1.704.774 1.723.231 1.379.250 1.362.428 1.616.739

150. Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 6.874 7.041 6.023 8.429 48.256 40.285 134.769

160. Other assets 2.272.277 2.476.298 2.442.098 1.172.889 1.622.444 1.801.061 2.351.971

Total assets 133.628.369 132.750.897 132.737.610 130.558.569 131.744.211 132.099.415 124.016.391

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

10. Due to banks 8.611.714 4.966.574 7.332.517 5.383.977 7.126.257 9.252.062 4.612.141

20. Due to customers 56.392.736 56.199.737 56.144.592 58.666.157 57.412.547 58.534.315 52.754.329

30. Securities issued 47.502.685 49.964.140 48.678.875 48.093.888 46.463.566 44.828.119 45.670.177

40. Financial liabilities held for trading 654.949 844.259 1.040.163 954.423 978.064 896.016 948.995

60. Hedging derivatives 1.569.117 953.439 1.020.994 1.228.056 1.827.144 1.560.152 1.130.958

80. Tax liabilities 1.389.753 1.309.724 1.083.134 993.389 908.091 814.057 1.277.497

90. Liabilities associated with activities under disposal 827                     987                     -                           -                           -                           -                           803.894

100. Other liabilities 4.554.208 4.778.011 4.606.189 2.600.165 4.288.484 3.697.804 3.859.410

110. Post-employment benefits 389.096 383.467 382.333 393.163 402.921 405.118 414.667

120. Provisions for risks and charges: 326.203 335.057 321.912 303.572 295.747 271.353 277.233

a) pension and similar obligations 65.806 67.022 67.317 68.082 69.560 70.464 70.982

b) other provisions 260.397 268.035 254.595 235.490 226.187 200.889 206.251
140.+170.+

180.+190.+ 200. Share capital, share premiums, reserves, fair value reserves and treasury shares 11.105.404 11.821.241 11.088.990 10.806.898 10.886.557 10.867.923 11.351.150

210. Non-controlling interests 949.008 942.551 973.302 962.760 957.099 870.422 877.815

220. Profit for the period 182.669 251.710 64.609 172.121 197.734 102.074 38.125

Total liabilities and equity 133.628.369 132.750.897 132.737.610 130.558.569 131.744.211 132.099.415 124.016.391

31.12.2010 30.9.2010 30.6.2010 31.3.2010
Figures in thousands of euro

30.9.2011 30.6.2011 31.3.2011
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Reclassified consolidated income statement

10.-20. Net interest income 1.575.301 1.593.971 (18.670)  (1,2%) 534.185 543.197 (9.012)  (1,7%) 2.142.526 

of which: effects of the purchase price allocation (37.490) (46.543) (9.053)  (19,5%) (11.636) (14.060) (2.424)  (17,2%) (61.141) 

Net interest income excluding the effects of the PPA 1.612.791 1.640.514 (27.723)  (1,7%) 545.821 557.257 (11.436)  (2,1%) 2.203.667 

70. Dividends and similar income 19.908 20.568 (660) (3,2%) 1.243 2.331 (1.088) (46,7%) 24.099 

Profits of equity-accounted investees 13.118 19.480 (6.362) (32,7%) 3.496 8.414 (4.918) (58,5%) 17.613 

40.-50. Net commission income 878.566 871.530 7.036 0,8% 291.989 263.973 28.016 10,6% 1.185.297 

80.+90.+
100.+110.

Net income (loss) from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and from 
assets/liabilities at fair value (16.670) 13.471 (30.141) n.s. (23.891) 19.357 (43.248) n.s. 34.044 

220. Other net operating income 63.790 66.589 (2.799) (4,2%) 20.874 25.327 (4.453) (17,6%) 92.482 

Operating income 2.534.013 2.585.609 (51.596) (2,0%) 827.896 862.599 (34.703) (4,0%) 3.496.061 

Operating income excluding the effects of the PPA 2.571.503 2.632.152 (60.649) (2,3%) 839.532 876.659 (37.127) (4,2%) 3.557.202 

180.a Personnel expense (1.072.857) (1.107.115) (34.258) (3,1%) (334.913) (359.587) (24.674) (6,9%) (1.451.584) 

180.b Other administrative expenses (522.237) (568.409) (46.172) (8,1%) (165.947) (183.844) (17.897) (9,7%) (769.744) 

200.+210. Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and intangible assets (201.385) (183.240) 18.145 9,9% (60.365) (60.425) (60) (0,1%) (247.236) 

of which: effects of the purchase price allocation (52.368) (56.167)  (3.799)  (6,8%) (17.456) (18.723)  (1.267)  (6,8%) (74.889) 

excluding the effects of the PPA (149.017) (127.073) 21.944 17,3% (42.909) (41.702) 1.207 2,9% (172.347) 

Operating expenses (1.796.479) (1.858.764) (62.285) (3,4%) (561.225) (603.856) (42.631) (7,1%) (2.468.564) 

Operating expenses excluding the effects of the PPA (1.744.111) (1.802.597) (58.486)  (3,2%) (543.769) (585.133) (41.364)  (7,1%) (2.393.675) 

Net operating income 737.534 726.845 10.689 1,5% 266.671 258.743 7.928 3,1% 1.027.497 

Net operating income excluding the effects of the PPA 827.392 829.555 (2.163) (0,3%) 295.763 291.526 4.237 1,5% 1.163.527 

130.a Net impairment losses on loans (398.665) (455.715) (57.050) (12,5%) (135.143) (134.011) 1.132 0,8% (706.932) 

130.b+c+d Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities (138.837) (18.192) 120.645 n.s. (119.245) (147) 119.098 n.s. (49.721) 

190. Net provisions for risks and charges (19.783) (12.005) 7.778 64,8% (5.228) (5.383) (155) (2,9%) (27.209) 

240.+260.+270. Profits (losses) from disposal of equity investments and net impairment losses on goodwill (124.803) 78.354 (203.157) n.s. 170 80.498 (80.328) (99,8%) 90.700 

Pre-tax profit from continuing operations 55.446 319.287 (263.841) (82,6%) 7.225 199.700 (192.475) (96,4%) 334.335 

Pre-tax profit from continuing operations excluding the effects of the PPA 145.304 421.997 (276.693) (65,6%) 36.317 232.483 (196.166) (84,4%) 470.365 

290. Taxes on income for the period/year from continuing operations 146.557 (197.287) 343.844 n.s. (70.191) (103.144) (32.953) (31,9%) (231.980) 

of which: effects of the purchase price allocation 29.581 33.050 (3.469)  (10,5%) 9.575 10.545 (970)  (9,2%) 43.770 

310. Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 22                     83.369 (83.347) (100,0%) 22 12 10 83,3% 83.368 

330. Profit for the year/period attributable to non-controlling interests (19.356) (7.635) 11.721 153,5% (6.097) (908) 5.189 n.s. (13.602) 

of which: effects of the purchase price allocation 6.555 7.531  (976)  (13,0%) 2.114 2.395  (281)  (11,7%) 10.034 
Profit (loss) for the year/period attributable to the shareholders of the Parent excluding the effects 
of the PPA 236.391 259.863 (23.472) (9,0%) (51.638) 115.503 (167.141) n.s. 254.347 

340. Profit (loss) for the year/period attributable to the shareholders of the Parent 182.669 197.734 (15.065) (7,6%) (69.041) 95.660 (164.701) n.s. 172.121 

Total impact of the purchase price allocation on the income statement (53.722) (62.129) (8.407)  (13,5%) (17.403) (19.843) (2.440)  (12,3%) (82.226) 

Figures in thousands of euro

9M 2011

A

9M 2010

B

Changes                          
A-B

% changes                                     
A/B

FY 2010                   
E

3rd Quarter 
2010                 

D

Changes                       
C-D

% changes                       
C/D

3rd Quarter 
2011                   

C
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Reclassified consolidated quarterly income statements

3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter 4th Quarter 3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter

10.-20. Net interest income 534.185 513.579 527.537 548.555 543.197 517.441 533.333 

of which: effects of the purchase price allocation (11.636) (12.018) (13.836) (14.598) (14.060) (15.934) (16.549) 

Net interest income excluding the effects of the PPA 545.821 525.597 541.373 563.153 557.257 533.375 549.882 

70. Dividends and similar income 1.243 16.555 2.110 3.531 2.331 16.862 1.375 

Profits (losses) of equity-accounted investees 3.496 4.953 4.669 (1.867) 8.414 6.043 5.023 

40.-50. Net commission income 291.989 294.641 291.936 313.767 263.973 313.929 293.628 

of which performance fees -                          -                        -                          15.384 -                          -                          -                          

80.+90.+
100.+110.

Net income (loss) from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and from 
assets/liabilities at fair value (23.891)  (7.391) 14.612 20.573 19.357 (964) (4.922) 

220. Other net operating income 20.874 21.263 21.653 25.893 25.327 17.170 24.092 

Operating income 827.896 843.600 862.517 910.452 862.599 870.481 852.529 

Operating income excluding the effects of the PPA 839.532 855.618 876.353 925.050 876.659 886.415 869.078 

180.a Personnel expense (334.913) (373.217) (364.727) (344.469) (359.587) (376.496) (371.032) 

180.b Other administrative expenses (165.947) (185.209) (171.081) (201.335) (183.844) (199.730) (184.835) 

200.+210. Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and intangible assets (60.365) (81.296) (59.724) (63.996) (60.425) (61.729) (61.086) 

of which: effects of the purchase price allocation (17.456) (17.456) (17.456) (18.722) (18.723) (18.722) (18.722) 
Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and intangib le assets 
excluding the effects of the PPA

(42.909) (63.840) (42.268) (45.274) (41.702) (43.007) (42.364) 

Operating expenses (561.225) (639.722) (595.532) (609.800) (603.856) (637.955) (616.953) 

Operating expenses excluding the effects of the PPA (543.769) (622.266) (578.076) (591.078) (585.133) (619.233) (598.231) 

Net operating income 266.671 203.878 266.985 300.652 258.743 232.526 235.576 

Net operating income excluding the effects of the PPA 295.763 233.352 298.277 333.972 291.526 267.182 270.847 

130.a Net impairment losses on loans (135.143) (158.148) (105.374) (251.217) (134.011) (189.845) (131.859) 

130.b+c+d Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities (119.245)  (17.959) (1.633) (31.529) (147) (18.660) 615 

190. Net provisions for risks and charges (5.228) (4.136) (10.419) (15.204) (5.383) (4.407) (2.215) 

240.+260.+270. Profits (losses) from disposal of equity investments and net impairment losses on goodwill 170 (125.154) 181 12.346 80.498 (2.236) 92 

Pre-tax profit (loss) from continuing operations 7.225  (101.519) 149.740 15.048 199.700 17.378 102.209 

Pre-tax profit (loss) from continuing operations excluding the effects of the PPA 36.317  (72.045) 181.032 48.368 232.483 52.034 137.480 

290. Taxes on income for the period from continuing operations (70.191) 293.666 (76.918) (34.693) (103.144) (34.285) (59.858) 

of which: effects of the purchase price allocation 9.575 9.936 10.070 10.720 10.545 11.153 11.352 

310. Post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations 22                        -                         -                            (1) 12 83.035 322                     

330. Profit for the period attributable to non-controlling interests (6.097) (5.046) (8.213) (5.967) (908) (2.179) (4.548) 

of which: effects of the purchase price allocation 2.114 2.139 2.302 2.503 2.395 2.622 2.514 
Profit (loss) for the period attributab le to the shareholders of the Parent excluding the effects of 
the PPA (51.638) 204.500 83.529 (5.516) 115.503 84.830 59.530 

340. Profit (loss) for the period attributable to the shareholders of the Parent (69.041) 187.101 64.609 (25.613) 95.660 63.949 38.125 

Total impact of the purchase price allocation on the income statement (17.403) (17.399) (18.920) (20.097) (19.843) (20.881) (21.405)

Figures in thousands of euro

2011 2010
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Reclassified consolidated income statement net of the most significant non-recurring items

Figures in thousands of euro

Net interest income (including the effects of PPA) 1.575.301 1.575.301 1.593.971 1.593.971 (18.670) (1,2%) 

Dividends and similar income 19.908 19.908 20.568 20.568 (660) (3,2%) 

Profits of equity-accounted investees 13.118 13.118 19.480 19.480 (6.362) (32,7%) 

Net commission income 878.566 878.566 871.530 871.530 7.036 0,8% 

Net income (loss) from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and 
from assets/liabilities at fair value (16.670) (16.670) 13.471 13.471 (30.141) n.s. 

Other net operating income 63.790 1.603 65.393 66.589 (957) 65.632 (239) (0,4%) 

Operating income (including the effects of PPA) 2.534.013 -                        -                      -                            -                             1.603                  -                  2.535.616 2.585.609 -                            (957) -                         -                  -                         -                         2.584.652 (49.036) (1,9%) 

Personnel expense (1.072.857) (27.932) (1.100.789) (1.107.115) 33.233 (1.073.882) 26.907 2,5% 

Other administrative expenses (522.237) (522.237) (568.409) (568.409) (46.172) (8,1%) 

Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and 
intangible assets (including the effects of PPA) (201.385) 19.517 (181.868) (183.240) (183.240) (1.372) (0,7%) 

Operating expenses (including the effects of PPA) (1.796.479) -                        19.517           -                            -                             -                            (27.932) (1.804.894) (1.858.764) -                           -                      -                         33.233      -                         -                         (1.825.531) (20.637) (1,1%) 

Net operating income (including the effects of PPA) 737.534 -                        19.517 -                            -                             1.603                   (27.932) 730.722 726.845 -                            (957) -                         33.233 -                         -                         759.121 (28.399) (3,7%) 

Net impairment losses on loans (398.665) (398.665) (455.715) (455.715) (57.050) (12,5%) 

Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities (138.837) 135.681 (3.156) (18.192) 18.858 666 (3.822) n.s. 

Net provisions for risks and charges (19.783) 3.511 (16.272) (12.005) (12.005) 4.267 35,5% 

Profits (losses) from disposal of equity investments and net impairment losses 
on goodwill (124.803) 126.306 1.503 78.354 4.145 (81.131) 1.368 135 9,9% 

Pre-tax profit from continuing operations before tax (including the effects of 
PPA) 55.446 135.681 145.823 -                            -                             5.114                   (27.932) 314.132 319.287 18.858  (957) 4.145 33.233 -                          (81.131) 293.435 20.697 7,1% 

Taxes on income for the period from continuing operations 146.557 (1.846) (2.030) (352.841) 6.267 (1.407) 7.681 (197.619) (197.287) (79) 263 (9.139) 18.294 20.202 (167.746) 29.873 17,8% 

Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 22                   22                   83.369 (83.357) 12                   10 83,3% 

Profit for the period attributable to non-controlling interests (19.356) (925) 129 (20.152) (7.635) 173 (1.713) (2.951) (12.126) 8.026 66,2% 

Profit for the period attributable to the shareholders of the Parent 182.669 133.835 143.793 (352.841) 5.342 3.707 (20.122) 96.383 197.734 18.779 (83.878) 4.145 22.381 15.343 (60.929) 113.575 (17.192) (15,1%) 

ROE (annualised) 2,2% 1,2% 2,4% 1,4% 

Cost / Income ratio (including the effects of PPA) 70,9% 71,2% 71,9% 70,6% 

Cost / Income ratio (excluding the effects of PPA) 67,8% 68,1% 68,5% 67,2% 

% changes                                    

 A/B

Restructuring of 
UBI Leasing 

agent network

Release of 
excess 

provisions

9M 2011
net of non-
recurring 

items 

A

9M 2010

9M 2010
net of non-
recurring 

items 

B

Changes                         

 A-B

Impairment 
losses on equity 
investments in 

Intesa Sanpaolo 
and A2A

Net 
impairment 
losses on 
goodwill of 

Gestioni 
Lombarda 

(Switzerland)

Leaving 
incentives

Contribution 
of depository 

banking 
operations

non-recurring items

Tax effect of 
branch 

switching 
operations

Partial 
disposal of the 
interest held in 
Lombarda Vita

9M 2011

Impairment 
losses on AFS 
securities and 

on equity 
investments in 

Intesa 
Sanpaolo and 

A2A

Impairment 
loss on 

goodwill and 
on other 

intangible 
assets

UBI Banca tax 
realignment in 

accordance with 
Law No. 

111/2011 and 
write off of 

deferred income 
tax 

assets/deferred 
IRAP tax assets

Impact of IRAP 
adjustment for 

deferred tax 
provisions 

recognised as at 
31st December 

2010

non-recurring items
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Reconciliation schedule to 30th September 2011

 RECLASSIFIED INCOME STATEMENT 9M 2011 9M 2011

 Figures in thousands of euro 

mandatory 
consolidated 

financial 
statements

tax 
recoveries

profit of equity-
accounted 
investees

depreciation for 
improvements 

to leased 
assets

Consolidation 
reclassif ication

reclassified 
consolidated 

financial 
statements

10.-20. Net interest income 1.576.744 (1.443) 1.575.301 

70. Dividends and similar income 19.908 19.908 

Profits of equity-accounted investees -                         13.118 13.118 

40.-50. Net commission income 877.123 1.443 878.566 

80.+90.+
100.+110.

Net loss from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and 
from assets/liabilities at fair value (16.670) (16.670) 

220. Other net operating income 171.451 (112.490) 4.829 63.790 

Operating income 2.628.556 (112.490) 13.118 4.829 -                      2.534.013 

180.a Personnel expense (1.072.857) (1.072.857) 

180.b Other administrative expenses (634.727) 112.490 (522.237) 

200.+210.

Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment 
property and intangible assets (196.556) (4.829) (201.385) 

Operating expenses (1.904.140) 112.490 -                        (4.829) -                      (1.796.479) 

Net operating income 724.416 -                    13.118             -                         -                      737.534 

130.a Net impairment losses on loans (398.665) (398.665) 

130.b+c+d Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities (138.837) (138.837) 

190. Net provis ions for risks and charges (19.783) (19.783) 

240.+260.
+270.

Losses from disposal of equity investments and net impairment 
losses on goodwill (111.685) (13.118) (124.803) 

Pre-tax profit from continuing operations 55.446 -                    -                        -                         -                      55.446 

290. Taxes on income for the period from continuing operations 146.557 146.557 

310. Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 22                     22                        

330. Profit for the period attributable to non-controlling interests (19.356) (19.356) 
340. Profit for the period attributable to the shareholders of the Parent 182.669 -                    -                        -                         -                      182.669 

 Ite ms 

reclassifications

 
 
 
Reconciliation schedule to 30th September 2010

 RECLASSIFIED INCOME STATEMENT 9M 2010 9M 2010

 Figures in thousands of euro 

mandatory 
consolidated 

financial 
statements

tax 
recoveries

profit of equity-
accounted 
investees

depreciation for 
improvements 

to leased 
assets

maximum 
overdraft 
charge 

reclassif ication 

reclassified 
consolidated 

financial 
statements

10.-20. Net interest income 1.597.325 (3.354) 1.593.971 

70. Dividends and similar income 20.568 20.568 

Profits of equity-accounted investees -                         19.480 19.480 

40.-50. Net commission income 868.176 3.354 871.530 

80.+90.+
100.+110.

Net profit from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and 
from assets/liabilities at fair value 13.471 13.471 

220. Other net operating income 175.013 (113.871) 5.447 66.589 

Operating income 2.674.553 (113.871) 19.480 5.447 -                       2.585.609 

180.a Personnel expense (1.107.115) (1.107.115) 

180.b Other administrative expenses (682.280) 113.871 (568.409) 

200.+210.
Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment 
property and intangible assets (177.793) (5.447) (183.240) 

Operating expenses (1.967.188) 113.871 -                        (5.447) -                       (1.858.764) 

Net operating income 707.365 -                    19.480             -                         -                       726.845 

130.a Net impairment losses on loans (455.715) (455.715) 

130.b+c+d Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities (18.192) (18.192) 

190. Net provisions for risks and charges (12.005) (12.005) 

240.+260.
+270.

Profits from disposal of equity investments and net impairment losses 
on goodwill 97.834 (19.480) 78.354 

Pre-tax profit from continuing operations 319.287 -                    -                        -                         -                       319.287 

290. Taxes on income for the period from continuing operations (197.287) (197.287) 

310. Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 83.369 83.369 

330. Profit for the period attributable to non-controlling interests (7.635) (7.635) 
340. Profit for the period attributable to the shareholders of the Parent 197.734 -                    -                        -                         -                       197.734 

 Ite ms 

reclassifications
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Reconciliation schedule to 31st December 2010

 RECLASSIFIED INCOME STATEMENT FY 2010 FY 2010

 Figures in thousands of euro 

mandatory 
consolidated 

financial 
statements

tax 
recoveries

profit of equity-
accounted 
investees

depreciation for 
improvements 

to leased 
assets

maximum 
overdraft 
charge 

reclassificat-
ion 

reclassified 
consolidated 

financial 
statements

10.-20. Net interest income 2.146.598 (4.072) 2.142.526 

70. Dividends and similar income 24.099 24.099 

Profits of equity-accounted investees -                         17.613 17.613 

40.-50. Net commission income 1.181.225 4.072 1.185.297 

80.+90.+
100.+110.

Net income  from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and 
from assets/liabilities at fair value 34.044 34.044 

220. Other net operating income 239.430 (153.846) 6.898 92.482 

Operating income 3.625.396 (153.846) 17.613 6.898 -                   3.496.061 

180.a Personnel expense (1.451.584) (1.451.584) 

180.b Other administrative expenses (923.590) 153.846 (769.744) 

200.+210.

Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and 
intangible assets (240.338) (6.898) (247.236) 

Operating expenses (2.615.512) 153.846 -                        (6.898) -                   (2.468.564) 

Net operating income 1.009.884 -                    17.613             -                         -                   1.027.497 

130.a Net impairment losses on loans (706.932) (706.932) 

130.b+c+d Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities (49.721) (49.721) 

190. Net provisions for risks and charges (27.209) (27.209) 

240.+260.
+270.

Profits  from disposal of equity investments and net impairment losses on 
goodwill 108.313 (17.613) 90.700 

Pre-tax profit from continuing operations 334.335 -                    -                        -                         -                   334.335 

290. Taxes on income for the year from continuing operations (231.980) (231.980) 

310. Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 83.368 83.368 

330. Profit for the year attributable to minority interests (13.602) (13.602) 

340. Profit for the year attributable to the Parent 172.121 -                    -                        -                         -                   172.121 

 Ite ms 

reclassifications
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Notes to the reclassified consolidated financial statements  

The mandatory financial statements have been prepared on the basis of Bank of Italy Circular No. 262 of 22nd 
December 2005 and subsequent updates.  
 
The contribution of depository banking operations was completed on 31st May 2010.  
With regard to the statement of financial position, this involved the disposal on that date of all the assets and 
liabilities associated with these operations, and of direct funding in particular – the most significant component 
consisting of the accounts for the management of the UBI Pramerica investment funds – which had been reclassified 
from 30th September 2009 and until 31st March 2010 within “liabilities associated with assets held for sale”.  
With regard to the income statement, in addition to the gain resulting from that contribution, the interim figures for 
2010 included the income and expense relating to assets held for sale, for the first five months only.  
 

The following rules have been applied to the reclassified financial statements to allow a vision that is more consistent 
with a management accounting style:  

- the tax recoveries recognised within item 220 of the mandatory financial statements (other net operating 
income/expenses) were reclassified as a reduction in indirect taxes included within other administrative expenses;  

- the item profits (losses) of equity accounted investees includes the profits (losses) of equity accounted investees included 
within item 240 in the mandatory financial statements;  

- the item net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and intangible assets includes items 200 
and 210 in the mandatory financial statements and also the instalments relating to the depreciation of leasehold 
improvements classified within item 220;  

- the item profits (losses) from the disposal of equity investments and impairment losses on goodwill includes the item 240, 
net of profits (losses) of equity-accounted investees and also items 260 and 270 in the mandatory financial statements;  

- the item other net operating income/expense includes item 220, net of the reclassifications mentioned above.  
 

The reconciliation of the items in the reclassified financial statements with the figures in the mandatory financial 
statements has been facilitated, on the one hand, with the insertion in the margin against each item of the corresponding 
number of the item in the mandatory financial statements with which it is reconciled and, on the other hand, with the 
preparation of specific reconciliation schedules.  
 

The comments on the performance of the main statement of financial position and income statement items are made 
on the basis of the reclassified financial statements and of the reclassified financial statements for the comparative 
periods, and the tables providing details included in the subsequent sections of this financial report have also been 
prepared on that same basis.  
 

In order to facilitate analysis of the Group’s performance and in compliance with Consob Communication No. 
DEM/6064293 of 28th July 2006, a special schedule has been included in the reclassified financial statements to 
show the impact on earnings only of the principal non-recurring events and items – since the relative effects on 
capital and cash flow, being closely linked, are not significant – which are summarised as follows:  

January– September  2011:  

- impairment losses on AFS securities and on equity investments in Intesa Sanpaolo and A2A;  

- impairment losses on goodwill and on other intangible assets;  

- UBI Banca tax realignment in accordance with Decree Law No. 98/2011 converted with amendments into Law No. 
111 of 15th July 2011 and write-off of deferred income tax assets/deferred IRAP tax assets;  

- impact of IRAP adjustment for deferred tax provisions recognised as at 31st December 2010;  

- expenses incurred for restructuring of UBI Leasing agent network;  

- release of excess provisions.  

January - September 2010:  

- impairment losses on AFS equity investments in Intesa Sanpaolo and A2A;  

- the contribution of depository banking operations;  

- net impairment losses on goodwill of Gestioni Lombarda (Switzerland);  

- leaving incentives (trade union agreement of 20th May 2010);  

- tax effect of branch switching operations;  

- partial disposal of the interest held in Lombarda Vita.  
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The consolidated income statement  

-The income statement figures commented on are based on the reclassified consolidated financial 
statements (the income statement, the quarterly income statements and the income statement net of the 
principal non-recurring items) contained in the preceding section of this report and the tables furnishing 
details presented below are also based on those statements. The notes that follow those reclassified 
financial statements may be consulted as may the reconciliation schedules for a description of the 
reclassification.  

Notwithstanding the deterioration in the economic environment over the summer, with a 
downwards revision of growth and yet another wave of instability on financial markets caused 
by the lack of confidence which has gradually affected several euro area countries, the UBI 
Banca Group ended the period January-September 2011 with consolidated profit of 182,7 
million euro, compared to 197,7 million euro in the same nine months of last year1.  
 
In this context, the greatest repercussions were seen in the third quarter results, penalised by 
impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets (116,4 million euro), which  it was not 
possible to offset either with the further and significant cuts on spending  made or by stronger 
performance from items of income.  
The income statement net of non-recurring items nevertheless showed a profit for the period of 
26,4 million euro, compared to 5,4 million euro in the second quarter of 2011 and 50,1 million 
euro in the third quarter of 2010.  
 
As a result of the recovery in net interest income in the third quarter, which limited the fall 
year-on-year, and also of the performance of net commission income (slightly up over twelve 
months) and notwithstanding the loss on financial activities, operating income in the first 
nine months of the year amounted to 2.534 million euro (-2% compared to 2010).  
 
On a quarterly basis, ordinary income earned between 1st July and 30th September 2011 
amounted to 827,9 million euro, a decrease compared both to 843,6 million euro earned in the 
previous quarter, basically due to the loss on financial activities (-23,9 million euro), and also 
to 862,6 million euro earned in the third quarter of 2010.  
 
Net interest income over the nine months, which included the expense of the purchase price 

allocation of 37,5 million euro, amounted to 1.575,3 million euro (-18,7 million euro compared 
to 2010), the consequence, for each component of the item2, of the increased impact of interest 
expense in line with market trends for interest rates3:  

• the net balance on business with customers was basically unchanged at 1.400,5 million 
euro, (-76,8 million euro, of which 37,2 million euro resulting from greater interest expense 
paid to the Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia - a central counterparty clearing house4), 

supported by the partial widening of the spread on business with customers (+11 basis 
points for network banks and UBI Banca Lombarda Private Investment), although affected 
by the cost of funding and interest rates, especially for medium to long-term lending (due 
also to a delay in repricing floating rate items).  

                                                           
1  Non-recurring expenses were recognised in both periods compared, as a consequence of the purchase price allocation of the merger 

amounting to 53,7 million euro in the first nine months of 2011 and to 62,1 million euro in the same period of 2010.  

    If non-recurring items are not included, then profit for the period was 96,4 million euro compared to 113,6 million euro in the 
comparative period. Non-recurring items consisted of net income of 86,3 million euro, net of tax and non controlling interests 
(mainly the result of the tax realignment, although offset to a large extent by impairment losses for the period) and also in 2010 of 

net income of 84,2 million euro, again net of tax and non controlling interests (mainly the result of the contribution of the depositary 
banking operations and the partial disposal of Lombarda Vita).  

2  The calculation of net balances was performed by allocating interest for hedging derivatives and financial liabilities held for trading 
within the different areas of business (financial, with banks, with customers).  

3  The progressive average one month Euribor rate for the two periods more than doubled, rising from 0,492% in the first nine months 
of 2010 to 1,163% in 2011.  

4  In relation to transactions employed to fund investments in government securities. 
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As concerns volumes of business, lending increased over twelve months, although only 
slightly (+1,6% for consolidated loans), focused mainly on medium to long-term maturities 
(the largest component), while funding remained stable.  
The net balance also benefited from 52,1 million euro (83,5 million euro) of positive 
differentials earned on fix rate bond hedges;  

• financial assets held in the owned securities portfolio generated net interest income of 
approximately 191 million euro, (+64,8 million euro), despite disinvestments in debt 
instruments over twelve months amounting to 2,8 billion euro. However, total debt 
instruments (consisting mainly of Italian government securities) continued to make an 
important contribution to net interest income (279,4 million euro of interest income earned 
on available-for-sale assets).  
Generally, however, these investments were impacted by the cost of hedging the fixed 
interest rate bonds (differentials paid on derivatives), although to a decreasing extent;  

• the net balance on interbank business showed net expense of 16,7 million euro (-9,5 
million euro in 2010). This reflected relatively higher levels of average debt and the relative 
cost in a context of growth in interest rates.  

- 
- 

-

Interest and similar income: composition

Figures in thousands of euro

Debt 
instruments

Financing
Other 

transactions
9M 2011 9M 2010

1. Financial assets held for trading 23.670 772                   -                         24.442 21.317 

2. Financial assets at fair value -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

3. Available-for-sale financial assets 279.414 -                         -                         279.414 233.888 

3. Held-to-maturity investments -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

5. Loans to banks -                         38.226 122 38.348 22.835 

6. Loans to customers 1.670 2.614.596 2.462 2.618.728 2.311.706 

7. Hedging derivatives -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

8. Other assets -                         -                         934 934 497

Total 304.754 2.653.594 3.518 2.961.866 2.590.243 

Interest and similar expense: composition

Figures in thousands of euro
Borrowings Securities

Other 
transactions

9M 2011 9M 2010

1. Due to central banks  (8.390) -                         -                         (8.390) (10.795) 

2. Due to banks  (46.631) -                          (23) (46.654) (21.542) 

3. Due to customers  (285.355) -                          (3.109)  (288.464)  (128.000) 

4. Securities issued -                          (981.875) -                          (981.875)  (789.916) 

5. Financial liabilities held for trading  (7.908) -                         -                          (7.908)  (6.358) 

6. Financial liabilities at fair value -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

7. Other liabilities and provisions -                         -                          (507)  (507)  (576) 

8. Hedging derivatives -                         -                          (52.767)  (52.767)  (39.085) 
Total (348.284) (981.875) (56.406) (1.386.565) (996.272) 

Net interest income 1.575.301 1.593.971 

 
- 
Net interest income for the quarter rose to 534,2 million, an improvement of 4% compared to 
the second quarter (+20,6 million euro), due primarily to business with customers (+14,2 
million euro) and from increased interest income on loans granted in particular (+57,9 million 
euro). Financial assets also contributed to the growth with an increase of 9,5 million euro, 
while business on the interbank market resulted in an increase in net interest expense 
(approximately +3 million euro).  
- 
Dividends of 19,9 million euro (20,6 million euro in the first half of 2010), relate mainly to 

securities held in the AFS portfolio of UBI Banca, and included 11,6 million euro relating to 
the ordinary shares of Intesa Sanpaolo, which were remunerated by the same amount in the 
comparative period (0,08 euro per share).  
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Profits of equity-accounted investees5 of 13,1 million euro, compared to 19,5 million euro in 

2010, included significant contributions from: Aviva Vita (5,7 million euro compared to 8,1 
million euro before), Lombarda Vita (four million euro compared to 10,2 million euro), Aviva 
Assicurazioni Vita (1,4 million euro compared to 1,5 million euro) and Arca SGR (0,7 million 
euro compared to 1,4 million euro before).  
 
 
Commission income: composition Commission expense: composition

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

a) guarantees granted 36.753 32.686 a) guarantees received  (689)  (650) 

c) management, trading and advisory services 464.111      512.931 c) management and trading services:  (64.412)  (67.717) 

1. trading in financial instruments 29.255 29.877 1. trading in financial instruments  (13.528)  (13.688) 

2. foreign exchange trading 8.831 8.911 2. foreign exchange trading  (30)  (225) 

3. portfolio management 199.235 194.864 3. portfolio management  (4.468)  (4.345) 
3.1. individual 54.864 58.441 3.1. own -                    -                    
3.2. collective 144.371 136.423 3.2. on behalf of third parties  (4.468)  (4.345) 

4. custody and administration of securities 10.197 12.025 4. custody and administration of securities  (5.343)  (5.787) 

5. depository banking -                    7.751 5. placement of financial instruments  (3.410)  (3.113) 

6. placement of securities 64.024 88.537 

7. receipt and transmission of orders 30.162 33.064  (37.633)  (40.559) 

8. advisory activities 3.703 4.464 d) collection and payment services  (32.837)  (45.317) 
8.1 on investments 3.703 4.364 e) other services  (24.857)  (35.134) 
8.2 on financial structure -                    100              

9. distribution of third party services 118.704 133.438 Total  (122.795)  (148.818) 

9.1. portfolio management 37                 55                 
9.1.1. individual 37                 55 

9.2. insurance products 87.681 94.638 

9.3. other products 30.986 38.745 

d) collection and payment services 112.725 107.185 

f) services for factoring transactions 19.734         19.286         

i) current account administration 158.632 156.284 
j) other services 209.406 191.976 

Total 1.001.361 1.020.348 Net commission income 878.566 871.530 

6. financial instruments, products and 
services 
    distributed through indirect networks

 
 
Net commission income totalled 878,6 million euro over the nine month period (+7 million euro 

compared to 2010). In detail:  

� commission income on ordinary banking business performed as follows: +4 million euro 
from guarantees granted, +18 million euro from collection and payment services (in relation 
to higher volumes of business), +0,4 million euro from factoring transaction services, +2,3 
million euro from “current account administration” and +27,7 million euro from “other 
services” (which include commitment fees)6;  

� management, trading and advisory services7, on the other hand, decreased by 45,6 million 
euro to 390,9 million euro (accounting for 44,5% of total net commission income compared 
to 50,1% before). The change is the aggregate result on the one hand of an increase in 
portfolio management commissions (+4,2 million euro, the result, amongst other things, of 
a realignment of commissions on collective asset management instruments) and on the 
other hand of falls in the following items: placement of securities (-24,8 million euro, in 
relation to lower orders for “third party securities”); distribution of third party services 
(-14,7 million euro, of which -7 million euro attributable to insurance products); depository 
banking (-7,7 million euro, following the contribution of these operations in May 2010); 
receipt of orders and investment advisory services (-3,7 million euro, as volatility on 
markets increased and customers adopted a prudent approach).  

 
Quarterly net commission income showed no significant changes compared to previous interim 
periods and totalled 292 million euro (294,6 million in the second quarter and 291,9 million 
euro in the first quarter). Nevertheless opposing trends were recorded within the item, which  

                                                           
5  The item consists of the profits of the companies recognised on the basis of the percentage interest held by the Group.  

6  All the changes were calculated by subtracting commission expense from the respective commission income.  
7  The amount consists of management, trading and advisory services net of the corresponding expense items and is calculated 

excluding currency trading.  
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included the following in the comparison with the second quarter: a fall in income from 
securities business (attributable both to fewer placements of third party bonds and to the high 
volatility on markets which  penalised fees on individual and collective customer portfolio 
managements) and a recovery at the same time in commissions of a strictly banking nature. A 
reduction in commission expense also occurred in relation to the distribution of financial 
instruments, products and services through indirect networks (-4,2 million euro compared to 
three months before), due largely to the reorganisation of UBI Banca Lombarda Private 
Investment’s network of financial advisors.  
 
The result for financial activities in the third quarter was a loss of 23,9 million euro (-7,4 

million in the second quarter), as a result of the performance for assets classified under the 
fair value option.  
A loss of 30,4 million euro was incurred on assets measured at fair value (-3,7 million euro in 
the second quarter), consisting of approximately -11 million euro of losses on Tages hedge 
funds (formerly Capitalgest, with approximately 105 million euro held in portfolio) and of -23,9 
million euro of losses resulting from the complete withdrawal from the mutual fund 
investment sector by UBI Pramerica following the activation of stop-loss mechanisms8 (in 
compliance with the limits set by the Financial Risks Policy).  
In the same period assets held for trading showed a loss of 5,3 million euro  
(-11,9 million euro in the preceding three months), due above all to trading in debt 
instruments and the relative derivatives and in interest rate derivatives (-5,8 million euro, 
excluding -4,7 million from unwinding derivatives in the period), compared to income earned 
on currency trading (4,1 million euro).  
Hedging activities generated a profit of 13,9 million euro, to be interpreted jointly with the 
result for trading in relation to unwinding phenomena. Finally the repurchase of securities in 
issue as part of ordinary business with customers generated a loss of 2,2 million euro.  
 
As a result of this performance net income from financial activities over nine months showed a 

loss of 16,7 million euro, compared to +13,5 million euro in 2010. In detail:  

• trading activities incurred a loss of 3,4 million euro, compared to a loss previously of -50,9 
million euro, due almost entirely to the unwinding and ineffectiveness of hedging 
derivatives, used on a macro-hedge basis, for fixed rate mortgages subject to either early 
repayment or renegotiation. It is a phenomenon which had a greater impact in 2010 and 
which was gradually reducing as at 30th September 2011 as interest rates rose.  
Net of that unwinding phenomenon (-15,8 million euro in the first nine months of 2011 and 
-48,7 in 2010), normal activities generated the following: +8,8 million euro (-10,1 million 
euro) from debt instruments (inclusive of financial liabilities held for trading) and the 
related derivative instruments; -10 million euro (-3,8 million euro) from equity instruments 
and the related derivative instruments, which incorporates the impairment loss on 
Medinvest International9 of 7,7 million euro recognised in the second quarter; -54 thousand 
euro (+0,4 million euro) from investments in hedge funds; and +9,4 million euro (+11 
million euro) from foreign currency business;  

- net income from financial assets and liabilities at fair value – as reported above – included 
the result of disinvestments from UBI Pramerica funds, the losses on the former Capitalgest 
funds and the change in the fair value of small positions in other hedge funds and showed 
a loss of -34,5 million euro (+6,2 million in 2010);  

- net hedging income – which represents the change in the fair value of hedging derivatives 
and the relative items hedged – was +10,8 million euro (+56,8 million euro in 2010). Both 
results should be interpreted in combination with the information reported on trading 
activity concerning the unwinding of hedges;  

                                                           
8  The losses incurred on the mutual fund portfolio caused UBI Pramerica SGR to firstly change the composition of the mix of products 

used for the Parent’s investments, with preference given to strictly monetary funds and then, in consideration of the continuing 
adverse conditions on markets, to  sell all  units held in funds at the end of September (329,3 million euro as at 30th June 2011).  

9  Medinvest International Sca (Luxembourg), classified within private equity investments and in which a 19,57% interest is held, is a 

merchant bank which invests in companies and also provides financial advisory services to SMEs. The impairment loss was 
recognised in relation to the poor performance of the main investment held in portfolio.  
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- net income from the disposal/repurchase of financial assets held for sale and financial 
liabilities totalled 10,4 million euro and included the following: 6,8 million euro from the 
total disposal – performed partly in February and then concluded on 20th May – of the 
investment in London Stock Exchange (formerly Borsa Italiana); 2,5 million euro from the 
disposal of units in funds (of which 2,2 million euro by UBI Pramerica SGR from the 
disposal of funds owned by the former Capitalgest SGR); 1,1 million euro from debt 
instruments (of which 1,3 million euro relating to IW Bank); +0,4 million euro from the 
disposal of non-performing unsecured loans; and -0,7 million euro from the repurchase of 
securities issued as part of ordinary business with customers.  
Income of 1,4 million euro was earned in 2010 composed of +11,3 million from the disposal of 
available-for-sale debt instruments (6,1 million euro relating to IW Bank and 3,6 million euro to the 
Parent) offset by a loss of -10,3 million euro on the repurchase of securities issued.  

 
 
Net trading loss

Gains
Profits from 

trading
Losses

Losses from 
trading

Net income 
(loss) 9M 2011

Figures in thousands of euro (A) (B) (C) (D) [(A+B)-(C+D)]

1. Financial assets held for trading 29.061 116.820  (128.511)  (113.760)  (96.390)  (148.028) 

1.1 Debt instruments 24.184 25.958  (20.922)  (22.078) 7.142  (3.191) 

1.2 Equity instruments 4.240 3.576  (11.330)  (2.031)  (5.545)  (7.320) 

1.3 Units in O.I.C.R. (collective investment instruments) 89 22                    (14)  (151)  (54) 364 

1.4 Financing -                    -                      -                         -                         -                            -                      

1.5 Other 548              87.264  (96.245)  (89.500)  (97.933)  (137.881) 

2. Financial liabilities held for trading 859              7                      (109) -                         757  (92) 

2.1 Debt instruments 1                   -                      (109) -                          (108)  (135) 

2.2 Payables -                    -                      -                         -                         -                             (19) 

2.3 Other 858              7                     -                         -                         865 62 
3. Financial assets and liabilities: exchange rate differences X X X X 36.511  (12.231) 

4. Derivative instruments 425.687 1.534.512  (460.865)  (1.514.434) 55.732 109.452 

4.1 Financial derivatives 425.687 1.534.512  (460.865)  (1.514.434) 55.732 110.242 
- on deb t instruments and interest rates 415.214 1.510.717  (440.790)  (1.499.207)  (14.066)  (55.409) 
- on equity instruments and share indices 541 5.235  (3.232)  (6.977)  (4.433) 3.542 
- on currencies and gold X X X X 70.832 161.077 
- other 9.932 18.560  (16.843)  (8.250) 3.399 1.032 

4.2 Credit derivatives -                    -                      -                         -                         -                             (790) 

Total 455.607 1.651.339  (589.485)  (1.628.194)  (3.390)  (50.899) 

Net hedging income 

Figures in thousands of euro 9M 2011 9M 2010

Net hedging income 10.841 56.778 

Profit from disposal or repurchase

Figures in thousands of euro

Financial assets

1. Loans to banks -                         -                         -                            1.463             

2. Loans to customers 1.234                 (793) 441 (1.843) 

3. Available-for-sale financial assets 10.987  (379) 10.608 12.121 

3.1 Debt instruments 1.470  (370) 1.100 11.318 

3.2 Equity instruments 7.019  (9) 7.010 47 

3.3 Units in O.I.C.R (collective investment instruments). 2.498               -                        2.498                   756                

3.4 Financing -                        -                        -                            -                      

4. Held-to-maturity investments -                        -                        -                            -                      

Total assets 12.221  (1.172) 11.049 11.741 
Financial liabilities

1. Due to banks -                         -                         -                            -                      

2. Due to customers -                         -                         -                            -                      

3. Securities issued 3.395  (4.091)  (696)  (10.332) 

Total liabilities 3.395  (4.091)  (696)  (10.332) 

Total 15.616  (5.263) 10.353 1.409 

Net profit (loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value

Figures in thousands of euro 30.9.2011 9M 2010

Net (loss) profit on financial assets and liabilities at fair value  (34.474) 6.183 

 (16.670) 13.471 
Net (loss) income from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and from 

assets/liabilities at fair value

9M 2010

Profits Losses
Net profit (loss) 

9M 2011
9M 2010
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-Other net operating income 

amounted to 63,8 million euro 
(-2,8 million euro) as a result of 
growth in revenues and in the 
item prior year income in 
particular (+3 million euro), offset 
by an increase at the same time 
in prior year expenses (+5,6 
million euro, of which 3 million 
euro relating to requests for 
intervention from the Interbank 
Deposit Protection Fund).  

The item “recovery of expenses 
and other income on current 
accounts” increased during the 
period by 0,4 million euro, while 
recoveries for insurance 
premiums decreased (-0,5 million 
euro).  
 
 
Operating expenses decreased over nine months by 62,3 million euro (-3,4% compared to 
2010) to 1.796,5 million euro. If non-recurring items are excluded, expenses were 1.804,9 
million euro (-1,1%).  
 
Personnel expense amounted to 1.072,9 

million euro, down by 34,3 million euro, 
because they included non recurring 
income of 27,9 million euro recognised 
in the third quarter within the line item 
“expenses for retired personnel” relating 
to a release of excess provisions 10 . In 
2010 on the other hand, leaving 
incentives of 33,2 million euro (non-
recurring) were charged to the income 
statement within the item “other 
employee benefits” in relation to a trade 
union agreement of 20th May.  

Net of the above, year-on-year growth of 
26,9 million euro was recorded, even 
with savings on expenses of 35,6 million 
euro from reductions in average 
personnel numbers (approximately 630), 
attributable mainly to the variable 
component of salaries (company bonus 
and incentive schemes), the estimated 
cost of the renewal of the national labour 
contract and to normal growth in salaries.  

 
Other administrative expenses amounted to 522,2 million euro, a decrease of 46,2 million euro, 

as reported in detail below.  

  

                                                           
10  The amount in question relates to the release of amounts recognised in previous years due to actuarial recalculations of post 

retirement benefits, now no longer considered due. More specifically, the defined benefit obligation and the mathematical reserve 
were eliminated as a consequence in the quarter with a resulting positive impact on the item “administrative expenses: personnel 

expense” of approximately 28 million euro and the relative portion of the “fair value reserve actuarial gains/losses on defined 
benefit plans” amounting to approximately two million euro was reclassified within “retained earnings”. In consideration of the 

non-recurring nature of the event, the effects were subject to normalisation in the income statement.  

Other net operating income and expense

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

Other operating income 111.455 108.273 
Recovery of expenses and other income on current accounts 10.151 9.752 

Recovery of insurance premiums 23.872 24.414 

Recoveries of taxes 112.490 113.871 

Rents and other income for property management 6.570 6.702 

Recovery of expenses on finance lease contracts 11.041 10.564 

Other income and prior year income 59.821 56.841 

Reclassification of "tax recoveries"  (112.490)  (113.871) 

Other operating expenses  (47.665)  (41.684) 

Depreciation of leasehold improvements  (4.829)  (5.447) 

Costs relating to finance lease contracts  (5.312)  (4.717) 

Expenses for public authority treasury contracts  (5.284)  (5.513) 

Ordinary maintenance of investment properties -                         -                         

Other expenses and prior year expense  (37.069)  (31.454) 

 Reclassification of depreciation of leasehold improvements  4.829 5.447 

Other net operating income 63.790 66.589 

Personnel expense: composition

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

1) Employees  (1.081.001)  (1.074.690) 

a) Wages and salaries  (746.614)  (722.886) 

b) Social security charges  (202.857)  (184.733) 

c) Post-employment benefits  (44.013)  (44.187) 

d) Pension expense  (1.088)  (1.524) 

e) Provision for post-employment benefits  (8.578)  (8.763) 

f) Pensions and similar obligations:  (2.368)  (2.917) 

- defined contribution  (112) -                      

- defined service  (2.256)  (2.917) 
g) Payments to external supplementary pension 
    plans:  (36.327)  (36.224) 

- defined contribution  (36.327)  (36.224) 

- defined benefits -                      -                      

h) Expenses resulting from share based payments -                      -                      

i) Other employee benefits  (39.156)  (73.456) 

2) Other personnel in service  (5.414)  (15.913) 
- Expenses for agency personnel on staff leasing 
  contracts  (3.000)  (13.625) 

- Other expenses  (2.414)  (2.288) 

3) Directors and statutory auditors  (14.374)  (16.305) 

4) Expenses for retired personnel 27.932  (207) 

Total  (1.072.857)  (1.107.115) 
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� Major action taken to contain costs 
(-53,2 million euro in total) was focused 
on the following: “professional and 
advisory services” (-12,9 million euro), 
postal expenses (-4,8 million euro, 
partly in relation to lower volumes of 
hardcopy communication), rent payable 
(-4,9 million euro, due in part to the 
renegotiation of existing contracts), 
insurance premiums (-4,9 million euro), 
services in outsourcing (-3,4 million 
euro, partly in relation to postal 
expenses) and credit recovery  expenses 

(-1,8 million euro).  

Lower costs were incurred within the 
item  “telephone and data transmission 
expenses” (-6,6 million euro) in relation 
to the provision to manage IT fraud on 
debit cards following the completion of 
the changeover to microchip technology 
microchip.  

� Increases in expenses (+7 million euro 
in total) were recorded on the other 
hand for advertising (including the 
launch of a television campaign for IW 
Bank), the tenancy of premises and 
hardware and software maintenance.  

 
Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and intangible assets 

totalled 201,4 million euro and included a non recurring item of 19,5 million euro, relating to 
the full impairment loss recognised on intangible assets connected with the investment in BY 
YOU, following the renegotiation of distribution agreements. If the figure is normalised (181,9 
million euro), no significant change was recorded in impairment losses compared to the 
comparative period (-0,7%). Given the basic stability of non IT depreciation and amortisation, 
the item is the aggregate result of greater expense for new software introduced in 2010 and at 
the same time a reduction in the depreciation of peripheral hardware (work stations).  
 
On a quarterly basis, operating expenses totalled 561,2 million euro, down by 78,5 million 
euro compared to 639,7 million euro in the second quarter of 2011 (-42,6 million euro 
compared to 603,9 million euro in the third quarter of 2010).  

If the figures are normalised (589,2 million euro compared to 620,2 million euro before), total 
expenses nevertheless fell by -31 million euro. Although the two periods were subject, amongst 
other things, to different seasonal effects for some  factors of spending, the following changes 

were observed in the composition:  

- a reduction in personnel expense (-10,4 million euro to 362,8 million euro), due to both the 
seasonal effects of former public holidays and vacations and to the different timing of 
provisions made for the variable component of remuneration;  

- a reduction in other administrative expenses (-19,3 million euro, to 165,9 million euro), 
related to reduced payments incurred for the following: advertising campaigns and 
promotions (-3,5 million euro), corporate and legal advisory services (-2,6 million euro), 
outsourced services (-2,4 million euro), hardware and software maintenance, assistance 
and lease expenses (-2 million euro) and insurance premiums (-1,4 million euro);  

- a fall in net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and 
intangible assets (-1,4 million euro, a 60,4 million euro), as a result of different changes in 
the value of investments in the two due periods.  

 
  

Other administrative expenses: composition

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

A. Other administrative expenses  (480.895)  (526.474) 
Rent payable  (54.097)  (59.002) 

Professional and advisory services  (55.373)  (68.243) 

Rentals hardware, software and other assets  (28.519)  (28.909) 

Maintenance of hardware, software and other assets  (30.899)  (30.660) 

Tenancy of premises  (41.064)  (40.375) 

Property maintenance  (17.342)  (17.805) 

Counting, transport and management of valuables  (11.888)  (12.207) 

Membership fees  (7.362)  (8.339) 

Information services and land registry searches  (9.189)  (9.867) 

Books and periodicals  (1.413)  (1.518) 

Postal  (20.615)  (25.382) 

Insurance premiums  (31.944)  (36.892) 

Advertis ing  (19.106)  (16.780) 

Entertainment expenses  (1.376)  (1.130) 

Telephone and data transmission expenses  (42.927)  (56.241) 

Services in outsourcing  (35.539)  (38.970) 

Travel expenses  (16.901)  (16.803) 

Credit recovery  expenses  (30.552)  (32.383) 

Forms, stationery and consumables  (8.577)  (9.495) 

Transport and removals  (5.176)  (4.962) 

Security  (6.981)  (6.853) 

Other expenses  (4.055)  (3.658) 

B. Indirect taxes  (41.342)  (41.935) 
Indirect taxes and duties  (28.200)  (30.113) 

Stamp duty  (97.139)  (96.682) 

Municipal property tax  (6.019)  (6.202) 

Other taxes  (22.474)  (22.809) 

Reclassification of "tax recoveries" 112.490 113.871 

Total  (522.237)  (568.409) 
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As a result of action taken to contain costs, net operating income over nine months rose to 
737,5 million euro from 726,8 million euro in 2010.  
On a quarterly basis the result improved to 266,7 million euro compared to 203,9 million euro 
in the previous three months and to 258,7 million euro in the same period of 2010.  
 
 
Net impairment losses on loans: composition

Figures in thousands of euro

A. Loans to banks (4)  (96)  (100) 1 35 36 
B. Loans to customers  (349.662)  (48.903)  (398.565)  (110.780)  (24.399)  (135.179) 
C. Total  (349.666)  (48.999)  (398.665)  (110.779)  (24.364)  (135.143) 

Figures in thousands of euro

A. Loans to banks 2  (19)  (17) 1  (14)  (13) 
B. Loans to customers  (413.648)  (42.050)  (455.698)  (124.201)  (9.797)  (133.998) 
C. Total  (413.646)  (42.069)  (455.715)  (124.200)  (9.811)  (134.011) 

Specific Portfolio Specific Portfolio

Impairment losses/reversals
 of impairment losses, net 9M 2010

Impairment losses/reversals
 of impairment losses, net

3rd 
Quarter 

2010

3rd 
Quarter 

2011Specific Portfolio Specific Portfolio

Impairment losses/reversals 
of impairment losses, net 9M 2011

Impairment losses/reversals
 of impairment losses, net

 
 
In the first nine months of 2011 net impairment losses on loans fell to 398,7 million euro from 

455,7 million euro before (-57 million euro), the aggregate result of an almost general 
reduction for both the network banks and the product companies.  
Particular improvements were recorded for B@nca 24-7 (-39,6 million euro), as a result of a 
process of bringing credit quality up to Group standards, and also for the network banks (-
17,1 million euro).  
 
Total net impairment losses as a percentage of net loans to customers fell as a consequence to 
0,52% (annualised) from 0,60% (annualised) in the first nine months of 2010, compared to 
0,69% for the full year 2010.  
 
In detail, collective net impairment losses were recognised in the period amounting to 49 
million euro, an increase of approximately +7 million euro compared to 2010, consistent with 
the rise in the coverage for the performing loans portfolio of the Group (0,55% compared to 
0,52% twelve months before).  
Specific impairment losses on loans fell, however, to 349,7 million euro, an improvement of 64 
million euro of which over 23 million euro relating to the network banks and 35 million euro to 
the product companies and to Centrobanca.  
More specifically, the improvement by B@nca 24-7 should be underlined (-19,4 million euro), 
although the impairment losses of the company included 13,7 million euro for impairment 
relating to the finance company Ktesios11, of which eight million euro recognised in the second 
quarter as the reclassification of a provision for risks and charges made in the fourth quarter 
of 2010 (a reclassification which involved the relative reversal of the provision for risks and 
charges).  
 
Reversals in the nine month period (net of time value discounting) remained high at 155,6 
million euro, although lower than in the same period of 2010 (186,1 million euro).  
 
In quarterly terms, net impairment losses increased by 23 million euro compared to 158,2 
million euro in the second quarter consisting of -32,1 million euro of specific impairment 
losses specific and +9,1 million euro of portfolio impairment losses. The latter included a 
provision of 15,5 million euro made for the exposure of UBI Factor to Fondazione Centro San 
Raffaele del Monte Tabor.  

                                                           
11  See the section “General banking business with customers: lending” for further information.  
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Consequently the loan loss rate for the quarter (annualised) was 0,53% (0,62% in the second 
quarter of 2011 and 0,53% in the third quarter of 2010).  
 
Net impairment losses/reversals of impairment losses on loans: quarterly performance

2011  (96.010)  (9.364)  (105.374)  (142.877)  (15.271)  (158.148)  (110.779)  (24.364)  (135.143) 

2010  (105.366)  (26.493)  (131.859)  (184.080)  (5.765)  (189.845)  (124.200)  (9.811)  (134.011)  (217.327)  (33.890)  (251.217) 

2009  (122.845)  (36.728)  (159.573)  (176.919)  (58.703)  (235.622)  (178.354)  (18.995)  (197.349)  (281.668) 9.001  (272.667) 

2008  (64.552) 4.895  (59.657)  (85.136)  (8.163)  (93.299)  (77.484)  (25.384)  (102.868)  (219.512)  (90.887)  (310.399) 

Specific
4th 

Quarter
Specific Portfolio SpecificSpecific

1st 
Quarter

2nd 
Quarter

Portfolio Portfolio Portfolio
3rd 

Quarter

Figures in 
thousands of 
euro

 
 
Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities in first nine months of 2011 amounted to 

138,8 million euro and were almost entirely non-recurring.  
They were composed as follows: 5,8 million euro of impairment losses recognised on OICRs 
(collective investment funds) classified as available-for-sale and held by UBI Banca (of which 
3,3 million euro relating to the Polis property fund); 1,1 million euro of impairment losses on 
the interest held in A2A; and 128,8 million euro of impairment losses – on the basis of the 
official price as at 30th  September 2011 (1,2017 euro)12 – on the interest held in Intesa 
Sanpaolo. The latter includes the impairment loss recognised in the first half (15,9 million 
euro, recognised on the basis of the share price quoted at the end of June of 1,8075 euro), 
together with recognition of a further impairment loss that became necessary in the third 
quarter (112,9 million euro), following the turbulence that affected banking shares.  
In 2010 impairment losses of 18,2 million euro were recognised, of which 18,9 million euro non-
recurring, resulting from impairment of available-for-sale equity investments recognised in the first half 
of the year: 1,7 million relating to A2A and 17,2 million euro to Intesa Sanpaolo (official price as at 30th 
June 2010: 2,1735 euro).  

 

Net provisions for risks and charges rose to 19,8 million euro (+7,8 million euro compared to 

2010) and they related mainly to the following:  

▪ B@nca 24-7 amounting to 3,8 million euro, of which  -8,8 million euro performed in the 
first part of the year to meet the 
risk of the non recovery of prior 
year items in transit, for the 
operational risk connected with 
financial companies which disburse 
salary backed loans and for 
convention fraud; +8 million euro 
consisting of a release for 
reclassification within net 
impairment losses on loans in the second quarter in relation to Ktesios; -5,2 million euro 
set aside in the third quarter as a further provision in relation to the signing of an 
agreement for the liquidation without debt of Ktesios; and other reversals of impairment 
losses of +2,2 million euro in relation to the operational risks mentioned above;  

▪ UBI Leasing amounting to 3,5 million euro; a non-recurring provision made in the second 
quarter, as part of the reorganisation and restructuring of its network of agents, to cover 
costs incurred for the termination of contracts with agents (in addition to operational costs 
of 1,6 million euro, also non recurring, recognised in the second quarter);  

▪ IW Bank amounting to 2,1 million euro, recognised in the first half to close transit accounts 
which failed to balance, relating to the former legacy platform. They were created in relation 
to follow-up work carried out after the IT migration performed in February;  

▪ Prestitalia amounting to 1,7 million euro, made in the first quarter, to bring provisions to 
meet supplementary customer indemnities for agent redundancies, into line with Group 
standards.  

 

                                                           
12  The impairment loss was recognised on the basis of the new number of ordinary shares of Intesa Sanpaolo (186.458.028) held by 

the UBI Banca Group following the increase in the share capital (when 41.435.116 new ordinary shares were subscribed at a price 

per share of 1,369 euro).  

Net provisions for risks and charges

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

Net provisions for risks and charges for revocations 66  (1.487) 

Provisions for personnel  (80) 43 

Net provision for bonds in default  (289)  (100) 

Net provisions for litigation  (8.729)  (7.782) 

Other provisions for risks and charges  (10.751)  (2.679) 

Total  (19.783)  (12.005) 
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The income statement contains an aggregate item, profits (losses) from the disposal of equity 
investments and net impairment losses on goodwill, totalling -124,8 million euro, consisting of 

a non-recurring expense of 126,3 million euro arising from impairment tests carried out in the 
second quarter of the year. These were impairment losses on goodwill which adjusted the 
corresponding item 130 in the Statement of Financial Position, of which 74,1 million euro 
related to UBI Leasing, 34,7 million euro to Centrobanca and 17,5 million euro to B@nca 24-
713.  
The item also includes profit earned (+2,3 million euro) from the partial disposal of the equity 
investment in BY YOU in April 2011, although this was offset by the negative impact of its 
removal from the consolidation (-4,1 million euro).  

In 2010 the item amounted to +78,4 million euro, almost entirely non-recurring, and it included: +81,1 
million euro for the gain on the partial sale of Lombarda Vita to our joint venture partner (Società 

Cattolica di Assicurazione); +2 million euro for the gain on the disposal of properties; and -5,2 million 
euro for impairment losses on Gestioni Lombarda Switzerland (-4,2 million euro) and on Barberini (-1 
million euro).  

 
As a result of the performance described above, pre-tax profit from continuing operations 
fell to 55,4 million euro from 319,3 million euro in the comparative period.  
On a quarterly basis, pre-tax profit was 7,2 million euro and in the previous three months a 
loss of 101,5 million euro was incurred (+199,7 million in the third quarter of 2010).  
In normalised terms pre-tax operating profit for the quarter was 95,7 million euro, an 
improvement of 39% compared to 68,7 million euro in the second quarter of 2011 (118,6 
million in the third quarter of 2010).  
 
Taxes on income for the period from continuing operations in the first nine months showed 

income of 146,6 million euro, compared to tax expense of 197,3 million euro14 in 2010.  

The item included a non-recurring component of +352,8 million euro, relating to the Parent, 

consisting of:  

� +377,8 million euro from the realignment of taxation on goodwill and other intangible 
assets in accordance with Decree Law No. 98 of 6th July 2011, converted with amendments 
into Law No. 111 of 15th July 2011. This legislation allowed, in accordance with the 
principles of Law No. 2 of 28th January 200915, the recognition for tax purposes of higher 
values attributed to controlling interests acquired through extraordinary transactions. The 
realignment is performed by the payment of a substitute tax of 16% (525,6 million euro to 
be paid in November 2011), which allows tax to be deducted on the amortisation of the 
amount subject to tax relief (3.285,3 million euro) at constant rates over ten years with 
effect from 2013. Consequently, in the first half of 2011 deferred tax assets of 903,4 million 
euro were recognised within item 290 of the income statement, corresponding to the future 
benefit arising from the deduction of amortisation on the intangible assets subject to tax 

relief;  

� -25 million euro from the derecognition of deferred tax assets for IRAP (local production tax) 
purposes already recognised in the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31st 
December 2010. As a result of the tax deductibility of the amortisation of the amount 
subject to tax relief mentioned above, the Parent does not have sufficient taxable income for 
IRAP purposes to recover the deferred tax assets which had been recognised, since IRAP is 
not included in the tax consolidation. Consequently the conditions for its recognition were 
no longer met.  

                                                           
13  In detail, 18,5 million euro of the 34,7 million euro relating to Centrobanca was recognised for the impairment loss on the goodwill 

of UBI Banca, while the 17,5 million euro relating to B@nca 24-7 was recognised entirely for the impairment loss on the goodwill of 

UBI Banca. That goodwill which had been recognised by the Parent (1st April 2007, the date of the merger), relates to the cash 
generating units of the former BPU Banca Group which benefited from synergies arising from the business combination.  

14  The tax expense in 2010 included the impacts of extraordinary events including the following: the reorganisation of equity 
investments resulting from the “branch switching” operation (18,3 million euro) and, as part of the renewal of partnership 
agreements with the Cattolica Group, the taxation on the gain from the partial disposal of Lombarda Vita (20,2 million euro), 

having benefited only marginally from the participation exemption regime.  
15  Some companies in the UBI Banca Group had taken advantage of the law mentioned in their 2008 income tax returns to obtain tax 

relief on goodwill not acknowledged for tax purposes recognised in their separate financial statements (UBI Banca for 569 million 
euro, BRE for 68,6 million euro, BPA for 10,2 million euro and Carime for 23,3 million euro). The operation involved the recognition 

of higher current taxation (substitute tax of 16%) in the consolidated financial statements amounting to 107,4 million euro and 
lower taxation for deferred taxes of 216,8 million, with a net positive impact, net of non controlling interests, of 104,4 million euro 

(the difference between the rate of the substitute tax and the ordinary tax rate).  
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With the increase of 0,75% in the rate for IRAP introduced by Art 23, paragraph 5 of Decree 
Law No. 98/2011 already mentioned, applicable to banks and financial companies and in 
force with effect from the tax year 2011, changes arose in both current taxation (with the 
recognition of greater current taxes for -12,3 million euro) and deferred taxation. The latter 
amounted to -6,3 million euro (non-recurring), resulting from the adjustment of deferred tax 
liabilities recognised in the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31st December 
2010, which related principally to intangible assets arising from the purchase price allocation 
for the merger of the former Banca Lombarda e Piemontese Group (and therefore classified as 
non-recurring).  
 
In normalised terms, taxes of 197,6 million euro were recognised in the first nine months of 
2011 (167,7 million euro in 2010), to give a tax rate of 62,91% (up from 57,17% before). 
Compared to the theoretical tax rate (33,07%), the taxation levied was affected by the 

combined effect of greater IRES (corporate income tax) and IRAP, due to:  

- the non deductibility of impairment losses on equity investments, accounting for one 
percentage point;  

- the partial non deductibility of interest expense (4%), introduced by Law No. 133 of 6th 
August 2008, accounting for 5,5 percentage points;  

- the increase in the rate for IRAP (Art 23, paragraph 5 of Decree Law No. 98/2011, as 
mentioned above), accounting for four percentage points;  

- the total non deductibility for IRAP purposes of net impairment losses on loans and 
personnel expense and the partial non deductibility of other administrative expenses and 
depreciation and amortisation, accounting for 22 percentage points.  

These impacts were only partly reduced (two percentage points) by the taxation on dividends 
received and on the profit on the sale of the investment in London Stock Exchange.  
 
On a quarterly basis, taxes (normalised) amounted to 63,4 million euro, and to 57,3 million in 

the previous three months (64,6 million in the third quarter of 2010), to give a tax rate of 
66,24% compared to 83,42% in the second quarter. These changes reflect primarily the 
different impacts of the taxable items for IRAP purposes and also the incorporation in the 
second quarter of 2011 of the change in the rate for IRAP applied to the whole of the first half.  
 
Finally in the period January-September 2010 a post-tax profit from discontinued operations of 83,4 
million euro (non-recurring) was recognised in relation to the contribution of the “depository banking 
operations in May 2010 by the Parent to RBC Dexia Investor Services (over one million euro, 
approximately, related to BPCI, recognised within operating income and expense, resulting from the 
disposal at the same time of correspondent banking contracts).  

 
As a result of the performance already reported and as a result of the greater profits earned by 
the banks of the Group, profit for the period attributable to non-controlling interests (inclusive of 

the effects of consolidation entries) rose to 19,4 million euro from 7,6 million euro in 2010.  
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The comments given in the sections that follow are based on items in the consolidated statement of 

financial position contained in the reclassified consolidated financial statements on which the relative 
tables furnishing details are also based.  
The section “Consolidated companies: the principal figures” may be consulted for information on individual 
banks and Group member companies.  

 
 
 
 

General banking business with customers:  
funding  

Funding policies  

The worsening of the sovereign debt crisis during the third quarter led to a significant increase 
in the cost of institutional funding due to a heightened perception of Italy country risk by 
investors, highlighted by the widening of the spread on government securities which  rose to 
record levels.  
Looking forward, the situation does not seem destined to improve in the near future because 
the costs of funding for banks is also affected by the downwards revisions of ratings which 
accompanied the sovereign debt downgrade.  
 
In this context, having benefited from meeting its funding requirement for the entire year in 
advance in the first few months of the year (having placed securities for a nominal amount 
equal to 130% of those maturing), the Group has had no need to issue new securities  on 
institutional markets, nor does it have any significant operations planned for the last part of 
the year. We report only the completion of a private placement of a covered bond for 250 
million euro with the EIB (European Investment Bank), consisting of a second tranche under 
an agreement signed in April 2010 to finance Italian SMEs.  
On the short-term institutional market – where the Group operates by means of euro 
commercial paper and French certificates of deposit instruments – funding has also been 
affected by the effects of Italy risk, with lower volumes of funding than in the past and a 
progressive shortening of the average maturities of investments, always, nevertheless, shorter 
than three months.  
 
The difficult conditions on financial markets have led to a focus on funding from ordinary 
customers, which has also been a factor of relative strategic strength for the Group and will 
be increasingly more important in the future, although in a context of growing 
competitiveness. In this context, Group bond issues placed during the third quarter amounted 
to 1,7 billion euro nominal, which brought the total over nine months to seven billion euro 
nominal (7,5 billion euro at the end of October) against maturities for the entire year of 8,7 
billion euro.  
Finally, a placement was concluded on 11th November – for a total nominal amount of 222,3 
million euro – of a listed issuance by UBI Banca with lower tier two subordination, seven year 
maturity and a mixed rate (fixed at 6,25% for the first three years and then variable at the 
Euribor 3 months +1%, for the remaining maturity) destined to network bank customers.  
The new tax rates which will enter into force on 1st January 2012 will favour a partial change in the 
composition of non on-demand funding, currently concentrated mainly on bond instruments, towards term 
deposits and certificates of deposit, which until now have been penalised by a more  unfavourable tax 
regime, and which, moreover, as opposed to bonds, benefit from guarantees provided by the Interbank 
Deposit Protection Fund within the limits of the regulations currently in force.  
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Total funding  

Total funding in September 2011 – consisting of total amounts administered on behalf of 
customers – decreased to 177 billion euro, affected primarily by a negative trend for indirect 
funding, and for assets under management in particular, which returned to the low levels 
recorded in the first quarter of 2009. This trend was accompanied in 2011 by a decrease in 
direct funding, penalised by a progressive contraction of business on institutional markets in 
parallel with a heightened perception of Italy risk.  
 
 

Total funding from customers

Figures in thousands of euro amount % amount % amount %

Direct funding 103.895.421 58,7% 106.163.877 57,5% -2.268.456 -2,1% 106.760.045 57,8% -2.864.624 -2,7% 103.876.113 56,8% 19.308 0,0% 

Indirect funding 73.088.860 41,3% 78.565.784 42,5% -5.476.924 -7,0% 78.078.869 42,2% -4.990.009 -6,4% 79.036.272 43,2% -5.947.412 -7,5% 
of which: 
assets under 
management 38.701.761 21,9% 41.122.089 22,3% -2.420.328 -5,9% 42.629.553 23,1% -3.927.792 -9,2% 43.348.208 23,7% -4.646.447 -10,7% 

TOTAL FUNDING FROM 
CUSTOMERS 176.984.281 100,0% 184.729.661 100,0% -7.745.380 -4,2% 184.838.914 100,0% -7.854.633 -4,2% 182.912.385 100,0% -5.928.104 -3,2% 

30.9.2010 
D

%
30.9.2011

A
%

Changes A/B Changes A/D30.6.2011
B

%
Changes A/C31.12.2010 

C
%

 
 
 
 

Direct funding  

Direct funding, amounting to 103,9 billion 
euro, was unchanged compared to 
September 2010, but this stability was in 
fact the result of different and at times 
opposing trends recorded by the individual 
components over the three quarters.  
 
Changes in the item were caused primarily 
by the progressive fall in funding from 
repurchase agreements with the Cassa di 
Compensazione e Garanzia (C.C.G. – a 

central counterparty clearing house), in 
relation to investments in Italian 
government securities by the Parent. In fact 
these operations diminished over twelve 
months by 2,5 billion euro, as a result of 
net disinvestments.  
 
Net of repurchase agreements with the 
C.C.G., direct funding recorded year-on-year growth of 2,7% seen in both the main 
components: amounts due to customers (+3,2%) and securities issued (+2,2%).  
 
This year-on-year growth was accompanied during the year by a decrease in short-term 
institutional funding, which became greater in the summer months, and by the completion in 
advance of long-term issues on institutional markets, which gave rise to a fall in the total 
compared to December (-1,1%) and to June (-2,1%).  
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Direct funding from customers

Figures in thousands of euro amount % amount %

Current accounts and deposits 45.659.757 44,0% 45.209.037 42,3% 450.720 1,0% 43.885.033 42,3% 1.774.724 4,0% 

Time deposits 938.757 0,9% 1.341.501 1,3% -402.744 -30,0% 1.240.168 1,2% -301.411 -24,3% 

Financing 8.974.150 8,6% 11.152.853 10,4% -2.178.703 -19,5% 11.573.461 11,1% -2.599.311 -22,5% 

- repurchase agreements 8.580.528 8,2% 11.011.766 10,3% -2.431.238 -22,1% 11.465.458 11,0% -2.884.930 -25,2% 

of which: repos with Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia 7.416.952 7,1% 9.190.455 8,6% -1.773.503 -19,3% 9.957.148 9,6% -2.540.196 -25,5% 

- other 393.622         0,4% 141.087         0,1% 252.535 179,0% 108.003          0,1% 285.619 264,5% 

Other payables 820.072        0,8% 962.766        1,0% -142.694 -14,8% 713.885         0,7% 106.187 14,9% 

TOTAL AMOUNTS DUE TO CUSTOMERS (item 20 Liabilities) 56.392.736 54,3% 58.666.157 55,0% -2.273.421 -3,9% 57.412.547 55,3% -1.019.811 -1,8% 

Bonds 44.035.630 42,4% 42.880.256 40,2% 1.155.374 2,7% 41.312.410 39,7% 2.723.220 6,6% 

Other certificates 3.467.055 3,3% 5.213.632 4,8% -1.746.577 -33,5% 5.151.156 5,0% -1.684.101 -32,7% 

TOTAL SECURITIES ISSUED (item 30 Liabilities) 47.502.685 45,7% 48.093.888 45,0% -591.203 -1,2% 46.463.566 44,7% 1.039.119 2,2% 

of which:

securities subscribed by institutional customers: 17.942.416 17,3% 18.797.662 17,6% -855.246 -4,5% 17.677.278 17,0% 265.138 1,5% 

- EMTN (*) 10.499.065 10,1% 11.158.751 10,5% -659.686 -5,9% 10.517.009 10,1% -17.944 -0,2% 

- French certificates of deposit 586.497 0,6% 1.148.017 1,1% -561.520 -48,9% 1.669.820 1,6% -1.083.323 -64,9% 

- Euro commercial paper 562.615 0,5% 2.260.184 2,1% -1.697.569 -75,1% 1.607.552 1,5% -1.044.937 -65,0% 

- Covered bonds 5.823.550 5,6% 3.752.819 3,5% 2.070.731 55,2% 3.393.934 3,3% 2.429.616 71,6% 

- Preference shares (**) 470.689 0,5% 477.891 0,4% -7.202 -1,5% 488.963 0,5% -18.274 -3,7% 

bonds subscribed by ordinary customers 27.413.190 26,4% 27.581.980 25,8% -168.790 -0,6% 27.341.349 26,3% 71.841 0,3% 

- of the Group:

issued by UBI Banca 5.996.718 5,8% 5.035.176 4,7% 961.542 19,1% 4.615.091 4,4% 1.381.627 29,9% 

issued by the network banks 17.142.622 16,5% 17.336.752 16,2% -194.130 -1,1% 18.714.391 18,0% -1.571.769 -8,4% 

- external distribution networks:

issued by Centrobanca 4.273.850 4,1% 5.210.052 4,9% -936.202 -18,0% 4.011.867 3,9% 261.983 6,5% 

TOTAL DIRECT FUNDING 103.895.421 100,0% 106.760.045 100,0% -2.864.624 -2,7% 103.876.113 100,0% 19.308 0,0% 

Changes A/C30.9.2011
A

%
30.9.2010 

C
%

31.12.2010 
B

%
Changes A/B

 
 
 

Direct funding from customers

Figures in thousands of euro amount %

Current accounts and deposits 45.659.757 44,0% 44.697.229 42,1% 962.528 2,2% 

Time deposits 938.757 0,9% 1.104.611 1,0% -165.854 -15,0% 

Financing 8.974.150 8,6% 9.266.869 8,7% -292.719 -3,2% 

- repurchase agreements 8.580.528 8,2% 8.891.267 8,4% -310.739 -3,5% 

of which: repos with Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia 7.416.952 7,1% 7.575.488 7,1% -158.536 -2,1% 

- other 393.622         0,4% 375.602         0,3% 18.020 4,8% 

Other payables 820.072        0,8% 1.131.028    1,1% -310.956 -27,5% 

TOTAL AMOUNTS DUE TO CUSTOMERS (item 20 Liabilities) 56.392.736 54,3% 56.199.737 52,9% 192.999 0,3% 

Bonds 44.035.630 42,4% 45.167.471 42,6% -1.131.841 -2,5% 

Other certificates 3.467.055 3,3% 4.796.669 4,5% -1.329.614 -27,7% 

TOTAL SECURITIES ISSUED (item 30 Liabilities) 47.502.685 45,7% 49.964.140 47,1% -2.461.455 -4,9% 

of which:

securities subscribed by institutional customers: 17.942.416 17,3% 19.997.386 18,8% -2.054.970 -10,3% 
- EMTN (*) 10.499.065 10,1% 11.211.758 10,6% -712.693 -6,4% 

- French certificates of deposit 586.497 0,6% 961.545 0,9% -375.048 -39,0% 

- Euro commercial paper 562.615 0,5% 1.804.281 1,7% -1.241.666 -68,8% 

- Covered bonds 5.823.550 5,6% 5.555.153 5,2% 268.397 4,8% 

- Preference shares (**) 470.689 0,5% 464.649 0,4% 6.040 1,3% 

bonds subscribed by ordinary customers 27.413.190 26,4% 28.069.692 26,5% -656.502 -2,3% 

- of the Group:

issued by UBI Banca 5.996.718 5,8% 5.935.443 5,6% 61.275 1,0% 

issued by the network banks 17.142.622 16,5% 17.899.416 16,9% -756.794 -4,2% 

- external distribution networks:
issued by Centrobanca 4.273.850 4,1% 4.234.833 4,0% 39.017 0,9% 

TOTAL DIRECT FUNDING 103.895.421 100,0% 106.163.877 100,0% -2.268.456 -2,1%

30.9.2011
A

%
30.6.2011

B
%

Changes A/B

 
 
(*) The corresponding nominal amounts were 10.396 million euro (348 million euro subordinated) as at 30th September 2011, 11.196 million euro (348 

million euro subordinated) as at 30th June 2011, 11.128 million euro (502 million euro subordinated) as at 31st December 2010 and 10.478 million euro 
(852 million euro subordinated) as at 30th September 2010.  

 The amounts as at 30th June and as at 30th September 2011 shown in the table do not include private intragroup placements for 88 million euro and 93 
million euro respectively.  

(**)  The preference shares were issued for nominal amounts by BPB Capital Trust of 300 million euro, by Banca Lombarda Preferred Securities Trust of 155 
million euro and by BPCI Capital Trust of 115 million euro. Following the public exchange offer concluded on 25th June 2009, the remaining nominal 
amounts consisted of 227,436 million euro for the BPB Capital Trust issue, 124,636 million euro for that of Banca Lombarda Preferred Securities Trust 
and 101,388 million euro for the BPCI Capital Trust issue.  
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Within the item DUE TO CUSTOMERS – up year-on-year by 1,5 billion euro (+3,2%) net of CCG 
funding – the strongest performance was recorded by current accounts, which increased by 
1,8 billion euro (+4%) over twelve months with equally positive  growth in the interim periods 
(+2,2% in the quarter, +1% over nine months), partly in relation to commercial initiatives (term 
deposits offered by both the network banks and by IW Bank).  
That performance was set against a decrease for time deposits and repurchase agreements 
which were affected by customers choosing to change the composition of their investments.  
 
SECURITIES ISSUED totalled 47,5 billion euro with a growth of one billion euro over twelve 
months (+2,2%), as a result of different trends over time for the two main components and also 
within them.  
The item was driven until June by bonds (+2,7 billion euro compared to September 2010; +1,2 

billion euro since December), a reflection of large institutional placements made over the last 
few months of 2010 and the first months of 2011. This growth trend reversed over the summer 
as maturities exceeded new issuances1.  
As concerns on the other hand “other certificates”, changes incorporated the effect of a 

progressive reduction in funding on institutional money markets from euro commercial paper 
and French certificates of deposit (-2,1 billion euro over twelve months, -2,3 billion euro over 
nine months, -1,6 billion euro over three months), while funding from certificates of deposit in 
yen recorded growth (+0,4 billion euro over twelve months and compared to December, +0,2 
billion euro since June).  
 

*   *   * 
 
Institutional funding, amounting to 17,9 billion euro, was unchanged year-on-year but had 

decreased since June.  
Within the item, in addition to the negative trend for the short-term component already 
mentioned (ECP and French certificates of deposit), which increased progressively during 
2011, growth was recorded by the longer maturity component consisting of covered bonds. 
Three issues for a total nominal amount of 2,25 billion euro were performed over twelve 
months with maturities of between five and ten years: one issue for 500 million euro in 
November 2010 and two issues in 2011, the first for one billion euro in January and the 
second for 750 million euro in February.  
On the other hand, four placements were made under the EMTN programme for a total 
nominal amount of 2,75 billion euro (the first for one billion euro in November 2010 and the 
others for one billion euro, 700 million euro and 50 million respectively in the first five months 
of 2011), against maturities and redemptions of seven notes for approximately 2,83 billion 
euro nominal (including 0,35 billion euro in 2010, 1,13 billion euro in the first quarter of 
2011, 0,55 billion euro in the second and 0,80 billion euro in the third quarter).  
 
In detail, institutional funding was composed as follows as at 30th September 2011  

� EMTN securities (Euro Medium Term Notes) amounting to 10,5 billion euro (348,1 million euro 

subordinated), issued by UBI Banca as part of a programme for a maximum issuance of 15 billion 
euro. All the securities are admitted for trading on the London stock exchange with the sole exception 
of those which had been issued by the former Banca Lombarda e Piemontese listed in Luxembourg;  

� covered bonds amounting to 5,8 billion euro, consisting of seven issues by UBI Banca for a total 
nominal amount of 5,5 billion euro as part of a programme for a maximum issuance of ten billion 
euro. The securities are listed in London;  

� French certificates of deposit amounting to 0,6 billion euro, issued by the UBI Banca International as 
part of a programme for a maximum issuance of five billion euro, listed in Luxembourg;  

� euro commercial paper amounting to 0,5 billion euro, issued by UBI Banca International as part of a 
programme for a maximum issuance of six billion euro, listed in Luxembourg;  

� preference shares amounting to 0,5 billion euro consisting of the securities still in issue following the 
public exchange offer of June 2009. These consist of three issues, two listed in Luxembourg and one 
in London.  

 

                                                           
1  EMTNs with a nominal value of 700 million euro matured over the summer (not re-issued), as did bonds held by customers 

amounting to 2,4 billion euro  against new issues of 1,7 billion euro.  
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The recent downgrades of UBI Banca by Moody's and Fitch in the wake of the lowering of Italy’s credit 
rating had the consequence, amongst other things, of making it necessary for UBI Banca and other national 
banking groups to take action on its programme for the issue of covered bonds.  

In order to prevent probable downgrades of the programme2, accounts had to be opened with a third party 
counterparty (Bank of New York Mellon, also the paying agent) in order to collateralise the swap contracts 
between UBI Banca and UBI Finance, the special purpose entity for the programme, into which margins 
had already been paid, calculated on the basis of the provisions of the swap contract originally entered into 
(asset swaps and liability swaps).  
At the same time, the liquidity accounts of the entity UBI Finance were transferred from UBI Banca 
International Luxembourg to Bank of New York Mellon, in relation to the rating level requested for the bank 
used  for them.  
As at 30th September 2011, the pool of segregated residential mortgages held by UBI Finance to back the 
bonds issued amounted to 8,349 billion euro. On 31st October a new transfer of assets was made by Banca 
Popolare Commercio e Industria, Banca Regionale Europea, Banca Popolare di Ancona and Banco di San 
Giorgio who transferred mortgages already held on their books to the special purpose entity for a total of 
1,587 billion euro, consisting of the remaining principal on the loans.  

 
Total funding from bonds issued to ordinary customers amounted to 27,4 billion euro, basically 

stable over twelve months. Nevertheless the individual items within the total recorded 
opposing trends in the reporting periods concerned.  
In annual terms, a predominance of listed securities was issued by UBI Banca and placed with 
network banks to replace issues made by those banks themselves and a net increase occurred 
in issues through Centrobanca non captive channels. Over twelve months UBI Banca placed 
seven issues for a total of 1,6 billion euro nominal (of which 0,9 billion euro in 2011 including 
0,8 billion euro with a lower tier two subordination clause).  
With a balance between network bank maturities and issues in the current year, the new 
placements by UBI Banca compensated for Centrobanca’s net maturities which made only a 
very marginal use of funding from non-captive customers over the nine month period.  
 
 
Maturities for bonds outstanding as at 30th September 2011

Nominal amounts in millions of euro
4th Quarter 

2011
2012 2013 2014

Subsequent 
years

Total

UBI BANCA* 265 4.926 4.470 3.581 9.091 22.333

of which: EMTN 233                      4.070                   3.392 2.311 390 10.396

Covered bonds 11                        23                        23                        23                        5.420 5.500

Network banks 1.604 4.825 5.291 2.767 2.395 16.882

Other banks in the Group 18 186 83 449 3.647 4.383

TOTAL 1.887                  9.937 9.844 6.797 15.133 43.598
 

* The EMTN subordinated bonds were placed on the date of the expiration or the exercise of a call option.  

   Preference shares (453,5 million euro) were placed with maturities after 2014.  

 
 
As concerns market segmentation of customers, management accounting figures for end of 
period volumes of direct funding for the network banks and for UBI Banca Private Investment 
show that in September 76,8% of funding from customers came from the retail market (76,3% 
in September 2010), 11% from the private banking market (11,2%) and 9,4% from the 
corporate market (8,8%), while the remaining 2,8% was from institutional customers (3,7%).  
In terms of annual changes, those same management accounting figures show an increase of 
6,9% from the corporate market – and from large corporate customers in particular (+12,7%) – 
and of 1,3% from the retail market, as a result of growth in funding from private individuals 
(+1,7%) and from small businesses (+0,9%), while decreases were recorded of 1,1% from the 
private banking sector and of 21,5% from institutional customers.  
 
 
  

                                                           
2  As opposed to other Italian programmes, the UBI Banca programme maintained its triple A rating, but was placed on “Rating Watch 

Negative” by Fitch and under review for possible downgrade by Moody’s.  
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Indirect funding and assets under management  

Indirect funding from ordinary customers

Figures in thousands of euro amount % amount %

Assets under custody 34.387.099 47,0% 35.449.316 45,4% -1.062.217 -3,0% 35.688.064 45,2% -1.300.965 -3,6% 

Assets under management 38.701.761 53,0% 42.629.553 54,6% -3.927.792 -9,2% 43.348.208 54,8% -4.646.447 -10,7% 

Customer portfolio management 8.174.338 11,2% 9.112.815 11,7% -938.477 -10,3% 9.307.454 11,8% -1.133.116 -12,2% 

of which: fund based instruments 1.810.704 2,5% 2.065.172 2,6% -254.468 -12,3% 2.101.492 2,7% -290.788 -13,8% 

Mutual investment funds and SICAV’s 18.637.536 25,5% 21.189.141 27,1% -2.551.605 -12,0% 21.438.240 27,1% -2.800.704 -13,1% 

Insurance policies and pension funds 11.889.887 16,3% 12.327.597 15,8% -437.710 -3,6% 12.602.514 15,9% -712.627 -5,7% 

of which: Insurance policies 11.699.368 16,0% 12.124.734 15,5% -425.366 -3,5% 12.401.316 15,7% -701.948 -5,7% 

TOTAL INDIRECT FUNDING FROM 
ORDINARY CUSTOMERS 73.088.860 100,0% 78.078.869 100,0% -4.990.009 -6,4% 79.036.272 100,0% -5.947.412 -7,5% 

30.9.2011 
A

% Changes A/B 30.9.2010
C

31.12.2010 
B

% % Changes A/C

 
 
Group INDIRECT FUNDING 

from ordinary customers 
as at 30th September 
2011 amounted to 73,1 
billion euro, a decrease 
compared to all the 
comparative periods.  
 
As shown in the graph, 
at the end of September 
the item had returned to 
the same levels as in the first quarter of 2009, with a generalised reduction in all components, 
penalised on the one hand by a further deterioration in conditions on financial markets over 
the summer and by continuing weakness in the assets under management sector, in progress 
now for approximately three years.  
 
The year-on-year performance (-5,9 billion 
euro;   -7,5%) mainly reflects a progressive 
reduction in assets under management 
(-4,6 billion euro to 38,7 billion 
euro; -10,7%), 60% of which attributable 
to mutual funds and sicav’s (-2,8 billion 
euro; -13,1%), and in customer portfolio 
management (-1,1 billion euro; -12,2%), 
while the reduction in the insurance sector 
was more contained (-0,7 billion euro; -
5,7%).  
The assets under custody component had 
also decreased at the end of September, 
down to 34,4 billion euro (-1,3 billion euro; 
-3,6%), a reversal of the trend in the first 
half.  
 
Analysis of the third quarter shows a larger 

decrease for assets under custody (-3,1 
billion euro; -8,2%) – which fell to 47% of 
the total (47,7% in June) – than for assets 
under management (-2,4 billion euro;        
-5,9%), within which the crisis affecting 
investment in mutual funds (-1,7 billion euro; -8,4%) over the summer, which was seen also in 
the sector nationally, was clearly evident.  
 

* * * 

Indirect funding from ordinary customers

Figures in thousands of euro amount %

Assets under custody 34.387.099 47,0% 37.443.695 47,7% -3.056.596 -8,2% 

Assets under management 38.701.761 53,0% 41.122.089 52,3% -2.420.328 -5,9% 

Customer portfolio management 8.174.338 11,2% 8.644.679 11,0% -470.341 -5,4% 

of which: fund based instruments 1.810.704 2,5% 1.942.923 2,5% -132.219 -6,8% 

Mutual investment funds and SICAV’s 18.637.536 25,5% 20.343.057 25,9% -1.705.521 -8,4% 

Insurance policies and pension funds 11.889.887 16,3% 12.134.353 15,4% -244.466 -2,0% 

of which: Insurance policies 11.699.368 16,0% 11.930.419 15,2% -231.051 -1,9% 

TOTAL INDIRECT FUNDING FROM 
ORDINARY CUSTOMERS 73.088.860 100,0% 78.565.784 100,0% -5.476.924 -7,0% 

30.9.2011 % 30.6.2011 % Changes
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In terms of assets under management net of Group funds (collective instruments and 
customer portfolio managements), at the end of the first half, the UBI Banca Group was 
positioned in seventh place3 among operators in the sector (sixth among Italian groups) with 
assets amounting to 26,6 billion euro – including approximately 2,8 billion euro relating to 
institutional customers – and a decrease in market share to 2,87% (3,19% in December).  
 
 

* * * 
 

In the mutual fund and sicav sector, according to the Assogestioni data just mentioned 
relating to the second quarter, the UBI Group was positioned in fifth place in the at the end of 
June for assets originated and a market share of 4,37%, a decrease compared to December 
(4,56%)4. 
  
 

 

 
 
In a context of generalised difficulty in this sector, the summary figures in the table confirm 
the prudential approach of UBI Group customers in the first nine months of 2011:  

− assets down by 2,8 billion euro (-13,5%);  

− a stable and higher percentage of lower risk funds (monetary funds and bonds), accounting 
as a whole for 74,6% of the total and higher than in December (73,9%). The trends were 
nevertheless negative both for monetary funds(-7,2%) and for bond funds (-14,5%);  

− a stable low percentage of equity funds (12,5% in September down from 13,1% at the end of 
December).  

 
The negative trend for assets worsened in the third quarter (-1,8 billion euro; -9,2%), mainly 
reflecting a reversal of the positive trend seen between January and June for equity and 
monetary funds.  

                                                           
3  Source: Assogestioni (national association of asset management companies), “Map of assets under management (collective 

instruments and customer portfolio management) 2nd quarter 2011. Following the formation of Am Holding, a new asset 
management company created from an alliance between Anima Sgr and Prima Sgr, two asset management companies which, 
considered singly, have lower assets under management and market share than those of the UBI Banca Group, the latter moved 

down a place in the Assogetione classification compared to December.  
4  Since August, the first month of the publication of the new “New map of assets under management”. Assogestioni has only provided 

an update of data for assets under management and no longer provides data for assets originated, which therefore excludes amounts 
for assets managed by third parties. In order to provide information more consistent with the actual assets relating to the UBI Banca 

Group, it was decided to continue to provide the same data as in previous periods, by supplementing the Assogestioni data with that 
for assets relating to products entrusted to Prudential under a management mandate, for which the total at the end of September 

was approximately 2,6 billion euro (1,4 billion euro of equity funds and 1,2 billion euro of bond funds).  

Fund assets (inclusive of assets managed by third parties under mandate)

UBI Banca Group

Figures in millions of euro amount % amount %

Equities 2.262 12,5% 2.876 14,4% -614 -21,3% 2.734 13,1% -472 -17,3% 

Balanced 1.350 7,4% 1.455 7,3% -105 -7,2% 1.512 7,2% -162 -10,7% 

Bond 10.077 55,6% 10.793 54,0% -716 -6,6% 11.784 56,2% -1.707 -14,5% 

Monetary funds 3.447 19,0% 3.779 18,9% -332 -8,8% 3.715 17,7% -268 -7,2% 

Flexible 667 3,7% 710 3,6% -43 -6,1% 840 4,0% -173 -20,6% 

Hedge funds 335 1,8% 355 1,8% -20 -5,6% 378 1,8% -43 -11,4% 

TOTAL 18.138 100,0% 19.968 100,0% -1.830 -9,2% 20.963 100,0% -2.825 -13,5% 

30.9.2011
A

% Changes A/C31.12.2010
C

%
30.6.2011

B
% Changes A/B
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General banking business with customers:  
lending  

Performance of the loan portfolio  

Composition of loans to customers

Figures in thousands of euro amount % amount %

Current account overdrafts 14.381.082 14,0% 1.156.325 13.723.925 13,5% 1.067.391 657.157 4,8% 14.436.915 14,3% 1.041.830 -55.833 -0,4% 

Reverse repurchase agreements 15.126          0,0% -                 323.597        0,3% -                 -308.471 -95,3% 695.392 0,7% -                 -680.266 -97,8% 

Mortgage loans and other medium 
to long-term financing 56.164.718  54,7% 3.107.650 53.943.966  53,0% 2.512.658 2.220.752 4,1% 52.791.880 52,2% 2.493.464 3.372.838 6,4% 

Credit cards, personal loans and 
salary backed loans 5.966.229    5,8% 206.037 6.344.773    6,2% 144.009 -378.544 -6,0% 6.386.899 6,3% 138.279 -420.670 -6,6% 

Finance leases 9.271.192    9,0% 930.710 9.590.800    9,4% 769.279 -319.608 -3,3% 9.661.216 9,5% 727.887 -390.024 -4,0% 

Factoring 2.909.114    2,9% 74.788 2.988.697    2,9% 16.946 -79.583 -2,7% 2.558.719 2,5% 17.834 350.395 13,7% 

Other transactions 14.020.716  13,6% 781.129 14.846.953  14,6% 749.846 -826.237 -5,6% 14.560.956 14,4% 738.651 -540.240 -3,7% 

Debt instruments: 37.139          0,0% 1.000 52.118          0,1% 1.000 -14.979 -28,7% 103.057 0,1% 1.000 -65.918 -64,0% 

- structured instruments 25.735           0,0% -                 3.409             0,0% -                 22.326 654,9% 35.065 0,0% -                 -9.330 -26,6% 

- other debt instruments 11.404           0,0% 1.000 48.709           0,1% 1.000 -37.305 -76,6% 67.992 0,1% 1.000 -56.588 -83,2% 

TOTAL 102.765.316 100,0% 6.257.639 101.814.829 100,0% 5.261.129 950.487 0,9% 101.195.034 100,0% 5.158.945 1.570.282 1,6% 

of which 
deteriorated

%
30.9.2010 

C

Changes A/C30.9.2011 
A

%
of which 

deteriorated

Changes A/B31.12.2010
B

%
of which 

deteriorated

 
 
At the end of September loans 
to customers amounted to 
102,8 billion euro, an 
increase of 1,6 billion euro 
compared to September 2010 
(+1,6% 1  compared to +4,1% 
for the sector nationally) and 
of approximately one billion 
euro since December (+0,9%, 
compared to +2,6% for the 
sector nationally). Compared 
to June, on the other hand, 
the item remained unchanged 
(+0,5% the average for Italian Banks).  
 
The year-on-year trend was driven by the network banks (+2,9%), which account for over 68% 
of the consolidated total, while the total for the product companies decreased (-0,2%), affected 
by credit reclassification processes. It must also be considered that approximately 40% of the 
business of the latter comes from captive customers of the network banks (+4,7% over twelve 
months), a percentage which is destined to increase in future considering the decrease in 
resort to external networks in progress.  
 
Details for the different types of lending over twelve months are as follows:  

� mortgages and other medium-to-long term lending progressively reached 56,2 billion euro 
(+3,4 billion euro; +6,4%), which confirmed it as the main form of lending, accounting for 
close to 55% of the total. On the basis of management accounting figures, performing 
residential mortgages granted by the network banks, Centrobanca and B@nca 24-7 had 
reached 22,6 billion euro in September (22,5 billion euro in June and 21,8 billion euro in 
December);  

                                                           
1  The growth was +2,5% net of the “large corporate” segment, for which action is currently in progress to reduce lending.  

Composition of loans to customers

Figures in thousands of euro amount %

Current account overdrafts 14.381.082 14,0% 1.156.325 14.376.063 14,0% 1.119.458 5.019 0,0% 

Reverse repurchase agreements 15.126          0,0% -                 301.106 0,3% -                 -285.980 -95,0% 

Mortgage loans and other medium 
to long-term financing 56.164.718  54,7% 3.107.650 55.539.184 54,0% 2.865.360 625.534 1,1% 

Credit cards, personal loans and 
salary backed loans 5.966.229    5,8% 206.037 6.127.139 6,0% 183.280 -160.910 -2,6% 

Finance leases 9.271.192    9,0% 930.710 9.463.728 9,2% 840.756 -192.536 -2,0% 

Factoring 2.909.114    2,9% 74.788 2.847.727 2,8% 31.236 61.387 2,2% 

Other transactions 14.020.716  13,6% 781.129 14.079.631 13,7% 760.614 -58.915 -0,4% 

Debt instruments: 37.139          0,0% 1.000 39.889 0,0% 1.000 -2.750 -6,9% 

- structured instruments 25.735           0,0% -                 25.456 0,0% -                 279 1,1% 

- other debt instruments 11.404           0,0% 1.000 14.433 0,0% 1.000 -3.029 -21,0% 

TOTAL 102.765.316 100,0% 6.257.639 102.774.467 100,0% 5.801.704 -9.151 0,0% 

of which 
deteriorated

Changes
30.9.2011 %

of which 
deteriorated 30.6.2011 %
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� factoring lending performed by 
UBI Factor exceeded 2,9 billion 
euro (+0,4 billion euro; +13,7%), 
a recovery after the decrease in 
the first quarter of 2011;  

� on the other hand, finance 
leases decreased to 9,3 billion 
euro (-0,4 billion euro; -4%), 
partly in relation to the 
reorganisation and revision of 
lending processes by UBI 
Leasing completed in 2011, in 
parallel with a change of focus in 
commercial activity towards the 
captive market;  

� similarly the various types of 
consumer credit also decreased, 
falling to below 6 billion euro 
(-0,4 billion euro; -6,6%). This 
trend reflects the performance of 
B@nca 24-7’s lending portfolio (-0,4 billion euro to 5,7 billion euro; -7,1%), in view of 
precise decisions to strategically reposition business, taken in order to improve credit 
quality. These led to the progressive discontinuation of high risk business segments 
consisting of special purpose loans and consumer credit to non captive customers, for 
which only operations for the servicing of existing loans remain.  
In terms of types of lending a fall was recorded in special purpose loans, (-0,3 billion euro; -
39,4%) brokered by SILF, and in other personal loans (-0,3 billion euro; -13%) – originated 
mainly through Group network banks – for which the remaining part relating to the SILF 
network decreased by 0,2 billion euro. These changes were only partially offset by positive 
performance from salary/pension backed loans originated by external distribution 
networks, which rose to 3,1 billion euro (+0,2 billion euro; +5,7%) and came to account for 
55% of B@nca 24-7’s total consumer credit.  
It is worth noting that the trend for salary backed loans started to reverse in the second 
quarter, when the business focus was changed to concentrate on the grant of this type of 
loan to captive customers through the Group subsidiary Prestitalia Spa, and also as 
external distribution networks were discontinued at the same time (i.e. Ktesios Spa);  

� reverse repurchase agreements were reduced almost to zero, at 15,1 million euro (-0,7 
billion euro; -97,8%), reflecting reduced trading by the Parent with the Cassa di 
Compensazione e Garanzia (CCG – a central counterparty clearing house);  

� other short term types of lending recorded an overall decrease, which was, however, the 
aggregate result of opposing interim trends. Current account  overdrafts were more or less 
unchanged over twelve months (-55,8 million euro; -0,4%), affected by a fall in the last 
quarter of 2010, while they recovered progressively since January (+0,7 billion euro; 
+4,8%). On the other hand, “other transactions” (loans for advances, portfolio, 
import/export transactions, hot money transactions, etc.) decreased year-on-year (-0,5 
billion euro; -3,7%), the result of the combined effect of an increase in the last quarter of 
2010 and a reduction in progress since the beginning of 2011 (-0,8 billion euro; -5,6%).  

 
No substantial changes occurred in the loan portfolio during the third quarter. This stability 

was in reality the combined result of growth of 0,5% for the network banks and a fall of 1,1% 
for the product companies. In terms of types of lending, the increase in “mortgages and other 
medium to long-term financing” (+0,6 miliardi; +1,1%) and also in factoring (+0,1 billion euro; 
+2,2%) was in fact fully offset by the decrease in other types of lending: -0,3 billion euro for 
reverse repurchase agreements, consistent with the reduction in business by the Parent  with 
the CCG; -0,2 billion euro for lease business; and -0,2 billion euro for consumer credit. No 
significant changes were recorded for current account  overdraft and other transactions.  
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In terms of maturities, in September the Group portfolio consisted of medium to long-term 

loans totalling 71,4  billion euro (+3,6% year-on-year; +0,4% in the third quarter), now 
accounting for close to 70% of the total, and of short term loans amounting to 31,3 billion euro 
(-2,9% year-on-year; -0,9% over three months).  
At the end of the third quarter the ratio of lending to funding was 98,9%, an increase compared 

to all the comparative periods (95,4% in December, 97,4% in September 2010). The change 
was affected by the different performance of the two items which have moved in opposite 
directions since the beginning of year. If funding is considered net of repurchase agreements 
with the CCG, the ratio is 106,5% (104,4% and 107,7% in December and September 2010 
respectively).  
 
As concerns customer market segmentation, end of period management accounting figures for 

the network banks and UBI Banca Private Investment show that at the end of the September 
55,4% was destined to the retail market (54,5% in September 2010), 42,8% to the corporate 
market (44%) and 1,4% to the private banking market (1,1%), while the remaining 0,4% was to 
institutional customers (0,4%).  
In terms of annual trends, those same management figures show an improvement for the retail 
market (+3,6%) – driven by the private individuals segment (+3,7%) and by the small business 
segment (+3,5%) – and a slight decrease for the corporate market (-0,7%) due to a decrease for 
the large corporate segment (-6,4%), only partially offset by an increase in the core segment 
(+2,8%).  
 
 

30.9.2011 30.6.2011 31.3.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010

Manufacturing and service companies (non financial companies and producer househo lds) 62,9% 63,2% 62,8% 62,8% 63,1% 
of which: other services destined for sale 16,7% 17,2% 17,0% 17,7% 17,3% 

Commerce, recovery and repair services 9,9% 10,0% 10,3% 9,9% 10,0% 

Construction and public works 9,0% 9,1% 9,2% 9,3% 9,6% 
Energy products 4,5% 4,4% 3,3% 3,6% 3,7% 

Metal products, excluding machines and means of transport 2,5% 2,5% 2,5% 2,4% 2,5% 

Agricultural, forestry and fishery products 2,2% 2,2% 2,2% 2,1% 2,0% 

Hotels and restaurants 1,9% 2,0% 2,0% 2,0% 2,0% 

Foodstuffs, beverages and tobacco products 1,9% 1,9% 2,0% 1,6% 1,8% 

Textiles, leather and footwear, clothing 1,7% 1,7% 1,6% 1,6% 1,8% 

Agricultural and industrial machinery 1,5% 1,5% 1,5% 1,4% 1,5% 

Consumer households 30,3% 30,0% 29,5% 29,4% 28,9% 

Financial companies 3,7% 3,6% 4,5% 4,6% 4,6% 

Public administrations 1,0% 1,0% 0,8% 0,9% 0,9% 

Other (not-for-prof it institutions and the rest of the w orld) 2,1% 2,2% 2,4% 2,3% 2,5% 

TOTAL 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 

Distribution of loans by economic sector

(management accounting figures for performing loans of the network banks and Centrobanca)

 
Again on the basis of management accounting figures, the results given in the table for 
network banks and Centrobanca only – an aggregate which represents approximately 71% of 
gross loans – showed the following in September 2011:  

− 93,2% of outstanding loans is destined to manufacturing and service companies and 
consumer households (92% twelve months before), which confirms the traditional vocation 
of the Group to support communities in its markets;  

− as concerns the distribution by sector of performing loans to non financial companies and 
to producer households, “other services destined for sale” and “commercial services, 
recoveries and repairs” continued to account for the largest percentage of the total (26,6%), 
although slightly down compared to 
December (27,6%).  

 
From the viewpoint of concentration, a further 
generalised improvement was recorded.  
 

30.9.2011 30.6.2011 31.3.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010

Largest 10 3,9% 4,0% 4,1% 4,1% 4,1%

Largest 20 6,4% 6,5% 6,7% 6,8% 6,7%

Largest 30 8,0% 8,2% 8,5% 8,5% 8,4%

Largest 40 9,1% 9,3% 9,5% 9,6% 9,5%

Largest 50 10,1% 10,3% 10,4% 10,5% 10,4%

Concentration of risk  
(largest customers or groups as a percentage of total loans and guarantees) 

Customers or 
Groups
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As concerns “large exposures”, on the 
other hand, on the basis of the new 
regulations in force since December2, as 
at 30th September 2011 the UBI Banca 
Group had five positions which exceeded 
10% of the supervisory capital, for a total 
of 20,6 billion euro nominal:  

• 8,1 billion euro to the CCG in relation 
to reverse repurchase agreement transactions by the Parent (10,2 billion euro in December);  

• 7,7 billion euro to the Ministry of the Treasury, in relation to investments in government 
securities by the Parent (8,3 billion euro at the end of 2010);  

• 1,3 billion euro of authorised credit, unchanged compared to June, to a major corporate 
counterparty, as part of ordinary lending business with customers (2,3 billion euro in 
December3);  

• 3,5 billion euro to two major banking groups (only one in December for 1,4 billion euro), a 
decrease of approximately 2,5 billion euro compared to June principally as a result of the 
partial renewal of reverse repurchase agreements entered into by the Parent to compensate 
for the temporary shortage of assets eligible for refinancing with the ECB.  

 
The actual exposure of the UBI Group after weightings are applied, amounts to a total of 
approximately 2,5 billion euro, up compared to December but in significant decrease 
compared to June, reflecting the already mentioned reduction in reverse repurchase 
agreements to two major banking groups, transactions which are subject to the application of 
the full weighting.  
The percentage of consolidated supervisory capital is well below the limit of 25% set for 
banking groups for each of the five exposures.  
 

* * * 
 
A report is given below on some of the product companies and/or external networks with 
which the Group operated or has operated.  
 
 

B@nca 24-7: Ktesios Spa 

The financial company Ktesios4 operated on the basis of a three year commercial agreement signed in 2008, as 
an agent of B@nca 24-7 in the salary and pension backed loan sector, providing services, also through a 
subsidiary, for the collection of the loans.  

B@nca 24-7 held salary backed loans on its books as at 30th September 2011 totalling 3.084 million euro, of 
which 902 million euro5 brokered by Ktesios of which:  

− 307 million euro secured by a pledge of 4,3 million euro, consisting of term deposits on current accounts held 
with B@nca 24-7;  

− 597 million euro guaranteed by a “deducted for non payment” clause6.  

The amount relates to over 70 thousand positions, 60% of which relating to public sector employees or pensioners.  

The following events occurred in 2011:  

• 11th February: Ktesios Spa, in consideration of its constant cash flow deficits, announced that it had made 
proposals to its governing bodies to take appropriate corporate ownership initiatives, including a possible 
proposal to go into voluntary liquidation;  

                                                           
2  The Bank of Italy Circular No. 263 “New regulations for the prudential supervision of banks” of 27th December 2010.  

3  Two counterparties were reported in December 2010 and March 2011. As a consequence of the increase in the supervisory capital of 
the UBI Group resulting from the share capital increase, one of the two counterparties was no longer subject to reporting from June 

because the relative nominal exposure was less than 10%, the threshold above which the obligation to report applies.  
4 The Group to which it belongs consists of companies operating in the retail credit sector and in the servicing and acquisition of non 

performing loans. The holding company, KTP Global Finance Sca, located in Luxembourg, is a joint venture with 47,45% of the share 
capital held by the CIR Group, 47,45% by Merrill Lynch - Bank of America Group and 5,1% by non controlling shareholders 
(consisting primarily of the management team).  

The Group operates in Italy with a sub-holding company CQS Holding Srl (100% KTP Global Finance Sca.) which controls various 
operating companies including Ktesios Spa and C-Zone Spa.  

Ktesios was a market leader in the sector of salary backed loans and the deduction of loan repayments from salary, with a market 
share of over 10%, and it operated as a broker or agent on behalf of Italian banking principles. It had its own distribution network 

consisting of agents, brokers and financial intermediaries (indirect channel).  
5  A further million 49 euro was brokered through its subsidiary Kema.  

6  A guarantee that was no longer honoured from January 2011.  

Figures in thousands of euro
30.9.2011 30.6.2011 31.3.2011 31.12.2010

Number of positions 5                   5                   6                   5                   

Exposure 20.595.725 22.775.787 25.270.584 22.164.767 

Positions at risk 2.460.896   4.486.718   4.668.018   1.782.442   

Large exposures
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• 8th March: the Bank of Italy issued a provision to remove Ktesios from the special list pursuant to Art. 107 of 
the Consolidated Banking Act. Therefore from that date the company is only registered in the general list 
pursuant to Art. 106 of Legislative Decree No 385/1993 not being able to undertake new transactions;  

• 14th April: a shareholders’ meeting decided to place the company in voluntary liquidation;  

• 24th October: the company, the owners and banks signed an agreement designed to wind up the company 
without losses. On the basis of that agreement, the banks which had made credit facilities available to Ktesios 
to fund its salary backed loan business (approximately two thirds of the total credit having been provided by 
B@nca 24-7) waived their right to enforce the “deducted for non payment” clause and assumed all 
responsibility resulting from the direct management of the business, while the shareholders agreed to provide 
the company with the financial means necessary to meet the other commitments and to allow the successful 
completion of the liquidation. In addition, B@nca 24-7 was asked to waive the right to enforce the pledge 
which backed any losses which might have arisen on the loans.  

−Under the terms of the agreement signed, the receiver, who from May 2011 only paid to B@nca 24-7 amounts 
resulting from early repayments, paid funds received in the meantime to repay the loans granted to B@nca 24-
7 (approximately 68 million euro, plus 3 million euro relating to Kema). Outstanding loans will be repaid over 
the next five years.  

The impacts on income statement of the agreement are as follows:  
• the recognition of impairment losses of 13,77 million euro on loans, which had in any case already been 

recognised as at 30th June 2011, including 8 million euro as the reclassification of a previous provision for 
risks and charges made in the fourth quarter of 2010 (a reclassification which involved the relative reversal of 
the relative provision);  

• an addditional provision of 5,2 million euro for risks and charges made in the third quarter of 2011 as a 
preliminary estimate of the possible imbalances resulting from taking over the management of repayment 
schedules.  

 
 
Agreement between BPCI and Altachiara Italia Spa  

Consistent with the policies contained in the new Business Plan to limit the use of external distribution  networks 
in the residential mortgage sector, a co-operation agreement signed in 2007 with Altachiara came to an end in 
August. That company operated as a financial intermediary pursuant to Art. 106 of the Consolidated Banking Act 
and the agreement was for the distribution of Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria mortgages to non Group 
private individual customers. It is underlined that in order to guarantee the quality of the loans granted, the 
agreement required the loans to be processed, approved and concluded directly by BPCI – which entered into the 
contract directly with the customer – after verifying the existence of the necessary documentation produced by the 
agents and brokers, inclusive of declarations relating to anti-money laundering, criminal activities and privacy 
laws.  
The total amount in euro of the mortgages brokered by Altachiara currently held on the books of BPCI is 
approximately 700 million euro, accounting for less than 10% of total of lending by the bank (approximately nine 
billion euro).  

 
 
UBI Leasing 

Action was undertaken at UBI Leasing in the first half of 2011 to reorganise the structure of the company and its 
lending processes as part of a specific project named “Revision of credit quality”, launched in 2010 with the 
objective of improving the credit quality of the company, in consideration of the critical condition in which it lay. 
This activity was accompanied by a refocus of business on the captive market and simultaneous restructuring of 
the agent network.  
The initiatives described were decided independently by the UBI Group. UBI Leasing was never subject to specific 
inspections, but it was involved, together with the Parent and the network banks, in inspections conducted 
between February and July 2010, designed to assess the profile of the Group with regard to the management, 
governance and control of credit risk in the corporate customer segment.  
Action taken to refocus business undertaken on the commercial network consisted of (i) estimating the lower 
future growth rate with respect to forecasts as at 31st December 2010, which required recognition of an 
impairment loss on goodwill relating to UBI Leasing of 74,1 million euro and (ii) recognition of non-recurring 
expenses totalling 5,1 million euro (both recognised as at 30th June 2011).  
At the same time the capital was strengthened in the second quarter with an  increase in the share capital of 60 
million euro to take into account both changes in the supervisory context and the need to provide adequate capital 
to fund future investments.  
The figures for 2011 seem to confirm the effectiveness of the initiatives taken, which should lead to a continuous 
gradual improvement in loan losses. The ratio of impairment losses to loans had fallen as at 30th September 2011 
to 0,87% annualised compared to 1,18% recorded in 2010.  

 

 
 

                                                           
7  In addition to 0,9 million euro relating to Kema.  
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UBI Factor: exposure to Fondazione Centro San Raffaele del Monte Tabor  

This exposure amounted to approximately 30 million euro and relates to advances made in 2004 on VAT credits 
held with the tax authorities totalling 137,2 million euro, subsequently found to be uncollectable. In September 
2011 an impairment loss of 50% of its value had already been recognised on that exposure, which was still 
classified as performing, with a significant impact on the loan loss rate for UBI Factor – which rose to 0,87% 
(annualised) from 0,09% annualised in June (0,11% in 2010) - but only a marginal impact at consolidated level.  

 
 

Risk  
 
The continuing impacts of the economic crisis continued to affect the performance of gross 
deteriorated loans, which started to accelerate again over the summer after slowing in the 

previous quarter.  
At the end of September, gross deteriorated loans exceeded 8,53  billion euro, an increase over 
twelve months of 1,32 billion euro (+18,4%), including 0,44 billion euro relating to the first 
quarter of 2011, 0,10 billion euro to the second and 0,52 billion euro to the third quarter. The 
annual change mainly concerned non-performing loans (+0,79 billion euro) and impaired loans 
(+0,70 billion euro) and to a lesser extent restructured loans (+0,10 billion euro), compared to 
a fall for exposures past due and in arrears (-0,27 billion euro).  
 
Deteriorated loans net of impairment losses totalled 6,26 billion euro, a year-on-year increase of 

1,10 billion euro (+21,3%), of which 0,38 billion euro relating to the first quarter of 2011, 0,16 
billion euro to the second and 0,46 billion euro to the third quarter.  
 
The trends reported were accompanied by a reduction of 1,78 percentage points in the total 
coverage (down from 28,45% to 26,67% over twelve months), which reflects both a lower 

estimated loss on all newly classified positions 8 , and the disposal of unsecured loans 
performed in the second quarter of 2011 by the network banks, UBI Leasing and B@nca 24-7, 
on which almost full impairment losses had been recognised (the disposals just mentioned 
accounted for 1,08 percentage points of the reduction of the total coverage reported above).  
Coverage for performing loans, on the other hand, increased to 0,55% from 0,52% in 
September 2010.  
 
From the viewpoint of the types of loan, as can be seen from the table, “Composition of loans 
to customers”, 56% of the annual growth in net deteriorated loans regards the item “mortgage 
loans and other medium-to-long term loans” backed by collateral, which results automatically 
in a lower level of coverage, while 23,6% relates to the non-banking financial sector.  
 
 
NON-PERFORMING LOANS  

Gross non-performing loans rose over twelve months from 3,44 billion euro to 4,23 billion 
euro, an increase of 786,2 million euro (+22,8%), of which 198,6 million euro relating to the 
first quarter of 2011, 42,8 million euro to the second9 and 207 million euro to the third 
quarter.  
The year-on-year increase is attributable to the network banks (+384 million euro), to B@nca 
24-7 (+139,8 million euro) and to UBI Leasing (+252,2 million euro), partly in relation to the 
reclassification out of impaired into non-performing classes of 123 million euro of contracts 
which were terminated in the fourth quarter of 2010.  
 
Gross non-performing loans backed by collateral increased constantly over the nine month 

period (+0,45 billion euro to 2,50 billion euro) and at the end of September they accounted for 
59,2% of total gross loans (54,2% in December).   

                                                           
8 Either as a result of the existence of collateral or because they are operational impairment or restructured loans for which 

agreements have been reached to reschedule debt by agreeing to a debt repayment schedule pursuant to article 67 or to a debt 

restructuring plan pursuant to article 182-bis of the Bankruptcy Act. 
9   The trend for the second quarter includes the effects of the disposal of unsecured non-performing loans for a total of 129,7 million 

euro performed by the network banks (36,2 million euro), UBI Leasing (35 million euro) and B@nca 24-7 (58,5 million euro).  
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Loans to customers as at 30th September 2011

Figures in thousands of euro
Impairment 

losses
Coverage (*)

Deteriorated loans (8,08%) 8.534.059 2.276.420 (6,09%) 6.257.639 26,67% 

- Non-performing loans (4,01%) 4.229.367 1.886.837 (2,28%) 2.342.530 44,61% 

- Impaired loans (2,77%) 2.919.484 300.864 (2,55%) 2.618.620 10,31% 

- Restructured loans (0,90%) 949.691 77.835 (0,85%) 871.856 8,20% 

- Past due loans (0,40%) 435.517 10.884 (0,41%) 424.633 2,50% 

Performing loans (91,92%) 97.044.716 537.039 (93,91%) 96.507.677 0,55% 

TOTAL 105.578.775 2.813.459 102.765.316 2,66% 

The item as a percentage of the total is given in brackets.

Loans to customers as at 30th June 2011

Figures in thousands of euro
Impairment 

losses
Coverage (*)

Deteriorated loans (7,59%) 8.009.373 2.207.669 (5,65%) 5.801.704 27,56% 

- Non-performing loans (3,81%) 4.022.363 1.827.246 (2,14%) 2.195.117 45,43% 

- Impaired loans (2,56%) 2.697.124 292.659 (2,34%) 2.404.465 10,85% 

- Restructured loans (0,87%) 916.754 75.569 (0,82%) 841.185 8,24% 

- Past due loans (0,35%) 373.132 12.195 (0,35%) 360.937 3,27% 

Performing loans (92,41%) 97.498.368 525.605 (94,35%) 96.972.763 0,54% 

TOTAL 105.507.741 2.733.274 102.774.467 2,59% 

The item as a percentage of the total is given in brackets.

Loans to customers as at 31st December 2010

Figures in thousands of euro
Impairment 

losses
Coverage (*)

Deteriorated loans (7,14%) 7.465.062 2.203.933 (5,17%) 5.261.129 29,52% 

- Non-performing loans (3,62%) 3.780.973 1.841.057 (1,91%) 1.939.916 48,69% 

- Impaired loans (2,22%) 2.320.471 287.557 (2,00%) 2.032.914 12,39% 

- Restructured loans (0,85%) 889.070 60.577 (0,81%) 828.493 6,81% 

- Past due loans (0,45%) 474.548 14.742 (0,45%) 459.806 3,11% 

Performing loans (92,86%) 97.073.520 519.820 (94,83%) 96.553.700 0,54% 

TOTAL LOANS TO CUSTOMERS 104.538.582 2.723.753 101.814.829 2,61% 

The item as a percentage of the total is given in brackets.

Loans to customers as at 30th September 2010

Figures in thousands of euro
Impairment 

losses
Coverage (*)

Deteriorated loans (6,95%) 7.210.571 2.051.626 (5,10%) 5.158.945 28,45% 
- Non-performing loans (3,32%) 3.443.204 1.674.407 (1,75%) 1.768.797 48,63% 

- Impaired loans (2,13%) 2.214.709 304.160 (1,89%) 1.910.549 13,73% 

- Restructured loans (0,82%) 853.057 53.897 (0,79%) 799.160 6,32% 

- Past due loans (0,68%) 699.601 19.162 (0,67%) 680.439 2,74% 

Performing loans (93,05%) 96.539.743 503.654 (94,90%) 96.036.089 0,52% 

TOTAL LOANS TO CUSTOMERS 103.750.314 2.555.280 101.195.034 2,46% 
The item as a percentage of the total is given in brackets.

Gross exposure Carrying amount

Gross exposure Carrying amount

Gross exposure Carrying amount

Gross exposure Carrying amount

 

(*) The coverage is calculated as the ratio of impairment losses to gross exposure.  
 
 
Loans to customers: changes in gross deteriorated exposures in the first nine months of 2011

Figures in thousands of euro

Opening gross exposure as at 1st January 2011 3.780.973 2.320.471 889.070 474.548

Increases 1.141.264 1.812.283 197.106 859.653

transfers from performing exposures 228.624 1.197.660 41.704 759.959

transfers from other classes of deteriorated exposures 725.608 441.121 98.295 3.929

other increases 187.032 173.502 57.107 95.765

Decreases -692.870 -1.213.270 -136.485 -898.684

transfers into performing exposures -5.214 -196.258 -2.413 -337.000

full impairment losses -282.858 -9.226 -2.758 -26

from disposals -73.349 -10.432 -                           -                           

transfers to other classes of deteriorated exposure -8.897 -740.827 -15.534 -503.695

other decreases -322.552 -256.527 -115.780 -57.963

Final gross exposure as at 30th september 2011 4.229.367 2.919.484 949.691 435.517

Non-performing 
loans

Impaired loans
Restructured 

exposures
Past due 

exposures
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Net non-performing loans, on the other hand, rose over twelve months from 1,77 billion euro to 

2,34 billion euro, an increase of 573,7 million euro (+32,4%), of which 131,7 million euro 
relating to the first quarter of 2011, 123,5 million euro to the second and 147,4 million euro to 
the third quarter. The total outstanding at the end of September included a little less than one 
fifth not backed by any type of guarantee (collateral or other).  
 
As a result of the trends just reported, the ratio of non-performing loans to loans rose to 4,01% 

in gross terms and to 2,28% in net terms (i.e. net of impairment losses). Despite this, the 
credit quality of the Group continues to outperform the average for Italian banks, which is 
5,89% for gross non-performing loans and 2,78% for net non-performing loans in the private 
sector.  
 
Coverage fell progressively to 44,61% due to the progressive increase in loans backed by 

collateral and therefore with generally less recognition of impairment losses. It was also 
affected by the disposal of unsecured loans in the second quarter totalling 129,7 million euro 
gross, with almost full impairment losses recognised (99%). If that disposal is not considered, 
coverage for non performing loans would be 46,23%.  
Coverage for non-performing loans not backed by collateral, considered gross of full 
impairment losses (the write-off of positions subject to bankruptcy proceedings and the 
relative impairment losses), was 79,34% at the end of September (80,82% in December). Net of 
the disposal of unsecured loans mentioned above the coverage for non performing loans not 
backed by collateral was 80,07%.  
 
 
IMPAIRED LOANS  

Growth in gross impaired loans increased progressively over twelve months from 2,21 billion 

euro to 2,92 billion euro, an increase of 704,8 million euro (+31,8%), of which 184,3 million 
euro relating to the first quarter of 2011, 192,4 million euro to the second and 222,4 million 
euro to the third quarter.  
The annual growth is attributable mainly to the network banks (+580,5 million euro) and to 
Centrobanca (+102,6 million euro)10.  
 
Gross impaired loans backed by collateral rose to 1,89 billion euro (+0,48 billion euro over nine 

months; +34,3%), to account for 64,8% of total gross loans at the end of September (60,7% in 
December).  
 
Net impaired loans rose over twelve months from 1,91 billion euro to 2,62 million euro, an 

increase of 708,1 million euro (+37,1%), including 200 million euro relating to first quarter, 
171,5 million euro to the second and 214,2 million euro to the third quarter.  
 
Coverage fell year-on-year to 10,31%, due to the increase in the proportion of positions backed 

by collateral, as reported above.  
Coverage for impaired loans not backed by collateral was 18,33% (22,41% in December). The 
fall is primarily attributable to the disposal of salary and pension  backed loans of Prestitalia 
Spa classified as impaired. Net of these disposals, coverage for impaired loans not backed by 
collateral was 19,42%.  
 
 
RESTRUCTURED LOANS  

Although to a significantly smaller extent than for the previous loan classes, gross restructured 
loans  also recorded a progressive increase in growth in 2011. The total rose from 853,1 billion 

euro in September 2010 to the current 949,7 million euro, an increase of 96,6 million euro 
(+11,3%), of which 8,6 million euro relating to the first quarter, 19,1 million euro to the second 
and 32,9 million euro to the third quarter.  

                                                           
10 UBI Leasing did not contribute to the annual increase because it benefited in the fourth quarter of 2010 from the reclassification of 

123 million euro into non-performing loans already mentioned.  
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More than 80% of the year-on-year growth related to the network banks (+48,4 million euro) 
and to UBI Leasing (+31,7 million euro).  
Coverage increased progressively to 8,24% in June and then reduced slightly to 8,20% in 

September.  
 
 
EXPOSURES PAST DUE AND/OR IN ARREARS  
Total gross exposures past due and in arrears at the end of September fell over twelve months 

by 37,7% to 435,5 million euro (-264,1 million euro, including, however, a total of -225 million 
euro relating to the fourth quarter of 2010). The following changes occurred in the current 
year:  
� +48,4 million euro between January and March, due mainly to positions for which the 

Italian Banking Association - Ministry of the Economy and Finance moratorium has expired 
and which are being assessed in view of an extension;  

� -149,9 million euro in the period April-June, as a result of action taken to improve credit 
quality, from which further benefits are expected;  

� +62,4 million euro between July and September, including 42,5 million euro due to 
ordinary delays in payments by public administration counterparties of UBI Factor which 
accounted for a reduction in coverage from 3,27% to 2,50% in the same period.  

 
Within this class, “PD 90” positions – i.e. exposures past due and in arrears for more than 90 

days, backed by property mortgages, considered at the level of single transaction – amounted 
to 211,4 million euro gross of impairment losses (490,4 million euro in September 2010, 298,4 
million euro in December and 210,3 million euro in June) accounting for a percentage of the 
total which reduced over twelve months from 70,1% to 48,5%.  
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The interbank market  
and the liquidity situation  

The quarterly changes in net interbank debt

Figures in thousands of euro

Loans to banks 5.314.336 4.384.636 4.510.008 3.120.352 3.427.795

of which: loans to central banks 1.485.674 325.450 345.625 739.508 295.430

Due to banks 8.611.714 4.966.574 7.332.517 5.383.977 7.126.257

of which: due to central banks 4.000.333              -                             1.255.064 2.219.152 2.000.056

NET INTERBANK DEBT -3.297.378 -581.938 -2.822.509 -2.263.625 -3.698.462 

Figures in thousands of euro

Loans to banks 3.427.795 3.290.637 2.996.834 3.278.264            3.101.108            

of which: loans to central banks 295.430 375.415 282.815 641.788 198.428

Due to banks 7.126.257 9.252.062 4.612.141 5.324.434            5.306.536            

of which: due to central banks 2.000.056 2.977.481 479.002 639.753 501.371

NET INTERBANK DEBT -3.698.462 -5.961.425 -1.615.307 -2.046.170 -2.205.428 

31.12.2009
I

30.9.2009
L

30.9.2011
A

30.9.2010
F

30.6.2010
G

30.6.2011
B

30.9.2010
E

31.12.2010
D

31.3.2011
C

31.3.2010
H

 
 
Net interbank debt of the Group as at 30th  September 2011 was -3,3 billion euro (-3,7 billion 
euro as at 30th September 2010, -2,8 billion euro as at 31st December 2010), compared to  
-0,6 billion euro as at 30th June 2011 (the minimum recorded in the last two years).  
Analysis of items with a residual maturity of less than three months at the end of the last 
quarter shows a net debt calculated net of auctions with the central bank, given the full 
allotment of bids, of +0,1 billion euro (-0,8 billion euro at the end of June, -0,6 billion euro at 
the end of March, +0,3 billion euro in December 2010).  
 
After the significant improvement in the second quarter – as a result of the reduction in debt 
and the elimination of exposure to central banks, made possible, amongst other things, by the 
favourable performance by institutional funding on international markets, mainly in the first 
few months of the year – resort by UBI Banca to principal refinancing increased in the third 
quarter.  
 
As the Italian sovereign debt crisis worsened over the summer, the perception of risk 
associated with Italian banks – among major subscribers – heightened. This led on the one 
hand to a progressive reduction in interbank transactions with fewer foreign counterparties 
involved, and, on the other hand to a reduction in business on institutional monetary markets 
(euro commercial paper and certificates of deposit). This resulted in a parallel increase in 
resort by Italian banks to refinancing with the ECB (Bank of Italy figures show loans in euro to 
banks for monetary purposes of 41 billion euro at the end of June and of 105 billion euro at 
the end of September, which had risen further to 111 billion euro as at 31st October).  
 
In this context, UBI Banca began to participate from 20th July in weekly auctions for 
increasingly larger amounts, ranging from a minimum of 700 million euro to a maximum of 
1,8 billion euro in July; 0,8 billion euro and 2,5 billion euro in August; and 1,7 billion euro 
and four billion euro in September. Resort to auctions also continued after the end of the 
quarter, with a minimum of 1,8 billion euro and a high of 4,5 billion euro in October.  
With a view to diversification and above all to lengthening maturities, on 26th October the 
Parent  also participated in the first of two longer maturity auctions announced by the ECB: a 
loan of one billion euro with maturity on 1st November 2012.  
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UBI Banca is monitoring the liquidity situation continuously, in terms not only of the size of 
the liquidity flows but also the costs, until the conditions for a return of markets to normality 
have been recreated.  
In the meantime, action has been identified and undertaken on the one hand to reduce 
lending, with particular reference to the large corporate segment and on the other to 
consolidate funding from customers. This was performed with a view to further safeguarding 
the structural balance between funding and lending business with customers, with 
consequent effects on the Group liquidity position.  
 
The initiatives already taken include those designed to increase liquidity reserves consisting of 
the portfolio of assets eligible for refinancing with the central bank.  

As at 30th September 2011, UBI Banca held 7,4 billion euro of eligible assets, which had risen 
to 7,6 billion euro at the date of publishing this report.  
The eligibility of the B@nca 24-7’s residential mortgage securitisation was restored in August, 
when a second rating was obtained, while the process for the consumer loan securitisation is 
expected to be completed by the end of the year.  
The eligibility of a securitisation of performing loans to small and medium-size enterprises 
granted  by Banca Popolare di Bergamo was also obtained, again in August.  
The above amounts made it possible to compensate for both the reduction in the Banco di 
Brescia securitisation, following the partial repayment of the nominal amount (-0,75 billion 
euro net of haircut over the three month period) and for other changes caused by changes in 
market prices, with as a consequence only a partial renewal of the repurchase agreements 
(with external counterparties) designed to temporarily compensate for the non eligible assets 
(because they were waiting for a second rating).  
 
 
Assets eligible for refinancing

nominal 
amount

amount eligible 
(net of haircuts)

nominal 
amount

amount eligible 
(net of haircuts)

nominal 
amount

amount eligible 
(net of haircuts)

nominal 
amount

amount eligible 
(net of haircuts)

AFS and HTM securities 1,31 1,07 1,50 1,36 1,41 1,28 1,40 1,34

B@nca 24-7 residential mortgage securitisation (*) 1,48 0,88 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 1,71 1,30

B@nca 24-7 salary backed loan securitisation (*) 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,38 0,31

B@nca 24-7 consumer loan securitisation (*) 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 2,13 1,73

UBI leasing leased assets securitisation 3,44 2,46 3,44 2,47 3,44 2,76 3,44 2,87

Banco di Brescia securitisation of performing loans to SMEs 1,56 0,43 1,56 1,18 1,56 1,17 1,56 1,25

Banca Popolare di Bergamo securitisation of performing loans to SMEs
1,86 1,25 -     -         -      -      -      -

Loans eligible resulting from participation in ABACO (**) 0,41 0,41 0,39 0,39 0,30 0,30 0,27 0,27

Securities purchased through repurchase agreements 1,57 0,88 2,21 1,58 2,16 1,64 -    -             

TOTAL 11,63 7,38 9,10 6,98 8,87 7,15 10,89 9,07

30.6.2011 31.3.2011 31.12.201030.9.2011

 

(*)  The amounts for the B@nca 24-7 securitisations have been shown as nil since 31st March 2011 until the second rating is acquired and they are therefore 
temporarily ineligible.  

(**) ABACO (bank assets eligible as collateral) is the name given to procedures drawn up by the Bank of Italy for the management of loans eligible for 
refinancing. In order to qualify as eligible, an asset must meet specific requirements concerning the following: type of debtor/guarantor (public sector, 
non financial company, international and supranational institutions), high credit rating (single “A-” credit quality level, equivalent to a default probability 
of 0,10%) and a minimum amount (one million euro for national use until 2011).  

 
 
The recent downgrade’s by Moody's and Fitch, performed in the wake of the lowering of Italy’s credit 
rating, had the consequence, amongst other things, of making it necessary for UBI Banca – and other 
national banking groups –  to restructure the securitisations it had originated, held on the books as owned 
by the Group, in order to increase the amount of eligible instruments.  
More specifically, on the one hand the ratings on the financial instruments invested in by the special 
purpose entities had to be redefined and on the other hand collateral had to be lodged on behalf of those 
entities for the swaps which back those securitisations, where UBI Banca is a direct counterparty. The 
following action  was taken:  

- 24-7 Finance Srl (B@nca 24-7 residential mortgages): redefinition of “eligible investments” bringing the 

minimum up to the current rating levels of UBI Banca in order to enable the entity to continue to invest in 
ECP and French CDs issued by UBI Banca International Lux. Consequent downgrade by Moody's from 
“Aaa” to “Aa3”. DBRS’s “A high” rating , on the other hand, was confirmed;  

- 24-7 Finance Srl (B@nca 24-7 consumer loans): redefinition of “eligible investments” to bring the 

minimum up to the current rating levels of UBI Banca and to  thereby enable the entity to continue to 
invest in ECP and French CDs issued by UBI Banca International Lux. Action on the swaps with 
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accounts opened to lodge collateral with a third party counterparty. Consequent downgrade by Moody's 
from “Aaa” to “Aa2”. A second rating expected from Fitch for the end of December: “A-”;  

- 24-7 Finance Srl (B@nca 24-7 salary backed loans): the procedure for obtaining a second rating was not 
commenced for this securitisation, in consideration of the advanced state of amortisation and the 
consequent minimum notional nominal amount reached by the senior tranche. On 11th October 2011, the 
Management Board of UBI Banca decided on early redemption which should take place by the end of 
the year, by returning the loan portfolio to the originator with early redemption of the securities issued 
and the early termination of all the contracts;  

- UBI Lease Finance 5 Srl (UBI Leasing performing assets): redefinition of “eligible investments” bringing 

the minimum up to the current rating levels of UBI Banca in order to allow the entity to continue to invest 
in ECP and French CDs issued by UBI Banca International Lux. Action on the swaps with accounts 
opened to lodge collateral with a third party counterparty. Consequent downgrade by Moody's from 
“Aaa” to “Aa2”. Downgrade by Fitch from “A” to “A-”;  

- UBI Finance 2 Srl (Banco di Brescia performing loans to SMEs): redefinition of “eligible investments” to 

bring the minimum up to the current rating levels of UBI Banca and to thereby enable the entity to 
continue to invest in ECP and French CDs issued by UBI Banca International Lux. Action on the swaps 
with accounts opened to lodge collateral with a third party counterparty. Consequent downgrade by 
Moody's from “Aaa” to “Aa2”. Expected downgrade by Fitch from “Aaa” to “A-”;  

- UBI Finance 3 Srl (Banca Popolare di Bergamo performing loans to SMEs): redefinition of “eligible 

investments” bringing the minimum up to the current rating levels of UBI Banca in order to permit the 
entity to continue to invest in ECP and French CDs issued by UBI Banca International Lux. Action on the 
swaps with accounts opened to lodge collateral with a third party counterparty. Consequent downgrade 
by Moody's from “Aaa” to “Aa2”. Expected downgrade by Fitch from “Aaa” to “A-”.  

 
The new ratings assigned or for which assignment is in progress to the above securitisations nevertheless 
remain compatible with the eligibility requirement for refinancing operations with the European Central 
Bank.  

 
 
Loans to banks: composition

Figures in thousands of euro amount % amount %

Loans to central banks 1.485.674 28,0% 325.450 7,4% 1.160.224 356,5% 739.508 23,7% 746.166 100,9% 295.430 8,6% 

Time deposits -                   -         -                    -         -               - -                   -         -                  -           -                   -         

Compulsory reserve requirements 1.470.767 27,7% 325.450 7,4% 1.145.317 351,9% 739.508 23,7% 731.259 98,9% 295.430 8,6% 

Reverse repurchase agreements -                   -         -                    -         -                  - -                   -            -                  -             -                   -            

Other 14.907 0,3% -                    -         14.907      - -                   -            14.907 - -                   -            

Loans to banks 3.828.662 72,0% 4.059.186 92,6% -230.524 -5,7% 2.380.844 76,3% 1.447.818 60,8% 3.132.365 91,4% 
Current accounts and deposits 1.705.387 32,1% 1.223.205 27,9% 482.182 39,4% 1.161.396 37,3% 543.991 46,8% 1.753.745 51,2% 

Time deposits 442.338 8,3% 441.278 10,1% 1.060 0,2% 466.445 14,9% -24.107 -5,2% 494.793 14,4% 

Other financing: 1.680.937 31,6% 2.394.703 54,6% -713.766 -29,8% 753.003 24,1% 927.934 123,2% 883.827 25,8% 

- reverse repurchase agreements 908.718 17,1% 1.624.275 37,0% -715.557 -44,1% 988 0,0% 907.730 n.s. 3.853 0,1% 

- finance leases 10 0,0% 133 0,0% -123 -92,5% 165 0,0% -155 -93,9% 65 0,0% 

- other 772.209 14,5% 770.295 17,6% 1.914 0,2% 751.850 24,1% 20.359 2,7% 879.909 25,7% 

Debt instruments -                   -            -                    -            -                  - -                   -            -                  -             -                   -            

TOTAL 5.314.336 100,0% 4.384.636 100,0% 929.700 21,2% 3.120.352 100,0% 2.193.984 70,3% 3.427.795 100,0% 

%
Changes A/C31.12.2010

C
%

30.9.2010
D

30.9.2011
A

%
Changes A/B30.6.2011

B
%

 
Loans to banks amounted to 5,3 billion euro as at 30th September 2011, +0,9 billion euro 

compared to 30th June 2011 and +1,9 billion euro compared to 30th September 2010.  
These increases reflect both a reduction in the third quarter in drawings on liquidity in the 
account held with the central bank and movements on loans to other banks (3,8 billion euro), 
down by 0,2 billion euro over three months and up by 0,7 billion euro year-on-year.  
 
The composition of this item changed between June and September with a reduction in 
reverse repurchase agreements (-0,7 billion) – in relation to the partial renewal of transactions 
entered into in March to temporarily supplement eligible assets – to the partial benefit of 
current accounts and deposits (+0,5 billion euro).  
The year-on-year growth in lending is almost entirely attributable to the reverse repurchase 
agreements already mentioned (+0,9 billion euro), against slight reductions in other types of 
lending.  
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Due to banks: composition

Figures in thousands of euro amount % amount %

Due to central banks 4.000.333 46,5% -                    -            4.000.333 n.s. 2.219.152 41,2% 1.781.181 80,3% 2.000.056 28,1% 

Due to banks 4.611.381 53,5% 4.966.574   100,0% -355.193 -7,2% 3.164.825 58,8% 1.446.556 45,7% 5.126.201 71,9% 

Current accounts and deposits 1.124.446 13,1% 1.326.798 26,7% -202.352 -15,3% 692.788 12,9% 431.658 62,3% 1.330.642 18,7% 

Time deposits 1.259.590 14,6% 702.072 14,1% 557.518 79,4% 1.199.455 22,3% 60.135 5,0% 2.563.004 36,0% 

Financing: 2.079.679 24,1% 2.791.862 56,2% -712.183 -25,5% 1.149.003 21,3% 930.676 81,0% 1.102.470 15,5% 

- repurchase agreements 1.193.936 13,9% 1.901.236 38,3% -707.300 -37,2% 290.737 5,4% 903.199 310,7% 353.688      5,0% 

- other 885.743 10,2% 890.626 17,9% -4.883 -0,5% 858.266 15,9% 27.477 3,2% 748.782      10,5% 

Amounts due for commitments 
to repurchase own equity 
instruments -                  - -                    - -                  - -                  -            -                  -             -                  -            

Other payables 147.666 1,7% 145.842 3,0% 1.824 1,3% 123.579 2,3% 24.087 19,5% 130.085 1,7% 

TOTAL 8.611.714 100,0% 4.966.574 100,0% 3.645.140 73,4% 5.383.977 100,0% 3.227.737 60,0% 7.126.257 100,0% 

Changes A/C31.12.2010
C

%
30.9.2010                  

D
%

30.9.2011
A

%
Changes A/B30.6.2011

B
%

 
 
Due to banks, amounting to 8,6 billion euro, increased in the third quarter by 3,6 billion euro 

with growth of 1,5 billion euro compared to 30th September 2010, mainly a reflection of the 
changes that occurred in transactions with the ECB.  
 
On a quarterly basis, the change is due to resort to funding from the central bank, in 
consideration of the very difficult conditions on the interbank market (4 billion euro in 
September 2010, compared to no outstanding positions at the end of June).  
With regard to amounts due to other banks, the slight reduction (-0,4 billion euro) is mainly 
the result of changes in repurchase agreements (-0,7 billion euro, to be interpreted jointly with 
the corresponding asset item for the acquisition of eligible securities), against a recovery in 
time deposits.  
 
The year-on-year increase is due on the one hand to growth in debt to central banks (+2 billion 
euro) and in repurchase agreements (+0,8 billion euro, to fund the acquisition of eligible 
assets), compared to reductions  in current accounts and above all in time deposits (-1,3 
billion euro).  
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Financial assets  

Total financial assets of the Group as at 30th September 2011 amounted to 10,7 billion euro, 
having decreased progressively over twelve months. Net of financial liabilities held for trading, 
(almost all consisting of financial derivatives), the total amounted to 10,1 billion euro (10,9 
billion euro in June 2011 and 12,2 billion euro in December 2010).  
 
As shown in the table, the year-on-year change is attributable primarily to a decrease in 
available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets and to a lesser extent to financial assets held for 
trading (HFT).  
 
Compared to 30th June 2011, however, the HFT class increased by 1,2 billion euro (with 
purchases concentrated in July mainly with maturities of one year), which partly offset the 
further decrease in AFS securities (-1,9 billion euro, due in part to the maturity of securities 
held in portfolio, only partially replaced by new purchases with a maximum maturity of three 
years), in addition to the partial disposal (-0,3 billion euro) of assets at fair value in application 
of the fair value option.  
 

Financial assets/liabilities

Figures in thousands of euro Total a % Total b % amount % Total c % amount % Total d % amount %

Financial assets held for trading 2.250.881 21,0% 1.093.974 9,3% 1.156.907 105,8% 2.732.751 20,8% -481.870 -17,6% 2.836.561 20,3% -585.680 -20,6% 

of which: financial derivatives contracts 594.882 5,5% 407.766 3,5% 187.116 45,9% 514.141 3,9% 80.741 15,7% 677.584 4,9% -82.702 -12,2% 

Financial assets at fair value 130.494 1,2% 468.038 4,0% -337.544 -72,1% 147.286 1,1% -16.792 -11,4% 153.951 1,1% -23.457 -15,2% 

Available-for-sale financial assets 8.365.381 77,8% 10.223.610 86,7% -1.858.229 -18,2% 10.252.619 78,1% -1.887.238 -18,4% 10.954.989 78,6% -2.589.608 -23,6% 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS (A) 10.746.756 100,0% 11.785.622 100,0% -1.038.866 -8,8% 13.132.656 100,0% -2.385.900 -18,2% 13.945.501 100,0% -3.198.745 -22,9% 

of which:

- debt instruments 9.365.946 87,2% 10.108.459 85,8% -742.513 -7,3% 11.611.039 88,4% -2.245.093 -19,3% 12.213.626 87,6% -2.847.680 -23,3% 

- of which: Italian government securities 7.691.516 71,6% 8.239.826 69,9% -548.310 -6,7% 9.646.573 73,5% -1.955.057 -20,3% 10.128.865 72,6% -2.437.349 -24,1% 

- equity instruments 494.685 4,6% 623.603 5,3% -128.918 -20,7% 667.497 5,1% -172.812 -25,9% 714.365 5,1% -219.680 -30,8% 
- Units in O.I.C.R. 
(co llective investment instruments). 218.295 2,0% 572.846 4,9% -354.551 -61,9% 274.362 2,1% -56.067 -20,4% 278.347 2,0% -60.052 -21,6% 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR 
TRADING (B) 654.949 100,0% 844.259 100,0% -189.310 -22,4% 954.423 100,0% -299.474 -31,4% 978.064 100,0% -323.115 -33,0% 

of which: financial derivatives contracts 638.230 97,4% 421.485 49,9% 216.745 51,4% 545.161 57,1% 93.069 17,1% 688.749 70,4% -50.519 -7,3% 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (A-B) 10.091.807 10.941.363 -849.556 -7,8% 12.178.233 -2.086.426 -17,1% 12.967.437 -2.875.630 -22,2% 

30.9.2011 Changes a / b Changes a / d30.6.2011 30.9.201031.12.2010 Changes a / c

 

 
Management accounting figures1 as at the 30th September 2011, show the following:  

- in terms of type of financial instrument, the securities portfolio of the Group was composed 

as follows: 80,5% of government securities, 17% of corporate securities (approximately 73% 
issued by major Italian and international banks and financial institutions; 88% of the 
investments in corporate securities carry an “investment grade” rating), 1,4% of hedge 
funds and the remainder consisting of funds and equities;  

- from a financial viewpoint, floating rate securities accounted for 51,9% of the portfolio2 and 

fixed rate securities for 38,7%, while structured instruments (for which the optional 
component concerned the coupons only and not the capital invested), present mainly in the 
available-for-sale portfolio, accounted for 6,9%, with the remainder composed of equities, 
funds and convertible bonds;  

- as regards the reference currency, 98,7% of the securities were denominated in euro and 
0,6% in dollars with currency hedges, while in terms of geographical distribution, 96% of the 

investments (excluding hedge funds) were in securities in the euro area and 2% in USA 
securities;  

                                                           
1  The management accounting figures relate to a smaller portfolio than that stated in the consolidated financial statements, because 

they exclude equity investments and some minor portfolios, while they include transactions performed at the end of the period with 

the value date for settlement in the following month.  
2 The fixed rate securities purchased as part of asset swaps are also considered as floating rate. They account for 77% of the floating 

rate securities.  
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- finally, an analysis by rating (for the bond portfolio only) shows that 97,8% of the portfolio 

consisted of “investment grade” securities with an average rating of A3.  

 

Available-for-sale financial assets  

“Available for sale financial assets” (AFS), asset item 40, are measured at fair value with the recognition of 
changes in a separate fair value reserve in equity, except for losses due to reductions in value that are 
considered significant or prolonged. In this case the reduction in value that occurred in the period is 
recognised through profit or loss, the amount being transferred from the negative or positive reserve that 
may have been recognised in equity previously. Following the recognition of impairment losses, recoveries 
in value continue to be recognised in the separate fair value reserve in equity. Any decreases below the 
level of the previous impairment losses are recognised through profit and loss.  

Available-for-sale financial assets: composition

Figures in thousands of euro L 1 L 2 L 3 Total a L 1 L 2 L 3 Total b amount % L 1 L 2 L 3 Total c amount % Total d

Debt instruments 6.885.493 991.154 10.225 7.886.872 8.437.669 1.156.371 10.191 9.604.231 -1.717.359 -17,9% 8.509.464 1.115.988 10.255 9.635.707 -1.748.835 -18,1% 10.272.452
of which: 
Italian government 
securities 5.897.914 366.354 -                  6.264.268  7.384.660 404.639 -             7.789.299 -1.525.031 -19,6% 7.366.675 409.872 -            7.776.547 -1.512.279 -19,4% 8.330.020

Equity instruments 252.970 67.454 72.552 392.976 373.105 70.657 72.980 516.742 -123.766 -24,0% 346.586 73.614 70.357 490.557 -97.581 -19,9% 558.841
Units in O.I.C.R. 
(collective investment instruments) 13.385 72.148 -                  85.533 15.580 87.057 -             102.637 -17.104 -16,7% 18.313 106.596 -             124.909 -39.376 -31,5% 122.250

Financing -                    -                  -                  -                    -                  -                  -             -                     -                    - -                  -                  1.446 1.446 -1.446 -100,0% 1.446

TOTAL 7.151.848 1.130.756 82.777 8.365.381 8.826.354 1.314.085 83.171 10.223.610 -1.858.229 -18,2% 8.874.363 1.296.198 82.058 10.252.619 -1.887.238 -18,4% 10.954.989

Changes a / c 30.9.201030.9.2011 Changes a / b 31.12.201030.6.2011

 
 

Available-for-sale financial assets amounted to 8,4 billion euro at the end of September, 
having decreased progressively from 11 billion euro twelve months before. They were 
composed principally of the following:  

- the UBI Banca AFS portfolio, amounting to 6.975 million euro (8.811 million euro in June 
2011 and 8.698 million euro in December 2010);  

- the IW Bank portfolio, designed to stabilise the bank’s net interest income given the nature 
of its normal operations, amounting to 753 million euro (745 million euro and 845 million 
euro);  

- the Centrobanca corporate bond portfolio which constitutes activity complementary to and 
consistent with the lending approach of that bank, amounting to over 484 million euro (510 
million euro and 557 million euro).  

 

The decrease in the item, of which -1,9 billion euro was concentrated in the third quarter of 
2011, was due primarily to debt instruments (-1,7 billion euro) held mostly in the UBI Banca 

portfolio, as a result of the net balance on maturities and purchases of Italian government 
securities as well as negative changes in fair value.  
 
As concerns IW Bank, the slight increase recorded in the quarter (+8 million euro) was the 
result of new investments in government securities (+40 million euro of CCTs), which more 
than compensated for the decreases in the fair value of the assets. On the other hand, the 
Centrobanca portfolio decreased (-26 million euro in the quarter) as a result of reductions and 
impairment losses.  
 
The INPS (national insurance institute) loan securitisation matured during the third quarter 
(recognised at 89,1 million euro at the end of June 2011), and consequently the AFS portfolio 
no longer contains any ABS instruments.  

 
Equity instruments3 fell to 393 million euro from 517 million euro at the end of the first half.  

                                                           
3  Shareholdings that are not classified as companies subject to control, joint control or significant influence and that are not held for 

merchant banking and private equity activities, are recognised here.  
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Listed investments classified within fair value level one included the interest held in Intesa 
Sanpaolo, which fell to 224,1 million euro from 337 million euro in June 2011 (296,2 million 
euro at the end of the year).  

As already reported, in June 2011 the UBI Banca Group participated in the increase in the share capital by 
subscribing 41.435.116 ordinary shares at a price of 1,369 euro per share. As a result of that subscription 
the Group holds 186.458.028 shares, accounting for 1,20% of the share capital with voting rights. The 
value of the investment at the end of September incorporated the impairment loss for the quarter – 
amounting to 112,9 million euro on the basis of the official price as at 30th September 2011 of 1,2017 euro – 
together with the impairment recognised in the first half – amounting to 15,9 million euro on the basis of the 
official price as at 30th June 2011 of 1,8075 euro.  

 
This asset class also includes the A2A Spa shares, the market value of which fell over three 
months from 11,9 million euro to 10,5 million euro and the shares in ETF, listed on EuroStoxx 
50, which also fell to 15,6 million euro from 21,7 million euro in June.  
 
As concerns unlisted equity investments, those with a level two and three fair value decreased 
on aggregate by 3,6 million euro due to net negative changes in fair value.  
 
Units in O.I.C.R. (collective investment instruments) stood at 85,5 million euro, down from 

102,6 million euro before, due to net negative changes in fair value, even in with additional 
subscriptions of units of funds already held in portfolio.  
The item includes property funds – held almost entirely by the Parent – totalling 21,5 million 
euro (23,5 million euro in June) of which 13,4 million euro relating to the Polis Fund (15,6 
million euro three months before), classified within fair value level one.  
 
 
 

Financial instruments held for trading  

Financial assets held for trading  
 
Asset item 20, “Financial assets held for trading”, includes financial trading instruments “used to generate 
a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or from a dealer’s margin”. They are recognised at fair value 
through profit or loss – FVPL.  

Financial assets held for trading: composition

Figures in thousands of euro L 1 L 2 L 3 Total a L 1 L 2 L 3 Total b amount % L 1 L 2 L 3 Total c amount % Total d

A. On-statement of 
    financial position assets

Debt instruments 1.476.058 3.016 -             1.479.074 500.664 3.564 -               504.228 974.846 193,3% 1.964.319 11.013 -               1.975.332 -496.258 -25,1% 1.941.174
of which: 
Italian government 
securities 1.427.248 -               -             1.427.248 450.527 -               -               450.527 976.721 216,8% 1.870.026 -              -              1.870.026 -442.778 -23,7% 1.798.845

Equity instruments 14.081 6 87.622 101.709 19.948 8 86.905 106.861 -5.152 -4,8% 72.856 2 104.082 176.940 -75.231 -42,5% 155.524
Units in O.I.C.R. 
(co llective investment instruments) 506 146 1.616 2.268 520 153 1.498 2.171 97 4,5% 512 54 1.601 2.167 101 4,7% 2.146

Financing -                      72.948 -             72.948 -                  72.948 -               72.948 -                  -              -                  64.171 -              64.171 8.777 13,7% 60.133

Total A 1.490.645 76.116 89.238 1.655.999 521.132 76.673 88.403 686.208 969.791 141,3% 2.037.687 75.240 105.683 2.218.610 -562.611 -25,4% 2.158.977

B. Derivative instruments

Financial derivatives 937 593.945 -             594.882 535 407.231 -               407.766 187.116 45,9% 1.014 509.601 3.526 514.141 80.741 15,7% 677.584

Credit derivatives -                      -               -             -                   -                  -               -               -                   -                  - -                  -               -               -                  -                  -              -                  

Total B 937 593.945 -             594.882 535 407.231 -               407.766 187.116 45,9% 1.014 509.601 3.526 514.141 80.741 15,7% 677.584

TOTAL (A+B) 1.491.582 670.061 89.238 2.250.881 521.667 483.904 88.403 1.093.974 1.156.907 105,8% 2.038.701 584.841 109.209 2.732.751 -481.870 -17,6% 2.836.561

30.9.2011 Changes a / b 31.12.2010 30.9.2010Changes a / c30.6.2011

 
 

At the end of September, financial assets held for trading amounted to 2,3 billion euro, a 
significant increase compared to June, mainly as a result of growth in debt instruments (+1 

billion euro, classified within fair value level one) in relation to new purchases of Italian 
government securities (mostly short-term BOTs and BTPs).  
 
Debt instruments, on the other hand, included the remaining direct investments (classified 
within level 2) in “Asset Backed Securities”, all held by the subsidiary UBI Banca International 
Sa, consisting mainly of mortgage backed securities (MBS), with the underlying principally of 
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European origin and a management accounting value of 0,3 million euro, (almost unchanged 
compared to 30th  June 2011).  
A structured instrument (level 2) – similar in terms of risk to ABS instruments – was also held 
amounting to 2,3 million euro, also relating to UBI Banca International Sa (2,7 million euro 
three months before).  
 
Investments in own securitisations, eliminated in the consolidation, had a management value of 37,2 million euro in 

management accounting terms ( valued 38,2 million euro in June 2011) and related to the following:  

- RMBS instruments classified within financial assets held for trading relating to UBI Banca (Orio Finance) 
amounting to five million euro (unchanged compared to the end of June);  

- ABS instruments amounting to 32,2 million euro (33,2 million euro at the end of the semester), of which:  

� 7,1 million euro in the Centrobanca AFS portfolio (Sintonia Finance, 7,3 million euro three months before);  

� 4,1 million euro in the Parent’s AFS portfolio (Lombarda Lease Finance 4, 4,9 million in the previous quarter);  

� 21 million euro classified within loans and receivables relating to UBI Leasing (Lombarda Lease Finance 4, 
unchanged).  

 
Equity instruments4 decreased during the quarter, falling from 106,9 million euro to 101,7 
million euro, mainly in relation to disinvestments – fair value level one – performed by UBI 
Banca (-5 million euro).  
This category also includes investments in equity instruments (classified within fair value level 
3) held as part of merchant banking and private equity business, relating primarily to 
Centrobanca. In September 2011, these had risen to 87,6 million euro from 86,9 million euro 
at the end of June due to the combined effect of the impairment loss on the investment held 
by the Parent (-1,1 million euro), which was more than offset by a positive change in the fair 
value of a Centrobanca asset (+1,8 million euro).  
 
Investments in OICR units (collective investment instruments) amounted to 2,3 million euro 

and related mostly to hedge funds purchased by UBI Banca prior to 30th June 2007 and still 
held (1,6 million euro classified within fair value level 3)5.  
 
The item financing relates entirely to financial instruments, amounting to 72,9 million euro, of 

the subsidiary Prestitalia Spa.  
 
Finally, financial assets classified as held for trading also include derivative instruments 

amounting to 594,9 million euro (407,8 million euro in June 2010), entirely of a financial 
nature, for which the performance and amount must be interpreted in strict relation to the 
corresponding item recognised within financial liabilities held for trading.  
 
 

Financial liabilities held for trading  

Financial liabilities held for trading: composition

Figures in thousands of  euro L 1 L 2 L 3 Total a L 1 L 2 L 3 Total b amount % L 1 L 2 L 3 Total c amount % Total d

A. On-statement of 
    financial position liabilities

Due to banks 9.482 -               -   9.482 50.294 -               -           50.294 -40.812 -81,1% 110.657 -               -           110.657 -101.175 -91,4% 98.066

Due to customers 7.237 -               -   7.237 372.480 -               -           372.480 -365.243 -98,1% 298.605 -               -           298.605 -291.368 -97,6% 191.249

Debt instruments -               -               -   -                -               -               -           -                  -                  - -               -               -           -                  -               -             -                  

Total A 16.719 -               -   16.719 422.774 -               -           422.774 -406.055 -96,0% 409.262 -               -           409.262 -392.543 -95,9% 289.315

B. Derivative instruments

Financial derivatives 248 637.982 -   638.230 667 420.818 -           421.485 216.745 51,4% 1.191 543.970 545.161 93.069 17,1% 688.749

Credit derivatives -               -               -   -                -               -               -           -                  -                  -             -               -               -           -                  -               -             -                  

Total B 248 637.982 -   638.230 667 420.818 -           421.485 216.745 51,4% 1.191 543.970 -           545.161 93.069 17,1% 688.749

TOTAL (A+B) 16.967 637.982 -   654.949 423.441 420.818 -           844.259 -189.310 -22,4% 410.453 543.970 -           954.423 -299.474 -31,4% 978.064

30.9.2011 Changes a / b 30.9.201031.12.2010 Changes a / c30.6.2011

 

                                                           
4  As already reported, until 31st December 2010 this accounting class had included the portfolio entrusted to the Group’s asset 

management company under the management mandate granted to it (39 million euro of European equities at the end of the year). 

The new management strategy employed in the first quarter of 2011 involved investments in Pramerica mutual funds, classified at 
fair value under the fair value option, initially amounting to 330 million euro, which were completely disposed of in September (see 

the following sub-section in this respect).  
5  The following sub-section, “financial assets at fair value”, may be consulted for a full picture of the Group’s investments in hedge 

funds.  
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Financial liabilities held for trading (liabilities item 40 in the statement of financial position) 
had fallen further to 655 million euro as at 30th September 2011 (-189 million euro compared 
to June 2011).  
 
As shown in the table, the composition of the item changed, with an increase in financial 
derivatives (+217 million euro), against an almost total disposal (-406 million euro) of cash 
liabilities – relating entirely to uncovered short positions on government securities – down at 
the end of the period to approximately 17 million euro.  
 
 

Financial assets at fair value  

The item “financial assets at fair value” (asset item 30) comprises financial instruments designated as such 
in application of the fair value option (FVO). The class also includes units in hedge funds purchased 
subsequent to 1st July 2007.  
These financial assets are recognised at fair value through profit or loss.  

Financial assets at fair value: composition

Figures in thousands of  euro L 1 L 2 L 3 Total a L 1 L 2 L 3 Total b amount % L 1 L 2 L 3 Total c amount % Total d

Debt instruments -               -   -             -               -               -          -               -               -               - -               -          -               -               -               -             -                  

Equity instruments -               -   -             -               -               -          -               -               -               - -               -          -               -               -               -             -                  
Units in O.I.C.R. 
(collective investment instruments) 105.343 -   25.151 130.494 440.748 -          27.290 468.038 -337.544 -72,1% 116.208 -          31.078 147.286 -16.792 -11,4% 153.951

Financing -               -   -             -               -               -          -               -               -               - -               -          -               -               -               -             -                  

TOTAL 105.343 -   25.151 130.494 440.748 -          27.290 468.038 -337.544 -72,1% 116.208 -          31.078 147.286 -16.792 -11,4% 153.951

30.9.2011 Changes a / b 30.9.201031.12.2010 Changes a / c30.6.2011

 
 
Financial assets classified under the fair value option – consisting exclusively of O.I.C.R. 
(collective investment instruments) units relating to UBI Banca – amounted to 130,5 million 

euro as at 30th September 2011, a significant reduction compared to 468 million euro at the 
end of June.  
The fair value level 1 class continues to include 105,3 million euro referred to the Tages funds 
(former Capitalgest Alternative), while 25,2 million euro of remaining hedge funds are 
recognised in level 3.  
 
The change that occurred in the quarter (-338 million euro) was due to the total disposal of 
UBI Pramerica mutual funds (under the management mandate conferred on it) following the 
activation of stop-loss mechanisms6 (in compliance with the limits set by the Financial Risks 
Policy).  
 
As concerns hedge funds – in consideration, amongst other things, of the modest amount of 
1,6 million euro recognised within financial assets held for trading (fair value level 3 OICR 
units, purchased prior to 30th June 2007) – the entire portfolio held by the Parent  as at 30th 
September 2011 amounted to 132,1 million euro (140,2 million euro in June and 148,9 
million euro in December). Since the beginning of the year hedge funds were redeemed, net of 
redemption fees7, for approximately 4,5 million euro.  

As concerns applications to redeem hedge funds classified within fair value level 3 only (a total of 26,8 
million euro), management accounting figures at the end of the third quarter showed that seven funds, 

for 16,7 million euro, are expected to pay and/or have declared that they were implementing a deferred 
redemption plan (known as a "gate") – as allowed for in their respective regulations; another 18 funds 
have created “side pockets” for an amount of approximately 10 million euro.  

 

                                                           
6  The losses incurred on the mutual fund portfolio caused UBI Pramerica SGR to firstly change the composition of the mix of products 

used for the Parent’s investments, with preference given to strictly monetary funds and then, in consideration of the continuing 
adverse conditions on markets, to sell all units held in funds at the end of September (329,3 million euro as at 30th June 2011).  

7 The technical term used to indicate expenses for repayment.  
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Exposure to sovereign debt risk  
 
 
On 28th July 2011, the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) published 
document No. 2011/266 relating to information on sovereign debt to be disclosed in annual 
and half year financial reports prepared by listed companies that adopt IAS/IFRS.  
 
Details of the exposures of the UBI Banca Group are given below. It should be considered that 
according to the instructions issued by this European supervisory authority “sovereign debt” is 
defined as bonds issued by central and local governments and by government entities and also 
as loans granted to them.  

 
 

 
 
 
As at 30th September 2011, the book value of the sovereign exposures of the UBI Group 
totalled nine billion euro, of which over 97% concentrated in Italy.  
 
In addition to credit exposure to Italian public administrations amounting to 1 billion euro, the 
Group also held Italian government securities amounting to 7,7 billion euro, of which 6,3 
billion euro classified within available-for-sale assets and 1,4 billion euro within financial 
assets held for trading. Approximately 90% of these investments relate to the Parent.  
 
Sovereign debt risk exposures for countries other than Italy are therefore kept at modest levels 
and mainly regard Spain (126 million euro), Luxembourg (112 million euro), Germany (7,4 
million euro) and others for small amounts.  
With regard to Spain in particular – in addition to a credit exposure amounting to 114 million 
euro, in relation to the factoring transactions of a foreign subsidiary involving a public 
administration – a position in government securities existed amounting to 11,6 million euro, 
disposed of at the end of September, but with value date for settlement in the first week of 
October.  
 
  

UBI Banca Group: exposures to sovereign debt risk as at 30th September 2011

Country / portfolio of classification

f igures in thousands of euro

Nominal amount Carrying amount Fair value Nominal amount Carrying amount Fair value

- Italy 7.141.955 6.831.417 6.831.417 9.184.109 8.713.010 8.713.010

financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net exposure) 1.393.254 1.379.519 1.379.519 1.424.631 1.410.538 1.410.538

available-for-sale financial assets 5.725.005 5.426.037 5.426.037 6.659.996 6.264.268 6.264.268

loans 23.696 25.861 25.861 1.099.482 1.038.204 1.038.204

- Spain 10.000 10.497 10.497 125.447 125.918 125.918

financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net exposure) 10.000 10.497 10.497 11.133 11.604 11.604

loans -                      -                      -                      114.314 114.314 114.314

- Germany 11 8 8 6.649 7.369 7.369

financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net exposure) 11 8 8 6.466 7.186 7.186

loans -                      -                      -                      183 183 183

- France 1 1 1 10 11 11

financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net exposure) 1 1 1 10 11 11

- Luxembourg -                      -                      -                      112.420 112.420 112.420

loans -                      -                      -                      112.420 112.420 112.420

- Holland 10 10 10 10 10 10

loans 10 10 10 10 10 10

- Argentina 156 38 38 846 486 486

financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net exposure) 156 38 38 846 486 486

- Greece -                      -                      -                      7 3 3

financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net exposure) -                      -                      -                      7 3 3

- Finland -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net exposure) -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total on-statement of financial position exposures 7.152.133 6.841.971 6.841.971 9.429.498 8.959.227 8.959.227

UBI BANCA CONSOLIDATED
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The table below shows the distribution by maturity of Italian government securities held in 
portfolio.  
 
The average maturity of the AFS portfolio is 10,7 years.  
 
 
Maturities of Italian government securities

f igures in thousands of euro

Financial assets 
held for trading

Available-for-sale 
f inancial assets

TOTAL %
Financial assets 
held for trading

Available-for-sale 
f inancial assets

TOTAL %

Up to 6 months 799.014 141.274 940.288 12,2% 88.713                2.352.909          2.441.622        29,7% 

Six months to one year 573.817             -                     573.817           7,5% 178.513             107.549             286.062           3,5% 

One year to three years 51.009                1.197.283          1.248.292        16,2% 133.824             49.872                183.696           2,2% 

Three years to five years -                     956.459             956.459           12,4% -                     884.250             884.250           10,7% 

Five years to ten years 7                          1.890.297          1.890.304        24,6% 42.632                2.100.108          2.142.740        26,0% 

Over ten years 3.401                  2.078.955          2.082.356        27,1% 6.844                  2.294.612          2.301.456        27,9% 

Total 1.427.248          6.264.268          7.691.516        100,0% 450.527             7.789.299          8.239.826        100,0% 

30.9.2011 30.6.2011

 
 
Exposure on the short-term part of the yield curve was reduced in the third quarter (from 
29,7% at the end of June to 12,2% at the end of September), with a repositioning of maturities 
towards “six months to one year” (which increased as a percentage of the total portfolio from 
3,5% to 7,5%) and to “one year to three years” (with an increase in the percentage from 2,2% 
to 16,2%). Exposure on the longer term part of the curve remained relatively unchanged (down 
from 27,9% in June to 27,1% at the end of September).  
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Goodwill  

 

 
At the end of September goodwill 
amounted to 4,29 billion euro, 
unchanged compared to June, 
but down compared to  4,42 
billion euro in December. The 
interim financial report as at and 
for the period ended 30th June 
2011 may be consulted for 
details of changes that occurred 
in the first half.  
 
 

Figures in thousands of euro 30.9.2011 30.6.2011 31.12.2010

UBI Banca Scpa 485.219         485.219         521.245         

Banco di Brescia Spa 1.267.763     1.267.763     1.267.763     

Banca Carime Spa 812.454         812.454         812.454         

Banca Regionale Europea Spa 309.121         309.121         309.121         

Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa 249.049         249.049         249.049         

Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria Spa 232.543         232.543         232.543         

UBI Pramerica SGR Spa 205.489         205.489         205.489         

Banco di San Giorgio Spa 155.265         155.265         155.265         

Banca di Valle Camonica Spa 103.621         103.621         103.621         

Banca Popolare di Bergamo Spa 100.044         100.044         100.044         

UBI Leasing Spa 86.269           86.269           160.337         

B@nca 24-7 Spa 71.132           71.132           71.132           

IW Bank Spa 65.846           65.846           65.846           

UBI Factor Spa 61.491           61.491           61.491           

Prestitalia Spa 24.895           24.895           24.895           

UBI Banca Private Investment Spa 20.189           20.189           20.189           

UBI Banca International Spa 15.080           15.080           15.080           

UBI Management Company Sa 9.155             9.155             9.155             

InvestNet International Sa 2.719             2.719             2.719             

UBI Sistemi e Servizi SCpA 2.122             2.122             2.122             

UBI Insurance Broker Srl 2.094             2.094             2.094             

UBI Fiduciaria Spa 2.052             2.052             2.052             

Centrobanca Spa 1.573             1.573             17.785           

UBI Gestioni Fiduciarie Sim Spa 778                 778                 778                 

Società Lombarda Immobiliare Srl - SOLIMM 172                 172                 172                 

BY YOU Spa -                      -                      3.459             

Sintesi Mutui Srl -                      -                      685                 

Other goodwill 75                   75                   75                   

Total 4.286.210     4.286.210     4.416.660     

Composition of the item "Goodwill"
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Equity and capital adequacy  
Changes in consolidated equity  
 
 

Figures in thousands of euro Equity
of which:                               

Profit for the period

Equity and profit for the period in the accounts of the Parent 10.624.804 34.326

Effect of the consolidation of subsidiaries including joint ventures 1.791.058 347.487

Effect of measuring other significant equity investments using the equity method 4.265 13.998

Dividends received during the period -                                  -178.369 

Other consolidation adjustments (including the effects of the PPA) -1.132.054 -34.773 

Equity and profit for the period in the consolidated accounts 11.288.073 182.669

Reconciliation between equity and profit of the Parent and consolidated equity and profit as at and for the period ended as at 

30th September 2011

 
 
The consolidated equity of the UBI Banca Group as at 30th September 2011 inclusive of profit 
for the period, amounted to 11.288,1 million euro compared to 10.979 million euro at the end 
of 2010.  
 
As can be seen from the statement of changes in consolidated equity, contained among the 
mandatory interim consolidated financial statements, the change of 309,1 million euro that 
occurred during the nine months is attributable to:  

� the allocation of 102,2 million euro of 2010 consolidated profit to dividends and other 
uses1;  

� the positive impact, totalling 986 million euro 2 , attributable almost entirely to the 
conclusion of the capital increase, which led to the issue of 262.580.944 new shares 
following the exercise of option rights, the sale on the stock exchange and the subsequent 
exercise of rights not taken up and the final subscription by the underwriting syndicate, 
was as follows:  
- +656,5 million euro the impact on share capital;  
- +329,5 million euro the increase in the share premium reserve, inclusive of the deduction from that 

item of the expenses incurred for the increase in the share capital net of tax (16,2 million euro) and 
the proceeds from the sales of rights not exercised (2,1 million euro);  

� a decrease of 4,4 million euro attributable to the purchase of treasury shares in July, to be 
assigned to the Senior Management of the Group in relation to incentive schemes;  

� the negative impact on consolidated income generated by the reduction in the fair value 
reserves amounting to 734,7 million euro. This consisted of -728,7 million euro relating to 
available-for-sale financial assets, -3,9 million euro to cash flow hedges, -2,6 million euro to 
“actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit plans” and +0,5 million euro to “special 
revaluation laws”;  

� a decrease on aggregate in reserves of profits amounting to 18,3 million euro. This 
included: -9,2 million euro relating to the public tender offer to purchase IW Bank shares; -
1,6 million euro for the increase in the investment in Banco di San Giorgio; +1,7 million 
euro for the positive impact on the equity of Swiss subsidiaries due to exchange rate 
differences;  

� the recognition of profit for the period of 
182,7 million euro.  

 
 

                                                           
1  The profit was then fully drawn on with an allocation to reserves of 69,9 million euro.  
2  This amount also includes the residual effect of the conversion of the convertible bond “UBI 2009/2013 convertibile con facoltà di 

rimborso in azioni” and the exercise of the warrants “Warrant azioni ordinarie UBI Banca 2009/2011”, which led to the issue of a 
further 19.913 new shares with an increase in the share capital and the share premium reserve amounting to 49.782,5 euro and 

188.063 euro respectively.  

Figures in thousands of euro 30.9.2011 31.12.2010

Available-for-sale financial assets -1.040.164 -311.493 

Cash flow hedges -4.523 -619 

Foreign currency differences -243 -243 

Actuarial gains/losses -17.110 -14.518 

Special revaluation laws 73.606 73.146

TOTAL -988.434 -253.727 

Fair value reserves attributable to the Group: composition
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Figures in thousands of euro
Positive 
reserve

Negative 
reserve

Total
Positive 
reserve

Negative 
reserve

Total

1. Debt instruments 77.261 -1.158.746 -1.081.485 66.715 -431.818 -365.103 

2. Equity instruments 51.622 -8.121 43.501 58.225 -3.579 54.646

3. Units in O.I.C.R. (co llective investment instruments) 7.022 -9.202 -2.180 9.124 -10.160 -1.036 

4. Financing -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

TOTAL 135.905      -1.176.069 -1.040.164 134.064      -445.557 -311.493 

31.12.2010

Fair value reserves of available-for-sale financial assets attributable to the Group: composition

30.9.2011

 
 
 

Figures in thousands of euro
Debt 

instruments
Equity 

instruments

OICR units 
(co llective investment 

instruments)

Financing Total

1. Opening balances as at 1st January 2011 -365.103 54.646 -1.036 -                           -311.493 

2. Positive changes 20.485                10.203                6.417                  -                           37.105                

2.1 Increases in fair value 4.644                  2.675                  3.954                  -                           11.273                

2.2 Transfer to income statement of negative reserves 15.050                4.677                  1.967                  -                           21.694                

- following impairment losses 4.094                   4.626                   1.821                   -                          10.541                 

- from disposal 10.956                 51                        146                      -                          11.153                 

2.3 Other changes 791                     2.851                  496                     -                           4.138                  

3. Negative changes -736.867 -21.348 -7.561 -                           -765.776 

3.1 Reductions in fair value -709.112 -15.317 -4.095 -                           -728.524 

3.2 Impairment losses -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

3.3 Transfer to income statement of positive reserves: from disposal -3.393 -5.872 -2.976 -                           -12.241 

3.4 Other changes -24.362 -159 -490 -                           -25.011 

4. Closing balances as at 30th September 2011 -1.081.485 43.501 -2.180 -                           -1.040.164 

Fair value reserves of available-for-sale financial assets attributable to the Group: changes in the period

 
 
As shown in the table, the decrease mentioned above of 728,7 million euro in the “fair value 
reserve for available-for-sale financial assets” is attributable mainly to debt instruments held 
in portfolio (-716,4 million euro net of tax and the portion attributable to non-controlling 
interests). Affected by the growing turbulence on markets connected with sovereign debt risk, 
these assets incurred fair value losses of 709,1 million euro. They included 597,4 million euro 
related to the Parent (87% relating to Italian government securities), 44,3 million euro to 
Lombarda Vita, 36,4 million euro to IW Bank and 28,8 million euro to Centrobanca.  
The share of the available-for-sale reserve relating to Italian government securities amounted 
to -868 million euro as at 30th September 2011.  
 
The reductions in the fair value of equity instruments related mainly to UBI Banca (-9,4 
million euro).  
The table also shows a transfer from the positive reserve to profit and loss amounting to 5,9 
million euro almost entirely attributable to the disposal of the interest held in London Stock 
Exchange by the Parent (again net of tax) completed in May.  
 

* * * 
 
In September the equity of the subsidiary IW Bank decreased as a result of the creation of a 
negative fair value reserve in application of international accounting standards due to the 
change in the fair value of the available-for-sale financial assets held in its securities portfolio.  
In consideration of the transitory nature of those reserves – which are negative because of 
changes in the prices of Italian government securities of which almost all of the owned 
portfolio of that bank is composed – and the probability that they will presumably be 
eliminated (specially if the securities are held until their natural maturity), UBI Banca, the sole 
and controlling shareholder made, with value date 29th September 2011, a “payment into an 
account for a future increase in the share capital to be decided by 27th April 2012” amounting 
to 60.179 thousand euro, equal to the negative amount of the fair value reserve recognised as 
at 28th September 2011.  
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* * * 
 
 
The table summarises the changes that occurred since the beginning of year in the total 
number of UBI Banca shares.  

 
 
 
Greater details of the  changes, which 
are mainly attributable to the 
increase in the share capital 
concluded on 18th July 2011, are 
contained in the interim financial 
report as at and for the period ended 
30th June 2011, which may be 
consulted.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Information on the shareholder structure of UBI Banca  
 
Under Article 120 of the Consolidated Finance Act (Legislative Decree No. 58/1998), persons 
holding more than 2% of the share capital in a share issuer which has Italy as its member 
state of origin must notify this to the company and to the Consob (Italian securities market 
authority).  
The following changes occurred with respect to the position reported in the interim financial 
report as at and for the period ended 30th June 2011: 
- on 1st November 2011 Silchester International Investors LLP declared that it held, under 

management, a 5,001% interest in the share capital  of UBI Banca (it previously reported a 
4,09% interest on 26th July);  

- on 11th November, Norges Bank (the Norwegian central bank) reported that it owned an 
interest in the share capital of UBI Banca of 2,21% (with many changes above and below 
the 2% threshold declared in the preceding weeks).  

 
On the basis of an updating of the shareholders’ register, the registered shareholders of UBI 
Banca numbered 80.279 as at 30th September 2011. If shareholders who are not listed in the 
shareholders’ register are also considered, then the total of registered and unregistered 
shareholders numbered more than 151 thousand.  
 

  

Ordinary shares
Nominal value 

2,50 euro

A. Shares existing as at 1st January 2011 639.145.902          1.597.864.755,00   
- fully paid up 639.145.902          1.597.864.755,00   
- not fully paid up -                                -                             

A.1 Treasury shares (-) -                                -                             
A.2 Outstanding shares: initial number 639.145.902          1.597.864.755,00   

B. Increases 262.600.857          656.502.142,50       
B.1 New issues 262.600.857          656.502.142,50       

- by payment: 262.600.857          656.502.142,50       
- business combinations -                                -                             
- conversion of bonds 604                          1.510,00                   
- exercise of warrants 19.309                    48.272,50                 
- other 262.580.944          656.452.360,00       

- free of charge: -                                -                             
- in favour of employees -                                -                             
- in favour of directors -                                -                             
- other -                                -                             

B.2 Sale of treasury shares -                                -                             
B.3 Other changes -                                -                             

C. Decreases -                                -                             
C.1 Cancellation -                                -                             
C.2 Purchase of treasury shares -                                -                             
C.3 Company disposal operations -                                -                             
C.4 Other changes -                                -                             

D.
Outstanding shares: closing balances as 
at 30th September 2011 901.746.759          2.254.366.897,50   

D.1 Own shares (+) -                                -                             
D.2 Outstanding shares at the end of period 901.746.759          2.254.366.897,50   

- fully paid up 901.746.759          2.254.366.897,50   
- not fully paid up -                                -                             

Share capital - number of shares of the Parent: 

changes in the period
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Capital adequacy  
 
 
In accordance with supervisory regulations, supervisory reporting as at 30th September 2011 requires an 
update on the supervisory capital at the end of first half consisting only of events of particular importance, 
such as, for example, changes in the share capital and any losses on loans of a significant amount relating 
to individual companies included in the consolidation3, with no account taken of profit for the period and the 
relative probable dividend.  
In order to ensure a proper interpretation of changes in Group capital, the position is also given as at 30th  
September 2011 restated in terms that are perfectly consistent with the positions in June 2011 and 
December 2010.  

 
Capital ratios (Basel 2 standardised approach)

Figures in thousands of euro 30.9.2011

30.9.2011 
consistent with 

June and 
December

30.6.2011 31.12.2010

Tier 1 capital before filters 8.081.565      7.999.549      8.017.691      6.766.798
Preference shares and savings/privileged shares attributable to non 
controlling interests 489.191         489.191         489.191 489.191

Tier 1 capital filters -32.524 -119.358 -32.524 -73.593 

Tier 1 capital after filters 8.538.232      8.369.382      8.474.358      7.182.396
Deductions from tier 1 capital -136.735 -139.968 -136.735 -134.508 

Tier one after filters and specific deductions (Tier one)            8.401.497            8.229.414            8.337.623 7.047.888

Supplementary capital after filters        4.416.664        4.406.539        4.416.664 3.770.505
Deductions from supplementary capital -136.735 -139.968 -136.735 -134.508 

Supplementary capital after filters and specific deductions (Tier 2)            4.279.929            4.266.571            4.279.929 3.635.997

Deductions from tier 1+supplementary capital -150.352 -151.407 -150.352 -147.685 

Total supervisory capital 12.531.074        12.344.578        12.467.200        10.536.200

Credit and counterparty risk 6.927.394      6.927.394      7.093.850      6.952.925

Market risk 79.514            79.514            77.743            106.636

Operational risk 489.312         489.312         489.312         489.312

Other prudential requirements -                       -                       -                       -                           

Total prudential requirements 7.496.220          7.496.220          7.660.905          7.548.873

Subordinated liabilities Tier 3
Nominal amount -                      -                      -                      -                          

Amount eligible -                      -                      -                      -                          

Risk weighted assets 93.702.749        93.702.749        95.761.304        94.360.909

Core tier 1 ratio after specific deductions from tier 1 capital (tier 1 capital 
net of preference shares/risk weighted assets) 8,44% 8,26% 8,20% 6,95% 

Tier 1 capital ratio (tier 1 capital/Risk weighted assets) 8,97% 8,78% 8,71% 7,47% 

Total capital ratio
 [(Supervisory capital+tier 3 eligible)/risk weighted assets] 13,37% 13,17% 13,02% 11,17% 

 
 

With a provision of 18th May 2010 and a later communication of 23rd June 2010 (“Clarification of supervisory measures concerning supervisory capital – 
prudential filters”), the Bank of Italy issued new supervisory instructions for the treatment of fair value reserves relating to debt instruments held in the 
“available-for-sale financial assets” portfolio for the purposes of calculating supervisory capital (prudential filters). More specifically, as an alternative to the 
“asymmetric approach” (full deduction of net losses from the tier one capital and inclusion of 50% of the net gains in the tier two capital) already provided for 
by Italian regulations, it was permitted – in compliance with 2004 CEBS guidelines – to completely neutralise gains and losses recognised in the reserves 
mentioned (“symmetrical approach”) subsequent to 31st December 2009, but limited to securities issued by the central governments of countries belonging to 
the European Union. The Group decided to take advantage of the option and reported the decision to the Bank of Italy on 29th June 2010. It was therefore 
applied uniformly by all members of the banking Group, commencing with the calculation of supervisory capital as at 30th June 2010.  

 
 
The restated position as at 30th September 2011 showed the following changes compared to  
June:  

- a reduction in the tier one capital of 108,2 million euro, attributable largely to the negative 
filters represented by the available-for-sale reserve on debt instruments other than 

                                                           
3  The official report as at 30th September shows an increase compared to June in the tier one capital of 63,9 million euro composed as 

follows:  

� +79,5 million euro on conclusion of the share capital increase in July and to a minor extent due to the conversion of the 
convertible bond “UBI 2009/2013 convertibile con facoltà di rimborso in azioni” and the exercise of the warrants “Warrant azioni 

ordinarie UBI Banca 2009/2011” performed in the period;  
� -4,4 million euro due to the purchase of treasury shares;  

� -11,2 million euro due to impairment losses on loans relating to UBI Factor recognised in the period (net of tax).  



 
 
 
 
 

 76  

Government securities and only to a small extent to the combined impacts of the profit for 
the period and the share capital increase;  

- total supervisory capital decreased by 122,6 million euro to 12,3 billion euro.  
 
Compliance with capital adequacy requirements determined an absorption of capital of 7,5 
billion euro, a decrease of 164,7 million euro compared to June as a result of less absorption 
for credit and counterparty risk (-166,5 million euro), composed as follows:  

� -61 million euro due to an improvement in the composition of loans with a Cerved rating 
which more than compensated for the increase in past due exposures;  

� -31 million euro due to a decrease in guarantees and commitments;  

� -26 million euro due to the disposal of OICR units (collective investment instruments);  

� -26 million euro due to a decrease in amounts in available-for-sale portfolios;  

� -21 million euro due to the partial withdrawal from positions in reverse repurchase 
agreements used to acquire securities eligible for refinancing with the ECB.  

On the other hand only a slight deterioration in the capital requirement for market risk was 
recorded (+1,8 million euro), due to an increased exposure in equity instruments.  
 
As a consequence risk weighted assets fell by over two billion euro to 93,7 billion euro, 
consisting mainly of credit and counterparty risk.  
 
The changes in the aggregates reported above left all the capital ratios calculated on a 
consistent basis as at 30th September 2011 unchanged compared with the previous position: 
on that date the core tier one and the tier one ratios were 8,26% (8,20% in June) and 8,78% 
(8,71%) respectively, while the total capital ratio was 13,17% (13,02%)4.  
 

* * * 
 
In view of the substantial increase in systemic risk determined by the sovereign debt crisis in the euro area, 
on 26th October the European Banking Authority (EBA) launched new measures designed to ensure the 
creation of an exceptional and temporary capital buffer for the banking system in the area. This buffer, to 
be created using primary quality capital, is not designed to meet losses on sovereign debt, but is of a 
prudent nature, intended to reassure markets of the ability of banks to withstand shocks, by maintaining 
adequate levels of capital.  
More specifically, banks are requested to recapitalise to a level where their core tier one ratio is 9% by the 
end of June 2012.  
According to an initial study performed on capital levels at the end of June and on sovereign security 
exposures on that same date, but measured by prices at the end of September, the total recapitalisation at 
European level would amount to 106 billion euro (of which 14,77 billion euro relating to the five Italian 
banking groups involved, which include UBI Banca).  
 
As specifically concerns the UBI Banca Group, the total capital buffer was preliminarily and indicatively 
estimated at 1.484 million euro. That amount is currently being revised in the light of end of September 
figures and will be analysed by the supervisory authority. It is this second amount that will constitute the 
basis for the programmes to strengthen capital that must be completed by June 2012.  
The UBI Group believes that it will be able to meet the new 9% core tier one ratio requirement without resort 
to the market thanks to the combination of the following factors: the reserve provided by the convertible 
bond; the progressive changeover to the advanced model; deleveraging action currently underway; and 
consistent self-financing.  
 

                                                           
4  As already reported, savings shares and privileged shares have been excluded from the core tier one capital since 31st December 

2010, while they are included in the tier one capital. 
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Information on risks and on hedging 
policies  
 
Following on from the half year report, this interim financial report provides a quantitative 
update in terms of the main risk indicators, while the information already reported in Part E of 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31st December 
2010 should be consulted for the general aspects, the risk management policies and the 
organisational and methodological aspects.  
 
 

Market risk  
 
Interest rate risk and price risk - Supervisory trading book  
 

The main operational limits for the trading book set for 2011 are given below:  

� maximum acceptable loss for the UBI Group trading book                    80,47 million euro  
� one day VaR limit for the UBI Group trading book                                13,21 million euro  
� early warning levels on maximum cumulative loss (MCL)    70% MCL  
� early warning levels on VaR  80% VaR  
 
 
 Quantitative information  
 
Supervisory trading book: internal models and other methods of sensitivity analysis  

The graph below shows the changes in VaR that occurred in the first nine months of 2011 for 
the trading portfolios.  
 

Change in market risk: daily market VaR for the Group  
in the first nine months of 2011  
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VaR by risk factor calculated on the entire trading book of the UBI Group as at 30th September 
2011 is given below.  

 

Trading book of the UBI Banca Group 30.9.2011 Average Minimum Maximum

Currency risk 178.157           142.632           22.067             243.393           
Interest rate risk 912.050           1.627.669        597.226           3.942.137        
Equity risk 647.524           461.276           133.633           1.528.090        
Credit risk 1.644.354        572.448           70.325             2.677.936        
Volatility risk 226.886           243.185           158.950           342.273           
Diversification effect  (1) (1.514.194)      
Total (2) 2.094.777        1.970.462        796.569           4.156.416        

(1) The diversif ication effect is due to the imperfect correlation betw een the different risk factors present in the Group’s portfolio.
(2) The maximum VaR w as recorded on 27/01 and the minimum VaR on 21/06  

 
 
Interest rate risk and price risk – Banking book  
 
Quantitative information  

 
The exposure of the Group to interest rate risk in terms of core sensitivity measured in a 
scenario of an increase in interest rates of +100 bps on items as at 30th September 2011 
amounted to -323,67 million euro (-329,63 million euro as at 30th June 2011 and -346,38 
million euro as at 31st December 2010), accounting for 2,58% of estimated consolidated 
supervisory capital as at 30th September 2011, compared to a limit of -420 million euro set on 
that aggregate by the financial risks policy for 2011 and an early warning threshold on the 
same indicator of -350 million euro.  
The total level of exposure includes an estimate, consistent with the provisions of the Financial 
Risks Policy, of the impact of the early repayment of loans (approximately +185 million euro in 
terms of sensitivity) and also the effect of structural ALM action taken using derivatives, even 
if subject to a capital requirement for market risk, with the objective of acting on the 
individual sensitivity of Group companies (approximately -26 million euro).  
 
An analysis of the composition of total sensitivity found the following main components:  

• available-for-sale financial asset porfolio inclusive of hedging derivatives: -155 million euro;  
• customer loans inclusive of hedging derivatives: -527 million euro;  
• estimated impact of early repayment of customer loans: +185 million euro;  
• securities issued inclusive of hedging derivatives and other customer term debt instruments: 

+174 million euro.  
 
The table below gives the risk measured, gross of the impact of early repayment of mortgages 
and loans, for a scenario of a parallel standardised shift of the curve of 200 bps, as requested 
by Basel 2, measured on the tier one and supervisory capital.  
 

Risk indicators - end of period values 30.9.2011 30.6.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010

parallel shift of +200 bp

sensitivity/Tier 1 7,60% 6,67% 9,13% 9,69%

sensitivity/supervisory capital 5,10% 6,07% 6,06% 6,48%
 

 
The limits defined for the trading book are also used for the portfolios in the banking book, 
which include assets classified as available-for-sale for IAS purposes (the UBI available-for-
sale, the Centrobanca Corporate and the IW Bank portfolios) and loans & receivables (the UBI 
and Centrobanca portfolios), and for hedge funds. The main operational limits for the banking 
book of the UBI Banca Group set for 2011 are given below:  
 

� maximum loss for UBI Banking Book portfolios  838,6 million euro  
� one day VaR limit for UBI Banking Book portfolios  126,4 million euro  
� maximum acceptable loss for investments in hedge funds   16 million euro  
� two month VaR limit for investments in hedge funds  10 million euro  
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For information purposes, the total VaR for the banking book portfolios of the Group at the 
end of September amounted to 108,5 million euro (58,5 million euro as at 30th June 2011) 
with a NAV of 7.298,23 million euro (9.779,24 million euro as at 30th June 2011)1.  
 
The graph below shows the changes in VaR that occurred in the first nine months of 2011 for 
the banking book portfolios.  
 
 

 
 

 
 
VaR by risk factor calculated on the entire banking book of the UBI Group as at 30th 
September 2011 is given below.  

 

 
 
 
As concerns investments in hedge funds, the relative VaR is calculated using a “style analysis” 
method with a confidence interval of 99% and a holding period of 2 months.  
At the end of September the method for calculating VaR was applied to funds recognised in the 
accounts amounting to approximately 132  million euro. The VaR used was approximately 7,6 
million euro (against a limit of 10 million euro). The investments were denominated exclusively 
in euro (86% of NAV) and in USD (14% of NAV).  
 
  

                                                           
1  The VaR is calculated net of intragroup securities and investments in hedge funds. 
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Banking Book Portfolio of the UBI Banca Group 30.9.2011 Average Minimum Maximum

Currency risk 145.902               97.541               63.422               163.928             

Interest rate risk 12.480.499          46.176.125        6.611.870          72.378.637        

Equity risk (1) 3.626.914            4.103.453          3.432.609          5.033.058          

Credit risk 103.651.042        37.941.550        8.678.983          103.679.380      

Volatility risk 702.213               258.483             69.816               740.967             

Diversif ication effect (2) (12.148.029)         

Total (1) (3) 108.458.541        75.930.265        58.529.814        108.621.078      

(1) Does not include VaR on hedge funds.
(2) The diversif ication effect is due to the imperfect correlation betw een the different risk factors present in the Group’s portfolio.
(3) The maximum VaR w as detected on 27/09 and the minimum VaR on 30/06
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Foreign currency risk  
 
Currency risk is calculated on the basis of mismatches existing between assets and liabilities 
in foreign currency (spot and forward), relating to each currency other than euro. The main 

sources of risk are as follows:  

� lending and funding in foreign currency with corporate and retail customers;  
� holding financial instruments denominated in foreign currency;  
� holding units in OICR (collective investment instruments) for which, even if they are 

denominated in euro, it is not possible to determine the composition in foreign currency of 
the underlying investments and/or for which the maximum limit on investment in foreign 
currency is not known and binding;  

� dealing in foreign bank notes.  
 
Foreign currency risk in the Group regards banking book exposures originated by the network 
banks and/or by the product companies – resulting from their commercial activities – and 
their positions relating to trading in foreign currency.  
Trading on foreign exchange markets is performed by the Group treasury function which 
operates by using instruments such as forward trades, forex swaps, domestic currency swaps 
and currency options, thereby optimising risks resulting from positions in foreign currency.  
Exposure to currency risk is calculated starting from the net foreign currency position using a 
method based on supervisory regulations. Equity investments and tangible assets are not 
included in the calculation of the net foreign currency position.  
 
 

Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is defined in the UBI Banca Group as the risk of the failure to meet payment 
obligations which can be caused either by an inability to raise funds or by raising them at 
higher than market costs (funding liquidity risk), or the presence of restrictions on the ability 
to sell assets (market liquidity risk) with losses incurred on capital account.  
Structural liquidity risk is the risk resulting from inadequate matching of maturities for assets 
and liabilities.  
The primary objective of the liquidity risk management system is to enable the Group to meet 
its payment obligations and to raise additional funding at a minimum cost and without 
prejudice to potential future income.  
The reference framework for the measurement, monitoring and management of exposure to 
liquidity risk is defined annually as part of the Financial Risks Policy and the relative 
regulations approved by the corporate governance bodies.  
Corporate risk policies are supplemented by a contingency funding plan (CFP), an emergency 
plan for liquidity management, the main aim of which is to protect the Bank’s assets in 
situations of liquidity drainage, by putting in place crisis management strategies and 
procedures to find sources of funding in cases of emergency.  
 
As already reported in  the half year financial report, the Financial Risk Management Policy approved for 
2011 and the relative regulations giving details of operational limits significantly revised both the system 
for monitoring liquidity risk and that for structural balance between assets and liabilities, in order to 
incorporate the developments and recommendations of the international process in progress to revise the 
regulations governing liquidity risk.  
More specifically, liquidity risk is managed by means of the measurement, monitoring and management of 
the expected liquidity requirement, using a net liquidity balance model of analysis at consolidated level over 
a time horizon of 30 days, supplemented with stress tests designed to assess the Group’s ability to 
withstand crisis scenarios characterised by an increasing level of severity.  
Finally, the management of structural balance is performed by using models which measure the degree of 
stability of liabilities and the degree of liquidity of assets in order to mitigate risk associated with the 
transformation of maturities within a tolerance threshold considered acceptable by the Group.  

The following are responsible for liquidity risk management:  
- the Finance Macro Area (1st level management), which monitors liquidity daily and manages risk on the 

basis of defined limits;  
- the Risk Management Area (2nd level management), responsible for periodically verifying that limits are 

observed.  
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The system for the measurement and monitoring of liquidity risk is structured in accordance 
with policies and the principles concerning the diversification of the sources of funding, short 
term liquidity management, structural liquidity management and the contingency funding 
plan.  
 
 

Operational risks  
 
Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed procedures, 
human resources and internal systems or from exogenous events. This type of risk includes 
loss resulting from fraud, human error, business disruption, system failure, non performance 
of contracts and natural disasters.  
This definition includes the legal risk of losses resulting from violations of laws and 
regulations and from contractual or non contractual responsibilities or from other litigation, 
but it does not include reputational and strategic risk.  
Information on general aspects, the processes and operational risk management and 
measurement systems has been reported in detail in the part E, section 1, sub-section 4 – 
Operational Risks – of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2010 Annual 
Report, which may be consulted.  
 
 
Quantitative information  
 
The main sources of operational risk for the UBI Banca Group in the last five year period (30th 
September 2006 - 30th September 2011) were “processes” (20% of frequencies and 50% of 
impacts) and “external causes” (78% of frequencies and 43% of impacts).  
 
The “external context” risk driver included human actions performed by third parties and not 
directly under the control of the Bank, such as for example thefts and robberies, paper fraud, 
damage caused by natural events (earthquakes, floods, etc.) and other external events. The 
“process” risk driver included unintentional errors and incorrect application of regulations.  
 
 
 

Percentage of operational losses by risk driver  

(detected in the period 30th September 2006 – 30th September 2011)  

 
 Event frequency  Profit impact 

 
 
  

77,94%

1,13%
19,83%

1,10%

External causes (external context) Persons (human factor)

Processes Systems

42,89%

5,88%

49,68%

1,55%

External causes (external context) Persons (human factor)

Processes Systems
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Operational losses in the first nine months of the year were again concentrated on the 
following risk factors: ‘processes’ (28% of frequencies and 68% of the total impacts detected) 
and ‘external causes’ (68% of frequencies and 22% of the total impacts detected).  
 
 

Percentage of operational losses by risk driver  

(detected in the period 1st January 2011 – 30th September 2011)  

 

 Event frequency  Profit impact 

 
 
 
 
 
The event types with the highest concentration of operational losses in the last five years were 
‘external fraud’ (74% of frequencies and 40% of the total impacts recorded) and ‘customers, 
products and professional practices’ (7% of frequencies and 29% of the total impacts 
recorded).  
 
 

Percentage of operational losses by type of event  

(detected in the period 30th September 2006 – 30th September 2011)  

 

 Event frequency  Profit impact 

 

 
  

67,55%

2,79%

27,96%

1,70%

External causes (external context) Persons (human factor)

Processes Systems

21,61%

9,33%

68,27%

0,79%

External causes (external context) Persons (human factor)

Processes Systems

7,18%

1,17%

12,71%

73,86%

0,27%

1,06%
3,75%

Customers, products and professional practices Damage from external events

Execution, delivery and process management External fraud

Internal fraud Business interruption and system malfunctions

Employment and safety at work

28,72%

1,34%

21,06%

40,27%

3,27%
1,55% 3,79%

Customers, products and professional practices Damage from external events

Execution, delivery and process management External fraud

Internal fraud Business interruption and system malfunctions

Employment and safety at work
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Risk detected in the first nine months of the year was concentrated mainly in the event types 
“execution, delivery and process management” (16% of frequencies and 52% of the total 
impacts detected), “external fraud” (61% of frequencies and 19% of the total impacts detected) 
and “customers, products and professional practices’’ (12% of frequencies and 16% of the total 
impacts detected). An increase in credit fraud was found within the item “external fraud”.  
 
 

Percentage of operational losses by type of event  

(detected in the period 1st January 2011 – 30th September 2011)  

 
Event frequency  Profit impact 

 

 
Operational losses detected in the first nine months of 2011 were concentrated above all in the 
“retail banking” (65%), “trading and sales” (14%) and “retail brokerage” (11%) lines of business.  
 
 
 
Capital requirements  
 
Since 2008 the UBI Banca Group has employed the “traditional standardised approach” (TSA) 
in combined use with the “basic indicator approach” (BIA) for the calculation of capital 
requirements for operational risks and it has started activities to apply to the Bank of Italy for 
authorisation to use an internal “advanced measurement approach” (AMA) in combined use 
with the TSA and BIA approaches (partial AMA, where “partial” is intended as the adoption of 
the AMA approach on some lines of business or Group entities only).  
 
The consolidated capital requirement as at 30th September 2011, calculated as the average of 
the ratios for the last three years, amounted to 489 million euro, consisting of 440 million euro 
relating to the TSA component and 49 million euro to the BIA component. On average the 
retail banking business sector absorbed 50% of the TSA component and the commercial 
banking business sector 27%. The average coefficient of capital absorption with respect to the 
significant indicator was 13%.  
 

12,25%
2,27%

16,46%

60,64%

0,66%
1,66%

6,06%

Customers, products and professional practices Damage from external events

Execution, delivery and process management External fraud

Internal fraud Business interruption and system malfunctions

Employment and safety at work

16,26%

1,04%

52,33%

19,46%

1,81%0,52%

8,58%

Customers, products and professional practices Damage from external events
Execution, delivery and process management External fraud
Internal fraud Business interruption and system malfunctions
Employment and safety at work
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Consolidated companies: the principal 
figures  

Figures in thousands of euro
January - 

September 2011
January - 

September 2010
Change % change

2010

Unione di Banche Italiane Scpa 34.326 390.320  (355.994)  (91,2%)  283.720 

Banca Popolare di Bergamo Spa 124.027 78.728 45.299 57,5% 106.719 

Banco di Brescia Spa 75.457 62.162 13.295 21,4% 71.979 

Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria Spa 39.979 21.423 18.556 86,6% 21.914 

Banca Regionale Europea Spa (1) 22.911 238.937  (216.026)  (90,4%)  246.375 

Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa 19.963 17.785 2.178 12,2% 18.340 

Banca Carime Spa 30.145 23.684 6.461 27,3% 37.652 

Banca di Valle Camonica Spa  (607) 3.554  (4.161) n.s. 1.574 

Banco di San Giorgio Spa 2.616  (467) 3.083 n.s. 375 

UBI Banca Private Investment Spa 326  (1.030) 1.356 n.s. 57 

Centrobanca Spa (2) 14.926 17.701  (2.775)  (15,7%)  16.153 

Centrobanca Sviluppo Impresa SGR Spa 264 40 224 n.s. 287 

Banque de Dépôts et de Gestion Sa (*) (3)  (3.690)  (8.097)  (4.407)  (54,4%)   (7.767) 

B@nca 24-7 Spa 14.265  (4.565) 18.830 n.s.  (5.723) 

BY YOU Spa  (117) 2.219  (2.336) n.s. 2.187 

IW Bank Spa (4) 736 847  (111)  (13,1%)   (444) 

UBI Banca International Sa (*) 8.622 6.348 2.274 35,8% 8.908 

UBI Pramerica SGR Spa 22.820 24.077  (1.257)  (5,2%)  38.475 

UBI Leasing Spa  (6.379) 3.506  (9.885) n.s.  (20.632) 

UBI Factor Spa 1.665 14.217  (12.552)  (88,3%)  18.601 

BPB Immobiliare Srl 663 1.101  (438)  (39,8%)  747 

Società Bresciana Immobiliare Mobiliare - S.B.I.M. Spa 900 944  (44)  (4,7%)  1.251 

UBI Sistemi e Servizi SCpA 3.782 5.282  (1.500)  (28,4%)  -

UBI Fiduciaria Spa  (29)  (1) 28 n.s. 209 

UBI Assicurazioni Spa (49,99%) 1.735  (1.653) 3.388 n.s.  (2.168) 

Aviva Assicurazioni Vita Spa (49,99%) 1.361 1.500  (139)  (9,3%)  1.500 

Aviva Vita Spa (50%) 5.650 8.050  (2.400)  (29,8%)  2.000 

Lombarda Vita Spa (49,90%) 4.001 10.177  (6.176)  (60,7%)  14.333 

UBI Insurance Broker Srl 295 221 74 33,5% 3.571 

UBI Trustee Sa  (33)  (107)  (74)  (69,2%)  25 

Coralis Rent Srl  (651)  (484) 167 34,5% 271 

CONSOLIDATED 182.669 197.734  (15.065)  (7,6%)  172.121 

Profit

 
 
 
 
(*)   The profit shown is from the financial statements prepared for the consolidation according to the accounting policies followed by 

the Parent.  

(1) The figure for the first nine months of 2010 includes a gain realised on the sale of an interest held in BPCI to the Banca del Monte 
di Lombardia Foundation on conclusion of the branch switching operation.  

(2) The figure for the first nine months of 2010 has been restated for consistency by including the result for CB Invest Spa, merged on 
27th December 2010.  

(3)  The figure for the first nine months of 2010 has been restated for consistency by including the results for Gestioni Lombarda 
Suisse Sa, merged on 31st October 2010.  

(4)  The figure for the first nine months of 2010 includes the result for Twice Sim, merged on 1st November 2010.  
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Net loans to customers

Figures in thousands of euro
30.9.2011

A
30.6.2011

B
31.12.2010

C
30.9.2010

D
Change A-D

% change                           
A/D

Unione di Banche Italiane Scpa 13.607.259 13.492.679 14.536.121 14.119.866 -512.607 -3,6% 

Banca Popolare di Bergamo Spa 20.966.026 20.927.007 20.276.206 20.357.476 608.550 3,0% 

Banco di Brescia Spa 15.143.098 15.035.328 15.078.204 15.311.509 -168.411 -1,1% 

Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria Spa 9.068.193 8.989.561 8.885.600 8.829.937 238.256 2,7% 

Banca Regionale Europea Spa 7.259.752 7.203.310 6.851.620 6.793.143 466.609 6,9% 

Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa 7.997.114 7.942.360 7.702.345 7.606.077 391.037 5,1% 

Banca Carime Spa 4.968.514 4.944.867 4.765.224 4.704.211 264.303 5,6% 

Banca di Valle Camonica Spa 1.903.304 1.920.291 1.885.564 1.874.293 29.011 1,5% 

Banco di San Giorgio Spa 2.870.220 2.830.399 2.787.617 2.736.276 133.944 4,9% 

UBI Banca Private Investment Spa 460.949 453.384 439.511 436.118 24.831 5,7% 

Centrobanca Spa (1) 7.257.598 7.178.071 6.972.678 6.820.374 437.224 6,4% 

Banque de Dépôts et de Gestion Sa 216.267 215.256 207.425 292.910 -76.643 -26,2% 

B@nca 24-7 Spa 10.783.307 11.022.909 11.219.553 11.116.089 -332.782 -3,0% 

UBI Banca International Sa 1.037.050 1.014.013 1.095.406 924.569 112.481 12,2% 

IW Bank Spa (2) 228.287 218.314 207.028 183.317 44.970 24,5% 

UBI Factor Spa 2.584.579 2.570.423 2.744.758 2.404.861 179.718 7,5% 

UBI Leasing Spa 9.405.662 9.601.672 9.698.555 9.753.845     -348.183 -3,6% 

CONSOLIDATED 102.765.316 102.774.467 101.814.829 101.195.034 1.570.282 1,6% 

 
 
 

Percentages 30.9.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010 30.9.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010 30.9.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010

Unione di Banche Italiane Scpa -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Banca Popolare di Bergamo Spa 2,03% 1,74% 1,63% 2,32% 1,87% 1,51% 4,35% 3,61% 3,14% 

Banco di Brescia Spa 1,45% 1,23% 1,17% 2,65% 2,11% 1,95% 4,10% 3,34% 3,12% 

Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria Spa 3,23% 2,96% 2,87% 2,19% 2,53% 2,11% 5,42% 5,49% 4,98% 

Banca Regionale Europea Spa 1,99% 1,88% 1,77% 2,50% 1,91% 1,59% 4,49% 3,79% 3,36% 

Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa 4,18% 3,73% 3,47% 3,59% 3,29% 3,12% 7,77% 7,02% 6,59% 

Banca Carime Spa 1,68% 1,24% 1,16% 3,39% 2,27% 2,08% 5,07% 3,51% 3,24% 

Banca di Valle Camonica Spa 2,41% 1,60% 1,55% 3,16% 2,52% 1,90% 5,57% 4,12% 3,45% 

Banco di San Giorgio Spa 2,12% 1,68% 1,65% 5,74% 4,34% 3,85% 7,86% 6,02% 5,50% 

UBI Banca Private Investment Spa 1,46% 1,17% 1,11% 1,15% 1,34% 1,00% 2,61% 2,51% 2,11% 

Centrobanca Spa (1) 1,31% 1,16% 1,24% 3,43% 2,07% 2,30% 4,74% 3,23% 3,54% 

Banque de Dépôts et de Gestion Sa 0,13% 0,09% 0,29% 1,75% 0,65% 0,27% 1,88% 0,74% 0,56% 

B@nca 24-7 Spa 2,09% 1,55% 1,53% 0,98% 0,65% 0,67% 3,07% 2,20% 2,20% 

UBI Banca International Sa 0,11% 0,07% 0,06% 2,17% 1,93% 2,46% 2,28% 2,00% 2,52% 

IW Bank Spa (2) 0,00% 0,00% 0,08% 0,01% 0,01% 0,01% 0,01% 0,01% 0,09% 

UBI Factor Spa 0,55% 0,42% 0,52% 0,16% 0,15% 0,19% 0,71% 0,57% 0,71% 

UBI Leasing Spa 4,12% 3,19% 2,19% 2,77% 1,91% 2,67% 6,89% 5,10% 4,86% 

CONSOLIDATED 2,28% 1,91% 1,75% 2,55% 2,00% 1,89% 4,83% 3,91% 3,64% 

Net non-performing loans+Net 

impaired loans / Net loans

Net non-performing 

loans / net loans

Net impaired loans / 

net loans

 
 
 
 

(1) The figures as at 30th September 2010 have been restated for consistency to include the business of CB Invest Spa, merged on 27th 

December 2010.  

(2) The figures as at 30th September 2010 have been restated for consistency by including the amounts for Twice Sim, merged on 1st 

November 2010.  
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Direct funding from customers

Figures in thousands of euro
30.9.2011

A
30.6.2011

B
31.12.2010

C
30.9.2010

D
Change A-D

% change                           
A/D

Unione di Banche Italiane Scpa 32.928.966 33.074.644 31.369.474 29.859.648 3.069.318 10,3% 

Banca Popolare di Bergamo Spa 20.014.007 19.881.638 20.546.068 20.197.582 -183.575 -0,9% 

Banco di Brescia Spa (1) 11.316.154 11.639.429 11.736.765 12.074.234 -758.080 -6,3% 

Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria Spa  7.663.801 7.637.694 7.994.465 7.870.895 -207.094 -2,6% 

Banca Regionale Europea Spa 5.410.405 5.651.905 5.391.805 5.394.797 15.608 0,3% 

Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa 6.444.491 6.451.258 6.485.148 6.398.937 45.554 0,7% 

Banca Carime Spa 7.582.775 7.551.969 7.562.665 7.574.670 8.105 0,1% 

Banca di Valle Camonica Spa 1.404.098 1.406.727 1.421.234 1.414.825 -10.727 -0,8% 

Banco di San Giorgio Spa 1.708.739 1.711.680 1.572.492 1.564.090 144.649 9,2% 

UBI Banca Private Investment Spa 522.133 481.764 489.429 515.953 6.180 1,2% 

Centrobanca Spa 4.388.985 4.365.970 5.345.526 4.162.658 226.327 5,4% 

Banque de Dépôts et de Gestion Sa (2) 407.097 409.409 419.437 537.320 -130.223 -24,2% 

B@nca 24-7 Spa 10.240 19.022 23.861 25.664 -15.424 -60,1% 

UBI Banca International Sa (3) 994.224 1.291.332 1.266.869 1.131.264 -137.040 -12,1% 

IW Bank Spa (4) 1.908.779 1.684.452 1.513.127 1.563.688 345.091 22,1% 

CONSOLIDATED 103.895.421 106.163.877 106.760.045 103.876.113 19.308 0,0% 

 
 
Direct funding from customers includes amounts due to customers and securities issued, with the exclusion of bonds subscribed 
directly by companies in the Group.  

 
 

Direct funding for the following banks was therefore adjusted as follows:  

BANKS 30.9.2011 30.6.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010 

UBI Banca 3.915,1 million euro 3.762,5 million euro 3.421 million euro 2.910,6 million euro 

Banca Popolare di Bergamo 50 million euro 50 million euro 50 million euro 856,1 million euro 

Banco di Brescia 748,4 million euro 750,5 million euro 382,2 million euro 535,9 million euro 

Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria - - 181 million euro 180 million euro 

Banca Popolare di Ancona - - 352 million euro 531,3 million euro 

Centrobanca 2.338,1 million euro 2.326,2 million euro 201,6 million euro 703,5 million euro 

Banca Regionale Europea 200,1 million euro 201,1 million euro 201 million euro 200,1 million euro 

Banca di Valle Camonica 253,2 million euro 253,9 million euro 201,7 million euro 351,7 million euro 

Banco di San Giorgio 762,9 million euro 792,3 million euro 332,4 million euro 790,3 million euro 

UBI Banca Private Investment -  -  - 75,6 million euro 

B@nca 24-7 5,751,9 million euro 5.743,1 million euro 4.321 million euro 4.766,8 million euro 

 
 
 
 

(1) The figure as at 30th September 2010 is net of issues of French certificates of deposit and euro commercial paper totalling 5.506,9 

million euro.  

(2) The figure as at 30th September 2010 has been restated for consistency by including the funding of Gestioni Lombarda Suisse Sa, 

merged on 31st October 2010.  

(3) The figure as at 30th September 2011 is net of issues of French certificates of deposit and euro commercial paper for a total of 

4.938,6 million euro (6.641 million euro as at 30th June 2011; 7.042,5 million euro as at 31st December 2011; 1.031,4 million euro 
as at 30th September 2010).  

(4) The figure as at 30th September 2010 has been restated for consistency by including the amounts for Twice SIM Spa, merged on 1st 
November 2010.  
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Indirect funding from customers (at market prices)

Figures in thousands of euro
30.9.2011

A
30.6.2011

B
31.12.2010

C
30.9.2010

D
Change A-D

% change                           
A/D

Unione di Banche Italiane Scpa 5                        5                        14                     13                     -8 -61,5% 

Banca Popolare di Bergamo Spa 24.217.835     26.786.257     24.944.977     25.188.372     -970.537 -3,9% 

Banco di Brescia Spa 13.320.627     14.251.398     14.849.800     15.244.710     -1.924.083 -12,6% 

Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria Spa 10.285.890     11.018.493     11.186.686     11.322.149     -1.036.259 -9,2% 

Banca Regionale Europea Spa 6.936.815        7.285.845        7.267.934        7.394.001        -457.186 -6,2% 

Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa 3.585.017        3.791.368        3.828.041        3.840.343        -255.326 -6,6% 

Banca Carime Spa 5.455.029        5.761.492        5.753.026        5.723.282        -268.253 -4,7% 

Banca di Valle Camonica Spa 1.031.992        1.076.134        1.065.405        1.053.096        -21.104 -2,0% 

Banco di San Giorgio Spa 1.479.754        1.574.955        1.644.556        1.695.816        -216.062 -12,7% 

UBI Banca Private Investment Spa 5.007.491        5.404.056        5.420.922        5.281.864        -274.373 -5,2% 

Banque de Dépôts et de Gestion Sa (1) 873.743           946.075           991.880           1.182.669        -308.926 -26,1% 

Lombarda Vita Spa 5.076.214        5.091.790        5.149.988        5.376.838        -300.624 -5,6% 

Aviva Assicurazioni Vita Spa 2.140.799        2.183.089        2.305.298        2.368.967        -228.168 -9,6% 

UBI Pramerica SGR Spa 22.009.921     23.782.939     25.047.354     25.520.345     -3.510.424 -13,8% 

UBI Banca International Sa 2.883.161        3.060.822        2.971.932        2.833.973        49.188 1,7% 

IW Bank Spa (2) 3.030.618        2.833.930        3.037.925        2.833.930        196.688 6,9% 

Aviva Vita Spa 4.291.249        4.371.566        4.374.554        4.372.712        -81.463 -1,9% 

CONSOLIDATED 73.088.860     78.565.784     78.078.869     79.036.272 -5.947.412 -7,5% 

 
 
 

Assets under management (at market prices)

Figures in thousands of euro
30.9.2011

A
30.6.2011

B
31.12.2010

C
30.9.2010

D
Change A-D

% change                           
A/D

Unione di Banche Italiane Scpa -                         -                         9 8                        -8 -100,0% 

Banca Popolare di Bergamo Spa 11.542.408 12.230.981 12.460.373 12.486.270     -943.862 -7,6% 

Banco di Brescia Spa 6.917.020 7.241.797 7.569.511 7.872.017        -954.997 -12,1% 

Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria Spa 4.328.063 4.605.061 4.743.435 4.792.651        -464.588 -9,7% 

Banca Regionale Europea Spa 3.915.157 4.082.798 4.205.324 4.340.270        -425.113 -9,8% 

Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa 1.683.635 1.781.463 1.879.189 1.912.612        -228.977 -12,0% 

Banca Carime Spa 3.220.997 3.457.827 3.688.062 3.772.946        -551.949 -14,6% 

Banca di Valle Camonica Spa 472.666 489.465 513.063 521.638           -48.972 -9,4% 

Banco di San Giorgio Spa 543.381 582.694 637.651 656.654           -113.273 -17,3% 

UBI Banca Private Investment Spa 3.703.213 3.977.242 4.073.214 3.963.151        -259.938 -6,6% 

Banque de Dépôts et de Gestion Sa (1) 873.743 946.075 991.880 1.182.669        -308.926 -26,1% 

Lombarda Vita Spa 5.076.214 5.091.790 5.149.988 5.376.838        -300.624 -5,6% 

Aviva Assicurazioni Vita Spa 2.140.799 2.183.089 2.305.298 2.368.967        -228.168 -9,6% 

UBI Pramerica SGR Spa 22.009.921 23.782.939 25.047.354 25.520.345     -3.510.424 -13,8% 

UBI Banca International Sa 177.359 152.883 289.940 268.910           -91.551 -34,0% 

IW Bank Spa (2) 428.937 491.831 496.899 462.301           -33.364 -7,2% 

Aviva Vita Spa 4.291.249 4.371.566 4.374.554 4.372.712        -81.463 -1,9% 

CONSOLIDATED 38.701.761 41.122.089 42.629.553 43.348.208 -4.646.447 -10,7% 
 

 
 
 

(1) The figures as at 30th September 2010 have been restated for consistency by including the amounts for Gestioni Lombarda Suisse 
Sa, merged on 31st  October 2010.  

(2) The figures as at 30th September 2010 have been restated for consistency to include the amounts for Twice SIM Spa merged on 1st 
November 2010.  
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Other information  

Litigation  

On 11th October 2011, Centrobanca was served with a writ of summons from the Burani 
Designers Holding NV (“BDH”) bankruptcy (advised by Prof. Avv. Bruno Inzitari) to appear 

before the Court of Milan. It claimed Centrobanca was liable in relation to a public tender offer 
to purchase launched by Mariella Burani Family Holding Spa on the shares of Mariella Burani 
Fashion Group Spa (“BFG”). According to the writ of summons, the Burani family and the 
directors of BDH provided an inaccurate representation of the accounts to third parties and 
markets and conceived of and promoted the public tender offer to purchase with the sole 
purpose of artificially inflating the price of the BFG share, in order to delay the bankruptcy of 
the Burani Group. In this context Centrobanca is considered responsible for the abusive grant 
of loans to support the aforementioned operation, allowing it to be performed and for 
generating false confidence in the capital and financial solidity of the Burani Group in 
creditors and the market.  

The damages claimed against Centrobanca in the writ of summons amount to 134.366.077 
euro. The first hearing is scheduled for February 2012.  

Centrobanca disputes the claims and has instructed its legal advisors to prepare a defence. 
That summons follows on from a previous letter, again sent by the receiver, the contents of 
which were basically the same and the statements and claims made in the letter had been 
firmly rejected, stating, moreover, that Centrobanca had been accepted as a creditor in all the 
creditor proceedings concerning the companies in the Burani Group.  
 
As already reported, the total gross exposure of the UBI Banca Group to the Burani Group 
amounted to approximately 72,5 million euro, on which impairment losses of 94,3% have been 
recognised.  
 
 
 

Inspections  

As already reported in the half year report, the Bank of Italy performed inspections of the 
Group between the end of January and the end of June in the current year, pursuant to Art. 
68 of Legislative Decree No. 385/1993 (consolidated banking act). They concerned the 
management and measurement of risks assumed by the product companies which use large 
distribution networks (UBI Banca Lombarda Private Investment and B@nca 24-7) or operate 
online (IW Bank).  
On 23rd September the supervisory authority communicated its “Remarks and observations” 
with regard to those inspections. Some failings were reported into which the units responsible 
at the Parent conducted a thorough investigation to assess the weaknesses found, together 
with the lines of action already actually taken during the inspection or which the Group 
intends to take without delay to rapidly remedy those weaknesses. On 24th October UBI Banca 
furnished detailed replies to each of the remarks and observations contained in the inspection 
report.  
Finally, with regard to B@nca 24-7, irregularities were alleged pursuant to Art. 145 of 
Legislative Decree No. 385/1993 already mentioned, which mainly regarded the prior position 
of the company, with the commencement of the relative penalty procedures concerning 
company personnel. B@nca 24-7 presented its defence to the supervisory authority against 
those allegations.  
 
Some of the actions of an ownership nature already taken with regard to B@nca 24-7 are 
reported in the section on events subsequent to the end of the third quarter. 
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Tax aspects  

Summary of changes introduced during the quarter  

In recent months provisions have been issued which concern the Group: the “Development 
Decree” Decree Law No. 70 of 13th May 2011 and the “Financial stabilisation decrees” Decree 
Law No. 98 of 6th July 2011 and Decree Law No. 138 of 13th August 2011. While these decrees 
have been converted into law, no definitive interpretative framework has been furnished. The 
most important points of these measures are given below.  

Development Decree – Decree Law No. 70/2011  

This decree, converted into Law No. 106 of 12th July 2011, introduced simplifications into the 
tax obligations of taxpayers, with regard to the following:  

- tax inspections;  
- tax assessment enforcement;  
- tax collection;  
- income tax and/or substitute tax returns;  
- the documentation for some transactions;  
- recalculation of some asset values for tax purposes.  

Measures to facilitate the issue by banks of special bonds for investment in Southern Italy are 
of greater importance, with the application of a 5% withholding tax instead of the ordinary rate 
of 12,50%.  
Measures affecting property funds are equally important with the introduction of a 20% tax on 
income paid to investors on condition that they do not hold more than 5% of the fund itself. In 
this event taxation is on a “transparency basis” (tax on earnings declared by the fund is paid 
directly by the individual investors).  

Financial stabilisation decree – Decree Law No. 98/2011  

This decree, converted into Law No. 111 of 15th July 2011, has significant effects for the 
banking sector:  

- an increase of 0,75 percentage points from 3,90% to 4,65% in the base rate on the Imposta 
Regionale sulle Attività Produttive (IRAP - local production tax) tax for banks and financial 
intermediaries. Extra regional percentages must then be added to this base rate. The 
measure is effective from 1st January 2011;  

- an appreciable increase in stamp duty on the communication relating to the custodial 
deposit of customer securities. The new measure sets a duty ranging from a minimum of 
34,20 euro to a maximum of 680 euro annually, depending on the value of the securities 
deposited. These amounts will increase from 2013, with the base rate remaining at 34,20 
euro and the maximum rate rising to 1.100 euro;  

- the reduction to 4% from the previous 10% in the rate for the withholding tax applied by 
banks on payments made by taxpayers who intend to benefit from deductible expenses i.e. 
building work, refurbishment, etc.;  

- the introduction of the right to realign, for tax purposes, increases in the value of equity 
investments held by parties who perform extraordinary transactions or acquired in relation 
to the sale/purchase of a company. The realignment only concerns increases in the value of 
equity investments attributable to goodwill, brands or other intangible assets where the 
investing company is required to prepare consolidated financial statements for those equity 
investments. The relative tax relief involves a lump sum payment on 30th  November 2011 of 
a substitute tax of 16%. The amortisation for tax purposes of the increased value may be 
performed from 2013 over ten tax years;  

- further measures of a procedural nature concerning tax inspections and business relations 
with investees resident in EU countries.  

Second financial stabilisation decree – Decree Law No. 138/2011  

This decree, converted into Law No. 148 of 14th September 2011, introduces further important 
changes for companies and for the banking sector:  

- the increase in the ordinary VAT rate from 20% to 21%;  
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- a change in the withholding tax on income from capital and on capital gains to 20% from 
the current rates of 12,5% and 27% for bank deposits, current accounts and certificates of 
deposit. The new rate, which does not apply to Italian government securities, will enter into 
force on 1st January 2012. Some transition mechanisms have been provided. This will 
involve costly changes in procedures, both in terms of IT systems and documents;  

- the reduction to 2.500 euro of the threshold for the use of cash and bearer instruments;  
- the introduction of stamp duty on money transfers;  

- more severe taxation on shell companies;  
- further obligations for reporting to tax authorities on financial relationships with customers 

(i.e. selected lists).  
 

TAX FOR ENTITIES SUBJECT TO IFRS  

As already reported in the half year financial report, a Ministerial Decree of 8th June 2011 was 
published on 13th June 2011, which adds to previous regulations concerning the tax 
treatment for corporate income tax (IRES) and local production tax (IRAP) purposes for those 
entities subject to IFRS and more specifically concerning the implementation of the “reinforced 
derivation principle”.  
With regard to interpretation, in addition to the tax authority circulars No. 7/2011, No. 
23/2011 and No. 33/2011, already discussed in the half year financial report, which may be 
consulted, Resolution No. 94/E of 22nd September 2011 has now been issued which regulates 
the transformation of deferred tax assets into tax credits  as provided for by the “Thousand 
extensions” decree (Decree Law No. 225/2010 converted into Law No 10 of 26th February 2011). 
More specifically, where statutory accounting losses have been recorded, companies may use 
that legislation from the approval of the relative financial report onwards.  
 

BUSINESS WITH NON RESIDENTS – TRANSFER PRICES  

With regard to the special procedures designed to prevent resident companies from being 
subject to tax penalties in relation to violations concerning the determination of “transfer 
prices” for tax purposes (Art. 110, paragraph 7 of the Consolidated Income Tax Act) in relation 
to transactions and business with foreign subsidiaries, UBI Banca prepared the relative 
“master file” and the national documentation for the tax year 2010 in the third quarter.  
 

BUSINESS WITH SUBSIDIARIES RESIDENT ABROAD  

As already reported, Art. 167 of the  Consolidated Income Tax Act currently in force requires 
resident companies which hold controlling interests in non-resident companies to verify the 
composition of the profits and the level of taxation on them. Where these figures do not meet 
specific parameters – i.e. intragroup business and financial income of greater than 50% of 
total income and taxation lower than 50% of domestic rates – a special appeal application 
must be made to the tax authorities to confirm the actual foreign presence of the investee, also 
in terms of tax. In response to appeal applications filed in May concerning the six controlled 
companies resident in Delaware and the subsidiary UBI International Luxembourg, at the end 
of September the tax authorities requested further documentation to support the appeal 
application. We feel confident that the documentation will confirm the appropriateness of the 
tax accounting treatment employed by those subsidiaries.  
 
 

Tax litigation  
 
As already reported, most companies in the group have adopted IFRS accounting standards 
and also the relative taxation for direct tax purposes was not clearly defined in the legislation 
until the enactment of the 2008 Finance Act (Law No. 244/2007), the issue of the relative 
Regulation No. 48/2009 and the Ministerial Decree of 8th  June 2011, and, in terms of 
interpretation, the issue of tax authority circular No. 7/E/2011. This, together with the 
complexity of specific tax legislation in the financial and banking sectors has generated 
questions of interpretation both now and in the past, with respect to which the tax authorities 
make objections in terms of the interpretation of the legislation or with regard to the issue of 
tax avoidance and evasion.  
It must also be considered that because of the magnitude of their revenues most companies in 
the UBI Banca Group are classified as “large taxpayers” and they therefore fall under the 
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regional departments of the tax authorities for both tax inspections and the subsequent tax 
litigation.  
 
In relation to the above, the Group has been subjected to a significant number of tax 
inspections in recent years followed by tax assessment reports, from which notices of tax 
assessment have arisen, which generally confirm what was found during the inspection. 
Where tax consolidation for corporate income tax (IRES) purposes exists, with the relative joint 
liability, these inspections are then duplicated for the Parent as the consolidating company. A 
detailed report on these inspections and litigation is given in the interim consolidated report as 
at and for the period ended 30th June 2011, which may be consulted. Only new developments 
occurring in the third quarter are reported below.  
 
CENTROBANCA: following the tax assessment report received on 23rd July 2009, with which  the 
Lombardy Regional Department of the tax authorities approved the criteria employed for the 
recognition of loans to customers, and that is the impairment losses recognised on them where 
the derivation principle applies, introduced for entities subject to IFRS from 2005, on 20th July 
2011 a notice of tax assessment was received from the same department which takes no 
account whatsoever of the outcome of the criminal proceedings (which occurred in the 
meantime and concluded with a ruling of 8th June 2011 by the Court of Milan dismissing the 
case because there was “no case to answer”) and confirmed the results of the tax assessment 
report. An unsuccessful attempt was made to use compliance by consent procedures in 
relation to that notice of assessment.  
 
BANCA POPOLARE DI ANCONA: on conclusion of a tax inspection conducted for the tax years 2007 
and 2008, on 10th June 2011 the Marches Regional Department of the tax authorities served a 
tax assessment report which raised questions over the attribution of some expenses incurred. 
Considering the differing interpretation in law of the concept of the attribution of expenses, 
inclusive of documentation factors, it was decided to file an application for full compliance by 
consent with the tax assessment report pursuant to Art. 5 bis of Legislative Decree No. 

218/1997. A total payment of 602,7 thousand euro was therefore made on 7th September 
2011.  
 
UBI BANCA: on 23rd June the Bergamo tax unit of the Guardia di Finanza (finance police) 

commenced a tax inspection for the year 2008. The inspection was suspended indefinitely for 
reasons relating to the inspectors.  
 
BANCA REGIONALE EUROPEA: on 15th September the Piedmont Regional Department of the tax 
authorities commenced a tax inspection for the tax year 2008 on certain aspects of direct 
taxes. The preliminary examination of the documentation is currently in progress.  
 
UBI ASSICURAZIONI: on 4th October 2011 a tax inspection commenced  for IRES, IRAP and VAT 
purposes for the year 2008 on UBI Assicurazioni which was then a controlled company. At 
present the preliminary examination of the documentation is currently in progress.  
 
With regard to UBI Leasing and Banque de Dépôts et de Gestion, as already reported:  

- on 20th June 2011, on conclusion of a tax inspection which initially concerned the tax year 
2007, but was subsequently extended to also include the following years, the Brescia tax 
unit of the Guardia di Finanza (finance police) issued a tax assessment report to UBI 

LEASING (the inspection, which was interrupted repeatedly, had started in February 2009). 
The tax assessment report was centred primarily on the legality in civil (violation of the 
prohibition on agreements of forfeiture) and tax law of sale and lease back transactions on 
property (land), from which greater VAT payable arose amounting to 7,2 million euro. The 
Guardia di Finanza will file the tax assessment report with the Milan tax authorities 

(Lombardy Regional Department), which, if it agrees fully or in part with the findings, will 
issue the relative notice of assessment;  

- in May the Swiss tax authorities rejected the appeal made by UBI Banca and BANQUE DE 

DEPOTS ET DE GESTION against a demand concerning the failure by BDG to apply a 
withholding tax of 15% on dividends paid in the years 2006-2008 to its parent, UBI Banca. 
Since the latter held, on the contrary, that grounds existed in the case in question for the 
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application of the parent-subsidiary directives, a further appeal was lodged against the 
decision in the local courts.  

 
Lastly with regard to litigation in progress in the tax tribunals concerning the tax 
consolidation of the former Banca Lombarda e Piemontese for the tax year 2004 (which 
involved Banco di Brescia, UBI Banca Lombarda Private Investment, UBI Leasing and 
Capitalgest since merged into the Parent ), in a hearing of 6th June 2011 relating to a number 
of the cases in question, the Tax Commission of the Province of Milan adjourned the case until 
an indeterminate date for an attempt at an out-of-court settlement between the parties. In 
view of this, on 14th June 2011 UBI Banca, as the consolidating company, applied to the 
Lombardy Regional Department of the tax authorities for a settlement through compliance by 
consent procedures. While an official reply from the tax authorities has not yet been received, 
an unofficial communication of a successful outcome has been received.  
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Events subsequent to 30th September 2011 
and business outlook for consolidated 
operations  

No events of significance that might affect the operating results and financial position 
presented occurred after 30th September 2011, the reporting date of this interim financial 
report, and until 14th November 2011, the date of its approval by the Management Board of 
UBI Banca Scpa.  
 
A report is given below on decisions taken by the Management Board on 14th November 2011 
to simplify the customer service model.  
 
A series of activities to streamline the customer service model has been launched as part of 
the Group simplification process currently in progress.  
These activities have led to the redefinition of the service models for large corporate clients, in 
the consumer credit sector and with regard to the geographical market cover of some network 
banks. Implementation will include company ownership operations and will be completed 
during 2012 and in the first half of 2013. The initiatives planned will enable the Group to 
shorten decision-making processes, improve risk management and increase internal synergies, 
while pursuing organisational clarity and simplicity at the same time.  
The operations planned may also result in possible benefits in terms of tax efficiency.  
 
 
1) Large corporate clients (not related to local areas covered by network banks) and 

investment banking:  

The new service model involves the creation of a new “Large Corporate and Investment 
Banking” division at UBI Banca, which will operate in:  

- the management and development of business with a limited number of large corporate 
clients not directly related to local areas covered by the network banks;  

- the structuring and grant of complex finance both with Group and non-captive clients;  

- provision of value added services (e.g. advisory) to both Group and non-captive clients.  

In order to optimise operations, Centrobanca will be merged into UBI Banca and the 
development of Centrobanca’s current business will be transferred to divisions at the Parent.  

The development of former Centrobanca financial activities (e.g. market making and 
structured products) will be performed by the Parent, with savings on costs and the 
elimination of management and investment duplications.  

The merger of Centrobanca into UBI Banca is planned for the end of 2012 or the beginning of 
2013.  
 
 
2) Streamlining of “consumer credit” business:  

In relation to the higher risk of some lines of business and the need to focus lending 
operations, the Group has decided to reposition the activities performed by B@nca 24-7 in the 
consumer credit sector.  

The actions undertaken on B@nca 24-7 lines of business – some with implementation 
currently in progress – are as follows:  

- new grants of special purpose and personal loans to non-captive customers cease and 
activities are limited to the management of outstanding loans;  

- the disbursement of mortgages to non-captive customers through the brokerage company 
By You was transferred to the network banks of the UBI Group in May 2011, with a view to 
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the acquisition of new customers and a more balanced management of funding and risk 
control. No use of additional credit brokerage companies is planned;  

- distribution of personal loans to captive customers by the network banks;  

- the specialisation of the company Prestitalia (100% UBI Banca Group), appropriately 
expanded, in salary backed loan business. Also approximately 3,3 billion euro of 
outstanding salary backed loans held at present by B@nca 24-7 will be transferred to that 
company.  

 
Procedures for the merger of B@nca 24-7 into UBI Banca were commenced in relation to the 
reorganisation of activities. This will involve the transfer of outstanding captive mortgages and 
personal loans and non-captive personal and special purpose loans currently held by Banca 
24/7 to the Parent and the management of credit card business by UBI.  
 
The timing planned for the reorganisation of activities is as follows:  

- the contribution of assets consisting of salary backed loans from B@nca 24-7 to Prestitalia: 
second quarter of 2012;  

- the merger of B@anca 24-7 into UBI Banca: second quarter 2012, effective for accounting 
and tax purposes from 1st January 2012.  

 
 
3) The creation of a single banking operation in the North West  

Again with a view to Group simplification and local market focus, the creation of a single North 
West banking operation is planned through the merger of Banca Regionale Europea and 
Banco di San Giorgio.  

The operation will be carried out as follows:  

- Banca Regionale Europea, which already holds 57,50% of the share capital of Banco di San 
Giorgio, will acquire all the shares of Banco di San Giorgio held by UBI Banca (over 38% of 
the share capital);  

- Banco di San Giorgio will be merged into Banca Regionale Europea;  

- the following is planned in order to preserve the ties between Banco di San Giorgio and the 
local markets on which it operates after the merger:  

� the brand is maintained;  

� a foundation will be created to maintain links with local communities in Liguria. The 
foundation will be formed with an initial endowment from the “new” Banca Regionale 
Europea and its capital will be added to annually through the allocation of the main part 
of a provision made for initiatives and institutions with charitable, humanitarian, social, 
cultural and artistic purposes to be written into the corporate by-laws of Banca 
Regionale Europea.  

 
 
The figures for the two banks are as follows:  

The magnitude of BREs supervisory capital will allow 
the merger with Banco di San Giorgio without affecting 
the solidity of BRE itself. The new entity will also 
perform centralised management of funding and 
lending in order to achieve a better structural balance.  
The merger is planned for July 2012 with effect for 
accounting and tax purposes from 1st January 2012.  
 
 
 

On the basis of what are only very preliminary estimates, which will be further refined by the 
work of operative groups currently in progress, the three projects should involve one-off 
integration costs in 2012 of approximately 27 million euro and require investments to be 
capitalised of approximately 17 million euro, while it is expected that it will generate annual 
synergies conservatively estimated, on a pro-rata basis in the year of implementation and 
entirely in future years, at over 36 million euro.  

figures in percentages and billions of euro 
BRE BSG 

Core tier 1 ratio 25,25% 7% 

Total capital ratio 27,53% 9% 

Direct funding from customers 5,4 1,7 

Lending 7,3 2,9 

Branches 229 57 
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*   *   * 
 
The current context makes it extremely complex to make forecasts of operating performance 
due to the great uncertainties surrounding the problem of the pressures on sovereign debts 
and the possible transfer of the impacts of the financial crisis to the real economy and to 
industrial output in particular. Although this instability may as a whole have repercussions on 
both interest rates and volumes of business and interest rate levels, with account also taken of 
new regulatory orientations (those of the EBA in particular), it is nevertheless still possible to 
assume that net interest income and net commissions will remain generally unchanged, while 
financial income will be affected by developments in the national and international political 
situation.  
In normalised terms, operating expenses, which already include the possibility of provisions in 
relation to the renewal of the national labour contract and to variable remuneration (not 
present last year), are expected to remain unchanged as a whole compared to 2010, partly as a 
result of the trade union agreement signed in May 2010.  
With regard to credit quality, the forecast of achieving a lower annual loan loss rate below that 
for 2010 is confirmed at present.  
Further impairment losses or reversals may be recognised on the investment in Intesa 
Sanpaolo, depending on market performance.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bergamo, 14th November 2011  
 
 

THE MANAGEMENT BOARD  
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Mandatory interim consolidated financial 
statements as at and for the nine month 
period ended 30th September 2011  
Consolidated statement of financial position

Figures in thousands of euro
30.9.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010

ASSETS

10. Cash and cash equivalents 568.540 609.040 586.075

20. Financial assets held for trading 2.250.881 2.732.751 2.836.561

30. Financial assets at fair value 130.494                147.286                153.951                

40. Available-for-sale financial assets 8.365.381 10.252.619 10.954.989

60. Loans to banks 5.314.336 3.120.352 3.427.795

70. Loans to customers 102.765.316 101.814.829 101.195.034

80. Hedging derivatives 995.341 591.127 816.673

90. Fair value change in hedged financial assets (+/-) 675.977 429.073 796.414

100. Equity investments 351.463 368.894 375.800

120. Property, equipment and investment property 2.058.170 2.112.664 2.071.976

130. Intangible assets 5.268.352 5.475.385 5.478.993
of which:
- goodwill 4.286.210 4.416.660 4.413.791

140. Tax assets 2.604.967 1.723.231 1.379.250

a) current 329.104 650.177 376.384

b) deferred 2.275.863 1.073.054 1.002.866

150. Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 6.874 8.429 48.256

160. Other assets 2.272.277 1.172.889 1.622.444

133.628.369 130.558.569 131.744.211TOTAL ASSETS

 
 

Figures in thousands o f euro
30.9.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

10. Due to banks 8.611.714 5.383.977 7.126.257

20. Due to customers 56.392.736 58.666.157 57.412.547

30. Securities issued 47.502.685 48.093.888 46.463.566

40. Financial liabilities held for trading 654.949 954.423 978.064

60. Hedging derivatives 1.569.117 1.228.056 1.827.144

80. Tax liabilities 1.389.753 993.389 908.091

a) current 872.199 441.433 359.574

b) deferred 517.554 551.956 548.517

90. Liabilities associated with activities under disposal 827                        -                             -                             

100. Other liabilities 4.554.208 2.600.165 4.288.484

110. Post-employment benefits 389.096 393.163 402.921

120. Provisions for risks and charges: 326.203 303.572 295.747

a) pension and similar obligations 65.806 68.082 69.560

b) other provisions 260.397 235.490 226.187

140. Fair value reserves -988.434 -253.727 -161.596 

170. Reserves 2.413.933 2.362.382 2.349.910

180. Share premiums 7.429.913 7.100.378 7.100.378

190. Share capital 2.254.367 1.597.865 1.597.865

200. Treasury shares (-) -4.375 -                             -                             

210. Non-controlling interests (+/-) 949.008 962.760 957.099

220. Profit for the period/year (+/-) 182.669 172.121 197.734

133.628.369 130.558.569 131.744.211TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
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Consolidated income statement

Figures in thousands o f euro
9M 2011 9M 2010 FY 2010

10. Interest and similar income 2.963.309 2.593.597 3.525.312 

20. Interest expense and similar  (1.386.565)  (996.272)  (1.378.714) 

30. Net interest income 1.576.744 1.597.325 2.146.598 
40. Commission income 999.918 1.016.994 1.378.117 

50. Commission expense  (122.795)  (148.818)  (196.892) 

60. Net commission income 877.123 868.176 1.181.225 
70. Dividends and similar income 19.908 20.568 24.099 

80. Net trading loss  (3.390)  (50.899)  (56.891) 

90. Net hedging income 10.841 56.778 67.209 

100. Income/expenses from disposal or repurchase of: 10.353 1.409 17.057 
a) loans 441  (380)  (3.850) 
b) available-for-sale financial assets 10.607 12.121 31.245 
d) other financial transactions  (695)  (10.332)  (10.338) 

110. Net profit (loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value  (34.474) 6.183 6.669 

120. Gross income 2.457.105 2.499.540 3.385.966 
130. Net impairment losses on:  (537.502)  (473.907)  (756.653) 

a) loans  (398.665)  (455.715)  (706.932) 
b) available-for-sale financial assets  (138.674)  (19.427)  (42.364) 
d) other financial transactions  (163) 1.235  (7.357) 

140. Net financial income 1.919.603 2.025.633 2.629.313 
170. Net income from banking and insurance operations 1.919.603 2.025.633 2.629.313 
180. Administrative expenses  (1.707.584)  (1.789.395)  (2.375.174) 

a) personnel expense  (1.072.857)  (1.107.115)  (1.451.584) 
b) other administrative expenses  (634.727)  (682.280)  (923.590) 

190. Net provisions for risks and charges  (19.783)  (12.005)  (27.209) 

200. Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property  (83.950)  (82.589)  (109.838) 

210. Net impairment losses on intangible assets  (112.606)  (95.204)  (130.500) 

220. Other net operating income 171.451 175.013 239.430 

230. Operating expenses  (1.752.472)  (1.804.180)  (2.403.291) 
240. Profits of equity investments 13.503 100.881 99.027 

260. Net impairment losses on goodwill  (126.306)  (5.172)  (5.172) 

270. Profits on disposal of investments 1.118 2.125 14.458 

280. Pre-tax profit from continuing operations 55.446 319.287 334.335 
290. Taxes on income for the period from continuing operations 146.557  (197.287)  (231.980) 

300. Post-tax profit from continuing operations 202.003 122.000 102.355 
310. Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 22                          83.369 83.368 

320. Profit for the period/year 202.025 205.369 185.723 
330. Profit for the period/year attributable to non-controlling interests  (19.356)  (7.635)  (13.602) 

340. Profit for the period/year attributable to the shareholders of the Parent 182.669 197.734 172.121 

"Annualised" Basic EPS (Earnings Per Share) 0,3312 0,4015 0,2633

"Annualised" Diluted EPS (Earnings Per Share) 0,2848 0,4015 0,2633

 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010 FY 2010

 10. PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR 202.025 205.369 185.723 

Other comprehensive income net of taxes
 20. Available-for-sale financial assets  (692.542)  (378.366)  (456.017) 

 30. Property, equipment and investment property -                             -                             -                             

 40. Intangible assets -                             -                             -                             

 50. Foreign investment hedges -                             -                             -                             

 60. Cash flow hedges  (4.077) 1.403 1.356 

 70. Foreign currency differences -                             -                             -                             

 80. Non current assets held for sale. -                             -                             -                             

 90. Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans  (2.940)  (17.661)  (12.537) 

100. Share of fair value reserves of equity-accounted investees  (40.311)  (7.665)  (30.398) 

110. Total other comprehensive income (expense) net of taxes  (739.870)  (402.289)  (497.596) 

120. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (EXPENSE) (item 10 + 110)  (537.845)  (196.920)  (311.873) 

130.

CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING 
INTERESTS 14.653 3.345 7.017 

140.
CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (EXPENSE) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE 
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE PARENT  (552.498)  (200.265)  (318.890) 
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Statement of changes in consolidated equity to 30th September 2011

Figures in thousands of euro

Share capital: 1.597.865     -               1.597.865     -               -                    -                  656.502    -               -                      -                    -                 -               -                          2.254.367      509.913

a) ordinary shares 1.597.865 -               1.597.865 -               -                    -                  656.502    -               -                      -                    -                 -               -                          2.254.367      473.823

b) other shares -                      -               -                      -               -                    -                  -                  -               -                      -                    -                 -               -                          -                       36.090

Share premiums 7.100.378 -               7.100.378     -               -                    -                  329.535 -               -                      -                    -                 -               -                          7.429.913      74.325

Reserves 2.362.382     -               2.362.382     69.885    -                    -18.334 -                  -               -                      -                    -                 -               -                          2.413.933      322.248

a) profit-related 1.674.719 -               1.674.719 69.885    -18.334 -                  -               -                      -                    -                 -               -                          1.726.270      221.214

b) other 687.663         -               687.663        -               -                    -                  -               -                      -                    -                 -               -                          687.663         101.034

Fair value reserves -253.727 -               -253.727 -               -                    460 -                  -               -                      -                    -                 -               -735.167 -988.434 23.166            

Equity instruments -                      -               -                      -               -                    -                  -                  -               -                      -                    -                 -               -                          -                       -                        

Treasury shares -                      -               -                      -               -                    -                  -                  -4.375 -                      -                    -                 -               -                          -4.375 -                        

Profit for the period 172.121 -               172.121        -69.885 -102.236 -                  -                  -               -                      -                    -                 -               182.669 182.669         19.356            

Equity attributable to the 
shareholders of the Parent 10.979.019 -               10.979.019 -               -102.236 -17.874 986.037    -4.375 -                      -                    -                 -               -552.498 11.288.073    X
Equity attributable to non-
controlling interests 962.760 -               962.760        -               -13.602 -28.405 -                  -               -                      -                    -                 -               14.653 X 949.008

Balances as 
at 31.12.2010

Restate-
ment of 
opening 
balances

Balances as 
at 1.1.2011 Changes 

in reserves

Allocation of prior year 
profit

Changes January - September 2011

Equity transactions 

Repurch-
ase of 

treasury 
shares

Extraordinary 
distribution of 

dividends

Change in 
equity 

instruments

Derivatives 
on treasury 

shares

Stock 
options

attributable to 
the 

shareholders 
of the Parent

attributable to 
non 

controlling 
interests

Consolidated 
comprehensive 

income

Equity as at 30th September 
2011

Reserves
Dividends 
and other 

uses

New share 
issues

 

Equity attributable to non controlling interests, net of fair value reserves and profit for the period, decreased by 22,1 million euro compared to 31st December 2010. In detail:  
share capital -4,8 million euro; share premiums -4,4 million euro; other reserves -5,6 million euro.  

The public tender offer to purchase relating to IW Bank caused a reduction in the share capital attributable to non controlling interests of IW Bank and its subsidiary InvestNet of 4,1 million euro, while the 
relative share premiums decreased by 3,5 million euro.  

Other important transactions completed in 2011 regarded the increase in the share capital of UBI Leasing – an increase in the share capital attributable to non controlling interests of one million euro and an 
increase in the relative share premiums of approximately 0,4 million euro – and a change in the percentage of ownership of Banco di San Giorgio which resulted in a decrease in the share capital attributable 
to non controlling interests of approximately 1,6 million euro and in the relative share premiums of approximately 1,1 million euro.  

As concerns changes in other reserves, the increase for profits brought forward net of controlling interests for the year ended 31st December 2010 of 13,6 million euro was offset by payments for dividends and 
other uses of 27,7 million euro (-14,1 million euro). An increase of 7,3 million euro also occurred due to a payment in an account for an increase in the share capital by the Parent  for IW Bank.  

Other changes on the balance totals reported above relate to the aforementioned operations  and to normal changes in percentage ownership of some banks in the Group.  
The effect of the transfer to the income statement of assets which formed part of the purchase price allocation had a negative impact on profit attributable to non controlling interests amounting to 

approximately 6,5 million euro (7,5 million euro as at 30th September 2010).  
The reduction in other reserves of the Group by 18,2 million euro relates almost totally to the transactions reported above. These transactions, which did not result in any loss and/or acquisition of control of 

banks or companies, are considered as transactions between shareholders and the relative results affected consolidated equity as follows: public tender offer on IW Bank  -9,2 million euro; change in 
percentage of Banco di San Giorgio -1,6 million euro. Finally, exchange rate differences had a positive impact on the equity of Swiss banks and companies of approximately 1,7 million euro.  
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Statement of changes in consolidated equity to 30th September 2010

Figures in thousands of euro

Share capital: 1.597.865     -               1.597.865     -                  -                    -                  -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -                      1.597.865 518.327           

a) ordinary shares 1.597.865     -               1.597.865     -                  -                    -                  -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -                      1.597.865 482.237           

b) other shares -                      -               -                      -                  -                    -                  -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -                      -                      36.090             

Share premiums 7.100.378 -               7.100.378     -                  -                    -                  -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -                      7.100.378     79.362             

Reserves 2.207.863     -               2.207.863     69.878      -                    72.169      -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -                      2.349.910     321.602           

a) profit-related 1.604.841     -               1.604.841     69.878      -                    -                  -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -                      1.674.719     220.568           

b) other 603.022         -               603.022         -                  -                    72.169      -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -                      675.191         101.034           

Fair value reserves 235.043 -               235.043 -                  -                    1.360         -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -397.999 -161.596 30.173

Equity instruments -                      -               -                      -                  -                    -                  -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -                      -                      -                        

Treasury shares -                      -               -                      -                  -                    -                  -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -                      -                      -                        

Profit for the period 270.099 -               270.099         -69.878 -200.221 -                  -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               197.734         197.734         7.635               

Equity attributable to the 
shareholders of the Parent 11.411.248 -               11.411.248 -                  -200.221 73.529      -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               -200.265 11.084.291   X
Equity attributable to non-
controlling interests 938.342 -               938.342         -                  -17.048 -43.950 -                  -               -                      -                      -                  -               3.345             X 957.099

Equity as at 30th September 
2010

Extraordinary 
distribution of 

dividends

Stock 
options

attributable 
to the 

shareholders 
of the Parent

attributable to 
non 

controlling 
interests

Derivatives 
on treasury 

shares

Equity transactions 

Repurch-
ase of 

treasury 
shares

Change in 
equity 

instruments

Balances as 
at 31.12.2009

Balances as 
at 1.1.2010

Restate-
ment of 
opening 
balances New share 

issues

Allocation of prior year 
profit

Reserves
Dividends 
and other 

uses

Changes January - September 2010

Consolidated 
comprehen-
sive income

Changes 
in reserves

 

At the end of July 2010 the operation to optimise the branch network was concluded with the sale to UBI Banca, Banca Regionale Europea and the Banca del Monte di Lombardia Foundation of the shares 
held by single banks which had been created when increases in the share capital had been performed.  

The sales, performed at market prices, determined an increase in the reserves of individual banks: these were sale and purchase transactions between shareholders which did not result in the loss of control 
by the Parent of the Group.  

The impacts on non controlling interests were as follows:  

- share capital: increased by 80,4 million euro;  
- share premiums: decreased by 6,2 million euro;  
- other reserves: increased by 0,2 million euro;  
- fair value reserves: decreased by approximately 17 million euro.  

The other reserves attributable to non controlling interests also increased by 17 million euro (2009 profit) and decreased by 43,5 million euro due to the distribution of dividends and other uses.  
With regard to the change in reserves attributable to non controlling interests, the amount reported of –43,9 million euro does not include the change in the share capital and in share premiums.  

The remaining differences related to changes in the percentage holdings due to the purchase of shares from non controlling shareholders and extraordinary transactions performed during the reporting period 
(merger of UBI Pramerica Alternative Investments SGR and Capitalgest Alternative Investments into UBI Pramerica SGR).  

The effect of the transfer to the income statement of asset items when the purchase price allocation was performed had a negative impact on profit attributable to non controlling interests amounting to 
approximately 7,5 million euro.  
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Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

570.807 750.899

  -    profit for the period (+/-) 182.669 197.734

  -    gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and on financial assets/liabilities at fair value (+/-) 37.864 44.716

  -    gains/losses on hedging activities (-/+) -10.841 -56.778 

  -    net impairment losses on loans (+/-) 537.502 473.907

  -    net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and  intangible fixed assets (+/-) 196.556 177.793

  -    net provisions for risks and charges and other expense/income (+/-) 146.089 17.177

  -    net premiums not received (-) -                      -                      

  -    other insurance income/expense not received(-/+) -                      -                      

  -    outstanding taxes and duties -485.372 -101.839 

  - net impairment losses on disposal groups held for sale after tax (-/+) -                      -                      

  -    other adjustments (+/-) -33.660 -1.811 

-3.764.840 -10.697.834 

  -    financial assets held for trading 478.480 -1.311.696 

  -    financial assets at fair value -18.864 25.959

  -    available-for-sale financial assets 1.056.022 -4.588.159 

  -    loans to banks: repayable on demand -                      -                      

  -    loans to banks: other loans -2.193.984 -149.531 

  -    loans to customers -1.349.152 -3.643.497 

  -    other assets -1.737.342 -1.030.910 

2.260.355 10.026.693

  -    amounts due to banks repayable on demand -                      -                      

  -    amounts due to banks: other payables 3.227.737 1.801.823

  -    due to customers -2.273.421 4.547.586

  -    securities issued -591.014 2.114.122

  -    financial liabilities held for trading -299.474 122.677

  -    financial liabilities at fair value -                      -                      

  -    other liabilities 2.196.527 1.440.485

-933.678 79.758

23.752 22.693

  -    disposals of equity investments 2.704             -                      

  -    dividends received on equity investments 19.908           20.568           

  -    disposals of held-to-maturity investments -                      -                      

  -    disposals of property, equipment and investment property -                      2.125             

  -    disposals of intangible assets -                      -                      

  -    disposals of subsidiaries and lines of business 1.140             -                      

-10.000 -                      

  -    purchases of equity investments -10.000 -                      

  -    purchases of held-to-maturity investments -                      -                      

  -    purchases of property, equipment and investment property -                      -                      

  -    purchases of intangible assets -                      -                      

  -    purchases of subsidiaries and lines of business -                      -                      

13.752 22.693

  -    issues/purchases of treasury shares 981.662         -                      

  -    issues/purchases of equity instruments -102.236 -                      

  -    distribution of dividends and other uses -200.221 

879.426         -200.221 

-40.500 -97.770 

Reconciliation

Figures in thousands of euro
30.9.2011 30.9.2010

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 609.040         683.845         

Total net cash flows generated/absorbed during the period -40.500 -97.770 

Cash and cash equivalents: effect of changes in exchange rates -                      -                      

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 568.540 586.075

Cash flows generated/absorbed by funding activities

CASH FLOWS GENERATED/ABSORBED DURING THE PERIOD

1. Ordinary activities

C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated statement of cash flows (indirect method)

1. Cash flows generated by

2. Cash flows absorbed by

Cash flows generated/absorbed by investing activities

2. Cash flows generated/absorbed by financial assets

3. Cash flows generated/absorbed by financial liabilities

Cash flows generated/absorbed by operating activities

B. INVESTING ACTIVITIES

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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NOTES  

Basis of preparation  
 
 
This interim financial report of the UBI Banca Group as at and for the period ended 30th 
September 2011 of the UBI Banca Group, approved by the Management Board on 14th 
November 2011, has been prepared in compliance with Art. 154 ter of Legislative Decree No. 

58/1998 and in accordance with IFRS.  
 
The criteria adopted in its preparation for the classification, recognition, measurement and 
derecognition of statement of financial position and profit and loss items are the same as those 
adopted for the financial statements as at and for the period ended 31st December 2010, which 
may be consulted in full.  
 
For consistency with previous periodic financial reports and in order to guarantee full 
comparability of quantitative data, this financial report – not subject to audit by the 
independent auditors – includes both the mandatory consolidated financial statements in 
compliance with Bank of Italy Circular No. 262/2005 1  and the reclassified consolidated 
financial statements both prepared in euro as the accounting currency.  
 
The document also contains tables furnishing details of the contents of the main items in the 
reclassified income statement and the reclassified statement of financial position with the 
relative comments and a summary report on financial and operational risks.  
 
A specific section has also been maintained on the performance of the Parent, UBI Banca 
Scpa, in the reporting period.  
 
This interim financial report relates to the scope of consolidation reported in the interim 
financial report as at and for the period ended 30th June 2011 supplemented by the 
information reported in the preceding section “UBI Banca Group: Significant events in the 
third quarter of 2011”.  
 
 
 

Other aspects  
 
 
Impairment losses on  available-for-sale equity instruments  

With specific reference to the value of the Intesa Sanpaolo share, as already reported, 
impairment losses have been recognised on it in prior years in compliance with Group policy 
and with IAS 39, pursued for the purposes of impairment tests on available-for-sale 
instruments.  
The negative change in the fair value of the share in question between 1st January 2011 and 
30th  September 2011 resulted in a further impairment loss of 128,8 million euro recognised 
through profit and loss on the basis of the aforementioned accounting standard, of which 15,9 
million euro had already been recognised in the first half of 2011 and 112,9 million euro was 
recognised in the third quarter of 2011.  
The UBI Banca Group applies IAS 34 “Interim financial reporting” to its half year reports, but 
not to its quarterly reports, with the consequent identification of a half year “interim period”, 
and therefore any increases in the value of the share which might occur in the fourth quarter 
of 2011, would reduce the impairment loss recognised through profit and loss in the third 
quarter of 2011 up to the amount of the loss itself. If the market value of the share as at 31st 

                                                           
1 “Banking financial statements: presentation and rules for preparation”, as amended by the first update on 18th November 2009.  
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December 2011 is greater than that recorded as at 30th June 2011, then the relative positive 
change in fair value will be recognised in the fair value reserve in equity, thereby eliminating 
the impairment loss recognised in the third quarter of 2011, amounting to 112,9 million euro.  
 
Furthermore an impairment loss of 1,1 million euro was recognised in the third quarter of 
2011 on the shares held in the company A2A Spa. Any increases in the value of the share 
which might occur in the fourth quarter of 2011 would reduce that loss, recognised in through 
profit and loss in the third quarter of 2011, up to the amount of the loss itself.  
  
With regard to other available for sale equity instruments held, impairment losses were 
recognised through profit and loss in the period from 1st January 2011 until 30th  September 
2011 of 5,8 million euro, of which 3,4 million euro had already been recognised in the first half 
of 2011 and 2,4 million euro was recognised in the third quarter of 2011.  
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Statement of the Senior Officer 
Responsible for preparing the 

corporate accounting documents  
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Declaration of the Executive Officer Responsible  

for preparing corporate accounting documents 

 
 
 
 
The undersigned, Elisabetta Stegher, as the executive officer responsible for preparing 

the corporate accounting documents of Unione di Banche Italiane Scpa, hereby declares, 

in compliance with the second paragraph of article 154 bis of the “Testo unico delle 

disposizioni in materia di intermediazione finanziaria” (consolidated law on financial 

intermediation), that the information contained in this “Interim financial report as at 30th 

September 2011” is reliably based on the records contained in corporate documents 

and accounting records. 

 
 

The executive officer responsible for 
preparing the corporate accounting 

documents 
 

(signed on the original)  
 

 
 

Bergamo, 14th November 2011 
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Reclassified financial statements, 
reclassified income statement net of the 
most significant non-recurring items and 
reconciliation schedules  

 
 

Reclassified statement of financial position

ASSETS

10. Cash and cash equivalents 137.822 195.060 -57.238 -29,3% 168.598 -30.776 -18,3% 

20. Financial assets held for trading 2.819.624 3.143.191 -323.567 -10,3% 3.670.539 -850.915 -23,2% 

30. Financial assets at fair value 130.494 147.286 -16.792 -11,4% 153.951 -23.457 -15,2% 

40. Available-for-sale financial assets 6.974.553 8.698.209 -1.723.656 -19,8% 9.287.642 -2.313.089 -24,9% 

60. Loans to banks 32.277.154 28.424.384 3.852.770 13,6% 28.996.844 3.280.310 11,3% 

70. Loans to customers 13.607.259 14.536.121 -928.862 -6,4% 14.119.866 -512.607 -3,6% 

80. Hedging derivatives 538.702 164.595 374.107 227,3% 292.738 245.964 84,0% 

100. Equity investments 13.371.350 13.336.899 34.451 0,3% 13.341.941 29.409 0,2% 

110. Property, equipment and investment property 607.103 624.907 -17.804 -2,8% 623.876 -16.773 -2,7% 

120. Intangible assets 458.316 542.792 -84.476 -15,6% 543.563 -85.247 -15,7% 

of which: goodwill 457.848        521.245        -63.397 -12,2% 521.245 -63.397 -12,2% 

130. Tax assets 1.643.985 725.032 918.953 126,7% 512.037 1.131.948 221,1% 

140.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for 
sale 5.978 6.023 -45 -0,7% 21.212 -15.234 -71,8% 

150. Other assets 648.875 353.102 295.773 83,8% 645.780 3.095 0,5% 

Total assets 73.221.215 70.897.601 2.323.614 3,3% 72.378.587 842.628 1,2%

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

10. Due to banks 22.305.950 22.589.437 -283.487 -1,3% 25.225.553 -2.919.603 -11,6% 

20. Due to customers 10.609.633 11.422.728 -813.095 -7,1% 11.333.615 -723.982 -6,4% 

30. Securities issued 26.234.471 23.367.788 2.866.683 12,3% 21.436.681 4.797.790 22,4% 

40. Financial liabilities held for trading 1.310.635 1.542.534 -231.899 -15,0% 1.949.848 -639.213 -32,8% 

60. Hedging derivatives 827.298 599.874 227.424 37,9% 851.469 -24.171 -2,8% 

80. Tax liabilities 829.180 381.642 447.538 117,3% 340.044 489.136 143,8% 

90. Liabilities associated with activities under disposal -                      -                      - -                    -                      -                    -                     

100. Other liabilities 426.284 613.923 -187.639 -30,6% 689.435 -263.151 -38,2% 

110. Post-employment benefits 38.078 38.130 -52 -0,1% 38.955 -877 -2,3% 

120. Provisions for risks and charges: 14.882 13.279 1.603 12,1% 12.306 2.576 20,9% 

b) other provisions 14.882 13.279 1.603 12,1% 12.306 2.576 20,9% 
130.+160.

+170.+180.+
200

Share capital, share premiums and reserves, fair 
value reserves and treasury shares 10.590.478 10.044.546 545.932 5,4% 10.110.361 480.117 4,7% 

200. Profit for the period/year 34.326 283.720 n.s. n.s. 390.320 -355.994 -91,2% 

Total liabilities and equity 73.221.215 70.897.601 2.323.614 3,3% 72.378.587 842.628 1,2% 

30.9.2010
CFigures in thousands of euro

31.12.2010
B

Changes                           
A-C

% changes                 
A/C

Changes                          
A-B

 30.9.2011
A

% changes                                     
A/B
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Reclassified quarterly statements of financial position

ASSETS

10. Cash and cash equivalents 137.822 160.950 157.526 195.060 168.598 192.549 208.671

20. Financial assets held for trading 2.819.624 1.280.423 1.780.204 3.143.191 3.670.539 3.296.100 2.536.278

30. Financial assets at fair value 130.494 468.038 474.114 147.286 153.951 155.143 159.658

40. Available-for-sale financial assets 6.974.553 8.811.089 8.629.407 8.698.209 9.287.642 10.987.288 5.520.758

60. Loans to banks 32.277.154 30.222.165 29.250.552 28.424.384 28.996.844 28.341.383 26.485.858

70. Loans to customers 13.607.259 13.492.679 13.910.741 14.536.121 14.119.866 13.111.296 12.565.486

80. Hedging derivatives 538.702 166.975 105.090 164.595 292.738 266.435 195.141

100. Equity investments 13.371.350 13.304.720 13.343.834 13.336.899 13.341.941 12.190.108 12.183.761

110. Property, equipment and investment property 607.103 612.521 619.096 624.907 623.876 638.765 646.132

120. Intangible assets 458.316 458.337 542.021 542.792 543.563 544.335 545.107

of which: goodwill 457.848 457.848 521.245 521.245             521.245             521.245             521.245

130. Tax assets 1.643.985 1.393.361 702.470 725.032 512.037 504.929 634.185

140. Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 5.978 6.023 6.023 6.023 21.212 12.909 816.037

150. Other assets 648.875 414.092 798.544 353.102 645.780 523.096 1.035.380

Total assets 73.221.215 70.791.373 70.319.622 70.897.601 72.378.587 70.764.336 63.532.452

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

10. Due to banks 22.305.950 19.314.805 21.773.213 22.589.437 25.225.553 25.687.388 23.717.330

20. Due to customers 10.609.633 10.372.290 10.256.804 11.422.728 11.333.615 11.863.070 5.924.704

30. Securities issued 26.234.471 26.464.859 24.642.908 23.367.788 21.436.681 19.235.050 18.376.333

40. Financial liabilities held for trading 1.310.635 1.203.666 1.405.215 1.542.534 1.949.848 1.753.370 1.692.114

60. Hedging derivatives 827.298 456.852 507.931 599.874 851.469 739.716 489.261

80. Tax liabilities 829.180 761.643 439.356 381.642 340.044 241.148 538.736

90. Liabilities associated with activities under disposal -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           803.894

100. Other liabilities 426.284 767.875 878.284 613.923 689.435 760.170 1.281.584

110. Post-employment benefits 38.078 37.264 37.257 38.130 38.955 39.224 40.769

120. Provisions for risks and charges: 14.882 17.766 14.857 13.279 12.306 8.609 8.051

b) other provisions 14.882 17.766 14.857 13.279 12.306 8.609 8.051

130.+160.
+170.+180.+200

Share capital, share premiums and reserves, fair value 
reserves and treasury shares 10.590.478 11.183.436 10.423.919 10.044.546 10.110.361 10.111.153 10.572.078

200. Profit (loss) for the period/year 34.326 210.917 -60.122 283.720 390.320 325.438 87.598

Total liabilities and equity 73.221.215 70.791.373 70.319.622 70.897.601 72.378.587 70.764.336 63.532.452

 31.12.2010
Figures in thousands of euro

 30.9.2010  30.6.2010  31.3.2010 30.6.2011 31.3.201130.9.2011
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Reclassified income statement

10.-20. Net interest expense  (141.998) (62.271) 79.727 128,0%  (53.649) (15.731) 37.918 241,0% (87.435) 

70. Dividends and similar income 194.364 300.225 (105.861) (35,3%) 1.242 2.253 (1.011) (44,9%) 300.580 

40.-50. Net commission income 11.347 11.434 (87) (0,8%) 3.578 2.219 1.359 61,2% 13.925 

80.+90.
+100.+110.

Net income (loss) from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and from 
assets/liabilities at fair value  (23.393) 165.141 (188.534) n.s.  (12.842) 71.984 (84.826) n.s. 129.333 

190. Other net operating income 73.066 81.845 (8.779) (10,7%) 24.426 26.974 (2.548) (9,4%) 108.667 

Operating income (loss) 113.386 496.374           (382.988) (77,2%)  (37.245) 87.699           (124.944) n.s. 465.070 

150.a Personnel expense  (77.634) (101.761) (24.127) (23,7%)  (13.600) (34.141) (20.541) (60,2%) (130.591) 

150.b Other administrative expenses  (77.547) (83.083) (5.536) (6,7%)  (25.844) (28.210) (2.366) (8,4%) (116.442) 

170.+180.

Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and intangible 
assets  (39.778) (22.578) 17.200 76,2%  (6.134) (7.340) (1.206) (16,4%) (29.617) 

Operating expenses  (194.959) (207.422) (12.463) (6,0%)  (45.578) (69.691) (24.113) (34,6%) (276.650) 

Net operating income (loss)  (81.573) 288.952 (370.525) n.s.  (82.823) 18.008 (100.831) n.s. 188.420 

130.a Net impairment losses on loans  (284) (40) 244 n.s.  (93) 52 145 n.s. (51) 

130.b+c+d Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities  (132.126) (18.619) 113.507 n.s.  (113.251) 603 113.854 n.s. (49.314) 

160. Net provisions for risks and charges  (391) (1.298) (907) (69,9%) 165 (536) (701) n.s. (2.046) 

210.+230.
+240.

Profits (losses) from disposal of equity investments and net impairment losses on 
goodwill  (163.174) 76.131 (239.305) n.s. 20 76.072 (76.052) n.s. 67.660 

250. Pre-tax profit (loss) from continuing operations  (377.548) 345.126 (722.674) n.s.  (195.982) 94.199 (290.181) n.s. 204.669 

260. Taxes on income for the period/year from continuing operations 411.852 (38.175) 450.027 n.s. 19.369 (29.329) 48.698 n.s. (4.317) 

280. Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 22                     83.369             (83.347) (100,0%) 22                   12                   10 83,3% 83.368 

290. Profit (loss) for the period/year 34.326             390.320 (355.994) (91,2%)  (176.591) 64.882 (241.473) n.s. 283.720 

3rd 
Quarter 2011 

C

3rd 
Quarter 2010 

D

 FY 2010

EFigures in thousands of euro

Changes                          
A-B

% changes                                     
A/B

 9M 2011

A

 9M 2010

B

Changes                       

C-D

% changes                       
C/D
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Quarterly reclassified income statements

3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter 4th Quarter 3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter

10.-20. Net interest expense  (53.649)  (52.458)  (35.891) (25.164) (15.731) (21.586) (24.954) 

70. Dividends and similar income 1.242 191.034 2.088 355 2.253 203.899 94.073 

40.-50. Net commission income 3.578 3.607 4.162 2.491 2.219 4.141 5.074 

80.+90.
+100.+110.

Net income (loss) from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and from 
assets/liabilities at fair value  (12.842) 117  (10.668) (35.808) 71.984 33.968 59.189 

190. Other net operating income 24.426 24.855 23.785 26.822 26.974 26.257 28.614 

Operating income (loss)  (37.245) 167.155  (16.524) (31.304) 87.699 246.679 161.996 

150.a Personnel expense  (13.600)  (32.551)  (31.483) (28.830) (34.141) (33.319) (34.301) 

150.b Other administrative expenses  (25.844)  (28.172)  (23.531) (33.359) (28.210) (29.504) (25.369) 

170.+180. Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and intangible assets  (6.134)  (26.662)  (6.982) (7.039) (7.340) (7.514) (7.724) 

Operating expenses  (45.578)  (87.385)  (61.996) (69.228) (69.691) (70.337) (67.394) 

Net operating income (loss)  (82.823) 79.770  (78.520) (100.532) 18.008 176.342 94.602 

130.a Net impairment losses on loans  (93)  (122)  (69) (11) 52 (61) (31) 

130.b+c+d Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities  (113.251)  (17.675)  (1.200) (30.695) 603 (19.148) (74) 

160. Net provisions for risks and charges 165  (940) 384 (748) (536) (758) (4) 

210.+230.
+240. Profits (losses) from disposal of equity investments and net impairment losses on goodwill 20  (163.022)  (172) (8.471) 76.072 6 53 

250. Pre-tax profit (loss) from continuing operations  (195.982)  (101.989)  (79.577) (140.457) 94.199 156.381 94.546 

260. Taxes on income for the period/year from continuing operations 19.369 373.028 19.455 33.858 (29.329) (1.898) (6.948) 

280. Post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations 22                     -                         -                         (1) 12                     83.357             -                         

290. Profit (loss) for the period  (176.591) 271.039  (60.122) (106.600) 64.882 237.840 87.598 

Figures in thousands of euro

20102011
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Reclassified income statement net of the most significant non-recurring items

Figures in thousands of euro

Net interest expense (141.998) (141.998) (62.271) (62.271) 79.727 128,0% 

Dividends and s imilar income 194.364 194.364 300.225 300.225 (105.861) (35,3%) 

Net commission income 11.347 11.347 11.434 11.434 (87) (0,8%) 

Net income (loss) from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and from 
assets/liabilities at fair value (23.393) (23.393) 165.141 165.141 (188.534) n.s.

Other net operating income 73.066 73.066 81.845 81.845 (8.779) (10,7%) 

Operating income 113.386 -                        -                  -                       -                                 -                  -                    113.386 496.374 -                         -                  -                      -                    -                      496.374 (382.988) (77,2%) 

Personnel expense (77.634) (16.123) (93.757) (101.761) 2.147 (99.614) (5.857) (5,9%) 

Other administrative expenses (77.547) (77.547) (83.083) (83.083) (5.536) (6,7%) 
Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and intangible 
assets (39.778) 19.517 (20.261) (22.578) (22.578) (2.317) (10,3%) 

Operating expenses (194.959) -                        -                  19.517            -                                  (16.123) -                    (191.565) (207.422) -                         2.147         -                      -                    -                      (205.275) (13.710) (6,7%) 

Net operating income (loss) (81.573) -                        -                  19.517            -                                  (16.123) -                    (78.179) 288.952 -                         2.147         -                      -                    -                      291.099 (369.278) n.s.

Net impairment losses on loans (284) (284) (40) (40) 244 n.s.

Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities (132.126) 125.617 5.751 (758) (18.619) 18.858 239 997 n.s.

Net provis ions for risks and charges (391) (391) (1.298) (1.298) (907) (69,9%) 

Profits (losses) from disposal of equity investments and net impairment losses on 
goodwill (163.174) 165.456 (2.296) (14) 76.131 (80.790) 4.725 66 (80) n.s.

Pre-tax profit (loss) from continuing operations (377.548) 125.617          5.751 184.973 -                                  (16.123)  (2.296) (79.626) 345.126 18.858 2.147 -                       (80.790) 4.725             290.066 (369.692) n.s.

Taxes on income for the period from continuing operations 411.852 (1.581) (2.030) (352.841) 4.434 59.834 (38.175) (79) (591) 20.202 (18.643) 78.477 n.s.

Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 22                 22                   83.369         (83.357) 12                   10 83,3%

Profit (loss) for the period 34.326 125.617 4.170 182.943 (352.841) (11.689) (2.296) (19.770) 390.320 18.779 1.556 (83.357) (60.588) 4.725 271.435 (291.205) n.s.

Impairment 
losses on 

equity 
investments in 

Intesa 
Sanpaolo and 

A2A

Profit on the 
partial 

disposal of 
BY YOU Spa

Contribution 
of the 

depository 
banking 

operations

9M 2010
% 

changes                                     
A/B

9M 2011

9M 2011
net of non-
recurring 

items
A

Changes                          
A-B

Non-recurring items

9M 2010
net of non-
recurring 

items
B

Impairment 
losses on 

equity 
investments in 

Intesa 
Sanpaolo and 

A2A

Leaving 
incentives

Tax realignment in 
accordance with 

Law No. 111/2011 
and write off of 

deferred income tax 
assets/deferred 

IRAP tax 

Impairment 
losses on 

AFS 
securities

Non-recurring items

Partial 
disposal of 
Lombarda 

Vita

Release of 
excess 

provisions

Impairment 
losses on 

equity 
investments 
Barberini, Silf 
and PerMicro

Impairment 
losses on 

equity 
investments, 
goodwill and 

intangible 
assets
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Reconciliation schedule to 30th September 2011

 RECLASSIFIED INCOME STATEMENT 9M 2011 9M 2011

 Figures in thousands of euro 

Separate 
mandatory 

financial 
statement

tax recoveries
depreciation for 

leasehold 
improvements

Reclassified 
financial 

statement

10.-20. Net interest expense (141.998) (141.998) 

70. Dividends and similar income 194.364 194.364 

40.-50. Net commission income 11.347 11.347 

80.+90.
+100.+110.

Net loss from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and 
from assets/liabilities at fair value (23.393) (23.393) 

190. Other net operating income 72.983 (9) 92 73.066 

Operating income 113.303 (9) 92 113.386 

150.a Personnel expense (77.634) (77.634) 

150.b Other administrative expenses (77.556) 9 (77.547) 

170.+180.

Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment 
property and intangible assets (39.686) (92) (39.778) 

Operating expenses (194.876) 9 (92) (194.959) 

Net operating loss (81.573) -                           -                           (81.573) 

130.a Net impairment losses on loans (284) (284) 

130.b+c+d Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities (132.126) (132.126) 

160. Net provisions for risks and charges (391) (391) 

210.+230.
+240.

Profits (losses) from disposal of equity investments and net 
impairment losses on goodwill (163.174) (163.174) 

250. Pre-tax loss from continuing operations (377.548) -                           -                           (377.548) 

260. Taxes on income for the period from continuing operations 411.852 411.852 

280. Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 22                        22                        

290. Profit for the period 34.326 -                           -                           34.326 

 Ite ms 

reclassifications

 
 

 

Reconciliation schedule to 30th September 2010

 RECLASSIFIED INCOME STATEMENT 9M 2010 9M 2010

 Figures in thousands of euro 

Separate 
mandatory 

financial 
statement

tax recoveries
depreciation for 

leasehold 
improvements

Reclassified 
financial 

statement

10.-20. Net interest expense (62.271) (62.271) 

70. Dividends and similar income 300.225 300.225 

40.-50. Net commission income 11.434 11.434 
80.+90.+
100.+110.

Net income from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities 
and from assets/liabilities at fair value 165.141 165.141 

190. Other net operating income 81.738 (17) 124 81.845 

Operating income 496.267 (17) 124 496.374 

150.a Personnel expense (101.761) (101.761) 

150.b Other administrative expenses (83.100) 17 (83.083) 

170.+180.

Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment 
property and intangible assets (22.454) (124) (22.578) 

Operating expenses (207.315) 17 (124) (207.422) 

Net operating income 288.952 -                           -                           288.952 

130.a Net impairment losses on loans (40) (40) 
130.b+

c+d Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities (18.619) (18.619) 

160. Net provisions for risks and charges (1.298) (1.298) 

210.+240. Profits from disposal of equity investments 76.131 76.131 

250. Pre-tax profit from continuing operations 345.126 -                           -                           345.126 

260, Taxes on income for the period from continuing operations (38.175) (38.175) 

280. Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 83.369                83.369                

290. Profit for the period 390.320 -                           -                           390.320 

 Items 

riclassifications
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Reconciliation schedule to 31st December 2010

 RECLASSIFIED INCOME STATEMENT FY 2010 FY 2010

 Figures in thousands of euro 

Separate 
mandatory 

financial 
statement

tax recoveries
depreciation for 

leasehold 
improvements

Reclassified 
financial 

statement

10.-20. Net interest expense (87.435) (87.435) 

70. Dividends and similar income 300.580 300.580 

40.-50. Net commission income 13.925 13.925 
80.+90.

+100.+110.

Net income from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities 
and from assets/liabilities at fair value 129.333 129.333 

190. Other net operating income 108.723 (221) 165 108.667 

Operating income 465.126 (221) 165 465.070 

150.a Personnel expense (130.591) (130.591) 

150.b Other administrative expenses (116.663) 221 (116.442) 

170.+180.
Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment 
property and intangible assets (29.452) (165) (29.617) 

Operating expenses (276.706) 221 (165) (276.650) 

Net operating income 188.420 -                           -                           188.420 

130.a Net impairment losses on loans (51) (51) 

130.b+c+d Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities (49.314) (49.314) 

160. Net provisions for risks and charges (2.046) (2.046) 

210.+240. Profits from disposal of equity investments 67.660 67.660 

250. Pre-tax profit from continuing operations 204.669 -                           -                           204.669 

260. Taxes on income for the year from continuing operations (4.317) (4.317) 

280. Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 83.368 83.368 

290. Profit for the year 283.720 -                           -                           283.720 

 Ite ms 

reclassifications

 
Notes to the financial statements  
 
The mandatory financial statements have been prepared on the basis of Bank of Italy Circular No. 262 of 22nd 
December 2005 and subsequent updates.  
 
The following rules have been applied to the reclassified financial statements to allow a vision that is more consistent 
with a management accounting style:  

- the tax recoveries recognised within item 190 of the mandatory income statement (other net operating income) were reclassified as 

a reduction in indirect taxes included within other administrative expenses;  

- the item net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and intangible assets includes items 170 and 180 

in the mandatory financial statements and the instalments relating to the depreciation of expenses incurred for leasehold 

improvements classified within item 190.  
 

The reconciliation of the items in the reclassified financial statements with the figures in the mandatory financial 
statements has been facilitated, on the one hand, with the insertion in the margin against each item of the 
corresponding number of the item in the mandatory financial statements with which it is reconciled and, on the other 
hand, with the preparation of specific reconciliation schedules.  
 

In order to facilitate analysis of the UBI Banca’s performance and in compliance with Consob Communication No. 
DEM/6064293 of 28th July 2006, a special schedule has been included in the reclassified financial statements to 
show the impact on earnings only of the principal non-recurring events and items – since the relative effects on 
capital and cash flow, being closely linked, are not significant – which are summarised as follows:  

January - September 2011:  

- impairment losses on AFS equity investments in Intesa Sanpaolo and A2A;  

- Impairment losses on AFS securities;  

- impairment losses on equity investments, goodwill and intangible assets;  

- tax realignment in accordance with Decree Law No. 98/2011 converted with amendments into Law No. 111 of 15th 

July 2011 and write-off of deferred income tax assets/deferred IRAP tax assets;  

- release of excess provisions;  

- profit on the partial disposal of the interest held in BY YOU Spa;  

January - September 2010:  

- impairment losses on AFS equity investments in Intesa Sanpaolo and A2A;  

- leaving incentives (trade union agreement of 20th May 2010);  

- the contribution of depository banking operations;  

- partial disposal of Lombarda Vita;  

- impairment losses on equity investments Barberini, Silf and PerMicro. 
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Performance in the period  

These comments relate to the reclassified financial statements – income statement, the quarterly income 
statements and the income statement net of the principal non-recurring items – contained in the preceding 
pages, on which the tables that follow are also based. The notes that follow those reclassified financial 
statements may be consulted as may the reconciliation schedules for a description of the reclassification.  

The income statement  
 
The first nine months of the year ended with a profit of 34,3 million euro1, compared to 390,3 
million euro in the same period of 2010.  
 
The nine month result was sharply reduced by events in the third quarter of 2011: the 
downwards revision of prospects for economic growth, the marked instability on financial 
markets, dominated by pressures on the sovereign debt securities of a growing number of 
countries, including Italy, and the consequent increase in volatility. As would be expected, 
these external factors had an effect on the income of UBI Banca, which recorded a loss for the 
period of 176,6 million euro, compared to +271 million in the second quarter of 2011 and 
+64,9 million euro in the third quarter of the year before.  
 
The worsening of the crisis – which caused further impairment losses on assets held in 
portfolio – was accompanied by a marked increase in interest rates2, and a deterioration in the 
prices of financial assets, giving rise to a total operating loss in the quarter of 37,2 million 
euro (a profit of 167,2 million in the previous quarter and of 87,7 million euro in the same 
period of 2010).  
 
Affected by negative performance over the summer, total operating income therefore fell 
between January and September to 113,4 million euro from 496,4 million euro in 2010.  
 
In detail, the item dividends and similar income totalled 194,4 million euro (300,2 million euro 
in the comparative nine months), 
conditioned by the fall in dividends 
received from Group member 
companies, as a consequence of the 
results for the full year 2010. The fall 
amounted to -104,3 million euro, 
attributable mainly to the lower profits 
distributed by the network banks 
(with the exception of BPCI and BPA), 
but also to lower returns from the 
product companies (-10 million euro).  
Dividends distributed by available-for-
sale equity investments (17,5 million 
euro) included 11,2 million relating to 
the ordinary shares of Intesa Sanpaolo 
(which were remunerated by the same 
amount in the previous nine month 
period).  
 

                                                           
1  Net of non-recurring items, the loss for the period was -19,8 million euro, compared to a profit of +271,4 million euro in the first nine 

months of 2010. Non-recurring items consisted of net income of 54,1 million euro (mainly the result of the tax realignment and the 
reversal of deferred tax assets and liabilities, although partly offset by impairment losses for the period) and also of net income in 

2010 but of 118,9 million (mainly in relation to the contribution of depository banking operations and the sale of part of the stake in 
the Lombarda Vita joint venture).  

2 The average one month Euribor rate more than doubled, rising from 0,618% in the third quarter of 2010 to 1,399% in the first three 

months of 2011.  

Dividends and similar income

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

Banca Carime Spa 31.453              59.760          

Banca Popolare di Bergamo Spa 27.010              44.724          

UBI Pramerica SGR Spa 24.982 26.202 

Banco di Brescia Spa 18.107              32.282          

Banca Popolare di Ancona Spa 15.323              2.818             

Banca Popolare Commercio e Industria Spa 14.808              1.638             

Banca Regionale Europea Spa 14.371              30.897          

Centrobanca Spa 14.280 24.514 

UBI Factor Spa 4.862 4.862 

UBI Leasing Spa -                         8.648             

UBI Assicurazioni Spa -                         120                

B@nca 24-7 Spa -                         -                      

Other equity investments (item 100) 11.579 44.640 

Dividends received from item 100 equity investments 176.775            281.105        

Dividends received from item 40 AFS 17.506 16.770 
of which Intesa SanPaolo 11.213             11.213

Dividends received from item 20 for trading 83 2.350 
Dividends received from item 30 at fair value -                         -                     

Total 194.364 300.225        
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Net trading income (loss)

Net income 
(loss)

Figures in thousands of euro [(A+B)-(C+D)]

1. Financial assets held for trading 17.990           23.692           (23.674) (53.534) (35.526) 9.023 
1.1 Debt instruments 17.891 20.466  (15.022)  (16.410) 6.925  (3.473) 

1.2 Equity instruments 11 2.958  (8.644)  (844) (6.519)  (2.836) 

1.3 Units in O.I.C.R. (collective investment instruments) 88                   21  (8) -                      101                        334 

1.4 Financing -                      -                      -                         -                      -                             -                      

1.5 Other -                      247 -                          (36.280) (36.033) 14.998 

2. Financial liabilities held for trading 1                     -                       (109) -                       (108)  (135) 
2.1 Debt instruments 1                     -                       (109) -                       (108)  (135) 

2.2 Payables -                      -                      -                         -                      -                             -                      

2.3 Other -                      -                      -                         -                      -                             -                      

3. Other financial liabilities: exchange rate differences X X X X 35.858  (14.102) 
4. Derivative instruments 239.226         1.245.768     (270.375) (1.226.716)  (12.121) 155.198 

4.1 Financial derivatives 239.226         1.245.768     (270.101) (1.223.825)  (8.956) 156.261 

- on debt instruments and interest rates 238.812 1.240.538  (266.870)  (1.216.866)  (4.386) 152.969 

- on equity instruments and share indices 414 5.230  (3.231)  (6.959)  (4.546) 3.461 

- on currencies and gold X X X X  (24)  (169) 

- other -                      -                      -                        -                      -                             -                      

4.2 Credit derivatives -                      -                       (274) (2.891) (3.165)  (1.063) 
Total 257.217 1.269.460  (294.158)  (1.280.250)  (11.897) 149.984 

Net hedging income

Figures in thousands of euro 9M 2011 9M 2010

Net hedging income 15.588 5.499 

Profit from disposal or repurchase

Figures in thousands of euro

Financial assets
1. Loans to banks -                         -                      -                             -                      

2. Loans to customers -                         -                      -                              (6) 

3. Available-for-sale financial assets 7.176                 (2) 7.174                    3.758 

3.1 Debt instruments 7                        (2) 5                            3.606 

3.2 Equity instruments 6.897                -                      6.897 152 

3.3 Units in O.I.C.R (collective investment instruments). 272                   -                      272                        -                      

3.4 Financing -                        -                      -                             -                      

4. Held-to-maturity investments -                        -                      -                             -                      
Total assets 7.176  (2) 7.174 3.752 

Financial liabilities
1. Due to banks -                         -                      -                             -                      

2. Due to customers -                         -                      -                             -                      

3. Securities issued 341  (125) 216  (277) 
Total liabilities 341  (125) 216  (277) 

Total 7.517  (127) 7.390 3.475 

Net profit (loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value

Figures in thousands of euro 9M 2011 9M 2010

Net profit (loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value  (34.474) 6.183 

 (23.393) 165.141 

Net income 
(loss) 9M 2011

9M 2010

9M 2010

Net income (loss) from trading, hedging and disposal/repurchase activities and from 

assets/liabilities at fair value

Profits

Gains                            
(A)

Income from 
trading                     

(B)

Losses                             
(C)

Losses from 
trading                       

(D)

Losses

 
The performance for assets classified under the fair value option resulted in a loss on financial 
activities in the third quarter (-12,8 million euro, compared to +117 thousand euro in the 

second quarter and +72 million euro in the third quarter of 2010).  
A loss of 30,4 million euro was incurred on assets measured at fair value (-3,7 million euro in 
the second quarter), consisting of approximately -11 million euro of losses on Tages hedge 
funds (formerly Capitalgest, with approximately 105 million euro held in portfolio) and of -23,9 
million euro of losses resulting from the complete withdrawal from the mutual fund 
investment sector by UBI Pramerica following the activation of stop-loss mechanisms3 (in 
compliance with the limits set by the Financial Risks Policy).  

                                                           
3  The losses incurred on the mutual fund portfolio caused UBI Pramerica SGR to firstly change the composition of the mix of products 

used for the Parent’s investments, with preference given to strictly monetary funds and then, in consideration of the continuing 

adverse conditions on markets, to sell all units held in funds at the end of September (329,3 million euro as at 30th June 2011).  
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In the same period, however, assets held for trading generated a profit of 12,3 million euro 
(-2,7 million euro in the preceding three months), due above all to trading in derivative 
instruments designed to hedge items on the statements of financial position of  Group Banks 
and hedging activity also gave rise to a profit of 5,1 million euro (+4,3 million in the previous 
quarter), as a result of fair value changes in derivatives on bonds.  
It must nevertheless be considered that the impact of financial derivatives on debt instruments 
and interest rates on trading activities diminished progressively from -55,7 million euro in the 
fourth quarter of 2010 to -31 million euro in the first quarter of 2011 to become positive with a 
profit of 10,8 million in second quarter of 2011 and rise to +15,8 million in the third quarter of 
2011.  
 
As a result of this performance net income from financial activities over nine months showed a 

loss of 23,4 million euro, compared to +165,1 million euro4 in 2010. In detail:  

- trading activities showed a loss of 11,9 million euro (+150 million euro in 2010) including 
losses of -11,1 million euro (+0,6 million euro in the comparison period) on equity 
instruments and the relative derivatives, partly in relation to the impairment loss (-7,7 
million euro) on Medinvest International5, while profits of +2,4 million euro were earned on 
debt instruments, on the related derivative instruments and on interest rates derivatives 
(mostly IRS) associated with items relating to Group companies (+149,4 million in 2010, 
which in reality included the profit of 156,3 million euro on intragroup derivatives not 
balanced on the market, which was eliminated in the consolidation and therefore had no 
impact on the consolidated income statement. The result for intragroup derivatives in the 
first nine months of 2011 fell to 1,8 million euro);  

- net income from financial assets and liabilities at fair value – as reported above – included 
the result of disinvestments from UBI Pramerica funds, the losses on the former Capitalgest 
funds and the change in the fair value of small positions in other hedge funds and it 
showed a loss of -34,5 million euro (+6,2 million in 2010);  

- net hedging income – consisting of the change in the fair value of hedging derivatives and 
the relative items hedged – rose to +15,6 million euro, of which 14,8 million euro relating to 
bonds and 0,7 million euro to AFS securities (in 2010 this income amounted to +5,5 million 
euro, attributable to hedges on bond issuances).  

- net income from the disposal/repurchase of available-for-sale financial assets totalled 7,4 
million euro (3,5 million euro in 2010) and consisted of 6,8 million euro from the total 
disposal – performed partly in February and concluded on 20th May – of the investment in 
London Stock Exchange (formerly Borsa Italiana) and 0,3 million euro from the disposal of 
units in OICR units (collective investment instruments).  

 
Other net operating income fell to 73,1 million euro, down by 8,8 million euro, due to the 

decrease (from 58,8 million euro to 48,4 million euro) in income for services provided to Group 
member companies, following the centralisation of further support activities at UBI.S, which 
occurred in the current year, and to greater efficiencies in service delivery units.  
The quarterly performance for this item in the current year was stable at around 24 million 
euro (24,4 million euro in the third quarter, 24,9 million euro in the previous three months 
and 23,8 million euro in the first quarter of the year).  
 
As a result of the trend for interest rates6, the impact of which was felt in all areas of 
operations, but on the cost of funding in particular, net interest expense amounted to -142 
million euro7, compared to -62,3 million euro in the first nine months of 2010. The analysis 
given below reports the contribution by areas of activity, although it must be considered that 

                                                           
4  The figure for 2010 included the effects on trading (profits, gains and accruals of approximately 153 million euro) in intragroup 

financial derivatives, used to hedge interest rate risk on the assets and liabilities of Group companies, consisting mainly of interest 

rate swaps.  
5
  Medinvest International Sca (Luxembourg), classified within private equity investments and in which a 19,57% interest is held, is a 

merchant bank which invests in companies and also provides financial advisory services to SMEs. The impairment loss, recognised 

in the second quarter, was due to the poor performance of the main investment held in portfolio.  
6  The progressive average one month Euribor rate rose from 0,492% in the first nine months of 2011 to 1,163% in the same period of 

2011.  
7  Net interest income is structurally negative in relation to the role of the Parent, UBI Banca, because it includes the financial expense 

that it incurs for its investments in Group subsidiaries, while the relative financial revenues are recognised within the item 
dividends.  
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the Parent’s operations involve movements across different business areas (e.g. funding from 
customers used for the purchase of securities or funding from the network banks used for 
loans to the product companies). In detail8:  

- the owned securities portfolio generated interest income of 165,4 million euro, +59,6 million 
euro compared to 2010, while investments in debt instruments decreased over twelve 
months by 2,5 billion euro (the result almost entirely of disposals of Italian government 
securities performed since the last quarter of 2010). The contribution to net interest income 
from debt instruments was again substantial with 246,5 million of interest income received 
from available-for-sale securities (203,5 million euro in the comparative period). In 
compliance with the policy to contain interest rate risk, this item was affected (although 
less than in 2010) by the expense of hedges on fixed rate bonds (differentials paid on 
derivatives);  

- business on the interbank market, focused mainly on intragroup activities, generated a 
positive balance of 134,4 million euro, a substantial improvement compared to 45,6 million 
euro in 2010, as average volumes of funding reduced and volumes of lending grew;  

- business with customers recorded interest expense of 441,3 million euro, a more than 
twofold increase compared to -213,3 million euro in 2010. This performance is due 
primarily to the increase in interest expense on securities issued (+246,5 million euro), 
consistent with the growth in this item of 4,8 billion euro over twelve months (2,4 billion 
euro in relation to institutional funding) and also to the increase in interest expense on 
amounts due to customers (+60,2 million euro), even if the relative liabilities diminished by 
0,7 billion euro (-2,5 billion euro relating to transactions with Cassa di Compensazione e 
Garanzia – a central counterparty clearing house – used to fund investments in government 

securities). The balance also includes the income from positive differentials received (almost 
entirely) on hedges on bonds issued by the Bank amounting to approximately 89,6 million 
euro.  

 
 
Interest and similar income: composition

Figures in thousands of euro

Debt 
instruments

Financing
Other 

transactions
 9M 2011 9M 2010

1. Financial assets held for trading 22.216 -                         -                         22.216 19.336 

2. Available-for-sale financial assets 246.515           -                         -                         246.515         203.485         

3. Held-to-maturity investments -                         -                         -                         -                       -                      

4. Loans to banks 149.094 225.841           -                         374.935 244.279 

5. Loans to customers 11.730             159.014 -                         170.744 104.310 

6. Financial assets at fair value -                         -                         -                         -                       -                      

7. Hedging derivatives X X -                         -                       -                      

8. Other assets X X 23                     23 51 

Total 429.555 384.855 23                     814.433 571.461 

Interest and similar expense: composition

Figures in thousands of euro
Borrowings Securities Other liabilities  9M 2011 9M 2010

1. Due to central banks (8.390) -                         -                          (8.390) (10.795) 

2. Due to banks (235.233) X -                          (235.233)  (205.943) 

3. Due to customers (115.756) X -                          (115.756)  (55.519) 

4. Securities issued X (585.936) -                          (585.936)  (339.450) 

5. Financial liabilities held for trading (7.908) -                         -                          (7.908)  (6.358) 

6. Financial liabilities at fair value -                         -                         -                         -                       -                      

7. Other liabilities and provisions X X  (447)  (447)  (371) 

8. Hedging derivatives X X  (2.761)  (2.761)  (15.296) 
Total (367.287) (585.936) (3.208)  (956.431)  (633.732) 

Net interest expense  (141.998)  (62.271) 

 

                                                           
8  The calculation of net balances was performed by allocating interest income and expense on hedging derivatives and financial 

liabilities held for trading within the different areas of business (financial, with banks, with customers).  
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On a quarterly basis net interest expense was -53,6 million euro (-52,5 million euro in the 

previous three months and -35,9 million euro in the first quarter of 2011).  
The size of the net negative balance is attributable primarily to business with customers, 
which  increased progressively from -121,2 million euro in the first quarter of 2011 to -147,2 
million euro in the second quarter and to the current -172,9 million euro. It was due in 
particular to the increase in interest paid on securities issued.  
This is to be set against improved performance both in net income from interbank business 
(up to 59,2 million euro from 42,2 million euro in the second quarter, as a result of growth in 
interest received) and in the balance on financial activities (60,3 million euro compared to 52,7 
million euro in the previous quarter, as a result of greater interest income on debt 
instruments, notwithstanding the disposals in the quarter, and the lower cost of differentials 
paid on hedging derivatives).  

 
Net commission income was unchanged in the first nine months of the year  with respect to 

2010 (11,3 million euro compared to 11,4 million euro).  
It is the aggregate result on the one hand of an increase in commissions on guarantees 
granted (+4,8 million euro), and on the other of a decrease in fees for management, trading 
and advisory services (-5,7 million euro net of the respective expense items and excluding 
currency trading). The latter figure was nevertheless affected by the absence of income from 
depository banking operations (7,6 million euro), subject to a capital contribution in May 
2010, net of which the item recorded growth (1,9 million euro), attributable primarily to lower 
costs for outsourced custody and administration services.  
 
Operating expenses in the period January-September 2011 fell by 6% to 195 million euro 
(207,4 million in 2010). Net of non-recurring items, expenses totalled 191,6 million euro, a 
reduction of 6,7%.  
 
Personnel expense 

amounted to 77,6 million 
euro compared to 101,8 
million euro before, a 
significant decrease, due to 
the recognition in the third 
quarter, as an item  of non-
recurring income, of 16,1 
million euro relating to a 
release of excess 
provisions 9 , stated within 
the line item “expenses for 
retired personnel” (in 2010 
non-recurring items 
included 2,1 million euro of 
leaving incentives 
recognised within the item “other employee benefits” in relation to a trade union agreement in 
May. Net of extraordinary items personnel expense also fell by 5,9% compared to 2010.  

As shown in  the table, the changes that occurred in the period mainly reflect savings 
(approximately 8,5 million euro) related to the decrease in average personnel numbers (-155 
resources), due principally to the transfer of contact centre operations to UBI Sistemi e Servizi 
in January 2011. This benefit was partially reduced by provisions made for variable 
components of salaries (company bonus and incentive schemes), for the estimated cost of the 
renewal of the national labour contract and for normal growth in salaries.  
 

                                                           
9  The amount in question relates to the release of amounts recognised in previous years due to actuarial recalculations of post 

retirement benefits, now no longer considered due. More specifically, the defined benefit obligation and the mathematical reserve 

were eliminated as a consequence in the quarter, with a resulting positive impact on the item “administrative expenses: personnel 
expense” of approximately 16 million euro and the relative portion of the “fair value reserve actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit 
plans” amounting to approximately -2,2 million euro was reclassified within “retained earnings”. In consideration of the non-

recurring nature of the event, the effects were normalised in the income statement.  

Personnel expense: composition

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

1) Employees  (136.692)  (139.643) 

a) Wages and salaries  (93.070)  (92.945) 

b) Social security charges  (25.328)  (24.289) 

c) Post-employment benefits  (5.998)  (6.165) 

d) Pension expense -                      -                      

e) Provision for post-employment benefits  (864)  (1.232) 

f) Pensions and similar obligations -                      -                      

g) Payments to external supplementary pension plans:  (5.418)  (5.395) 

- defined contribution  (5.418)  (5.395) 

i) Other employee benefits  (6.014)  (9.617) 
2) Other personnel in service  (476)  (1.866) 

- Expenses for agency personnel on staff leasing contracts  (135)  (1.320) 

- Other expenses  (341)  (546) 

3) Directors  (5.626)  (5.641) 

4) Expenses for retired personnel 16.123 36 

5) Recoveries of expenses for personnel on secondment to other companies 67.585 63.548 
6) Reimbursements of expenses for personnel on secondment at the Bank  (18.548)  (18.195) 

Total  (77.634)  (101.761) 
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Other administrative expenses also fell 

compared to the first nine months of 
2010, down to 77,6 million euro (-6,7%).  
As shown in table, the reduction is 
attributable to action taken to contain 
costs for professional and advisory 
services (-3,3 million euro), 
maintenance of hardware and software 
(-0,2 million euro), telephone and data 
transmission services (-0,2 million 
euro), advertising (-0,3 million euro) and 
outsourced services (-0,2 million euro). 
The reduction in the fees for services 
provided by UBI.S (-2,3 million euro) 
should be underlined, attributable 
mainly to the disposal of the depository 
banking operations in May 2010.  
 
Net impairment losses on property, 
equipment and investment property and 
intangible assets totalled 39,8 million 

euro and included a non-recurring item 
of 19,5 million euro, relating to the full 
impairment loss recognised on 
intangible assets connected with the 
investment in BY YOU (partially 

disposed of in the second quarter), following the renegotiation of distribution agreements. If 
the figure is normalised (20,3 million euro), net impairment losses continued to fall compared 
to the comparative figure (-10,3%), due mainly to the full depreciation and amortisation of 
investments made by the Parent in prior years.  
 
On a quarterly basis operating expenses net of non-recurring items amounted to 61,7 million 
euro (67,9 million euro in the second quarter of 2011 and 69,7 million euro in the third 
quarter of 2010).  
 
As a result of the performance reported above, the net operating loss in the first nine months 
amounted to -81,6 million euro compared to +289 million euro in 2010.  

In the third quarter the loss was -82,8 million euro, compared to a profit of +79,8 million euro 
in the previous period and +18 million euro in the same three months of 2010.  
 
Net impairment losses on other assets and liabilities in first nine months of 2011 amounted to 

132,1 million euro and were almost entirely non-recurring.  
They were composed as follows: 5,8 million euro of impairment losses recognised on OICRs 
(collective investment funds) classified as available-for-sale (of which 3,3 million euro relating 
to the Polis property fund); 1,1 million euro of impairment losses on the interest held in A2A; 
and 124,5 million euro of impairment losses – on the basis of the official price as at 30th 
September 2011 (1,2017 euro) 10 – on the interest held in Intesa Sanpaolo. The latter includes 
the impairment loss recognised in the first half (15,4 million euro, recognised on the basis of 
the share price quoted at the end of June of 1,8075 euro), together with recognition of a 
further impairment loss that became necessary in the third quarter (109,1 million euro), 
following the turbulence that affected banking shares.  
In 2010, impairment losses of 18,6 million euro were recognised, of which 18,9 million euro non-

recurring, resulting from impairment of available-for-sale equity investments recognised in the first half 

of the year: 1,7 million relating to A2A and 17,2 million euro to Intesa Sanpaolo (official price as at 30th 

June 2010: 2,1735 euro).  

 

                                                           
10  The impairment loss was recognised on the basis of the new number of ordinary shares of Intesa Sanpaolo (180.215.498) held by 

UBI Banca following the increase in the share capital (when 40.047.888 new ordinary shares were subscribed at a price per share 

of 1,369 euro).  

Other administrative expenses: composition

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

A. Other administrative expenses  (74.928)  (80.793) 
Rent payable  (6.777)  (6.601) 

Professional and advisory services  (11.879)  (15.162) 

Rentals on hardware, software and other assets  (2.313)  (2.452) 

Maintenance of hardware, software and other assets  (370)  (521) 

Tenancy of premises  (5.203)  (5.128) 

Property and equipment maintenance  (1.350)  (1.244) 

Counting, transport and management of valuables  (3)  (2) 

Membership fees  (1.214)  (1.180) 

Information services and land registry searches  (394)  (323) 

Books and periodicals  (414)  (417) 

Postal  (297)  (344) 

Insurance premiums  (753)  (715) 

Advertising  (1.513)  (1.777) 

Entertainment expenses  (452)  (303) 

Telephone and data transmission expenses  (6.774)  (6.996) 

Services in outsourcing  (3.019)  (3.179) 

Travel expenses  (2.686)  (2.818) 

Fees for services provided by Group companies (UBI.S)  (26.865)  (29.167) 

Credit recovery  expenses  (54)  (21) 

Forms, stationery and consumables  (458)  (467) 

Transport and removals  (164)  (148) 

Security  (1.354)  (1.340) 

Other expenses  (622)  (488) 

B. Indirect taxes  (2.619)  (2.290) 
Indirect taxes and duties  (667)  (238) 

Stamp duty  (73)  (117) 

Municipal property tax  (1.583)  (1.580) 

Other taxes  (305)  (372) 

Reclassification of "tax recoveries" 9 17 

Total  (77.547)  (83.083) 
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The item disposal of equity investments and net impairment losses on goodwill recorded a loss 

of 163,2 million euro, consisting almost totally of non-recurring items arising following 

periodic impairment tests conducted in the second quarter of the year. These are composed of:  

▪ -102,1 million euro relating to reductions in the carrying amounts of the investments 
in UBI Leasing (87,9 million euro) and B@nca 24-7 (14,2 million euro);  

▪ -63,4 million euro resulting from impairment losses recognised on the goodwill of 
Centrobanca (8,4 million euro, for a partial adjustment of the amount recognised in 
item 120 in the statement of financial position) and B@nca 24-7 (55 million euro, as a 
full adjustment of the amount recognised in the specific item in the statement of 
financial position). The goodwill had originated when UBI Banca was formed in April 
2007 and relates to the cash generating units of the former BPU Banca Group which 
benefited from synergies arising from the business combination;  

▪ +2,3 million euro relating to the profit on the partial disposal of the interest held in BY 
YOU, performed in April 2011.  

 

Profits from the disposal of equity investments (almost entirely non-recurring) were recognised in the first 

nine months of 2010 of 76,1 million euro consisting of +80,8 million euro from the gain on the partial 

disposal of Lombarda Vita to our joint venture partner Cattolica Assicurazioni and -4,7 million euro of 

impairment losses on the equity investments in Barberini, Silf and PerMicro.  

 
The result for pre-tax profit on continuing operations was a loss of 377,6 million euro (a 
profit of 345,1 million euro in 2010). Similarly the third quarter ended with a pre-tax loss of 
196 million euro (compared to a loss of -102 million in previous quarter and a profit of +94,2 
million euro in the third quarter of 2010).  
 
Tax income accruing on income from continuing operations amounted to 411,9 million euro. Tax 

expense in the comparative period was 38,2 million euro.  
The item included a non-recurring component recognised in the second quarter of 352,8 
million euro, consisting of:  

• +377,8 million euro from the realignment of taxation on goodwill and other intangible assets in 

accordance with Decree Law No. 98 of 6th July 2011, converted with amendments into Law No. 111 of 

15th July 2011. This legislation allowed, in accordance with the principles of Law No. 2 of 28th 

January 200911, the recognition for tax purposes of higher values attributed to controlling interests 

acquired through extraordinary transactions. The realignment is performed by the payment of a 

substitute tax of 16% (525,6 million euro to be paid in November 2011), which allows tax to be 

deducted on the amortisation of the amount subject to tax relief (3.285,3 million euro) at constant 

rates over ten years with effect from 2013. Consequently, in the first half of 2011 deferred tax assets 

of 903,4 million euro were recognised within item 260 of the income statement, corresponding to the 
future benefit arising from the deduction of amortisation on the intangible assets subject to tax relief;  

• -25 million euro from the derecognition of deferred tax assets for IRAP (local production tax) purposes 

already recognised in the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31st December 2010. As a 

result of the tax deductibility of the amortisation of the amount subject to tax relief mentioned above, 

the Bank does not have sufficient taxable income for IRAP purposes to recover the deferred tax assets 

which had been recognised, since IRAP is not included in the tax consolidation. Consequently the 

conditions for its recognition were no longer met.  

 
The normalised figure – positive due to the application of the tax consolidation law, which 
allows negative taxable income to be offset – amounted to +59,8 million euro, compared to -
18,6 million euro in 2010. It reflects the different structure of income in the two periods and in 
particular the different amounts for dividends received in the two years.  
 
Finally, in the comparative nine months post-tax profit from discontinued operations of 83,4 million euro 

(non-recurring) was recognised in relation to the contribution of depository banking operations to RBC 

Dexia Investor Services performed in May 2010. 

 

                                                           
11  UBI Banca took advantage of the law mentioned in its tax income returns for 2008 income to obtain tax relief on goodwill (569 

million euro), not acknowledged for tax purposes, which had been recognised when the purchase price allocation was performed 

arising from the merger of the former Banca Lombarda e Piemontese into the Bank. The operation involved the recognition of 
higher current taxation (substitute tax of 16%) amounting to 91 million euro and lower taxation for deferred tax assets of 184 
million euro, with a net positive impact of 93 million euro (the difference between the rate of the substitute tax and the ordinary tax 

rate).  
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The statement of financial position  
 
 
Direct funding from customers

Figures in thousands o f euro  amount %  amount %  amount %

Current accounts and deposits 2.191.165 5,9% 1.658.264 532.901 32,1% 1.331.971 859.194 64,5% 791.226 1.399.939 176,9%

Time deposits 572.949 1,6% 572.961 -12 0,0% 719.256 -146.307 -20,3% 436.025 136.924 31,4%

Financing 7.826.820 21,2% 7.967.494 -140.674 -1,8% 9.353.133 -1.526.313 -16,3% 10.085.793 -2.258.973 -22,4%

- repurchase agreements 7.416.952 20,1% 7.575.488 -158.536 -2,1% 9.190.455 -1.773.503 -19,3% 9.957.148 -2.540.196 -25,5%
of which: repurchase agreements 
with the C.C.G. 7.416.952 20,1% 7.575.488 -158.536 -2,1% 9.190.455 -1.773.503 -19,3% 9.957.148 -2.540.196 -25,5%

- other 409.868 1,1% 392.006 17.862 4,6% 162.678 247.190 152,0% 128.645 281.223 218,6%

Other payables 18.699 0,1% 173.571 -154.872 -89,2% 18.368 331 1,8% 20.571 -1.872 -9,1%

TOTAL AMOUNTS DUE TO 
CUSTOMERS 10.609.633 28,8% 10.372.290 237.343 2,3% 11.422.728 -813.095 -7,1% 11.333.615 -723.982 -6,4%

Bonds 26.234.471 71,2% 26.464.859 -230.388 -0,9% 23.367.788 2.866.683 12,3% 21.436.681 4.797.790 22,4%
- bonds subscribed by institutional
  customers 16.322.615 44,3% 16.766.911 -444.296 -2,6% 14.911.570 1.411.045 9,5% 13.910.943 2.411.672 17,3%

of which: EMTN (*) 10.499.065 28,5% 11.211.758 -712.693 -6,4% 11.158.751 -659.686 -5,9% 10.517.009 -17.944 -0,2%

Covered bonds 5.823.550 15,8% 5.555.153 268.397 4,8% 3.752.819 2.070.731 55,2% 3.393.934 2.429.616 71,6%

- bonds subscribed by ordinary
  customers 5.996.718 16,3% 5.935.443 61.275 1,0% 5.035.176 961.542 19,1% 4.615.091 1.381.627 29,9%

- bonds subscribed by Group banks
  (intragroup)

3.915.138 10,6% 3.762.505 152.633 4,1% 3.421.042 494.096 14,4% 2.910.647 1.004.491 34,5%

Other certificates -                      - -                      -                   - -                      -                   - -                      -                   -            

TOTAL SECURITIES ISSUED 26.234.471 71,2% 26.464.859 -230.388 -0,9% 23.367.788 2.866.683 12,3% 21.436.681 4.797.790 22,4%

TOTAL DIRECT FUNDING FROM 
CUSTOMERS 36.844.104 100,0% 36.837.149 6.955 0,0% 34.790.516 2.053.588 5,9% 32.770.296 4.073.808 12,4%

of which:

subordinated liabilities 4.559.211 12,4% 4.471.796 87.415 2,0% 3.883.908 675.303 17,4% 3.854.207 705.004 18,3%

of which: subordinated deposits (**) 572.949 1,6% 572.961 -12 0,0% 599.140 -26.191 -4,4% 436.025 136.924 31,4%

subordinated securities 3.986.262 10,8% 3.898.835 87.427 2,2% 3.284.768 701.494 21,4% 3.418.182 568.080 16,6%

of which: EMTN (*) 348.107 0,9% 347.979 128 0,0% 502.312 -154.205 -30,7% 851.855 -503.748 -59,1%

Changes A/DChanges A/B Changes A/C 30.9.2011               
A

%
30.9.2010                          

D
 31.12.2010                  

C
 30.6.2011               

B

 

(*)  The corresponding nominal amounts were 10.396 million euro (348 million euro subordinated) as at 30th September 2011, 11.196 million euro (348 
million euro subordinated) as at 30th  June 2011, 11.128 million euro (502 million euro subordinated) as at 31st December 2010 and 10.478 million euro 
(852 million euro subordinated) as at 30th September 2010.  

 The amounts as at 30th June and as at 30th September 2011 shown in the table do not include private placements classified as “intragroup” for 88 
million euro and 93 million euro respectively.  

(**)  The figure refers to deposits made by BPB Funding Llc for a nominal amount of 300 million euro, by BPCI Funding Llc for a nominal amount of 115,001 
million euro and by Banca Lombarda Preferred Capital Co. Llc for a nominal amount of 155 million euro (the latter classified within intragroup 
subordinated securities in September 2010).  

 
 
The direct funding from customers of UBI Banca amounted to 36,8 billion euro at the end of 
September 2011, unchanged compared to June but significantly up both year-on-year (+4,1 
billion euro) and over nine months (+2,1 billion euro).  

In the quarter in question amounts due to customers of 10,6 billion euro, increased by 0,2 

billion euro, the result of an increase in current accounts  (+0,5 billion euro), which offset the 
small reduction in the item other types of funding, including that from repurchase agreements 
with the Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia (a central counterparty clearing house) (-0,2 

billion euro).  

Compared to the other comparative periods, however, the item decreased, primarily as a result 
of a reduction in repurchase agreements with the Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia (-1,8 

billion euro and -2,5 billion euro respectively), due to the partial disposal of Italian government 
securities, while current account funding connected with deposits of UBI Pramerica liquidity 
recorded growth.  
 
Securities issued amounted to 26,2 billion euro, unchanged over three months, but up 
considerably compared both to September (+4,8 billion euro) and to December 2010 (+2,9 
billion euro), having benefited from a recovery in institutional placements at the end of the last 
and the beginning of the current year.  

UBI Banca issued covered bonds for a nominal amount of 2,25 billion euro with maturities of 
between five and ten years (one issue for 500 million euro in November 2010 and two issues in 
2011, the first for one billion euro in January and the second for 750 million euro in February) 
and it also made EMTN placements for a total of 2,75 billion euro nominal (the first for one 
billion euro in November 2010 and the others for one billion euro, 700 million euro and 50 
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million euro respectively in the first five months of 2011) against maturities and redemptions 
of seven debt issues for approximately 2,83 billion euro nominal.  

Bonds subscribed by network bank customers, which were mainly listed, rose to a total of 
almost six billion euro, an annual increase of 1,4 billion euro, as a result of the placement of 
seven issues for a total nominal amount of 1,6 billion euro (including two issues for a total of 
0,8 billion euro, with a lower tier two subordination clause).  

Intragroup funding increased progressively over twelve months (+1 billion euro to 3,9 billion 
euro) as a result of nine issues for almost 1,2 billion euro nominal, subscribed by some banks 
in the Group to invest their liquidity.  
 
 
Lending by the Parent as at 30th September 2011, stood at 13,6 billion euro, a decrease both 
year-on-year (-0,5 billion euro) and compared to December (-0,9 billion euro), but slightly up 
compared to June (+0,1 billion euro).  

UBI Banca lending is mainly to Group companies operating in the leasing and factoring 
sectors (approximately 93%) and amounted to 10,2 billion euro and 2,4 billion euro 
respectively (10,5 billion euro and 2,2 billion euro a year before; 10,6 billion euro and 2,5 
billion euro at the end of December 2010; and 10,1 billion euro and 2,4 billion euro in June). 
The changes in the item are therefore mainly the result of changes in the funding 
requirements of those companies.  

Changes in loans over twelve months were also affected by the progressive decrease in the 
exposure to the Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia (a total of -0,4 billion euro), relating 

mainly to ordinary business in reverse repurchase agreements – almost reduced to nil (-0,7 
billion euro) – only partially offset by the increase in deposits required to guarantee total 
operations on the “New MIC (collateralised interbank market)” (+0,3 billion euro).  
 
 
Financial assets held by UBI Banca at the end of September 2011 amounted to 9,9 billion 
euro (8,6 billion euro if calculated net of financial liabilities held for trading), having decreased 
progressively (-0,6 billion euro over three months, -2,1 billion euro over nine months and -3,2 
billion euro over twelve months).  
 
While a detailed discussion is given in the interim management report on the consolidated 
operations contained in this publication, the main changes that affected the principal types of 
financial asset in the first nine months of the year are given below.  

• Available-for-sale financial assets, totalling seven billion euro, recorded a significant 
contraction – concentrated in the third quarter of the year (-1,8 billion euro) – mainly in 
relation to the net effect of maturities and repurchases of Italian government securities 
classified within fair value level one (-1,5 billion euro since June 2011). Changes in the total 
over three months also included reductions in the fair value of equity instruments classified 
within level one. These comprised the interest held in Intesa Sanpaolo, down to 216,6 
million euro on the basis of a market price of 1,2017 euro as at 30th September (down from 
325,7 million in June 2011)12  

• The trends for financial assets held for trading, however, were varied, down on December (-

0,3 billion euro), but up on June (+1,5 billion euro) as a result of both new net investments 
in Italian government securities (+1 billion euro), consisting mainly of BOTs, and an 
increase in financial derivatives (+0,6 billion euro), to be interpreted primarily in relation to 
the corresponding item recognised within financial liabilities held for trading.  

• Financial assets at fair value, consisting exclusively of OICR units (collective investment 

instruments), amounted to 130,5 million euro, of which 105,3 million relating to Tages 
funds (former Capitalgest Alternative), classified within fair value level one (a fair value of 
116,2 million euro at the end of December), and 25,2 million euro, classified within fair 

                                                           
12 As already reported, in June 2011, UBI Banca participated in the increase in the share capital by subscribing 40.047.888 ordinary 

shares at a price of 1,369 euro per share. As a result of that subscription it now holds 180.215.498 shares (140.167.610 in December 
2011), accounting for 1,16% of the share capital with voting rights. The value of the investment at the end of the first half also 

incorporated an impairment loss of 15,4 million euro on the basis of the market price as at 30th June of 1,8075 euro. 
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value level three. Units in UBI Pramerica funds amounting to 0,3 billion euro, subscribed in 
March 2011 as part of the management mandate conferred on the Group’s asset 
management company, were totally disposed of in the third quarter.  

With regard to hedge funds – also including the remaining amount of 1,6 million euro 
recognised within financial assets held for trading (purchases made before 30th June 2007) 
– the total investment of the Parent as at 30th September 2011 amounted to 132,1 million 
euro (140,2 million euro in June and 148,9 million euro in December). Since the beginning 
of the year hedge funds were redeemed, net of redemption fees, for approximately 4,5 
million euro.  

 
 

Financial assets/liabilities

30.9.2010

Figures in thousands of euro L 1 L 2 L 3 Total a % L 1 L 2 L 3 Total b % amount % Total c

Financial assets held for trading 1.409.967  1.394.315      15.342  2.819.624      28,4% 1.887.816 1.230.484 24.891 3.143.191    26,2% -323.567 -10,3% 3.670.539

of which: financial derivatives contracts 937             1.389.309     -            1.390.246     14,0% 886 1.222.369 -            1.223.255   10,2% 166.991 13,7% 1.802.554

Financial assets at fair value 105.343     -                       25.151  130.494         1,3% 116.208 -                 31.078 147.286       1,2% -16.792 -11,4% 153.951       

Available-for-sale financial assets 5.844.834  1.083.092      46.627  6.974.553      70,3% 7.423.077 1.230.294 44.838 8.698.209    72,6% -1.723.656 -19,8% 9.287.642    

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS (A) 7.360.144  2.477.407      87.120  9.924.671      100,0% 9.427.101 2.460.778 100.807 11.988.686 100,0% -2.064.015 -17,2% 13.112.132

of which:

- debt instruments 6.995.324 953.887        6.455   7.955.666     80,2% 8.918.169 1.082.902 6.474 10.007.545 83,5% -2.051.879 -20,5% 10.490.947 

of which: Italian government securities 6.455.921 366.354        -            6.822.275     68,7% 8.259.591 409.872 -            8.669.463   72,3% -1.847.188 -21,3% 9.012.890   

- equity instruments 245.155     63.283           51.151 359.589        3,6% 373.525 68.461 57.899 499.885      4,2% -140.296 -28,1% 565.504      
- Units in O.I.C.R. 
  (collective investment instruments) 118.728     70.928           26.767 216.423        2,2% 134.521 87.046 32.679 254.246      2,1% -37.823 -14,9% 249.280      

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 
(B)         16.967       1.293.668               -       1.310.635 100,0% 410.453 1.132.081 -             1.542.534    100,0% -231.899 -15,0% 1.949.848    

of which: financial derivatives contracts 248          1.293.668  -         1.293.916  98,7% 1.190 1.132.081 -            1.133.271   73,5% 160.645 14,2% 1.660.533

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (A-B) 7.343.177  1.183.739      87.120  8.614.036      9.016.648 1.328.697 100.807 10.446.152 -1.832.116 -17,5% 11.162.284

30.9.2011 31.12.2010 Changes a / b

 
 
Financial assets/liabilities

Figures in thousands of euro L 1 L 2 L 3 Total d % L 1 L 2 L 3 Total e % amount %

Financial assets held for trading 1.409.967   1.394.315      15.342    2.819.624      28,4% 438.410 825.588 16.425  1.280.423 12,1% 1.539.201 120,2% 

of which: financial derivatives contracts 937             1.389.309     -               1.390.246     14,0% 533 820.581 -              821.114 7,8% 569.132 69,3% 

Financial assets at fair value 105.343      -                       25.151    130.494         1,3% 440.748 -                 27.290 468.038 4,4% -337.544 -72,1% 

Available-for-sale financial assets 5.844.834   1.083.092      46.627    6.974.553      70,3% 7.497.934 1.266.900 46.255 8.811.089 83,5% -1.836.536 -20,8% 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS (A) 7.360.144   2.477.407      87.120    9.924.671      100,0% 8.377.092 2.092.488 89.970 10.559.550 100,0% -634.879 -6,0% 

of which:

- debt instruments 6.995.324  953.887        6.455      7.955.666     80,2% 7.553.653 1.120.047 6.436 8.680.136 82,2% -724.470 -8,3% 

of which: Italian government securities 6.455.921  366.354        -               6.822.275     68,7% 6.969.335 404.639 -              7.373.974 69,8% -551.699 -7,5% 

- equity instruments 245.155     63.283           51.151    359.589        3,6% 366.578 66.081 51.860 484.519 4,6% -124.930 -25,8% 
- Units in O.I.C.R. 
  (collective investment instruments) 118.728     70.928           26.767    216.423        2,2% 456.328 85.779 28.788 570.895 5,4% -354.472 -62,1% 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING (B)          16.967       1.293.668                 -       1.310.635 100,0% 423.440 780.226 -              1.203.666 100,0% 106.969 8,9% 

of which: financial derivatives contracts 248          1.293.668  -            1.293.916  98,7% 667 780.226 -              780.893 64,9% 513.023 65,7% 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (A-B) 7.343.177   1.183.739      87.120    8.614.036      7.953.652 1.312.262 89.970 9.355.884 -741.848 -7,9%

30.9.2011 30.6.2011 Changes d / e

 
 
At the end of September the net interbank position showed funding of approximately 10 
billion euro, slightly down compared to June 2011, but having increased progressively since 
September 2010.  

The performance is due to an improvement in the balance on intragroup transactions (rising 
from +9,8 billion euro to +13,9 billion euro over twelve months) and also to lower net debt with 
banking counterparties outside the Group (down from -6 billion euro in September 2010 to -4 
billion euro in June 2011, with a low of -1,3 billion euro in June).  
 
In detail, loans to banks rose to 32,3 billion euro (+3,3 billion euro year-on-year, +2,1 billion 

euro in the third quarter alone), as a result of an increase in both intragroup transactions 
(+1,2 billion euro over twelve months, +1 billion euro over three months), and transactions on 
the external market (+2 billion euro over  twelve months, +1 billion euro in the quarter), which 
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includes an increase in liquidity held in a centralised account with the central bank, for which 
the deposits rose to 1,3 billion euro (0,2 billion euro in June 2011).  
 
 
Interbank market

Figures in thousands o f euro

Loans to banks 32.277.154 30.222.165 29.250.552 28.424.384 28.996.844

of which:

- loans to central banks 1.315.904 155.501 177.952 595.521 240.946                 

- intragroup 28.348.976 27.302.314 26.268.424 26.656.378 27.110.765            

of which: intragroup securities 10.072.924 10.086.529 6.011.405 6.186.334 8.793.101              

Due to banks 22.305.950 19.314.805 21.773.213 22.589.437 25.225.553          

of which:

- due to central banks 4.000.333               -                             1.255.064 2.219.152 2.000.056              

- intragroup 14.405.136 15.085.974 15.181.546 17.746.392 17.326.252            

of which: subordinated deposits 371.391 367.887 372.211 370.571 375.218                 

NET INTERBANK DEBT 9.971.204 10.907.360 7.477.339 5.834.947 3.771.291            

of which: intragroup 13.943.840 12.216.340 11.086.878 8.909.986 9.784.513

 30.9.2011                30.6.2011                31.12.2010                   30.9.2010              31.3.2011               

 
 
While funding from banks still fell again year-on-year (-2,9 billion euro), the trend reversed 
over the summer (+3 billion euro) to reach 22,3 billion euro, the result primarily of debt to 
central banks (four billion euro), a position which had been reduced to zero in June 2011.  
Total borrowings from banks other than the central bank fell to 18,3 billion euro (-1 billion 
euro compared to June), in relation to lower intragroup funding (-0,7 billion euro) and a fall in 
funding from external counterparties (-0,3 billion euro).  
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Mandatory separate interim financial 
statements as at and for the nine month 
period ended 30th September 2011  

Statement of financial position

Figures in thousands of euro
30.9.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010

ASSETS

10. Cash and cash equivalents 137.822 195.060 168.598

20. Financial assets held for trading 2.819.624 3.143.191 3.670.539

30. Financial assets at fair value 130.494                147.286                153.951                

40. Available-for-sale financial assets 6.974.553 8.698.209 9.287.642

60. Loans to banks 32.277.154 28.424.384          28.996.844

70. Loans to customers 13.607.259 14.536.121 14.119.866

80. Hedging derivatives 538.702 164.595 292.738

100. Equity investments 13.371.350 13.336.899 13.341.941

110. Property, equipment and investment property 607.103 624.907 623.876

120. Intangible assets 458.316 542.792 543.563
of which:
- goodwill 457.848 521.245 521.245

130. Tax assets 1.643.985 725.032 512.037

a) current 163.094 380.220 179.860

b) deferred 1.480.891 344.812 332.177

140. Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 5.978 6.023 21.212

150. Other assets 648.875 353.102 645.780

73.221.215 70.897.601 72.378.587TOTAL ASSETS
 

 
 

Figures in thousands of euro
30.9.2011 31.12.2010 30.9.2010

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

10. Due to banks 22.305.950 22.589.437 25.225.553

20. Due to customers 10.609.633 11.422.728 11.333.615

30. Securities issued 26.234.471 23.367.788 21.436.681

40. Financial liabilities held for trading 1.310.635 1.542.534 1.949.848

60. Hedging derivatives 827.298 599.874 851.469

80. Tax liabilities 829.180 381.642 340.044

a) current 735.118 277.626 233.197

b) deferred 94.062 104.016 106.847

100. Other liabilities 426.284 613.923 689.435

110. Post-employment benefits 38.078 38.130 38.955

120. Provisions for risks and charges: 14.882 13.279 12.306

b) other provisions 14.882 13.279 12.306

130. Fair value reserves -850.898 -226.575 -160.760 

160. Reserves 1.761.471 1.572.878 1.572.878

170. Share premiums 7.429.913 7.100.378 7.100.378

180. Share capital 2.254.367 1.597.865 1.597.865

190. Treasury shares (-) -4.375 -                             -                             

200. Profit for the period/year (+/-) 34.326 283.720 390.320

73.221.215 70.897.601 72.378.587TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
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Income statement

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010 FY 2010

10. Interest and similar income 814.433 571.461 805.571

20. Interest expense and similar (956.431) (633.732) (893.006) 

30. Net interest expense (141.998) (62.271) (87.435) 

40. Commission income 21.749 23.612 30.055

50. Commission expense (10.402) (12.178) (16.130) 

60. Net commission income 11.347 11.434 13.925

70. Dividends and similar income 194.364 300.225 300.580

80. Net trading income (loss) (11.897) 149.984 87.268

90. Net hedging income 15.588 5.499 17.666

100. Income from disposal or repurchase of: 7.390 3.475 17.730

a) loans -                             (6) (6) 

b) available-for-sale financial assets 7.174 3.758 17.962

d) other financial transactions 216 (277) (226) 

110. Net income (loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value (34.474) 6.183 6.669

120. Gross income 40.320 414.529 356.403

130. Net impairment losses on: (132.410) (18.659) (49.365) 

a) loans (284) (40) (51) 

b) available-for-sale financial assets (131.368) (18.942) (39.971) 

d) other financial transactions (758) 323 (9.343) 

140. Net financial income (loss) (92.090) 395.870 307.038

150. Administrative expenses (155.190) (184.861) (247.254) 

a) personnel expense (77.634) (101.761) (130.591) 

b) other administrative expenses (77.556) (83.100) (116.663) 

160. Net provisions for risks and charges (391) (1.298) (2.046) 

170. Net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property (18.607) (20.125) (26.352) 

180. Net impairment losses on intangible assets (21.079) (2.329) (3.100) 

190. Other net operating income 72.983 81.738 108.723

200. Operating expenses (122.284) (126.875) (170.029) 

210. Profits (losses) of equity investments (99.842) 75.953 62.127 

230. Net impairment losses on goodwill (63.397) -                             -                             

240. Profits on disposal of investments 65 178 5.533

250. Pre-tax profit (loss) from continuing operations (377.548) 345.126 204.669

260. Taxes on income for the period from continuing operations 411.852 (38.175) (4.317) 

270. Post-tax profit from continuing operations 34.304 306.951 200.352

280. Post-tax profit from discontinued operations 22                          83.369 83.368                  

290. Profit for the period/year 34.326 390.320 283.720

 
 

Statement of comprehensive income

Figures in thousands of euro
9M 2011 9M 2010 FY 2010

10. PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR 34.326 390.320 283.720 

Other comprehensive income net of taxes

20. Available-for-sale financial assets  (621.796)  (357.951)  (424.201) 

30. Property, equipment and investment property -                             -                             -                             

40. Intangible assets -                             -                             -                             

50. Foreign investment hedges -                             -                             -                             

60. Cash flow hedges -                             -                             -                             

70. Foreign currency differences -                             -                             -                             

80. Non current assets held for sale. -                             -                             -                             

90. Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans  (260)  (820)  (385) 

100. Share of fair value reserves of equity-accounted investees -                             -                             -                             

110. Total other comprehensive income (expense) net of taxes  (622.056)  (358.771)  (424.586) 

120. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (EXPENSE) (item 10 + 110)  (587.730) 31.549  (140.866) 
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Statement of changes in equity to 30th September 2011

Figures in thousands of euro

Share capital: 1.597.865     -                  1.597.865     -                       -                       -                   656.502      -                      -                         -                     -                     -               -                          2.254.367     

a) ordinary shares 1.597.865 -                  1.597.865 -                       -                       -                   656.502      -                      -                         -                     -                     -               -                          2.254.367     

b) other shares -                      -                  -                      -                       -                       -                   -                    -                      -                         -                     -                     -               -                          -                      

Share premiums 7.100.378 -                  7.100.378     -                       -                       -                   329.535      -                      -                         -                     -                     -               -                          7.429.913     

Reserves 1.572.878     -                  1.572.878     186.326          -                       2.267          -                    -                      -                         -                     -                     -               -                          1.761.471     

a) profit-related 1.340.246 -                  1.340.246 186.326          -                       2.267          -                    -                      -                         -                     -                     -               -                          1.528.839     

b) other 232.632         -                  232.632        -                       -                       -                   -                    -                      -                         -                     -                     -               -                          232.632        

Fair value reserves -226.575 -                  -226.575 -                       -                       -2.267 -                    -                      -                         -                     -                     -               -622.056 -850.898 

Equity instruments -                      -                  -                      -                       -                       -                   -                    -                      -                         -                     -                     -               -                          -                      

Treasury shares -                      -                  -                      -                       -                       -                   -                    -4.375 -                         -                     -                     -               -                          -4.375 

Profit for the period/year 283.720 -                  283.720        -186.326 -97.394 -                   -                    -                      -                         -                     -                     -               34.326 34.326

Equity 10.328.266 -                  10.328.266 -                       -97.394 -                   986.037      -4.375 -                         -                     -                     -               -587.730 10.624.804

Equity as at 
30.9.2011

Dividends and 
other uses

New share 
issues

Repurchase 
of treasury 

shares

Extraordinary 
distribution of 

dividends

Change in 
equity 

instruments

Allocation of prior year profit
Changes January - September 2011

Equity transactions 

Reserves

Comprehensive 
income

Balances as 
at 31.12.2010

Restate-
ment of 
opening 
balances

Balances as 
at 1.1.2011 Derivatives 

on treasury 
shares

Stock 
options

Changes in 
reserves
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Statement of changes in equity to 30th September 2010

Balances as 
at 31.12.2009

Figures in thousands of euro

Share capital: 1.597.865       -                  1.597.865     -                       -                       -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               -                           1.597.865     

a) ordinary shares 1.597.865 -                  1.597.865 -                       -                       -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               -                           1.597.865     

b) other shares -                        -                  -                      -                       -                       -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               -                           -                      

Share premiums 7.100.378 -                  7.100.378     -                       -                       -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               -                           7.100.378     

Reserves 1.359.659       -                  1.359.659     213.219          -                       -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               -                           1.572.878     

a) profit-related 1.127.027 -                  1.127.027 213.219          -                       -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               -                           1.340.246     

b) other 232.632          -                  232.632        -                       -                       -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               -                           232.632        

Fair value reserves 198.011 -                  198.011 -                       -                       -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               -358.771 -160.760 

Equity instruments -                        -                  -                      -                       -                       -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               -                           -                      

Treasury shares -                        -                  -                      -                       -                       -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               -                           -                      

Profit for the period 406.317 -                  406.317        -213.219 -193.098 -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               390.320 390.320        

Equity 10.662.230 -                  10.662.230 -                       -193.098 -                   -                    -                     -                         -                     -                     -               31.549 10.500.681

Equity as at 
30.9.2010

Allocation of prior year profit
Changes January - September 2010

Equity transactions Restate-
ment of 
opening 
balances

Balances as 
at 1.1.2010

Reserves
Dividends and 

other uses
New share 

issues

Changes in 
reserves

Comprehensive 
income

Repurchase 
of treasury 

shares

Extraordinary 
distribution of 

dividends

Change in 
equity 

instruments

Derivatives 
on treasury 

shares

Stock 
options
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Statement of  cash flows (indirect method)

Figures in thousands o f euro
9M 2011 9M 2010

653.400 11.249

  -    profit for the period (+/-) 34.326 390.320
  -    gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and on financial assets/liabilities at fair value (+/-) 13.883 -108.002 

  -    gains/losses on hedging activities (-/+) -15.588 -5.499 

  -    net impairment losses on loans (+/-) 132.410 18.659

  -    net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property and  intangible fixed assets (+/-) 39.686 22.455

  -    net provisions for risks and charges and other expense/income (+/-) 391 1.298

  -    outstanding taxes and duties -411.844 43.879
  -    other adjustments (+/-) 860.136 -351.861 

-2.783.299 -8.100.685 
  -    financial assets held for trading 334.120 -1.706.002 

  -    financial assets at fair value -19.796 27.431

  -    available-for-sale financial assets 182.162 -4.523.414 

  -    loans to banks -3.788.482 -157.036 
  -    loans to customers 906.536 -1.472.195 
  - other assets -397.839 -269.469 

1.080.733 9.034.155
  -    due to banks -311.412 -2.500.676 

  -    due to customers -789.287 6.176.422

  -    securities issued 2.377.063 4.482.507

  -    financial liabilities held for trading -227.438 556.095
  -    other liabilities 31.807 319.807

-1.049.166 944.719

182.494 400.190

  -    disposals of equity investments 5.000 118.318                

  -    dividends received on equity investments 176.775 281.105                

  -    disposals of held-to-maturity investments -                             -                             

  -    disposals of property, equipment and investment property 719                        767                        

  -    disposals of intangible assets -                             -                             

-74.834 -1.199.048 
  -    purchases of equity investments -73.485 -1.198.130 
  -    purchases of held-to-maturity investments -                             -                             
  -    purchases of property, equipment and investment property -1.349 -918 
  -    purchases of intangible assets -                             -                             
  -    purchases of lines of business -                             -                             

107.660 -798.858 

  -    issues/purchases of treasury shares 981.662 -                             
  -    distribution of dividends and other uses -97.394 -193.098 

884.268 -193.098 

-57.238 -47.237 

Reconciliation

Figures in thousands o f euro 30.9.2011 30.9.2010

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 195.060                215.835                

Total liquidity generated/absorbed -57.238 -47.237 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period/year 137.822 168.598

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES

1. Ordinary activities

2. Cash flows generated/absorbed by financial assets

3. Cash flows generated/absorbed by financial liabilities

Cash flows generated/absorbed by operating activities

B. INVESTING ACTIVITIES

1. Cash flows generated by

CASH FLOWS GENERATED/ABSORBED DURING THE PERIOD

2. Cash flows absorbed by

Cash flows generated/absorbed by investing activities

C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES

Cash flows generated/absorbed by funding activities

 
 
 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts  

All information on periodic financial reporting is available on the website www.ubibanca.it  
 
 

Investor relations: Tel. 035 3922217  
Email: investor.relations@ubibanca.it  

 
 

Institutional communications and relations with the press  
Tel. 030 2433591  

email: relesterne@ubibanca.it  
 
 

Registered shareholders’ office: Tel. 035 3922312  
email: soci@ubibanca.it  
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